# CONTESTED NICHE-INNOVATIONS IN TRANSPORT: EXPERIENCES FROM THE INTER-COMUNAL BICYCLE SHARING SYSTEM IN SANTIAGO, CHILE 2011-2017

A thesis submitted to University College London - UCL For the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Veronica Luisa Saud Casanova

The Bartlett Development Planning Unit UCL 2021 I, Veronica Luisa Saud Casanova, confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own. Where information has been derived from other sources, I confirm that this has been indicated in the thesis.

VERONICA LUISA SAUD CASANOVA

# Acknowledgments

This thesis would not be possible without the wisdom, trust and support of many people around me. I would like to say thank you to my supervisor, Prof Julio D. Dávila, for giving me the opportunity to embark on this journey, for his constant support and generous guidance. Thank you for always encouraging me to do my best in developing my ideas. To my second supervisor, Prof Caren Levy, for her extraordinary wisdom and advice, and thank you so much for guiding me comprehensively in understanding the mobility justice framework. Thanks to my Viva examiners, Prof Nik Tyler, and Prof Caroline Mullen, for the meaningful discussion during my dissertation, in which their comments and insights helped to improve the quality of this document in its final stage and thus provide a basis for further research.

I want to express my deepest gratitude to my family, particularly to my mother, for all her unconditional support, care, encouragement, and help from a distance, particularly at such a challenging time for all, when family care is needed more than ever.

To Susan Parham and Matthew Hardy, my dearest friends and family in London, for all their love, support at every moment, advice, and wisdom. I have never had such good friends in my life. Thank you so much for all the beautiful moments that accompanied this thesis. You don't know how lucky I am to have you as best friends, with a tremendous heart of gold!

To Dr Nikolas Thomopoulos, for sharing such interesting and inspiring conversations and discussions, encouraging me to explore novel academic experiences, such as the internship and the symposium, and for sharing as second author our paper in Transport Geography. To Prof Karel Martens and Emily Soh, for your reflections and inspiring conversations during my internship at Technion – Israel Institute of Technology. No doubt that incredible experience greatly enriched this thesis.

Thanks to my friends who inspired and enlightened me. To Prof Mikael Hard for fostering my academic career. To Vanessa Galeano Duque, thank you for your constant support, help and company during this journey. To Esther Anaya, for your kind support and advice.

I am also very thankful to UCL' scholars and staff. First of all, to Prof Colin Marx for his extraordinary support during this journey. To Michael for his support and precious. I would also like to say thanks to Angela Cooper for all her precious help to do my best.

I would like to thank my friends who always gave me support and amazing moments in London: Doug, Eva, Jorge, Chris, Francisco, Olguita, Ishaan and Steph, Eleine and John. To Marina for your great spirit and generosity. To Fernando and Javi, who inspired me with all their generosity, wisdom, and big heart. To my friends in Chile, Cristian, Pao, Lea, Javi, Quenia, Patricia A, Patricia P, Verito, Glorita, Helena, Malen, Jose, Nicolas, Sebastian, and Simon, thank you very much for your precious help!. You all are gems as people and friends.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the Comisión Nacional de Investigación Científica y Tecnológica, Ministerio de Educación, Chile, which funded this research.

### Abstract

Significant new technological developments in transport are already part of our urban landscape, helped by trends in the globalisation of economic activities. Acknowledging that technology is a facilitator of key changes in urban mobility, this thesis examines the institutional context in which a new transport technology is deployed, highlighting concerns not only about possible failures of an 'enabling state', but also about the 'enabling environment' as a central policy issue. This perspective provides a suitable space to further discuss the increasing governance hybridity in deploying new technologies in transport, acknowledging that the balance of power appears to be shifting.

This research seeks to analyse the role of decision-making processes in triggering transformative adaptations that account for a mobility justice transition towards more equitable and inclusive mobility landscapes. Empirically, the thesis presents a case study promoting utility cycling via the deployment of an inter-*comunal* Bicycle Sharing Scheme, comprising 14 *comunas* in Santiago, Chile's capital city, a fragmented metropolitan area with high socio-spatial inequalities. This research approach combines quantitative and qualitative methods of data gathering and analysis. A survey of 343 current bike-hire users at the busiest stations in order to gauge the perceived benefits of such deployment was complemented by interviews with key decision-makers and direct observations of operational logistics in the field. Business model innovation and public tendering processes provided valuable insights into the decision-making process as a subject of analysis.

Findings suggest that a mobility justice transition is a relational matter. Indeed, intergovernmental agreements and collaborative actions were crucial in challenging patterns of socio-spatial inequality and proved to be a transformative strategy for change. However, prospects for a radical transition towards greater mobility justice are mixed. In conclusion, partnerships supporting niche-innovations operate within norms, values and practices, which are socially and culturally conditioned, and systematically shaped by the actions of society. Unfolding this rationale and 'working through' tensions and synergies towards the search for a common interest on the basis of transparency, collaboration, trust and deliberation, there is potential for setting out a mobility justice transition pathway.

#### **Impact Statement**

This thesis seeks to create an impact upon the current knowledge on technological deployments in transport and mobility justice, as a relational matter, approached from the distributive dimension of the deployment of the first inter-*comunal* Bicycle Sharing System in Santiago, Chile. Through an analysis of decision-making processes, this thesis led to question how transport needs are considered and addressed, as the goal of development planning is, undoubtedly, citizenships.

Thus, this thesis makes three contributions to contemporary urban transport and development debates to help planners and decision-makers in building more equitable and inclusive transport landscapes, considering a highly unequal city such as Santiago, highlighting the social challenges and moments of change that Chile is currently facing.

First, I argue that to trigger a mobility justice transition, it is not only a matter of involving as many actors as possible in the deployment of technological niches to address social needs. It is also a challenge to understand the processes of designing and implementing collaborative strategies between institutions, organisations and civil society, as well as ensuring that cohesion and collaboration are sustained over time to trigger the process of change that the discourses in technology deployments aim to address. Furthermore, collaboration is indeed a sign of change towards a mobility justice transition; however, it requires an analysis of how and who are recognised as key partners and what characteristics are relevant to design robust associativity strategies that allow working in the pursuit of common interests over time.

Thus, one of the main impacts that this thesis makes relates to the study of processes of change towards a mobility justice transition, where undoubtedly, the priority must be placed on positioning public values as a social agreement. Therefore, this first impact relates to the theoretical and analytical perspective here developed, contributing with a retrospective analysis of decision-making processes to the academic discourse. Second, this novel way of analysing transitions also relates to a planning policy scope, as it allows to measure and assess the social impacts that technological deployments are having during their trajectory. Thus, they can address the distributional aspects of a technological deployment in practice. Third, this thesis makes an explicit impact on the governance

level, helping institutions, organisations, and civil society by providing a simplified understanding of a transition as a complex and non-linear process, illustrated by the multidirectional relationship in decision-making, both horizontal (the sub-national level) and vertical (the transnational level) when pursuing common goals, as BikeSantiago showed in its process of deployment via applying the Multi-Level Perspective.

This perspective can also help the different levels of governance to balance and anticipate potential failures and damages that technological deployments can generate. On many occasions, these unforeseen events are not well addressed, since as I could observe, the primacy of the economic-private values displaces the public ones. Therefore, this thesis argues that the rationality to trigger changes should be aimed at citizenship in every aspect of the decision-making process.

# **Table of Contents**

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
ABSTRACT5
IMPACT STATEMENT
TABLE OF CONTENTS
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF TABLES
ACRONYMS & ABBREVIATIONS17
PUBLICATION
CHAPTER 1 OVERVIEW OF THESIS
1.1       Social and institutional challenges in emerging mobilities deployments20         1.2       Research question, aim and sub-aims
1.6 OVERVIEW OF CHAPTERS
CHAPTER 2. METHODOLOGY AND RESEARCH DESIGN
2.1.1 Case study as a research strategy392.1.2 Mixed-method approach402.2 EMPIRICAL DATA, SAMPLING CONSIDERATIONS AND STRUCTURE OF THE FIELDWORK 422.2.1 Policy/planning documents (secondary data)422.2.2 Semi-structured expert interviews432.2.3 Field Observation (supply distribution)442.2.4 Survey to current users452.2.5 Semi-structured interviews with current users482.3 METHODS OF ANALYSIS492.3.1 Documentary Analysis492.3.2 Qualitative Content Analysis502.3.3 Descriptive statistics522.4 ANALYTICAL STRATEGY: INTEGRATING QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE RESEARCH532.5 LIMITATIONS OF METHODOLOGY AND RESEARCH DESIGN552.6 ETHICAL ISSUES OF THE FIELD RESEARCH57
CHAPTER 3. A MOBILITY JUSTICE TRANSITION RESEARCH IN SANTIAGO
3.1       A Socio-Technical Transition RESEARCH       60         3.2       A Socio-Technical Transition RESEARCH and THE MULTI-LEVEL PERSPECTIVE:         THEORETICAL ROOTS       62         3.2.1       Science and Technology Studies       63

3.2.2 3.2.3 <b>3.3</b>	<ul> <li>Evolutionary economics</li> <li>New Institutional Economics</li> <li>MULTILEVEL PERSPECTIVE: KEY ASSUMPTIONS IN TECHNOLOGICAL INNOVATIONS</li> </ul>	64 65 <b>67</b>
3.3.1	The three analytical levels in the Multi-Level Perspective	
3.3.2	<ul> <li>The Multi-Level dynamic: emerging mobility deployment and the sub-nationa</li> <li>77</li> </ul>	l levels
3.3.3	3 Limitations and criticisms	79
3.4	FROM GENERIC TRANSITION TO A MOBILITY JUSTICE TRANSITION	82
3.4.1	EXPLORING AND DEFINING THE CONCEPT OF MOBILITY JUSTICE	83
3.4.2	PRINCIPLES FOR RESEARCH IN MOBILITY JUSTICE TRANSITION	85
3.4.3	MOBILITY JUSTICE TRANSITION RESEARCH	88
3.4.4	MOBILITY JUSTICE FRAMEWORK AND NICHE-INNOVATIONS IN TRANSPORT	93
CHAPTE TRANSIT	R 4. INSTITUTIONAL ANALYSIS FOR A RESEARCH ON MOBILITY JUSTIC	E 95
4.1		00
INSTITU	TIONAL ECONOMICS (NIE) PERSPECTIVE	96
4.2	BUSINESS MODEL INNOVATION	97
4.2.	Business model innovation in bike-sharing: a niche-innovation in transport	
4.2.2	2 The role of a business model in a transition process	101
4.3	SOCIO-SPATIAL INEQUALITIES: AN INSTITUTIONAL APPROACH FROM THE PERSPECTIV	
POLIC	ENTRICITY	103
4.3.	Inter social stratification and government inequalities (SSGI) thesis	105
4.3.4		100
<b>ч.</b> ч ЛЛЙ	Motivational and information problems at the operational level: an approach t	from
4.4. rolat	ional contracting	111
	2 From cornorate sustainability to 'effective' nhilanthrony approaches	113
44	Private Social Investment in hike-sharing	115
4.4.C	<ol> <li>Corporate sustainability and the paradox perspective</li> </ol>	116
44	5 An analytical approach to the corporate sustainability paradox	110
4.5	AN ANALYTICAL MODEL (PHASE II)	122
4.5.1	Chapter 6: Analysis of early decisions	122
4.5.2	2 Chapter 7: The implementation process	123
4.5.3	3 Chapter 8: the operational levels	125
4.5.4	Integration of the data	126
CHAPTE	R 5. CONTEXTUALISING A SUB-NATIONAL RESEARCH IN MOBILITY JUS	
- 4		121
5.1	I HE DECENTRALIZATION PROCESS IN A CENTRALIST CHILE	128
5.1.	I The process of decentralization in Unite	128
5.1.4	2 The Social Priority Index (SPI)	131
5.2	AN OVERVIEW OF TRAVEL PATTERNS, DISTRIBUTION OF CYCLING FACILITIES AND	404
CHARA	CTERISTICS OF CYCLISTS	134
0.Z.	Accessibility in Sentiege	104
0.Z.Z	Cycling and the huilt environment in Greater Santiago: a retrosportive look a	130 It the
urba	n landscape construction	141
	R 6. ANALYSIS OF EARLY DECISIONS TO DEPLOY THE FIRST INTER-CO	
		155
6.1	PRE-DEPLOYMENT BACKGROUND	156
6.2	A BIKE-SHARING REGIONAL BUSINESS MODEL	158
6.2.1	A value proposition design for the first inter-comunal BSS in Santiago	158
6.2.2	value creation and value capture to deploy a BSS in Santiago	164

6.3 MIXED GOVERNANCE TO DEPLOY THE FIRST INTER-COMUNAL BSS IN SANTIAGO: CF A REGIONAL PRIVATE AND PUBLIC INSTITUTION 6.4 THE TWO-TENDERING TYPES TO DEPLOY THE FIRST INTER-COMUNAL BSS DEPLOYM SANTIAGO	EATING . 171 ENT IN . 172
CHAPTER 7. THE IMPLEMENTATION PROCESS OF THE BSS BIKESANTIAGO: AN GOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT	INTER- 176
<ul> <li>7.1 DEPLOYING A BSS AS A 'SOCIAL CAUSE'</li> <li>7.2 INDIVIDUAL AND COLLABORATIVE INSTITUTIONAL PRACTICES TO DEPLOY THE BSS</li> <li>BIKESANTIAGO</li> </ul>	. 182 . 184
7.1.1 The individual tendering types	185
7.2.2 The collaborative tendering processes	186
7.3 ALIGNED BENEFITS WITHIN THE INTER- GOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT	. 188
7.4 TENSIONS EXPERIENCED BETWEEN THE INSTITUTIONAL ARENA AND THE OPERATION. 191	AL LEVEL
7.4.1 Relationships: institutional capabilities and reputation	191
7.4.2 Dilemmas faced	193
7.4.3 Paradoxical institutional and organisational tensions	201
CHAPTER 8. THE OPERATIONAL LEVELS. SYSTEM PERFORMANCE AND PERCE BENEFITS OF THE BSS BIKESANTIAGO	IVED 203
	004
8.1 A SOCIO-SPATIAL BACKGROUND IN SANTIAGO 8.2 A SURVEY OF THE SYSTEM PERFORMANCE AND PERCEIVED BENEFITS OF THE BSS BIKE SANTIAGO IN 2017	204
8.2.1 Socio-demographic profile	208
8.2.2 Travel natterns	200
8.2.3 Visualising BSS BikeSantiago travel patterns and fleet management in the f	irst vear
of its full operation	216
8.2.4 Perceived Benefits	
8.2.3 Perception of service level and system failures	226
8.2.4 Perceived accessibility and perceived service level	228
8.2.5 A qualitative approach to the system performance	229
8.3 INTEGRATION AND DISCUSSION OF FINDINGS (PHASE II)	. 232
8.3.3 Early decisions to deploy the first inter-comunal BSS in Santiago	233
8.3.4 The implementation of the BSS BikeSantiago	237
8.3.5 The Operational Level	241
CHAPTER 9. CONCLUSIONS	244
9.1 ADDRESSING THE RESEARCH QUESTION	. 245
9.2 RESEARCH CONTRIBUTIONS	. 251
9.3 LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH	. 255
REFERENCES	258
	290
APPENDIX – A.2 SEMI-STRUCTURED EXPERT INTERVIEWS TEMPLATE	293 201
APPENDIX B2 TOPICS OF THE SEMI-STRUCTURED USERS' INTERVIEWS	294
APPENDIX C. CASH FLOW (ASSESSED IN THE REGIONAL BUSINESS MODEL)	312

## **List of Figures**

- Figure 1.1 Structure of the thesis according to research question, objectives, sub-objectives and chapters (CH)
- Figure 1.2 Linkages between theoretical and analytical frameworks to answer the research question
- Figure 2.1 Interview with the operator
- Figure 2.2 Observation of the bicycle fleet (December 2017)
- Figure 2.3 Socio-economic distribution map showing wealthier areas in dark blue (left) and *comunas* participating in the BSS BikeSantiago (right)
- Figure 2.4 Santiago de Chile inter-comunal Bicycle Sharing System
- Figure 3.1 Theoretical crossover between evolutionary economy, sociology of technology and neo-institutionalism theories
- Figure 3.2 Multi-level perspective on socio-technical transition
- Figure 3.3 Conceptualizing political defection through the MLP illustrated with the thicker arrow
- Figure 3.4 Nested hierarchy of multiple nested levels.
- Figure 5.1 Metropolitan Region of Santiago *comunas* and SPI position by categories of public investment prioritization.
- Figure 5.2 Socio-economic sectors and location in the Metropolitan Area of Santiago by 2012.
- Figure 5.3 Road and transport system in the Metropolitan Area of Santiago and Origin-Destination survey, 2012

Distance commuting (maps on the left-hand side) and travel time

- Figure 5.4 (maps on the right-hand side) per area comprised in the origindestination surveys 2001 and 2012 (730 areas)
- Figure 5.5 Linear metre of bike-lanes in *comunas* of the Greater Santiago, 2012
- Figure 5.6 Ranking of *comunas* of Greater Santiago and rate of linear metres bike-lane per 100 inhabitants by 2012
- Figure 5.7 Proportion of trips generated and attracted per comuna
- Figure 5.8 Origin-destination of trips by bicycle in Greater Santiago, 2013
- Figure 5.9 Age of bicycle users in 2013
- Figure 5.10 Occupation of the bicycle users in 2013
- Figure 5.11 Cyclists' levels of education, 2013
- Figure 5.12 Travel time by bicycle, workday peak morning (PM), 2013
- Figure 5.13 Perception of safety travelling by bike in Santiago, 2013
- Figure 5.14 Average score for sense of safety by gender, 2013
- Figure 5.15 Willingness to use a BSS in Santiago
- Figure 6.1 Inter-comunal BSS in Santiago.
- Figure 6.2 The Inter-comunal BSS in Santiago
- Figure 7.1 Data Structure. Coding Scheme
- Figure 8.1 Areas within Santiago conurbation

Socio-economic distribution map (left) and comunas participating in

- Figure 8.2 the BSS BikeSantiago (right)
- Figure 8.3 Survey respondents by age and gender

- Figure 8.4 Occupation of survey respondents
- Figure 8.5 Purpose of travel of survey respondents
- Figure 8.6 Number of years in education of survey respondents
- Figure 8.7 Income (quintile number by household) of survey respondents
- Figure 8.8 Residence by sector or areas in Santiago of survey respondents
- Figure 8.9 Socio-demographic cluster of survey respondents
- Figure 8.10 Modal shift
- Figure 8.11 Inter-modality
- Figure 8.12 Frequency of the most common trip by BSS
- Figure 8.13 Comuna of residence
- Figure 8.14 Comuna of main activity
- Figure 8.15 Alluvial map illustrating *comuna* of bicycle collection and return in Santiago
- Figure 8.16 *Comuna* of activity, bicycle collection, return and residence in Santiago Metropolitan Region

(Dots from the centre to outside) Under-represented comunas:

- Figure 8.17 return and residence in Santiago
- Figure 8.18 Perceived benefits improving health
- Figure 8.19 Perceived benefits in improving accessibility
- Figure 8.20 Perceived benefits in saving money
- Figure 8.21 Consequences of system deprivation
- Figure 8.22 Main system failures perceived

Figure 8.23 Main system failures scored by *comuna* about collection points

Nested hierarchy of multiple levels of decision making in Santiago

Figure 8.24 Metropolitan Area

## **List of Tables**

- Table 2.1 Sample and survey distribution design at busiest BSS stations
- Table 5.1
   List of comunas in Santiago Metropolitan region and their SPI position
- Table 5.2Population, household and vehicle growth between 2001 and 2012.
- Table 5.3Evolution of household size and motorization rate in Santiago between 2001<br/>and 2012
- Table 6.1Overview of the business model analysis.
- Table 6.2 Initial variables to locate the network of BSS docking stations
- Table 6.3 Regrouping and weighting of variables to locate the network of BSS docking stations
- Table 6.4
   Ranking derived from the regional business model for implementing the BSS
- Table 6.5 Comunas listed in the ranking developed by the regional business model for implementing docking stations.
- Table 6.6 NPV / IRR assessment by models in US\$
- Table 6.7BikeSantiago Public Tendering 2013 2014 and System Performance<br/>2015, including BiciLasCondes.
- Table 7.1 Decision-making to deploy the first inter-comunal BSS
- Table 7.2
   Interviews conducted in Santiago Metropolitan area
- Table 8.1Metropolitan Region of Santiago comunas participating in the BSS by<br/>geographical sector and SPI position.
- Table 8.2Metropolitan Region of Santiago comunas and SPI position. In grey,<br/>comunas participating in the BSS).

- Table 8.3Comunas of bicycle collection and return.
- Table 8.4
   Descriptive statistics regarding perceived service level

# Acronyms & abbreviations

B-Cycle LATAM SpA	Service operator, BSS BikeSantiago
B-Cycle LLc	Manufacturer, BSS BikeSantiago
BSS	Bicycle Sharing Schemes
CRS	Corporate Social Responsibility
CSSP	Cross-Sector Social Partnerships
DBOMF	Design, Build, Operate, Maintenance and Finance
DBOM	Contract Design, Build, Operate and Maintenance Contract
GIFE	Group of Institutions, Foundations and Enterprises
ICT	Information and Communication Technologies
IRR	Internal Rate of Return
Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A.	Financial investor, BSS BikeSantiago
KPIs	Key Performance Indicators
LM	Linear Metres
MLP	Multi-Level Perspective
NIE	New Institutional Economics
NIS	National Investment System
NPG	National Public Goods
NPV	Net Present Value

MTU	Monthly Tax Unit
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
PNUD	Naciones Unidas para el Desarrollo
PM	Peak Morning
QALYs	Quality Adjusted Life-Years
QCA	Qualitative Content Analysis
SCOT	Sociology of Technology
SECTRA	Transport Planning Secretariat, Chile
SNM	Strategic Niche Management
SPI	Social Priority Index
SSGI	Social Stratification and Government Inequality
STS	Science and Technology Studies
STT	Socio-Technical Transition
TCE	Transaction Cost Economics
TIS	Technological Innovation Systems
ТМ	Transition Management
TS	Transition Studies

# **Publication**

Saud, V., & Thomopoulos, N. (2021). Towards inclusive transport landscapes: Revisualising a Bicycle Sharing Scheme in Santiago Metropolitan Region. *Journal of Transport Geography*, *92*, 103004. (added at the end of this thesis)

## Chapter 1 Overview of thesis

#### 1.1 Social and institutional challenges in emerging mobilities deployments

In the last decade, significant technological innovations have been consolidating the urban transport landscape, helped by trends both in the globalisation of economic activities and in advances in Information and Communication Technologies (ICT), while there have been significant societal and environmental issues worldwide. Acknowledging that technology has been recognised as a facilitator in facing key urban and environmental challenges (Grunwald, 2016), this phenomenon has involved deploying various types of technological transport schemes. Ranging from personal shared schemes in transport (e.g, the case of the Bicycle Sharing Systems BSS as one of the most consolidated schemes), to movement systems (e.g. Autonomous Vehicles and Shared Autonomous Vehicles), and integrated platforms services (MaaS), a new urban transport landscape has rapidly emerged in recent years. Indeed, Bicycle Sharing Schemes (BSS) have proved to be promising components of urban transport worldwide regarding significant advantages in addressing societal and environmental concerns by increasing active travel (Fishman, 2016; Link et al., 2020; Nikitas, 2019, among others).

Hence, many cities around the world have launched such novel mobility schemes, giving rise to the emergence of cycling as a new culture of mobility in recent decades in response to the consequences of the dominant car mobility regime (Geels, 2012). Due to the high diffusion and stabilisation of such systems, BSS are considered in the transition literature as niche-innovations in transport (O' Tauma, 2015; Geels, 2019), under the understanding that a niche-innovation is an alignment between multiple actors, a novel technology and the creation of supporting measures for its deployment (Geels, 2012), on the basis that technology is a social construction (Bijker, 1995).

Contemporary guidelines acknowledge the uptake of emerging schemes (ITF, 2020; POLIS, 2019). However, several fundamental challenges identified during the early days of BSS are still to be addressed (Fishman et al., 2012; Saud and Thomopoulos, 2021). The diverse geographies, urban contexts and institutional settings where such BSS operates have exacerbated those challenges. Moreover, the lack of consistent and coherent collaborative strategies between different key partners, organisations,

institutions and civil society to sustain collaboration over time in terms of their design, tendering, operation and expansion of such systems has significant social and institutional implications. The urban transport features of BSS include a melting pot of diverse social policy, governance and organisational objectives, ranging from business model innovation, public procurement and tendering, logistic strategies as well as the perceptions of its benefits and disadvantages. However, the increasing governance hybridity in such technological deployments introduces concerns not only regarding the failures of an 'enabling state', but also on the 'enabling environment' to deploy such systems in terms of hybrid forms of allocating and leveraging resources.

Therefore, approaches aimed at understanding the decision processes that can trigger collaboration, as well as the key elements that can support better alignment between different actors and institutions, are key to discussing the relevance of these systems in addressing the real social and institutional challenges faced by these schemes, and thus triggering processes of change. The role of decision-making instruments, including viable business models and branding practices that rely on sponsorship and advertising in practice, are analysed in the present research.

Current operational challenges in the BSS literature include fleet management, maintenance, payment, vandalism and customer service satisfaction (Crutchley and Kubitz, 2019; Nikitas, 2019), but above all, issues of inequality and social inclusivity in their deployment processes underline the need for more collaborative and deliberative decision-making processes (Saud and Thomopoulos, 2021). Through the lens of mobility justice, this thesis argues that such practices should be aligned with broader societal goals, such as improving accessibility and equality for all socio-economic groups, in order to avoid discrimination, social or gender exclusion and increase the actual and potential possibility for BSSs and emerging mobilities to maximise people's accessibility to their activities.

Understanding the role of decision-making processes of an emerging mobility deployment in triggering transformative adaptations towards mobility justice transition pathways is crucial for policymakers worldwide. This is especially so in contexts with high levels of socio-economic segregation that reproduce urban inequalities. Linkages between the institutional and operational levels are essential to enable and ensure institutional arenas that allow equal treatment of individuals and institutions. Thus, this would improve and broaden the perception of the benefits that these schemes potentially bring, reducing the mismatches found between resources, needs and institutional capabilities. In the Global South in particular, where active travel constitutes the majority of urban travel (Rode et al., 2017) and top-down governance approaches are common (Levy, 2015), the lack of holistic theories about emerging mobility deployments is aggravated by their multi-dimensional nature. With a tendency to address these new technological developments as a ready-made solution, with a short-term time horizon, it does not appear that the introduction of these systems would have any significant social impact.

Academic research in mobility justice and socio-technical transition frameworks echoes these concerns. Research in socio-technical transitions has argued that socio-technical systems are materially, socially, and culturally constructed. This theoretical framework aims to understand and address significant transformation processes by conducting retrospective and interventionist analyses. Thus, changes from established socio-technical production and consumption systems to new and radical ones are analysed based on co-evolutionary social and technological change. However, multiple critiques about this perspective hinge on three crucial dimensions regarding its rationale (Geels, 2019:1) 1) "spatial and geographic concerns, 2) the provisioning dimension, 3) power relations", disregarding the distributional aspects of a niche deployment.

This thesis attempts to address the distributional concerns in the deployment process of the BSS in Santiago through the lens of the mobility justice framework. To this purpose, this thesis emphasises that the achievement of mobility justice is through processes in which inequalities and patterns of urban segregation can be addressed and challenged. In particular, it investigates an initial transition pathway referred to the existence of transformative adaptations and/or adaptive strategies that could trigger a process of change (Patterson et al., 2017) towards more equal and inclusive mobility landscapes.

One starting point for research on mobility justice transitions is through an institutional approach, considering institutions as the 'rules of the game' (Canitez, 2019). Thus, the New Institutional Economics (NIE) framework allows placing the focus on the 'enabling environment' to deploy a BSS as a niche-innovation in transport. This is about understanding the instance of support comprised of sectoral investment and financial strategies, formal markets, a specific regulatory (or de-regulatory framework), tax

management, and institutional and organisational capabilities and practices (Carroll, 2012). This institutional perspective is relevant to answering the research question as it gives space to better discuss the increasing governance hybridity in such technological deployments. However, this perspective assumes that the balance of power seems to be shifting from the state responsibility as a political matter to a 'voluntary' will of private firms and global corporates (Docherty et al., 2018), as the case study in Santiago shows.

#### 1.2 Research question, aim and sub-aims

This thesis addresses the following research question: How might a niche-innovation in transport lead to a mobility justice transition, considering a case study of the first inter*comunal* BSS in Santiago, Chile, in 2011-2017?

This thesis seeks to analyse the role of decision-making processes in triggering transformative adaptations that account for a mobility justice transition towards more equitable and inclusive mobility landscapes, considering the case of the first inter*comunal* BSS in Santiago. Three key sub-aims help build an answer to the question:

- To understand the institutional rationale behind the BSS regional business model as a planning tool to deploy the first inter-comunal BSS in Santiago in order to analyse its role in triggering a mobility justice transition.
- ii) To provide linkages between institutional and operational levels when deploying the BSS in Santiago, highlighting the role of the inter-governmental agreement in fostering or hindering the reproduction of inequalities.
- iii) To analyse the performance of BSS BikeSantiago considering the first year of its full operation in the 14 *comunas* in order to understand the relationships between planning tools, agreements made, and the operational level in both fostering or hindering more equal and inclusive mobility landscapes.

By analysing the different stages of decision-making at both institutional and operational levels, the focus is placed on public policies and technical instruments, individuals, institutions and organisations comprised in the process of the BSS deployment in Santiago scheme. This scheme aimed to promote utility cycling in Santiago as a way to include the bicycle as a formal means of transport in a city with high car dependency and

long distances and travel times faced by the majority of the population. In addition, Chile has the highest levels of inequality within the OECD group of countries (2018), concentrating wealth, infrastructure and technological advances in transport in a few of the wealthiest areas of the city (Chapter 4 and 5). Due to these socio-spatial conditions, in conjunction with a particular sub-national governance setting consisting of *comunas* as semi-autonomous local decision-making units and a weak regional governance capacity, Santiago is an ideal Global South case study for a socio-technical transition research, considering the case of the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago.

To answer the research question, this thesis considers process-based research and decision-making as the study subject (Chapter 2). Moreover, here the existence of a twofold institutional rationale underlying decision-making in Santiago is argued. The first acknowledges the existence of a rationale that leads to restricting, reducing or depriving the capability of related institutions to actively intervene in the BSS deployment process. The second also recognises the existence of collaborative practices in an attempt to challenge socio-spatial inequalities. However, in the absence of an explicit mobility justice agenda consistently supporting collaboration over time, in conjunction with a particular institutional capability in decision-making, these all together pose a scenario in Santiago where a permanent association between the key partners is not encouraged. Therefore, triggering a mobility justice transition process is likely to involve a move away from current patterns of decision-making processes towards a framework based on the principles of equality and inclusiveness in decision-making based on collaboration and deliberation. In this sense, this thesis seeks a more reflexive governance approach to analyse collaborative patterns in an attempt to challenge urban inequalities towards more equal and inclusive mobility landscapes.

To address the research question, this thesis works with the 'Multi-Level Perspective' (MLP), a theoretical and conceptual framework derived from Transition Studies (TS) (Chapter 3). This framework is considered here as a conceptual map for tracing and narrating past and recent transitions, providing an expanded understanding of the action context regarding a particular transition process. As a process theory, the MLP is framed by a 'constructivist' narrative (Hard, 2001), derived from its theoretical roots: New Institutional Economics (NIE), Evolutionary Economics and Sociology of Technology. Therefore, MLP comprises the following stages as a narrative to analyse a process of deployment (Geels, 2019): (a) niche-innovations develop an internal momentum allowing

them to upscale, (b) niche-innovations, 'momentum' and landscape changes together generate pressures on the current system and regimes, and (c) current regimes are destabilised, opening a window of opportunity for niche-innovations to upscale and disrupt the existing systems.

#### **1.3 A mobility justice transition research**

In addressing the distributive concerns in the deployment of the BSS in Santiago, this thesis complements the Multi-Level Perspective with the mobility justice framework, in the understanding of 'mobility regimes', discussing the way by which movements of people in space are controlled so that eventually they can become an unequal stable pattern, as an expression of beliefs, practices and traditions (Rhodes, 2007; Kesselring and Volg, 2013). This conceptualisation allows a further discussion not only regarding the physical equipment and location of a niche-innovation such as a BSS, but also the dynamic process by which different institutions are creating, enabling, but also ensuring - or not - the conditions to improve or change the movement of people (Docherty et. al., 2018). This institutional approach posed here involves understanding who and how key partners are recognised and embedded in a particular partnership design (Hrelja et al., 2018) (or alliances between the public sector, private sector, NGO, civil society), as a hybrid type of governance (Dávila and Brand, 2012). However, the discussion about the social dimensions of emerging technologies in mobility deployments and the alliances that sustain them has been rarely addressed (Sheller, 2012; 2018).

To enable a transition from the sphere of mobility justice, the distributional dimensions in a niche-deployment are approached here as "the 'why' (the public policy function), the 'what' (the rules of the game), the 'who' (the networks of actors and their position, power and objectives [as well as who benefits from social welfare]) and the 'how' (the way in which the public is involved and how accountability and transparency are maintained [and how it is received])" (Docherty et al., 2018:117-118). Moreover, the notion of 'equality' relates to the assumption that people should be 'treated as equals' as a high-level priority in mobility (Dworkin, 1977:68; Mullen et al., 2014). As such, it implies a particular approach to people's differing needs, under the assumption that each person matters (Mullen et al., 2014). The latter authors have identified two high-level priorities in transport planning to launch the debate: i) reducing transport-related deaths to a minimum,

recognising the right to equal safety and ii) recognising the right of people to have access to some form of effective means of transport.

Discussing the launch of a BSS through these premises poses significant challenges in relation to institutional capabilities in recognising key partners and, therefore the way in which a partnership is designed and built. This may affect how the social dimensions of mobility systems are addressed in many ways, including unfair and discriminatory stratification processes, which may reproduce and deepen socio-spatial inequalities (Ostrom, 1983).

#### 1.4 A mobility justice transition addressed through an institutional perspective

As one of the crucial components of the transition literature, the New Institutional Economics (NIE) framework is applied in this research to provide an analytical framework for a mobility justice transition research, approached from governance, institutional and organisational perspective. NIE offers a framework to analyse decision-making processes, focusing on the links between the institutional and operational levels of the BSS in Santiago as in its deployment process. The NIE framework also enables an understanding of the role played by instruments in planning, agreements and fleet management (Rietveld and Stough, 2005), under an understanding of the institutional level as a set of rules, norms, beliefs, practices, or the 'rules of the game' that together shape interests and motivations comprised in a particular 'enabling environment' (North, 1990; Ostrom, 2007; Carroll, 2012). This perspective provides a suitable space to discuss further the increasing hybrid governance of the new technological niches in transport while acknowledging that the balance of power seems to be shifting. This thesis assumes that some sectors of the economy and global corporates dominate technological and industrial deployments (Docherty et al., 2018), leading to inequality, poverty, and environmental concerns. Authors such as Hockett and Omarova (2018) have argued that the inherent dilemma between market or government leaves an unaddressed zone with respect to the provision and distribution of novel services. In this regard, Docherty et al. (2018) refer to this dilemma, arguing an asymmetric relationship between global corporations and individuals. In this regard, Eaton (2020) notes the preference of trans-national over sub-national levels for the introduction of initiatives, such as a BSS, due to their degree of autonomy from national levels.

Therefore, this thesis addresses these concerns from an institutional and organisational point of view, developing an understanding of the construction of an 'enabling environment' when implementing the BSS in Santiago, and providing insight into the conditions under which the deployment process could lead to a mobility justice transition. In doing so, this thesis selected several analytical perspectives comprised in the NIE literature to draw a 'big picture' (Geels, 2012; Menard, 1995). In this regard, Transaction Cost Economics (TCE), here addressed through the lens of business model innovation, contracting to enable collaboration (Hrelja et al., 2018), polycentricity and debates about the metropolitan organisation are discussed through the lens of the social stratification and government inequality thesis (Ostrom, 1983). This contextualises the socio-spatial inequalities in Santiago, providing a context to discuss the sub-national levels as units of analysis.

The analytical perspective developed in this research combines these three 'approaches'. Firstly, TCE provides a relevant approach to the transactions between public transport operators and authorities (Canitez, 2019), such as within the BSS in Santiago. However, and in line with the sub-research i), this thesis does not attempt to analyse the efficiency of transactions typically associated with TCE research (Williamson, 1991; 1997; 1998), but rather seeks to analyse the rationale and context in which a potential transaction takes place, considering a business model as a planning tool to deploy the BSS. This is so that prior information in decision-making could take a hybrid form when creating an 'enabling environment' as in the present case study, where public information related to feasibility studies also refers to business models as a tool of planning to guide future transactions. In addition, a BSS has been argued as a nicheinnovation in transport due to its novel business model (Geels, 2019). Therefore, a business model innovation framework is adequate to address the sub-objective i). Here, the focus is placed on the assumptions made about private and public values and the role of these elements in a potential transaction, representing a tool to organise initial decision-making scenarios between the regulative, normative, and cultural-cognitive actors contained in its key assumptions (Geels, 2004; Raven et al., 2017).

Secondly, debates about the metropolitan organisation are discussed through the lens of the social stratification and government inequality thesis (Ostrom, 1983) as an institutional matter to contextualise the socio-spatial inequalities in Santiago. This is framed within the notion of polycentricity in reference to *comunas* as the basic units of

decision-making through the notion of 'semi-autonomous decision-making' (Oakerson and Parks, 2011). This highlights self-organised practices that reproduce socio-spatial inequalities as well as institutional capabilities aligning common interests through intergovernmental patterns of collaboration to face them.

Thirdly, contractual forms to create an 'enabling environment' to deploy the BSS in Santiago introduce significant institutional challenges, particularly regarding the alignment between the key partners to achieve common goals as well as 'self-interested' issues. The relevance of collaborative agreements as processes that trigger changes in the case study is highlighted, supported by a more relational approach to discussing contracts related to 'enabling environments' (Carroll, 20212). Thus, it explores relational issues to address trust-building processes as a relational issue in transport partnership design (Hrelja et al., 2018). Moreover, collaboration within an 'enabling environment' is subject to motivational and informational problems.

Seeking to provide insights for a mobility justice transition, this research examines how different institutional practices and agreements were managed to deploy a unified system in Santiago. This research considers that the sub-national levels in Santiago are comprised of a group of semi-autonomous decision-making units of decision-making, however, with different capabilities to leverage resources (see Chapter 4, the Social Stratification and Government Inequality SSGI thesis). Considering these institutional characteristics in Santiago, as well as the external influences of the industry on BSS, corporate sustainability and philanthropic practices nurtured the niche-deploying as a 'mobility cause'. In this regard, corporate sustainability literature in philanthropic practices is discussed in Chapter 4 and 7, posing significant institutional challenges in pursuing social and environmental goals, as can be perceived in the analysis of this case study.

Finally, to develop a transition research addressing the gap in mobility justice regarding the distributional aspects of the BSS, the negative side effects of any niche-innovation deployment, especially during the first phases of the deployment, are crucial in this discussion. This thesis argues that these negative effects, or dis-benefits, are not only a matter of a premature technology itself but also an institutional duty to address public values (Docherty et al., 2018) (see Chapter 4). However, such negative effects could become permanent as a consequence of a particular institutional capability and rationale

unable to address these public values. Hence, this is what this thesis calls a 'contested' niche-innovation.

Thus, this thesis focuses on an early stage of a deployment of a niche-innovation, analysing the role of the institutional decision-making processes in triggering transformative institutional strategies and their links with the perception of benefits, in order to outline the transition pathway that helps answer the research question. Connectedly, socio-spatial inequality patterns are crucial conceptualisations in this research focus as a relational and capability matter between the different institutional levels. From the institutional and organizational side, a paradox perspective on corporate sustainability framework (Hahn et al., 2018) helps to understand the relationship between the institutional and operational levels. This gives rise to contradictions, tensions, and simultaneous synergies that characterise competing social and environmental needs and corporate profitability.

#### Why is a Bicycle Sharing System a niche-innovation in transport?

As mentioned earlier, new types of urban transport services have emerged during recent decades under the rationale of 'shared mobility'. Bicycle Sharing Schemes (BSS) have shown to be promising components of urban transport worldwide, considering their significant advantages in addressing societal and environmental concerns by increasing active travel (Fishman, 2016; Link et al., 2020; Nikitas, 2019, among others). Hence, many cities worldwide have launched such novel mobility schemes, positioning a BSS as part of an urban mobility transition and effectively contributing to incorporating cycling as a transport alternative within the formal transport service. Thus, this new culture of mobility has emerged in recent decades to challenge the dominant car mobility regime (Sheller, 2012; Geels, 2012). However, despite contemporary guidelines acknowledging the uptake of emerging schemes (ITF, 2020; POLIS, 2019), several key institutional and social challenges identified during the early days of BSS are still to be addressed (Fishman et al., 2012; Saud and Thomopoulos, 2021), which is a matter of the present research.

In analysing the origin of this niche-deployment, the promotion of cycling appears as breaking away from the dominant automobile regime (Geels, 2012) as well as helping support the poor transport system developments in a large Latin American city such as Santiago. However, a relatively elitist pattern could be perceived in Santiago due to the high socio-spatial inequalities that characterise the city. This is addressed by illustrating a strong concentration of cycling facilities, both equipment and infrastructure, in a few wealthier *comunas*, in line with the Social Stratification and Government Inequality SSGI thesis (Chapter 4 and 5). Based on this fact, the implementation of the BSS system takes on relevance, as it manifests an experimental action to challenge the tendency to concentrate access and public investment in wealthy *comunas*.

# 1.5 Experiences in decision-making: the inter-*comunal* Bicycle Sharing System in Santiago

The first inter-comunal Bicycle Sharing System in Santiago, Chile's capital city, is chosen as an example of transition-related research. The governance and institutional structure, which includes two sub-national administrative levels, the local and regional levels, is highlighted to analyse sub-national practices in urban transport planning and management and the subsequent social outcomes in terms of perceived benefits and disbenefits. Focusing on the decision-making mechanisms, it discusses the mix of public and private institutional settings that led to and shaped the first inter-comunal BSS in Santiago. This discussion contemplates the Chilean sub-national governance system, where the local level or comunas constitute the basic territorial unit of the state administration and the regional government manages the regional territory comprised within its jurisdiction. Considering sub-national research, in which comuna councils are in charge of land use regulation and public goods administration to generate local revenue - here discussed as semi-autonomous decision-making units (further details in Chapter 4), the regional level coordinates these multiple local levels. However, its participation in local decision-making remains unclear due to its weak capabilities (Eaton, 2004; Saud, 2014). Through this case study, various planning tools are illustrated, discussed and analysed (e.g. business model, public procurement, voting sessions), disclosing assumptions and argumentations regarding the construction of public and private values and practices in decision-making (see Chapter 4).

As mentioned before, the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago between the period 2011 to 2017 – the scheme implemented as BikeSantiago in 2013 - offers an appropriate case to apply the Multi-Level Perspective with a particular focus on mobility justice. The niche level illustrates a strategic partnership design to collaboratively achieve a unified system

in 14 *comunas* in Santiago, in response to a self-organised municipal practice tending to reproduce patterns of socio-spatial inequalities and segregation in Santiago (Chapter 6 and 7). The collaborative and self-organised practices are performed through different public tendering types that took place. Therefore, the landscape level shows the various institutional arrangements and efforts to implement a system in 14 different *comunas* in the Santiago Metropolitan Region. However, and from a mobility justice perspective, the different decision-making capabilities comprised in the tendering patchwork posed at the same time, significant institutional and social challenges when looking at how the agreements were made and worked in practice. Moreover, this decision-making process had a significant impact on users' perception of the benefits under such conditions agreed and the real capabilities to achieve them. Therefore, this thesis also seeks to offer policy lessons as to the social role of technology and mobility by demonstrating how social inequality shapes and is shaped by different institutional and organisational practices.

It is worth mentioning that this research is built upon my personal work experience as an investment analyst in Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government between 2011 and 2015. This experience helped me to systematise more effectively different decision-making scenarios promoting cycling utility through the BSS deployment and public investment assessments and management in the bike–lane. Indeed, I was responsible for coordinating different policies and public investment to encourage cycling as a means of transport, a position that allowed me to be familiar with the different public sources of decision-making here analysed (Chapter 6 and 7), helping me with a reflective governance analysis. Thus, this research is the space to reflect on the institutional successes and failures resulting from this particular sub-national rationale in decision-making.

#### **1.6 Overview of chapters**

This thesis is structured as follows (See Figures 1.1 and 1.2):

Chapter 1 offers an overview of the thesis in four parts. The introduction, research aim, objectives and research questions are presented first. Second, research gaps are

addressed in this thesis using the theoretical and analytical approaches posed. Third, there is the case study. Fourth, an overview of the chapters is provided.

*Chapter 2* outlines the methodology and the research design to best address the research question. The research approach is developed by a mixed-method design, comprising both qualitative and quantitative methods to inform and interpret the object of study as a mobility justice transition research. Regarding the aim of this research, a case study approach is chosen as a research strategy, considering the deployment processes of the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago. Regarding the subject of the present research, decision-making converges in a reflexive governance perspective, allowing a discussion on the institutional and social challenges that this emerging mobility deployment faces. Convergent research design is selected as it best suits the different decision-making processes and planning tools. The core of this research approach is based on collecting and analysing both qualitative and quantitative databases concurrently, integrating the results and then developing a more accurate and detailed understanding of the deployment process of the BSS and the adaptive strategies that could trigger a process of change. To conclude, this chapter informs about the limitations of the research methodology and ethical issues addressed.

*Chapter 3* develops a theoretical crossover framework between transition studies and mobility justice, arguing that the achievement of mobility justice is through processes in which inequalities can be addressed and challenged. In doing so, the chapter discusses the selected strand in socio-technical transition research, the Multi-Level Perspective (MLP). It offers a suitable entry point for a retrospective analysis, posing a conceptual 'map' to trace and narrate recent transition processes with key elements for its conceptualisation and analysis. The MLP provides a 'heuristic' combination with the three bodies of theory that underlie it: New Institutional Economics (NIE), Sociology and History of Technology (Bijker et al., 1987;1992) and Evolutionary Economics (Geels, 2004; Fuenfschilling and Truffer, 2014), providing relevant details regarding key assumptions, scope and limitations of MLP. Based on the main critiques of this body of literature, particularly regarding the lack of attention to the distributional aspects of a technological deployment, mobility justice framework helps address these concerns.

The mobility justice perspective first assumes that it is necessary to look beyond the technological deployments as 'artefacts' and ready-made solutions disconnected from

real social challenges as interlinked governance, institutional and organisational concern. In doing so, an approach from mobility justice seeks an integrated vision, combining the institutional dimensions and the distribution spheres under social justice principles. This perspective is supported by an understanding that 'every life matters' and that treating people as equal is not the same as equal treatment. In this regard, the accessibility approach plays a crucial role as a high-level priority under this perspective. This subchapter also complements the accessibility framework with an introductory discussion on equal concerns regarding data management.

*Chapter 4* outlines the main analytical framework to develop a mobility justice transition research. The chapter first introduces the relevance of New Institutional Economics in transition studies under three core bodies of literature: firstly, Transaction Cost Economics (TCE), addressed by the business model innovation framework considering it as a planning tool. Three major components comprised in the business model innovation framework are considered to analyse the BSS in Santiago: i) value proposition, ii) value creation, and iii) value capture.

Furthermore, the role of a business model in transition literature is discussed by three key assumptions developed by Bidmon and Knab (2018): i) as an industry recipe, ii) as a mechanism to commercialise technology, and iii) subject to innovation itself.

Secondly, this chapter introduces polycentricity and debates about metropolitan organisation, discussing the Social Stratification and Government Inequality (SSGI) thesis (Ostrom, 1983) to contextualise the socio-spatial inequalities in Santiago. A polycentrism approach sheds light on the relevant attributes for sub-national research, focusing on the notion of semi-autonomous decision-making and the SSGI thesis, helping to create a discussion on the institutional capabilities to tackle socio-spatial segregation.

Thirdly, contracting to enable collaboration is posed in this discussion to illustrate the planning and implementation process of the BSS and properly address its public tendering. Here, the debate focuses on contracts as "less highly specific and more reliant on process," to analyse common objectives (Hrelja et al., 2018:329). This is in order to rethink the partnerships designed in terms of who and how key partners are recognised and embedded in a particular partnership design deploying a transport innovation at the regional scale. In this regard, this sub-chapter highlights the relevance of more relational schemes under such a perspective.

This discussion on contractual matters is followed by the perspective of corporate sustainability and philanthropic practices to address a 'hybrid' governance scenario that the case study shows, particularly considering the current circulation of urban transport policy models between the philanthropy sphere (Montero, 2020). Chapter 4 reflects on social and sustainability concerns and the resulting conflicts from the different institutional and organisational goals of profitability, working on multiple economic, social, and environmental frontlines. This perspective of corporate sustainability allows 'working through' contradictions, tensions and also the simultaneous synergies that characterise competing social and environmental needs and organisational profitability (Hahn et al., 2018). Thus, this positions the research to better reflect the scenarios of an 'enabling state' and 'enabling environments' to accommodate such practices. Chapter 4 concludes with an analytical model for the data analysis chapters, converging and summarising key principles and concepts to be applied in the analytical chapters (Chapter 6,7 and 8).

*Chapter 5* contextualises a mobility justice transition research, considering a particular sub-national governance setting, the travel patterns and the distribution of the cycling facilities in Santiago. The institutional specificity regarding the design of the sub-national institutions in the context of decentralization policies is introduced first by explaining the dichotomic process of centralisation in a highly centralist context such as Chile. This is relevant to understand top-down public policies promoting cycling such as the BSS implementation. Socio-spatial inequalities in Santiago are considered from three angles: the Social Priority (SPI) Index, a regional tool to prioritise public investment, an overview of travel patterns and accessibility in Santiago, and the distribution of cycling facilities and characteristics of the cyclist at the time of the BSS deployment.

*Chapter 6* analyses the regional business model (or the regional study) as a planning tool, considering the key elements discussed in Chapter 4 regarding the construction of values for potential decision-making scenarios. This analysis seeks to understand the underlying rationale in the early stages of decision making. This analysis considers the definition of business models as "the rationale of how an organisation creates, delivers, and captures value" (Osterwalder and Pigneur, 2010:14), referring in this research to an exchange relationship of economic, environmental and public values between a related group of people and organisations, governance and institutions.

To help answer the research question, this chapter analyses the key arguments comprised in the regional business model to start building a narrative in mobility justice transition. To build this argumentation, this chapter incorporates concerns over assumptions made regarding spatial coverage and the way in which needs are considered, that is, to whom they are addressed and how these measurements are created as a matter of governance. This chapter also presents the public tendering of the BSS to create links between the early stages in decision-making and the next analytical chapter regarding the implementation process.

Chapter 7 provides an understanding of the links between the institutional and operational levels that nurtured an 'enabling environment' to deploy the BSS as a niche-innovation in transport, highlighting the role of the inter-governmental agreements that took place in challenging the reproduction of socio-spatial inequalities. In doing so, this chapter considers the conceptualisation of inter-governmental agreements and self-practices comprised in the BSS deployment, analysing both socio-spatial inequalities leading to segregation and collaboration practice (Chapter 4). This analysis considers the corporate sustainability paradox to address an approach towards change. This analytical approach integrates simultaneous institutional synergies and tensions derived from 'enabling environments' and a given partnership design, assuming increasing hybridity of governance that needs to be discussed from an institutional and organizational perspective to address public values. Furthermore, this chapter considers four qualitative categories of analysis derived from the perspective of corporate sustainability and the paradox in organisations (Chapter 4) (Smith, 2014; Stadtler and Wassenhove, 2016; Standtler, 2018): ii) scheme case of financing a BSS, Private Social Investment (PSI), ii) the emerging patterns (collaboration and segregation), iii) aligned benefits, and iv) experienced tensions.

*Chapter 8* comprises two parts. The first part offers an analysis of the BSS BikeSantiago performance considering the first year of its full operation in 14 comunas in Santiago. To provide an understanding of the relationships between planning tools, agreements made and operational levels in both fostering and hindering more equal and inclusive mobility landscapes, this analytical part of the chapter comprises the first analysis of travel patterns, service levels and perceptions of benefits derived from the survey carried out in 2017 to current users. The analysis is followed then by a qualitative approach to current users and to understand their experience with the service in greater depth. The second

part of this chapter (Part II) comprises an integration and discussion of results between the three analytical chapters (Chapter 6, 7 and Chapter 8 Phase I), as further discussed in Chapter 2 regarding the required steps for a convergent research analysis, as it demands a space to reflect on the different decision-making scenarios analysed in triggering a mobility justice transition.

*Chapter 9,* as the last chapter of this thesis, summarises key findings to answer the research question, recapping the aims and objectives of this research, including assumptions, processes made, and conceptualisations posed. The research makes three types of contributions: theoretical, methodological and empirical. This highlight the theoretical contributions to literature in transition and mobility justice, enabled through the selected elements of the New Institutional Economics framework applied (NIE framework) to address critical social and institutional challenges in the Latin American context. Methodological contributions lie in the mixed-method design and analysis that enabled a comprehensive analysis of the case study.

Finally, limitations of the research are related to the limitations inherent to a single case study. It would be valuable and insightful to contrast several case studies over a longer period of time under this theoretical and analytical approach. However, this thesis contributes with the approach and the necessary elements to be able to adequately conduct future comparative work. This takes into account the complexity of decision-making scenarios in different governance settings as a subject of study and therefore makes its in-depth understanding relevant for a point in comparison, which is intended to be addressed here as future research. Similar to contemporary debates, participatory processes in technological niche deployment require an explicit social justice framework to address issues in participation, collaboration and deliberation, which are also addressed here as future studies with more interventionist analyses in transition studies.
How might a niche-innovation in transport lead to a mobility justice transition, considering a case study of the first inter-comunal BSS in Santiago, Chile in the period 2011-2017?



Figure 1.1: Structure of the thesis according to research question, objectives, sub-objectives and chapters (CH). Source: Own elaboration.

CH 9





# Chapter 2. Methodology and research design

The present chapter outlines the methodology and research design to address the research question of this thesis. It first outlines the research approach, choosing the case study approach as a suitable research strategy. It identifies the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago, Chile, as a relevant case study due to the specificities of the governance system to illustrate the decision-making process to deploy it. This is namely 'BikeSantiago', which is the name of the scheme that finally took place from a transnational investment holding in the Latin-American context.

The chapter then explains the mixed-method approach as the best fit to address the research question. Research methods were set by phases or 'packages' comprising three methods of data collection, which guided the fieldwork. Consequently, a 'convergent design' approach is selected, guided by an analytical model developed at the end of Chapter 4. Similarly, qualitative content analysis and descriptive statistics are first carried out separately, and then the data are integrated by comparing the subject of study – the decision-making processes comprised in the deployment. Results are integrated at the end of Chapter 8 by applying the analytical model developed at the end of Chapter 4. To conclude, this chapter informs of the limitations of the research methodology and ethical issues addressed (see also Saud and Thomopoulos, 2021).

### 2.1 Research Approach

This thesis aims to analyse the role of the decision-making process of an emerging mobility deployment in triggering transformative adaptations that account for transition processes towards mobility justice scenarios. To achieve this aim, the research considers both qualitative and quantitative research methods to inform and interpret the deploying of the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago, Chile, as the case study under examination. Hence, this thesis assumes a 'pragmatic' epistemology in both design and analytical processes. A 'pragmatic' research approach considers that there is no single representation of the world. Thus, it allows a pluralistic position, bringing diverse representations together through a different type of data set (Tashakkori and Teddlie,

2003; Creswell and Plano Clark, 2018). By recognising that a universal reality does not exist, it questions the power relations imposed by a particular vision of the world. Consequently, as a 'pragmatic' worldview allows gathering both qualitative and quantitative research methods, the mixture here implies accepting that knowledge exists independently of our recognition and interpretation (Bernstein, 2010).

In this regard, the concept of pragmatic epistemology stresses the assumptions on "how we gain knowledge of what we know" (Creswell and Plano Clark, 2018:37). Here, it refers to the knowledge comprised in the different experiences associated with the decision-making process when deploying the BSS BikeSantiago. Therefore, the perspective of this thesis consists of understanding how people's movements across the city are planned and performed when introducing new technology, assuming that some groups of people may face difficulties regarding accessibility issues to their everyday activities. On the one hand, it involves analysing the perception of capabilities and practices when looking at the institutional level. On the other hand, the perception of benefits and disbenefits is also analysed to create linkages between the institutional and the operational level.

Accordingly, the present research designed and conducted a mixed methodology to examine the study subject as a dialectic connection between a constructivist perspective while using qualitative methods and a more post-positivist approach while conducting quantitative research methods (Maxwell, 2011). Likewise, as data collection was designed considering a 'convergent design', no data analysis was carried out between the different methods conducted. In this regard, this research assumed an all-encompassing worldview integrating different databases (Creswell and Plano Clark, 2018).

### 2.1.1 Case study as a research strategy

For a case study research in urban mobility, emerging mobility schemes and governance, this thesis adopted the view of Gudmundsson et al. (2015:63), who see the transport system "as part of a much broader social system" instead of merely "a system of physical components and operational plans". Here, while decision-making as institutional 'practices' to deploy the BSS as a niche-innovation is the subject of analysis, the sub-national levels as 'semi-autonomous units of decision-making' are the units of analysis

(Oakerson and Park, 2011). Thus, a case study is the selected research strategy approach as it allows exploring: i) a contemporary phenomenon in its real-life context, and a particular context when ii) "boundaries between phenomenon in focus and context are not clearly evident" (Yin, 1998:59). The case study approach is suitable for developing a particular depth and detailed richness of the unit of analysis (Flyvbjerg, 2006; 2013). The case study approach is also 'driven' by the available sources in conjunction with the researcher's interest, rather than an 'epistemological' conviction (Hard, 2001). Here, the case study approach is a matter of 'discovering', allowing an interpretative research perspective (Morgan, 2014).

In addition, process analysis is conventionally approached by an ex-ante or ex-post evaluation (i.e., design, implementation, operation, see, for example, Sapag (2019). However, in analysing the dynamic processes of the BSS deployment through the lens of the theoretical and analytical framework chosen, different sources of data in decision-making are mixed to provide an understanding of the simultaneous institutional dynamics in decision-making. Thus, in order to coordinate efforts, those principles found in the regional business model created for this purpose, tensions, synergies and conflicts experienced in the implementation process are analysed through a public procurement analysis, considering sub-national research applied to a case study in Santiago (Giraudy and Pribble, 2019; Otero-Bahamón, 2019; Eaton, 2004;2020).

Acknowledging the pros and cons of this research approach, there are challenges in designing and conducting a case study in practice (Stake, 2008). One of the critical concerns faced in the methodological design was the balance between the particular governance characteristics of the selected case study and the methods merged for a realistic and adequate design. Addressing this concern required rigour and transparent methodological design and execution regarding all the methodological decisions taken. Therefore, this research was meticulous in all its methodological development.

### 2.1.2 Mixed-method approach

From the decision-making point of view, the present process analysis converges in a reflexive governance perspective that allows a discussion of the institutional and social challenges faced, requiring different data sets to understand complex phenomena faced

in this niche deployment. This thesis chose a convergent mixed-method research design in accordance with the research aim (Creswell and Plano Clark, 2018).

The core of a convergent research design is to collect and analyse both qualitative and quantitative databases concurrently, integrating the results to develop a more accurate and detailed understanding of the phenomenon in focus. While the data collection and analysis processes occur separately, the integration between the different data sets is done to confirm, disconfirm, or expand the topics raised in the findings (Creswell et al., 2011; 2018). Thus, while the qualitative phase helped to understand the experiences and perceptions that different actors had on the decision-making process and the subsequent outcomes, the quantitative approach sought to visualise benefits and disbenefits derived from the decisions made (Silverman, 2016).

In this research, the convergent design is created as three-stage methodological 'packages', with some degree of connection between them. In this regard, and prior to fieldwork, this research sought to understand how pre-deployment institutional decision-making influenced users' accessibility. However, when conducting the fieldwork, I recognised that the operational levels were very relevant in users' perceptions of system failures at the earliest stages of the system deployment. This finding was not anticipated when conducting the data collection; however, the service level defined in the public tendering was included in the survey to explore further relationships between the institutional and the operational levels.

This research is also built upon my personal work experience as an investment analyst in Santiago's regional government between 2011 and 2015. This experience helped me to better systematise different decision-making scenarios promoting cycling utility through the BSS deployment. As I was responsible for coordinating different policies and public investment to encourage non-motorised means of transport, it allowed me to become familiar with the different public sources and contribute with a reflective governance analysis by means of this research. Indeed, as part of Santiago's BSS deployment at the regional government of Santiago, this research is the space for reflecting on the institutional successes and failures resulting from this sub-national rationale in decisionmaking. Therefore, I decided to draw on a mixed-method approach to understand the deployment process and discuss the real institutional and social challenges present herein. To avoid biases, I sought a careful balance with extra care concerns for validity, reliability and the protocols of data collection processes at all stages.

### 2.2 Empirical data, sampling considerations and structure of the fieldwork

The design comprised four data collection methods to bring together empirical data on the research aim,: i) secondary data, ii) field observations, iii) semi-structured interviews, and iv) a survey carried out with current users.

## 2.2.1 Policy/planning documents (secondary data)

Three key references are analysed related to the earliest stage of decision-making to implement the first inter*-comunal* BSS in Santiago:

a) Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government (2012) 'Feasibility study and management of public bicycle concessions for Greater Santiago' (the regional business model)

b) Public tendering for the first Inter-*comunal* Bicycle Sharing System in Santiago (Mercado Publico, 2020. Accessed on 29th May 2020)

c) Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A (2017). Annual report.

These three references comprise research package I of the methodological design (see Chapter 6). They were particularly relevant for a sub-national research, since they contain the set of rules that guided the multi-level decision-making process. On the one hand, the information in the feasibility study's report provided significant inputs regarding the vision of the Regional Transport Development Policies promoting the BSS for utility cycling purposes (Chapter 5). On the other hand, the different public tendering informed about the particular management and negotiations to integrate 14 heterogeneous and semi-autonomous administrative-territorial units - *comunas* - in a unified transport scheme. However, it added significant difficulties to effectively providing a system of that size concerning the aspects tendered and the real possibilities to comply with (Chapter 7). In addition, the Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A, Annual report in 2017 shows the trans-

national objectives which characterised the 'vertical' relationship (Eaton, 2020) that financially leverage the deployment of the BSS BikeSantiago.

Thus, these references contributed with significant inputs to crucial institutional and social opportunities and challenges in the governance of the BSS.

### 2.2.2 Semi-structured expert interviews

Expert interviews were a very relevant data collection method for several reasons. First, as a one-to-one method, they offered a significant in-depth discussion of the research focus, contributing with significant insights through different angles and levels of observation. In this regard, the institutional and operational arenas were observed through the eyes of actors involved directly in the deployment (i.e. public and private sector and users), informing about key specific topics of the BSS process of deployment from an 'insider' perspective.

Expert and key stakeholders' samples were selected regarding their particular role and perspective about the processes of the BSS deployment. According to the study criteria, a sample with known actors helped to identify 25 relevant actors involving both practitioners and politicians at the sub-national level.

The expert interviews sought to identify perceptions and experiences on the following topics: i) the design and implementation of the BSS, ii) the relationships and agreements made by the different actors to deploy the system, iii) the perceived impacts of this relationship dynamics, and iv) the social and urban contribution and the final beneficiary population. Interviews started by asking about the role of each actor in the BSS deployment. The guidelines were the same for each actor. However, some variations were made for some of the actors. For example, the guideline for the service provider level focused more on the operational activities and their role and knowledge on the supply side of the BSS provision. Therefore, this type of inquiry led more to an in-depth interview, oriented towards a knowledge-producing discussion (Hesse-Biber and Leavy, 2004). These operational and logistical insights gave rise to relevant links between the institutional and operational arenas from an insider's perspective. The following four steps

were designed and implemented to conduct this type of interview perspective (Hennink et al., 2011).

- i. A semi-structured interview guideline
- ii. A trust relationship between the interview and interviewee
- iii. An empathic way to conduct the guideline
- iv. A probing and motivating approach in conducting the interview.

As mentioned above, the researcher's previous work experience with the Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government between 2011 and 2015 helped identify previously contacted key actors. To avoid possible biases regarding the interviewee selection, pilot-testing interviews were conducted previously with some people who shared similar characteristics as the selected interviewees. The data collected from them were all made through an email explaining the research and asking them for an appointment to conduct the interviews at the premises of their institutions, in accordance with the research ethics practice and data management regulations.

## 2.2.3 Field Observation (supply distribution)

Observational methods were applied at the BSS docking stations and fleet distribution vehicles, examining the logistic principles to design the quantitative methods. By identifying the key supply distribution and system performance in general, this information was crucial for the survey design and management.

Taking notes about the logistic practices provided a valuable insight into the operational arenas, which was crucial to the methodological design approach. This was particularly relevant in a context with no unified public dataset of BSS usage at local or regional levels since the database information was a private asset solely managed by the operator. Thus, for the qualitative phase, while the bicycle fleet distribution is the supply side, users define the BSS demand. This observation benefitted from an expert interview with the operator in June 2017 and key operational employees of BSS during September 2017, providing significant insights into fleet management principles used when the system achieved the full capacity in 14 *comunas*. I made notes through the methodological practice of 'shadowing' (Jirón et al., 2016), which consisted of observing the bicycle fleet management vehicles over two days. The first day of monitoring covered conventional

morning and afternoon schedules of a weekday route, and the second day covered a regular weekend fleet balancing route (Figures 2.1 and 2.2).



Figure 2.1 (left) Interview with the operator (November 2017). Figure 2.2 (right) Observation of the bicycle fleet (December 2017). Photos: Saud, 2017. Santiago de Chile.

### 2.2.4 Survey to current users

The quantitative phase of this research examined travel patterns, perceived benefits, system performance and service levels through a BSS user cross-sectional survey. Building upon the previous observations of the supply distribution, the cross-sectional survey was carried out in the five busiest BSS docking stations identified between September and December 2017. The following stations detected through field observations were: Costanera Centre, Pedro de Valdivia, Teatinos – Moneda, Santa Isabel, and Estacion Central. This selection was also based on socio-economic indicators of the selected areas such as income level and transport indicators such as public transport links to include different areas of Santiago, in accordance with the purposes of the feasibility study to deploy the system. Costanera Centre and Pedro de Valdivia docking stations are located in one of the wealthiest comunas in Santiago, Providencia *comuna*. Teatinos– Moneda and Santa Isabel station are located in downtown Santiago *comunas*. Estacion Central docking station is located in Estacion Central, a lower-income level area (Figure 2.3 and Table 2.1).



Figure 2.3: Socio-economic distribution map showing wealthier areas in dark blue (left) and *comunas* participating in the BSS BikeSantiago (right). Orange circles show data collection points. Source: Adapted from Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government (2016) and BikeSantiago website (2017).

The survey design consisted of a non-probability convenience sampling with pre-defined quotas, carried out in Spanish and based on a paper-based survey carried out only by the researcher. Survey questions focused on four dimensions of current BSS users aiming at linking travel patterns and the perceived accessibility of BSS users with system performance (Lättman et al., 2016; Martens, 2017) (See Appendix A1 for the survey template):

- i) Socio-demographic profile
- ii) General urban mobility travel patterns, including travel patterns using the Bicycle Sharing Scheme
- iii) Perceived benefits in accessibility, overall benefits in health, saving time and money
- iv) Perceived BSS performance and service level (as in the public tendering)

For the questions on perception, the survey design considered a 7-point Likert scale commonly used in Chile (see for example, Ministry of Housing and Urbanism, 2016), thus minimising response bias. The sample size was calculated considering the standard formula for a finite population (1) (Aguilar-Barojas, 2005; Cochran, 2007; Bryman, 2016),

applying the data collected in the previous phase regarding the bicycle fleet balance in these busiest key stations. The daily average of the BSS usage varied from 60 to 180 bike hires per busiest station previously identified; therefore, 480 bicycle relocations were observed during fleet balancing operations. Thus, the study population (N) was estimated to consider 2,330 bicycle hires, assuming the highest margin of daily BSS usage per station. The survey coverage was designed in a range between four and five consecutive working days in the selected five busiest stations, as summarised in Table 2.1. Thus, a sample of 343 users comprised the required sample size for this finite population of 2,330 current users, considering an expected heterogeneity level of 50% and an error margin of 5% at a 95% level of confidence, as in the formula below.

$$n = \frac{N * Za^2 p * q}{d^2 * (N-1) + Za^2 * p * q}$$
(1)

considering:

N=2,330 users based on the BSS Population (taking into account daily fleet balancing operations at the 5 busiest stations) Confidence Level = 95% (Considering Za=1.96) Error margin (d) = 5%

Expected proportion of variance  $(p^*q) = 50\%/50\%$  (0.5\*0.5)

Table 2.1: Sample and survey distribution design at busiest BSS stations – Source: Own elaboration based on observation and BSS BikeSantiago database (2017).

Stations		Socio- economic Classificatio n by area	Daily BSS usage	Field work days	BSS Population		Respondents by station	
					Ν	%	Ν	%
1.	Costanera Centre	East Area - high-income	180	5	900	39	124	36.2
2.	Pedro Valdivia	level	70	4	280	12	58	16.9
3. Mone	Teatinos - eda	Inner City - media income level	100	5	500	22	70	20.4
4.	Santa Isabel		70	5	350	15	48	14
5.	Estacion Central	West Area - medium / low- income level	60	5	300	13	43	12.5
	TOTAL	5	480	24	2,330	100	343	100



Figure 2.4: Santiago de Chile inter-comunal Bicycle Sharing System. Source: Adapted from BSS BikeSantiago (2017).

Table 2.1 summarises the components of the formula used for its distribution in terms of socio-demographic characteristics, daily usage and fieldwork design. The respondents by station were calculated in accordance with the fleet distribution, justifying the study design decisions and the data collection process. Bicycle fleet availability, as daily BSS usage data, at each BSS station is also included in Table 2.1. The recruitment for the sample was done by approaching users when they were collecting or returning a bicycle at the selected BSS docking stations.

### 2.2.5 Semi-structured interviews with current users

During the earliest stages of data collection through the survey, I perceived a high level of motivation from respondents to further discuss the service level topics assessed. I particularly noticed that respondents tried to explain the score by connecting some of the topics to provide a possible explanation as well as to express their concerns, with a particular focus on how their trips were recorded and the subsequent payment and fee structure. Thus, in order to offer appropriate space for these concerns raised, two openended questions were added at the end of the survey, asking about their positive and negative experiences while using the system, emphasising perceived benefits in accessibility (Lättman et al., 2016; Martens, 2017) and their experience with service levels. Thus, 10% of survey respondents were further interviewed, based on convenience sampling and stratified by gender at each station, with a total of 35 interviews being collected.

### 2.3 Methods of analysis

This thesis defined three approaches to analyse the different sources of data: i) documentary analysis, ii) qualitative content analysis and iii) descriptive statistics (survey analysis). In this regard, documentary analysis and Qualitative Content Analysis (QCA) focused on the values and practices comprised in the decision-making scenarios, both public and private, on the one hand. On the other hand, descriptive statistics provided an overview of the travel patterns and perceived benefits and disadvantages of incorporating BSS into daily activities.

### 2.3.1 Documentary Analysis

This analytical approach refers to the analysis of relevant documents that contain information about the decision-making process. The three selected sources of information (further described in section 2.2) were assessed for criteria on relevance, reliability, and origin, selected by the source of publication (government institutions as well as private institutions) involved in the deployment.

The BSS feasibility study, which incorporates a business model for the deployment of the system, is the first part of the analysis (Chapter 6). This chapter seeks to provide an understanding of the institutional rationale behind the BSS regional business model in Santiago as a planning tool and its role in triggering a mobility justice transition.

The analysis in Chapter 6 examines the set of rules that guided the subsequent decisionmaking scenarios through the lens of the business model innovation framework (Chapter 3), considering the key components of a business model: i) value proposition, ii) value creation and iii) value capture, and then integrating these findings with MLP in the various phases of the analysis (Bocken et al., 2013; van Waes et al., 2018). Chapter 6 also incorporates an analysis of the different public tenders to implement the BSS in Santiago, highlighting similarities and differences between the participating *comunas* as well as the links between the BSS feasibility study and the implementation process that took place.

The data collection process was an online search in mercadopublico.cl, an electronic platform where public institutions in Chile place public tenders. The original documents of the public tender were found by using keywords. The information is categorised by date, conditions created for the concession of the public space, the type of tender, as well as obligations and general characteristics. The technical offer and projection basis were also included to express the different characteristics tendered between the *comunas*.

### 2.3.2 Qualitative Content Analysis

Mayring (2010) has described Qualitative Content Analysis (QCA) as a set of techniques comprising a systematic analysis of different kinds of texts addressing not only the explicit content but also core ideas in the full data set (Drisko and Maschi, 2015). As some of the core qualitative data of this research come from semi-structured interviews, both with experts and stakeholders as well as users of the system, Qualitative Content Analysis is the method selected. It allows a more descriptive and interpretive focus, 'expanding' the original data (Drisko and Maschi, 2015; Hsieh and Shannon, 2005), for example, when considering the institutional perceptions of the decision-making process as well as the service levels.

Although there are many qualitative research methods, some of them similar to QCA, such as thematic analysis (Boyatzis, 1998) or discursive analysis (Hill, 2011), QCA suits best to discuss less explored topics, as it allows a flexible but systematic description and interpretation of a complex phenomenon. It can also be either inductive, deductive, or both (Schreier, 2012). In other words, while inductive categories lead to the development

of theories that emerged from the data, deductive ones further contribute to existing theories. This thesis considers both deductive and inductive coding processes as an interlinked data analysis structure. In this regard, while the core analytical task gave rise to crucial institutional social and institutional challenges when deploying the BSS, it was eminently an inductive task when structuring the topics raised at the beginning of the analysis. However, I guided the analysis with the conceptual framework, influencing the inductive reasoning (Hennink et al., 2011). Furthermore, QCA also allows exploring the relationship between the concepts, helping to define initial codes and interrelation derived from the data, based on a rigorous process of validity and reliability (Schreier, 2012). Thus, the initial coding system started identifying the key concepts, providing an operational definition derived from the theoretical framework (see Chapter 4 for further detail).

Considering the assumptions made in the decision-making process, the analytical focus mixed different frameworks regarding the sub-national and the trans-national levels. This relationship is particularly relevant in this thesis due to the vertical/horizontal intergovernmental challenge that this thesis poses in the form of trans-national institutions and their preference for building key partners with the sub-national governance regarding the degree of autonomy (Eaton, 2004;2020), and thus break into the public sphere (Andion et al., 2012).

Furthermore, in exploring the rationale for institutional decision-making, the research focuses on the structure of the arguments by gathering stakeholders' perceptions about the agreements made (Martens, 2000; Martens and van Weelden, 2013), detecting some 'regularities' in meanings found (Miller et al., 2013, 1999). Appendix B1 shows the topics raised by the actors, which structure the narrative of Chapter 7. As the research subject focuses on the decision-making process of the BSS deployment, I separated, in a conventional way, the information regarding the design and implementation and the operational level as different stages. However, it does not mean that they are consecutive. In fact, they occurred almost in parallel, according to the findings.

The process of data analysis comprised three key actions: transcript, creation of categories, and definition of themes. All these actions were carried out exclusively by the researcher. The first part of the process started with transcriptions of interviews and translation into English, selecting the key material to be analysed. Here, the information

was organised first with the original interview guidelines, highlighting the key arguments to extract the core ideas. Second, the initial organisation of the information was conducted by a criterion of content identification with similar meaning and connotations. Third, the creation of the categories comprised the second analytical step.

Categories initially were taken from the literature review, which helped to organise and group the contents. Thus, the data structure and coding scheme led to organising the data into four qualitative categories, derived from the corporate sustainability and paradox framework (see Chapter 4): 1) a Private Social Investment (PSI) as the scheme case, 2) the emerging patterns (collaborative and segregation), 3) aligned benefits, and 4) experienced tensions (Smith, 2014; Stadtler and Wassenhove, 2016; Standtler, 2018), summarising and interpreting the topics raised. Relevant quotes regarding the implementation process are fully displayed in Appendix B.

In this regard, I applied the same notation used by the authors selected in the conceptual framework (the five dimensions mentioned above, adapted from Smith, 2014; Stadtler and Wassenhove 2016, and Stadtler, 2018:335), identifying key patterns and extracting by this data structure and coding scheme.

In organising and grouping the information into the pre-selected categories, different subtopics were systematised from iterations to extract their further details, interrogating and expanding their meanings. The iterations ended when there was a redundancy in the initial coding system (Schreier, 2012). The definition of the themes for each category was the fourth step. Although this is done by describing and summarising the contents found, the researcher's interpretation becomes crucial. In sum, the QCA approach used in this research seeks to 'expand' the data when the interpretation and the latent content is included in the definition of the themes.

### 2.3.3 Descriptive statistics

Descriptive Statistics Analysis is applied to summarise and describe the characteristics of the data collected in the survey regarding the social benefits and dis-benefits perceived by users when incorporating the system into their frequent activities, including their travel patterns.

The procedure to analyse this data comprised the following four steps (Plano Clark and Creswell, 2011). Firstly, the data were prepared and explored by cleaning the database and addressing issues of missing data first, in conjunction with the conduction of reliability and validity of the measures. Second, a descriptive analysis for each major variable was conducted, considering means (standard errors), medians, and inter-quartile ranges to characterise the data set. Thirdly, to represent the data, statistical results were summarised in tables and figures, reporting the main results. Fourthly, data were examined in accordance with the hypothesis and the existing literature. Data collected from the survey were analysed by using SPSS 19.0 software (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL).

In addition, a significant contribution to understanding operational levels in relation to fleet management and travel patterns was made possible by the incorporation of data visualisation tools. This description was made in relation to travel pattern information at the *comuna* level.

Hence, circular dendrograms and an innovative application of alluvial diagrams for the travel patterns of the BSS users were an appropriate method to present and visualise the BSS user travel patterns as origin-destination flow maps across *comunas* within the Metropolitan Region of Santiago. Data are presented at the *comuna* level to illustrate travel patterns, and figures have been generated via RAWGraphs (Mauri et al., 2017). This is an open-source data visualisation software for a quick diagrammatic overview of usage patterns representing BSS demand. This representation constitutes an innovative visualisation for origin-destination flows, allowing interpretations to be made regarding the operational levels.

# 2.4 Analytical strategy: Integrating qualitative and quantitative research methods

The mixed-method analysis comprises a three-stage qualitative-quantitative - qualitative structure (research packages), considering a convergent design data analysis and interpretation to address the research question.

The first qualitative research package (Phase I) aims to elucidate the rationale that led to the sub-national decision-making scenario, seeking to link the institutional and

operational levels regarding the BSS deployment. In doing so, Phase I comprises two analytical chapters. Chapter 6 analyses the institutional rationale comprised in the business model and the values defined therein, discussing their role in the scheme that finally took place. This chapter also explored, in detail, differences and similarities regarding the two public tendering approaches. This objective seeks to understand the influence of the institutional rationale on the resulting mobility transition pathway within a highly socio-economically segregated urban context. Connectedly, Chapter 7 provides a critique of the different tendering approaches to deploying the BSS. This chapter provides linkages between the institutional and operational levels, highlighting the role of the intergovernmental agreements in fostering and/or hindering the reproduction of inequalities.

The second quantitative research package (Phase II) aims to examine the system performance of the BSS in Santiago, considering travel patterns and perceived benefits in conjunction with a service level assessment to critically discuss the relationship between the planning tools, agreements made and the operational level in both fostering or hindering more equal and inclusive mobility landscapes. As a qualitative third research package (Phase III) of the research methods, it consists of qualitative semi-structured interviews with BSS users to further discuss the service level and perceived benefits.

Accordingly with a convergent research design approach, the intent to integrate the findings of these three phases (Chapter 6, 7, and 8) is based on interpretations that allow links between the different data sets to address the research question. In doing so, I summarise the main concepts discussed at the end of each chapter. After the qualitative and quantitative analysis in each analytical chapter, the different decision-making scenarios discuss the extent to which the quantitative and qualitative results converge, diverge or expand the themes raised. To provide a further understanding of the findings with respect to each stage analysed, this research adopted a "simultaneous integration or merging to develop integrated results and interpretations that expand the understanding to provide comprehensive results" (Creswell and Plano Clark, 2018:221).

The integration of the mixed-method analysis here is done through a narrative (Creswell and Plano Clark, 2011; 2018), by combining quantitative and qualitative results through the Multi-Level Perspective and mobility justice applied to a sub-national research (Ostrom, 1983; Eaton, 2004; Geels and Schot, 2010; Geels, 2012; Mullen et al., 2014; Hrelja et al., 2016; Otero-Bahamon, 2019) integrating the results at the second part of

Chapter 8 and discussing there explanatory factors to expand the findings raised in the analytical chapters (Classen et al., 2007). Indeed, a convergent analysis requires a space to reflect on the findings (Creswell and Plano Clark, 2011; 2018), giving rise to links between the different decision-making scenarios to properly address a mobility justice transition research. Thus, a review of the earliest stage of the deployment process by using the BSS feasibility study (the regional business model, Chapter 6), the Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A annual report (the international investor of the BSS, Chapter 7), and the public tendering, in conjunction with the primary data collected, social and institutional challenges in mobility justice allow visualising the institutional decision-making process for transition-related research (Eaton, 2004; Geels and Schot, 2010).

Related research in transition studies has explored the role of the actors involved in a transition process and the conditions under which they interact in addressing it (Jørgensen, 2012). Similar concerns have been raised by analysing the level of structuring of socio-technical regimes (Geels, 2011; Fuenfschilling and Truffer, 2014) (for further details, see Chapter 3). Also, the case study approach has been widely used by researchers in urban mobility (e.g. Robinson, 2015; Figueroa et al., 2019), which gives support to the present research approach.

In sum, a case study applied to sub-national transition-related research allows placing the focus on the institutional decision-making dynamics, combining the niche, regime, and landscape interactions, when applying the conceptualisation of the Multi-Level Perspective (Chapter 3).

### 2.5 Limitations of methodology and research design

This research has a range of limitations regarding the methodological design and implementation, but I have sought to compensate for those. The first two limitations described here are more a matter of methodological clarifications.

Firstly, in exploring the rationale that led the decision-making process and its influence on unequal deployments, this thesis assumes a type of research approach that is close to an institutional assessment by identifying different stages of decisions and their subsequent outcomes. However, and considering the aims and scope of this thesis, a convergent design suits better as it allows providing relevant linkages when looking at different perspectives in decision-making processes rather than an assessment approach. This latter approach may even be appropriate at later stages for future research when aiming at examining broader processes. This is also further discussed in Chapter 9.

Secondly, my position in this research has been shaped in part by my work experience, which allowed me to understand the original BSS deployment process. To address potential biases related to my prior knowledge and the closeness I had with the interviewees in the design and conduct of the research, I designed and collected the semi-structured expert interviews, selecting in a pilot phase those whom I knew previously and requesting from them the contacts of those experts who had not participated in the early stage of the BSS deployment, a process in which I participated.

Furthermore, and regarding the high motivation of the survey's participants to comment in more detail about the failures of the system, it can also be seen as biased for selecting the sample due to the contingency they were facing. Indeed, at the time of the data collection, a civil lawsuit was underway against the service provider due to system failures. This particular fact may have biases in the responses, assuming that I could solve these particular problems. In the face of this fact, I was always carefully explained the reasons for this research, distancing myself from a public entity. In addition, it is worth noting that in the semi-structured expert interviews, responses about perceptions of the agreements made often had a paradoxical or tense and silent character. This issue was further addressed with other questions in order to gain a better understanding of the issue under discussion. By taking into account these issues perceived when conducting the interviews, the appropriate analytical framework was also chosen.

A third limitation relates to the cross-sectional user's survey regarding the limited ability to generalise findings to other cities. Furthermore, applying a cross-sectional survey has also a limitation on the sample chosen as the survey only covered some of the busiest stations. A survey across the whole network certainly would help expand the understanding of the mobility justice issues raised considering peripherical and rural locations, designing tools for equal or more weight to analyse differences in travel patterns. This research highlighted this issue in the selection of stations and the design of survey sections.

A fourth limitation relates to applying the Multi-Level Perspective and mobility justice framework in a single case study. However, it would be more valuable to contrast several case studies with a similar research subject over a more extended period of time, including several years of operation and use, as this data collection was carried out only by the researcher between March and December 2017, according to a convergent design approach and the available resources.

### 2.6 Ethical issues of the field research

Ethical concerns raised relate to my position in the field, having helped a previous position within Santiago's Metropolitan Regional government. That was evident in many interviews in comments such as 'you know this better than I do' as some of them recognised my previous professional participation. In this sense, the ethical procedures applied were a key aspect for reliable data collection. For example, the consent to give an interview and the subsequent recording was explicitly explained by email, and inperson and protocols were strictly complied with. In addition, while interviews were conducted at the offices of each institution, the survey was carried out in a public space, intercepting respondents when they were collecting or returning a bike. An explanation of the research objective was explained first, asking for their consent, then with proof evidence (by giving a sign or similar). Likewise, all the information collected was handled solely by the researcher. All those procedures complied with research ethics practice and data management regulations (UCL Research Ethics Application: 10045/001).

Finally, I would like to state that, under normal conditions, these empirical materials are usually provided by the operator or some institution in charge. However, during the fieldwork, I realised the complete disconnection between actors and institutions, in conjunction with a fully private scheme, where the information was only managed by the operator of the system. Although the company provided me with the system's database, it contained sensitive information about people's personal data, which was in dispute at the time of data collection as the service provider faced a process of a civil lawsuit due to system failures that ended up affecting users, in particular with extra charges. Therefore, I decided to develop my own data sources and thereby distance itself from the conflict, including encrypting the database provided by the operator.

However, understanding the operational levels constituted my knowledge of interest to further understand relationships between the institutions and organisation when deploying a technological niche in transport, as the managerial aspects are usually disregarded as a research focus.

For the points that I observed and analysed here, in conjunction with my work experience, my knowledge of interest, in fact, relies on supporting institutions and organisations to effectively address low-carbon transportation technologies. However, my main intention is to first emphasise the mobility justice perspective that these deployments require, considering a highly unequal context and weak institutions.

As shown in Chapters 6, 7 and 8, this case study revealed that this political and economic context puts strong pressure on individuals resolving their basic needs with little or no state involvement in addressing public values (Chapter 4), leaving people unsupported in conditions beyond their control. Here people needed an alternative mode of transport, but they also needed a system that works, ensuring their safety and protecting their personal data. There is a need for a system where the government works for everybody as an ally. We need to understand that we need an effective government protecting and addressing public values, competent with their social duties, and sufficiently capable of addressing the real social challenges that we are facing nowadays.

# Chapter 3. A mobility justice transition research in Santiago

This chapter outlines the theoretical foundations on which this research is based to answer the research question posed: How might a niche-innovation in transport lead to a mobility justice transition, considering the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago, Chile in the period 2011-2017 as a case study?

To answer this question, the theoretical background in this research lies in a crossover between a Socio-Technical Transition (STT) and a mobility justice framework. The Socio-Technical Transition framework is interested in a medium and long-term, multi-dimensional, and key transformation process, through which established socio-technical systems of production and consumption shift to new radical ones, based on a coevolutionary social and technological change. In doing so, this theoretical background explains how processes of change occur and evolve, assuming a complex social and technological shift that takes place simultaneously across multiple levels and dimensions, such as personal and collective life, institutions, and markets and comprising exogenous factors such as economic and health crises or environmental circumstances.

Transition research has been widely conducted in the Global North context, extensively focusing on sustainable transport futures. Acknowledging the urgency of the environmental issues across the globe, this thesis argues that a transition towards more sustainable futures must challenge urban inequalities, requiring an explicit and well-framed analytical tool, particularly in the context of the Global South. This chapter seeks to provide an understanding of how the processes of deployment of a niche-innovation in transport might lead to mobility justice transition. Thus, this chapter mobilises transition research to a mobility justice framework, incorporating an accessibility and equality perspective to complement the Multi-Level Perspective with a distributional approach.

A mobility justice transition here is understood as a transformative adaptation (Patterson et al., 2017), or adaptive strategies aiming at both, triggering processes of changes and simultaneously creating and/or accommodating alternative systems to move away from unequal and dominant mobility regimes towards more equal and inclusive mobility landscapes.

This chapter is divided into three main components to create the theoretical crossover: Sub-sections 3.1 and 3.2 introduce and discuss the Multi-Level Perspective, explaining the main characteristics of its structure, including the key theoretical bodies in which this theory is rooted. This is in order to support the analytical development required for this research. Then, the three levels of analysis that comprise this theory are explained in detail in sub-section 3.2.1, incorporating the main limitations and critiques in the context of this research. Sub-section 3.2.2 continues with an expanded and applied approach. It considers both a specific multi-level interaction for a sub-national analysis (3.2.2.1) alongside the specific approach discussing the three analytical levels: the nicheinnovation, regime and landscape in focus (3.2.1.2).

Subsection 3.4 mobilises debates on transition studies towards research on mobility justice. This sub-section explores definitions of the concept of mobility justice (3.4.1), incorporating social justice principles for a critical perspective on institutional-political dimensions and the distributive spheres when deploying technological niches in transport (3.4.2). Thus, this perspective provides a theoretical basis for critiques of the practices and impacts of justice for research in mobility justice transition (3.4.3). In doing so, the framework of accessibility is introduced as a high-level priority in the mobility justice framework, complemented by a perspective on data management and protection. Finally, research on mobility justice and transport innovations is explored to contextualise the present discussion.

This chapter is also complemented by Chapter 4 in order to provide an analytical background to this theoretical crossover from an institutional perspective (See also Saud and Thomopoulos, 2021).

### 3.1 A Socio-Technical Transition research

The Socio-Technical Transition literature has recognised four major strands within research in Socio-Technical Transitions (Markard et al.,2012): i) Transition Management (TM), ii) Technological Innovation Systems (TIS); iii) Strategic Niche Management (SNM), and iv) The Multi-Level Perspective (MLP).

Having conducted a careful study of these theories, TM, TIS and SNM are inappropriate frameworks for this research due to their limited engagement with institutional and normative aspects. In addition, they pursue more interventionist objectives, which is beyond the scope of this research.

The Multi-Level Perspective (MLP) is selected as a suitable framework as it works as a conceptual 'map' for tracing and narrating past transitions processes. As a middle-range process theory, it traces and narrates the nature and the dynamics of socio-technical transformations and changes in systems and structures, under the premise that technology is shaped by social, economic, geographical and political forces (Rip and Kemp, 1998; Geels et al., 2007; Geels, 2010;2019). In turn, technologies and technological systems shape and are shaped by human relations and societies, considering the micro, the meso, and the macro-level as 'societal processes' that lead to a transformative process of change (Jørgensen, 2012). This theoretical framework analyses the role of technologies as co-evolution between technology and society to understand the multi-level processes involved in the transition from one socio-technical system to another (Rip, 1995; Rip and Kemp, 1998; Geels 2002; 2004; 2005; 2007; Elzen et al., 2004; Grin et al., 2010). In doing so, it mixes both retrospective and future studies of socio-technical changes (Rip and Kemp, 1998; Geels, 2002, 2004, 2005; Geels and Kemp, 2007; Geels and Raven, 2006; Geels and Schot, 2007, Smith, 2007; Van Bree et al., 2010, among others).

MLP works as a conceptual map for tracing and narrating past and recent transitions, providing an expanded understanding of the action context regarding a particular transition process without interventionism or managerial purposes. The literature in MLP has been widely used to analyse both green technologies and social innovations to sustainable transitions, such as water and waste management (Geels, 2005b), energy and power generation (Raven, 2004; Verbong and Geels, 2007; Geels et al., 2016) as well as in the field of transport (Geels, 2002; 2005a; Sheller, 2015), among others. Considering the heuristic configuration that comprises the MLP in the description and analysis of transformation processes with a retrospective and reflective perspective on the multiple levels, actions and dimensions involved in a change process, this perspective best suits the purposes of this thesis. MLP, therefore, is further discussed in the next subsection, analysing the underlying assumptions, weaknesses and developing the operational definitions that guide the course of this research. Finally, MLP is mobilised

towards the mobility justice framework (Mullen et al., 2014; Mullen and Marsden, 2016), in accordance with the present research approach.

# 3.2 Socio-technical transition research and the Multi-Level Perspective: theoretical roots

To analyse a transition process as the object of research, this thesis is supported in the view that socio-technical system changes are driven by an interplay between multiple levels, actions and dimensions involved in a change process. In doing so, MLP comprises three interconnected concepts as a level of analysis that guides this research: niche, regime, and landscape (Rip and Kemp, 1998; Geels, 2002; Schot and Geels, 2008; Geels et al., 2017).

A niche has been defined as a 'protected' micro-level space where innovations emerge, being able to gain a basis in specific geographic areas, markets, or by policy support (Schot, 1998; Kemp et al., 1998; Geels, 2007; Geels et al., 2017). A regime consists of a meso level, or the current stable and aligned set of rules and practices involving infrastructure and technology, including policy and institutions, market and industry participating in the system of production and consumption. The landscape concept comprises the exogenous macro-level structural factors that shape and create pressure on the other levels (niche and regime), such as a war or economic crisis (Geels, 2002;2012; Roberts and Geels, 2019).

To arrive at this conceptual development, the combination comprised in the three analytical levels within the MLP is rooted in three key theories (Geels and Schot, 2010): New Institutional Economics (NIE), Sociology and History of Technology (Bijker et al., 1987; 1992) as well as Evolutionary Economics (Geels, 2004; Ostrom, 2007; Fuenfschilling and Truffer, 2014; 2016). It is worth reviewing its theoretical origins to better understand the assumptions, scope and limitations that MLP faces.

#### 3.2.1 Science and Technology Studies

Science and Technology Studies (STS) and, in particular, Sociology of Technology (SCOT) plays a relevant role in the MLP theoretical configuration because of its focus on an integrated vision between technology and society (Bijker et al., 1987). STS goes beyond the conventional 'linear' model (or the so-called 'billiard-ball model') on which technology has an intrinsic technical 'logic', 'introduced' to society to provoke a societal 'change' (Geels and Schot, 2010). To break the course of this reasoning, research in Sociology of Technology shifted the dominant focus of technological determinism from a 'linear' model to a research strategy stressing the 'black box' of technological change research, emphasising the link between technological developments and local practices to understand different actors, alignments and perceptions, on the basis of a detailed case study (Ibid). In this regard, this research focus comprises different actors with different and heterogenic resources, capacities and elements (e.g. knowledge, regulation, people), making possible the understanding of an interlinked relationship between technology and society as different actors moving back and forth between different stages, levels and domains (technical, economic, social, cultural, political), understanding therefore that this relationship is a process.

Thus, socio-technical innovations appeared more related to linkages and heterogeneous networks being built upon as a co-constructed process, a perspective further discussed by historians of technology (Hughes, 1986; Pinch and Bijker, 1984; Staudenmaier, 1985; Misa et al., 2003; Hard, 2001), in an attempt to challenge the idea that technology has an autonomous logic separated from society.

As Bijker (1995:270) describes, a technological design process works "not because the artefact works in some objective sense, but because the set of relevant social groups accepts that it works for them". Thus, these arguments allowed us to go beyond the idea of a linear sequence in technological developments, giving rise to the notion of the 'social construction' of technologies. This perspective is taken up by the MLP, conferring equal consideration when studying a socio-technical change. However, due to the strong focus that SCOT places on local agencies to challenge the linear model, scholars in MLP (Misa, 1994; Jasanoff, 2012; Geels, 2020) have recognised the limitations that this theoretical origin has posed regarding the over-emphasis on the micro-level contingency in the early stages of a technological deployment, arguing that MLP proposes a more constructivist

vision that could balance the micro-insights with the meso and macro levels and, in particular, placing attention on the institutional and organisational roles in the medium and long term (Geels, 2020).

#### 3.2.2 Evolutionary economics

From a naturalistic perspective to understand the economic fluctuations and dynamics of change and human economy (Witt, 2008), evolutionary economics studies processes that transform the economy of firms, institutions, industries, including production, trade and employment.

Nelson and Winter (1982) have emphasised the issues of changes in technology and routines as an evolutionary process as a consequence of economic changes. This perspective focuses on the actions of actors, emphasising their role, knowledge and their ability to compete and innovate in fluctuating environments, assuming scarcity and actors as 'boundedly rationality' (Nelson, 2008). In other words, it implies that their decisions are guided by norms and routines as long as results are satisfactory, or, alternatively, embed a dynamic of adaptive strategies (Nelson and Winter, 1982; Lo, 2004). Thus, it is about the interaction between innovators, entrepreneurs and competitive imitators (Nelson, 2018; Witt, 2008; Witt and Chai, 2019). Geels and Schot (2010) have criticised the notion of 'boundedly rationality' as it emphasises the constraining effects disregarding their enabling character. However, this critique also reveals that the restrictive and enabling character have negative effects related to norms, rules and beliefs.

There are two key components comprised within the MLP that are relevant for this research, considering the decision-making processes of the BSS deployment in Santiago as the research subject. On the one hand, a macro-evolution perspective, or the long term of a technological and economic transformation, assumes that the macroeconomic equilibrium is constantly destabilised by entrepreneurs who introduce innovations, where the trajectory could be highly irregular for long periods (Schumpeter, 1939; Day, 2008). On the other hand, the micro-evolution perspective is taken from this theory by means of the concepts of selection, variation, and self-replication or retention (Nelson and Winter, 1982). While variation is primarily considered as an intentional and directed alignment as a result of technological and organisational novelty, selection is assumed in a competitive

environment, combining novelties or variations from existing systems, triggering processes of technological and economic changes. Finally, retention refers to elements of the variants that have been retained (Nelson and Winter, 1982; Metcalfe et al., 2006; Witt, 2019).

The MLP echoes the key pillars of evolutionary economics. In this regard, MLP recognises that the notions of stability and change are deeply interrelated, suggesting both types of possible scenarios, medium-long periods of incremental changes in conjunction with a brief period of disruption. Likewise, MLP integrates the core assumptions regarding the notions of selection, variation, and self-replication or retention (Geels, 2020). However, it has been argued that the concept of 'variation' requires further discussion to go beyond the 'performative action' towards more 'cognitive' dimensions (Temenos et al., 2017), in line with SCOT approaches.

### 3.2.3 New Institutional Economics

A significant cornerstone of the MLP is the New Institutional Economics (NIE) framework, also called neo-institutionalism. Unlike the conventional understanding of 'institutions' as an organisational entity such as parliament, business firms, or even the notion of what family is, NIE perspective tries to explain regular patterns of interaction with references to rules, norms, practices, and relationships that influence society's actions systematically (Ostrom, 2007). John (2012; 2018) further explains that institutions are 'arenas' where policy-making occurs, which involves the political organisation, laws, methods and the main components that guide decision-making. Furthermore, Rodhes et al. (2006:xiii) define institutions as rules to "determine opportunities and incentives to behaviours", setting the rules of the game towards decentralised decision-making (Faundez, 2016; North, 1990). In addition, Ostrom and Crawford (2005) have argued that rules can be formal, for example, the constitution that guides a political system as well as regulatory frameworks, such as the operation of economic groups, or the set of rules that guide public goods provision. Rules can also be informal, posed as habits, beliefs, or practices, aside from formal planning, and both can be mixed in practice. This mix introduces significant challenges as it involves a pivotal discussion for understanding what an institution is and what it does in practice, unfolding the classical structure and agency duality, further discussed in 'Structuration Theory' (Giddens, 1984). Indeed, Giddens's theory (Ibid) discusses the influence or determination of the rules over individuals' behaviour, attending to a dual relationship between institutional embeddedness and social practices. Thus, while institutions can be considered as structures independently of the individuals involved, rules are also part of a socialisation process as two sides of a single coin. Here, actors are seen as "knowledgeable agents, who interpret and apply rules creatively" (although within constraints) (Geels, 2010:504).

The relevance of the NIE framework to MLP, considering the aim of this research in analysing the role of decision-making processes and the focus on the policy and technical instruments, comprised in the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago, can be summarised in three key aspects: i) neo-institutional theory's conceptualisation of the set of rules and norms enshrined within an institution, whether formal or informal, and which present different logics and degrees of structururation (Tolbet and Zucker's, 1999; Thornton et al., 2012; Fuenfschilling and Truffer, 2014), ii) the emphasis that organisations operate in economic, social and institutional environments, as an interrelated system comprised by actors, actions and relations, or what is a so-called 'arena' (McAdam and Scott, 2005; Beckert, 2010), and iii) the institutional 'arena' comprised in the MLP entails a dynamic interaction between different actors, who experience tensions and complexities in the process of adaptation to institutions while strategically influencing them (Oliver, 1991; Garud et al., 2007; Cairney, 2018).

To end these brief theoretical roots, Figure 3.1 shows the crossover between the three theories described.



Figure 3.1: Theoretical crossover between evolutionary economy, sociology of technology and neo-institutionalism or NIE theories. Source: Adapted from Geels and Schot (2010:53)

### 3.3 Multilevel perspective: key assumptions in technological innovations

As mentioned above, MLP pursues more retrospective objectives in conjunction with a future-oriented research approach, seeking to obtain significant insights of past transitions to address and manage current and future ones. This perspective assumes that these changes occur through the interaction of complex social and material change across the micro, meso and macro levels and different societal and institutional dimensions (Geels, 2004; Elzen et al., 2004; Grin et al., 2010). Therefore, transition research relates to a complex multi-scalar process, comprising medium and long timeframes of fluctuations (Grin et al., 2010; Schot et al., 2016).

Conceptually, the three analytical levels – niche, regime and landscape - illustrate the understanding of processes through two key concepts: 'path dependence' and 'path creation'. On the one hand, path dependence refers to the lock-in mechanism (Klitkou et al., 2015) of existing techno-economic systems, that is, social, cultural and cognitive dimensions, such as lifestyles, as well as institutional and political arenas, which influence a transition. On the other hand, 'path creation' (Garud et al., 2010) comprises new arrangements, alliances, agreements, and coalitions to intervene in a current system and sustain a process of change (Farla et al., 2012; Markard et al., 2016).

MLP describes the timeframes of fluctuations with the following four phases, as illustrated in Figure 3.2 (Geels 2002; 2019): i) experimentation, ii) stabilisation, iii) diffusion and disruption, and iv) institutionalisation.

As Geels (2019) explained in relation to Figure 3.2 that the first phase of any technological deployment towards a transition, called 'experimentation', is characterised by trial and error in the institutional, economic and social domains. In this phase, novelties require overcoming the tendency to remain unreliable, isolated and short-lived 'solutions'. In the second phase, 'stabilisation' comes about from an orchestration between a flow of resources, learning processes, standardisation, in conjunction with socio-cognitive activities to stabilise the trajectory of a technological deployment and make it familiar to the society. 'Diffusion and disruption' take place with the internal technological-drivers in conjunction with the support given by a set of norms and rules for their accommodation. also called the 'window of opportunity', as a result of the alignment between the three levels to modify existing systems. However, significant tensions arise in multiple dimensions simultaneously when the existing systems are being destabilised in the early stages (Phase 1, Figure 3.2). Due to the multi-dimensional challenges, a technological deployment may not be able to survive. However, if they succeed, the next phase comprises the replacement (or part of) previous socio-technical systems, transforming a novelty into a formal system.

The described dynamics, however, envisage several ways in which a change takes place. Patterson et al. (2017) outlined four types of processes of change, developed as 'transition pathways': i) a socio-technical transition as a co-evolution between social, technological, economic and institutional changes, ii) a socio-ecological system as a resilience process of change, iii) sustainability pathways, focusing on local bottom-up initiatives empowering marginalised actors, and iv) transformative adaptations, aiming at both, triggering a process of changes and simultaneously deploying alternative systems. These authors also highlight that sustainability pathways and transformative adaptations are more concerned with critical perspectives on ideas of transformations rather than conceptualising trajectories of change per se. However, what is relevant in this research is to analyse the links between a mobility transition trajectory embedded in a socio-spatial unequal context as in Santiago.



Figure 3.2: Multi-level perspective on socio-technical transitions. Source: Geels (2002; 2019)

## 3.3.1 The three analytical levels in the Multi-Level Perspective

Having settled the MLP framework for the present research objective, this sub-section further develops the specific focus on the notions of niche, regime, landscape for an analytical approach.

The overall dynamics between the micro, meso and macro level comprised in a technological deployment is illustrated by the MLP as a process theory. Framed by a 'constructivist' narrative (Hard, 2001), it consists of the following premises: (a) niche-innovations build up a momentum allowing them to upscale, based on an instance of support, such as politicians and related organisations, (b) changes at the landscape level create pressure on the regime and (c) current regimes are destabilised, opening a window of opportunity for niche-innovations to upscale and disrupt the existing systems.

The alignment of these levels enables the breakthrough of novelties in markets, society and everyday life, competing with existing regime as an initial trajectory of a transition process of change (Geels and Schot, 2007). The definitions used in this research regarding these conceptualisations are presented below.

### 3.3.1.1 Niche-innovations

Early literature on transitions (Hughes, 1986; Rip and Kemp, 1998) explained that a transition process starts with the development of a new technology in a so-called technological niche. This niche can be seen as a 'seamless web', indicating the occurrence of alignments between different elements, measures, contexts and actors (involving artefacts, entrepreneurs, banks, regulators, users). Thus, the notion of nicheinnovation is defined as an alignment between multiple actors, a novel technology and the creation of supporting measures for its deployment, on the basis that technology is a social construction. An innovation niche is therefore conceptualised within MLP theory to refer to how an innovation emerges and how it triggers change processes. Geels (2012) has described niche innovations as 'protected spaces' or 'instances of support' by means of different measures, resources, skills, referring to a 'supportive' network which is eventually strengthened by the integration of expectation, goals and vision between different actors (Schot et al., 1994; Kemp et al., 1998; Schot, 1998; Hoogma et al., 2002; Geels, 2005). Literature on niche-innovations has indicated three components: 1) a particular domain of use, 2) a heterogenic web of actors, ranging from a particular sector or industry as well as supportive institutions, and 3) specific areas for a niche to emerge (Schot, 1994; Geels, 2012), "without being subject to the selection pressure of the prevailing regime" (Markard et al., 2012:957). As this happens, a niche eventually strengthens its configuration to upscale (or the so-called 'momentum').

Considering MLP as a process theory, the notion of niche-innovation- in the context of this thesis focuses on the creation of a particular network of markets, actors, technologies, governance schemes, with articulated expectations, visions and resources all together involved to some degree and at some point in time, and sharing a common sense that brought them together with a motive or purpose to trigger a process of change. Furthermore, as it involves here a new urban mobility practice, this articulation comprises the creation of 'adaptive strategies' translated to alignments and arrangements and linked through common and individual values.

A niche-innovation in transport is a relational matter involving the three components mentioned above. Therefore, this thesis pays special attention to a particular business model, a tendering process as well as a certain type of operational management comprised in the first inter-*comunal* Bicycle Sharing System (BSS) in Santiago as the constituent elements of such a system as a niche-innovation in transport. Therefore, this thesis provides an understanding of what outcomes are expected through the BSS in Santiago, what type of alignments take place, how benefits are distributed and between whom. In doing so, this research highlights the rationale that brought them together and the 'instance of support' they are finally attached to. Further, this 'orchestration' or the relationship envisioned and created between different actors in Santiago, is motivated by a complex combination of welfare, benefits and profits, so this thesis considers essential to analyse how this alignment can foster or constrain the reproduction of inequalities, as well as the existence of mechanisms that can challenge it, as adaptive processes of change.

### 3.3.1.2 Regimes

Following Rip and Kemp (1998:388), the regime concept relates to "the rule set or grammar embedded in complex interdisciplinary practices, production processes of technologies...skills and procedures, ways of handling relevant artefacts and persons, ways of defining problems, all of them embedded in institutions and infrastructures". This conceptualisation takes a political science perspective based on Nohlen et al. (1998:548) referring to "an institutionalised set of principles, norms, and rules that fundamentally governs the actors".

To contextualise the approach with which the notion of regime is used in the context of this research, the definition of 'mobility regime' is introduced in order to complement the definition of the latter authors. 'Mobility regime' refers to "a specific set of principles, norms and rules that govern the mobility practice" (Kesselring, 2015:576). Therefore, this set of rules would be determining who is allowed and able to move, how, and under what conditions (Sheller, 2018). This conceptualisation aims at understanding how movements are regulated as a distributive matter and how they eventually become a stable pattern from physically measurable 'materialities' (e.g. infrastructure, software, services), as an expression of beliefs, practices, traditions (Rhodes, 2007) and formal and informal rules (Ostrom, 2011). In this sense, 'mobility regimes' consist of not only the physical provision

comprised of a new 'means of transport' but also the dynamic process on which different institutions are creating, enabling, and also ensuring - or not - the conditions to improve, modify or increase/decrease the movement of people (Docherty et al., 2018).

Thus, the regime concept in the MLP in focus appeals to the 'deeper structural rules' (Jørgensen, 2012), and in this thesis in particular, to governance emerging mobility rules that drive the scope and character of decision-making processes, driving the corresponding course of action in a particular geographical, institutional and organisational context. Therefore, it refers here to the rationale in decision making aimed at keeping the current system stability, shaping institutional and organisational practices and processes as a result of values, beliefs and rationale (Harvey 2006; 2009; Geels, 2012; Schwanen, 2016). This thesis gives rise to questions about the governance of a niche-innovation in transport, terms of: "the why (the public policy function), what (the set of rules), who (the networks of actors and their position, power and objectives), and how (the manner in which the public is involved and accountability and transparency are maintained)" (Docherty et al., 2018:117-118).

To contextualise this discussion with an emphasis on the process of deployment of the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago, the private sector is moved by financial incentives considering revenues, cost and returns as the values driving these deployments. On the other hand, the public sector is expected to set the rules of the game. However, in line with Docherty et al. (2018)'s ideas, there is a crucial debate about the power relations in mobility governance, where one of the main concerns is how to address the delivery of more, not less, public value with the arrival of these new technological deployments, considering the case when they are governed by a transnational corporation.

Mobilising the discussion towards the conditions under which the deployment process of the BSS in Santiago could lead to a mobility justice transition, this thesis places the focus on different actors and decision-making scenarios. From the Multi-Level Perspective on transitions, Roberts and Geels (2019) discuss the conditions under which decision-makers trigger a transition, focusing on a dynamic based on rapid diffusion and irruption and highlighting the importance of decision-makers' own volition and the policy context that surrounds and conditions them. Contextualised from a political and institutional point of view, these authors highlight two transition patterns that operate by destabilising the regime level. On the one hand, the landscape or external/structural factors execute
pressure creating a 'critical juncture' or a pivotal episode in conjunction with an imbalance of the power domain between a niche innovation and the regime level. In the context of decision making, these authors identified that external pressures that policymakers face (namely business interests, mass public, technological developments) and policy internal developments (or changes and/or re-alignments in the definition of collective problems and the way by which institutional decisions and agreements take place) were relevant to destabilise current norms and rules and trigger the process of change (Figure 3.4).

In other words, this conceptualisation to understand a transition process refers to the conditions under which a stable set of rules and lock-in mechanisms are destabilised for changes to occur, arguing that significant policy change comes about from struggles between "incumbent coalitions and challengers, which eventually lead to major defections and policy reorientations" (Ibid:224). Thus, these enabling/weakening forces are argued to be created by "external forces, like technological or demographic change, and large shocks, such as military conflict and economic downturns" (Hacker and Pierson, 2014:656), unlocking conventional and existing policy practices, opening up instances of defection that trigger processes of change. This narrative is conceptualised by the authors as in Figure 3.3, which is an adaptation from Figure 3.2, illustrating political defection with the thick arrow in the Multi-Level Perspective. This idea of 'defection' and a subsequent policymaking re-alignment arena is explained as a loss in the degree of lock-in mechanism, which provides an opportunity for a niche-innovation to upscale, which can be crucial to understand a mobility justice transition in the context of this research.

Increasing structuration of activities in local practices



Figure 3.3. Conceptualizing political defection through the MLP illustrated with the thicker arrow. Source: Roberts and Geels (2019).

This thesis argues that a 'defection' strategy depends on how the state's involvement is viewed. In 'enabling state' contexts, where state actions refer to "just enabling the opening up of markets " (Docherty et al., 2018:117) (further addressed in Chapter 4), the notion of 'defection' could also be seen as an institutional decision-making strategy considering both, either by weakening, compacting or expanding and/or by a flexible set of rules comprised therein. Therefore, it is essential to analyse the nature of a given niche-innovation deployment, the institutional settings as well as the pressures of the landscape in order to provide an understanding of a transition character. This conceptualisation also makes clear that the separation between niche and regime is blurred, in particular in contexts with a flexible set of rules, norms and practices.

In order to operationalise the notion of 'regime' under the latter argument described above, this thesis focuses on the notion of 'arena' (Chapter 4), emphasising that organisations and institutions operate in economic, social and institutional environments as an interrelated system comprised of actors, actions and relations (McAdam and Scott, 2005; Beckert, 2010). In this research, the focus is on an 'enabling state' creating 'enabling environments' (Carroll, 2012; Docherty et al., 2018; Geels, 2019), emphasising the context when governance structures, or some components of them, are by nature flexible and weak, like in the Chilean context (Eaton, 2004). This emphasis is part of a critical institutional perspective raised by this research, considering the case of the first inter-*comunal* Santiago de Chile' BSS. Here, the BSS as a niche innovation faced 'weak' regimes, that are institutional systems at the sub-national level with little power, capabilities and resources, and an external pressure conducted by a dominant transnational sector introducing the BSS in Santiago as a social 'cause' (Chapter 4).

### 3.3.1.3 Landscapes

The concept of landscape is the next analytical level in the MLP. The socio-technical 'landscapes' refer to a 'wider' context beyond the niche and regime interaction (Geels, 2012). However, this level influences and shapes the relationship between the niche and the regime. Indeed, in mobility and transitions research, the influence of landscape factors, such as industry and market trends, may foster or constrain the scaling up and stabilisation of niche-innovations (Schwanen, 2016). To trigger processes of innovation and modification/adaptation of the current systems, these processes involve an alignment between the three levels to generate a so-called 'window of opportunity' or the socio-technological shift from one system to another, as explained above (Geels, 2012; Geels et al., 2017; Hopkins and Jenkins, 2019).

Rip & Kemp (1998) describe the concept of 'landscape' both in a literal and metaphorical sense regarding those dimensions and elements that surround us and of which we are part. Later on, the literature on transition argues that the landscape level comprises both slow-changing trends such as ideologies and cultural and socio-demographic factors, medium-term ones, such as broad developments in markets and industry, as well as short-term shocks, such as economic crises, fluctuating oil prices, or wars (Temenos et al., 2017; Geels et al., 2017; Geels et al., 2018). This conceptualisation also involves socio-spatial context factors, such as particular environmental awareness (Geels et al., 2016), e.g. a certain area constantly affected by earthquakes. However, literature in MLP has mainly focused on the niche-regime dynamic so far. Indeed, little research has been

done focusing on the landscape level as it is assumed to be an exogenous factor or as a slow-changing condition eventually modified with a niche-regime dynamic in the long term. Meelen et al. (2019) invite us to reflect on the landscape level as a geographical and spatial concern in the adoption of sustainable innovations. This thesis calls for thinking about fairer cities in a transition to sustainability.

While recognising that the proposed dynamic between the three levels of the theory is valuable in providing a 'big picture' (Roberts and Geels, 2019), the criticism of the MLP's hierarchy between the three levels is evident (Shove, 2010) if the focus is placed on the niche levels as a Cartesian relationship (Figure 3.1), as it tends to emphasise on the 'artefactual' aspect of the technology. Therefore, the landscape would assume a secondary role. Indeed, Whitmarsh (2012:485) has referred to the landscape level as a 'black box' in which "anything that does not readily fit at lower levels is placed", which expresses this lack of attention or, alternatively, the artefactual focus. However, if we look at this level in a multidirectional sense (vertical and horizontal) (Figure 3.4), the value of this macro-level analysis lies in its possibilities to recognise, visualise and understand the particularities of institutional and organisational practices, along with the instruments, individuals and institutions emerging from the micro and the meso levels that coexist and shape the landscape. In this way, the sub-national level becomes relevant. Furthermore, this multidirectional sense also incorporates the understanding of a political re-alignment of vertical forces interested here in the sub-national levels due to their degree of autonomy (Eaton, 2020), modifying current regimes and realigning them (weakening, compacting or expanding).

In the context of the Santiago BSS, the external pressure responds to the global trend to deploy such systems as a 'best practice' (Montero, 2020). While the circulation of a BSS as 'best practice' is globally widespread as a policy trend among cities in terms of the benefits that its implementation brings, this thesis also recognises at the landscape level, the current pressure exerted by global corporations (or the transnational level) acting both in the provision of mobility services and as sponsors in charge of these systems. Interestingly, it is also possible to observe a 'voluntary' willingness of sponsors, as in the case of corporate sustainability and philanthropy. The present case study is an example of this idea (further discussed in Chapter 4).

Acknowledging that the concept of landscape comprises 'exogenous' slow-medium and shock changing trends, this concept here is also seen as a space to discuss and provide a more reflexive perspective on visions, values and scopes with respect to the pressures and structural factors that drive global corporations, as in many cases it is they who ultimately govern these systems.

A transition is a complex and non-linear process, especially in contexts where they often occur in a chaotic, incongruent, undesirably dominant, but also synergistic manner at the same time. Thus, this approach to the landscape level allows going beyond focusing on the immediate factors comprised in the niche and regime interaction (such as restrictions, methods, regulations) and provides more reflective governance and organisational analyses. By creating a retrospective 'big picture', it is possible to analyse complexities in the different stages of the BSS deployment and, at the same time, provide an extended perspective to contextualise a path-dependency and change that account for a mobility justice transition. Unlike other trends in transition research which have an interventionist character (Loorbach et al., 2010), this approach to the landscape level contributes with a retrospective reflection for future navigational charts to envision and guide a transition process in the making, as a complement to more interventionist agendas.

# 3.3.2 The Multi-Level dynamic: emerging mobility deployment and the subnational levels

As a middle-range theory, MLP seeks to outline a transition phenomenologically with the niche-regime-landscape model, applying empirical research to contextualise actors, activities and mechanisms (Geels, 2007). A variety of historical and contemporary case studies have applied the MLP to examine socio-technical shifts from one system to another regarding different societal areas. In the field of transport, transitions were mapped in a broader conceptualisation of urban mobility (Moradi and Vagoni, 2018), or in a particular field such as electric vehicles (Mazur et al., 2015; Berkeley, 2018).

In the context of emerging mobility schemes, O' Tauma (2015) has employed the MLP to explain how the Bicycle Sharing Scheme in Dublin took place, giving rise to the physical, social and technological dimensions comprised in the scheme's introduction and the knock-on effects – or 'ripple' effects with a close zoom in. Findings showed that public

bikes are fostering greater integration both geographically and institutionally, generating a 'momentum' in further adoption with new users. Meelen et al. (2019) contributed with research based on the spatial dimensions of the three analytical levels of the MLP by analysing the levels of adoption of car-sharing schemes. However, little research has been conducted in emerging mobility deployments with a focus on institutional and organisational configurations, focusing on different decision-making scenarios and scales as a subject of analysis.

As the aim of this research is to analyse the role of decision-making processes, providing links between the institutional and operational spheres in doing so, this research focuses on the policy and technical instruments, individuals, institutions and organisations. In this regard, this focus poses significant institutional and social challenges, specifically associated with the conditions under which different arrangements and dynamics take place towards transformative processes of change in systems and structures and how these operate in practice.

Thus, the usefulness of the Multi-Level Perspective in mapping and narrating a deployment process is highlighted as relevant, in particular, when giving rise to subnational complexities supporting new technological deployments in transport within a highly unequal context of decision-making (Eaton, 2004; OECD, 2018). MLP has a spatial-geographical challenge, here addressed by focusing on the sub-national level (local-regional). If Figure 3.4 is interpreted literally, the MLP could imply that innovations emerge as an interaction between the local and regional levels, and the landscape is considered in this research as the urban structure resulting from a dominant rationale that exerts an external pressure from a higher scale. Special attention is given to the basic units of decision-making, which comprise the unit of analysis. Figure 3.4 is used to outline the particular focus that this thesis adopts to analyse the multi-level interaction at the sub-national level. This figure explains the co-evolutionary trajectory between the three analytical 'levels' where niches are embedded within regimes, eventually moving away from A) to C). (Geels, 2004; 2010; 2012; Schot et al., 2016).



Figure 3.4: Nested hierarchy of multiple nested levels - Source: Geels (2002:1261); Geels (2012:52).

#### 3.3.3 Limitations and criticisms

The literature about the Multi-Level Perspective has recognised several areas of criticism that have been partially reviewed. Three interlinked criticisms are relevant for this research (Geels, 2019): 1) spatial and geographic concerns, 2) the 'provisioning' focus, 3) power relations.

Firstly, the concrete spatialisation of this 'narrative' remains unclear, especially as it has been seen as a universalising theory, despite the arguments that it is a theory that works at global and local level simultaneously (Geels and Schot, 2010). In this regard, Temenos et al. (2017) have criticised the underlying assumptions of the spatialisation of emission reduction initiatives in transport and the outcomes under a neoliberal logic, highlighting the need for a shift beyond technological development and the focus on physical infrastructure and equipment provision.

Secondly, this criticism is clearer when looking at the definition of systems in transition research where MLP is founded. The socio-technical framework to transitions within MLP conceptualise systems (such as transport, food, energy) as a configuration comprised of technology, markets, institutional practices, cultural meanings, scientific knowledge, among the main constitutive elements (Elzen et al., 2004; Geels, 2004; Geels & Schot, 2010a; Geels, 2012). In this regard, Loorbach et al. (2017) discuss systems through three concepts: socio-technical, socio-institutional/economic, and socio-ecological systems. Further, Røpke (2016) had conceptualised four 'societal' basic systems: resource and waste, provisional, distributional and geographical (including jurisdiction and national

economy), posing a critique on MLP for emphasising the transition as a process of provisioning yet not addressing a discussion regarding distributional systems (Ibid).

Geels (2019) has argued that the MLP indeed emphasises socio-technical transition processes with a strong focus on 'provisioning' systems since the focus on 'distributional' systems is limited, which is precisely the critical point of discussion in this research. He continued arguing that emerging research on justice and the distributional consequences of sustainability transitions have gained considerable weight in addressing these concerns (Sheller, 2015; 2018). Indeed, saying less about the distributional issues in a transition process introduces questions regarding who benefits and in what ways, poorly addressed in transition research. Likewise, transition research has been criticised for not addressing concerns about outcomes or impacts in its analysis (Guillard et al., 2016). This critique inevitably draws on the discussion of the emphasis on artefacts, infrastructure and the material dimension, giving rise to concerns over technological developments as universal or ready-made solutions, and ultimately, the transition character, which is a matter of this research.

Third, MLP has given little space to politics, policy and power (Smith and Grin, 2010; Patterson et al., 2017). Docherty et al. (2018) have already discarded the discussion of the actions that the state and the public sector require to change in a transition to a 'Smart Mobility' future (Ibid), since the transition is led by some dominant sectors, and with particular interests (Andion et al., 2012). What is crucial in this regard, however, is the debate on the governance of mobility and how public values and interests are addressed. However, without a clear focus on the distributional and social outcome issues, politics and power remain in a descriptive sphere of institutional and organisational management led by powerful groups (Temenos et al., 2017; Temper et al., 2018). Moreover, MLP could also be biased in decision-making, excluding or rendering certain invisible courses of action (Temenos et al., 2017) or emphasising some aspects of decision-making rather than others.

Furthermore, while looking at the niche-regime-landscape conceptualisations, a certain vertical hierarchy underlines the three levels: the emergence of technological niches and the pressures of the landscape modifying the stability of the regime (Figure 3.2). However, MLP has been precisely criticised for suggesting this hierarchy and lacking mechanisms to contextualise change processes (Shove and Walker, 2010) in particular

if they are led by some dominant sectors. This is particularly relevant, considering that top-down approaches in governance are common in the Global South (Levy, 2013; Moser, 2016), where institutions are often weak and biased, and public goods are disproportionately distributed among very few population groups while others experience disadvantages and exclusion (Janoshka, 2016; Martinez et al., 2018).

One of the crucial aspects before concluding this subchapter is the underlying rationale behind the MLP as missed aspects and critiques which could be partly influenced by the origins, situated in a European – specifically, Dutch context, characterised by an egalitarian ethos as well as a perceived stability and cultural homogenisation, despite the recognition that egalitarianism is less than in the past (Martens, 2017). This national 'rationale' tends to obfuscate differences and similarities between social strata. However, this does not mean that social inequalities in this context do not exist (Kuipers, 2012).

Finally, and returning to the MLP's focus on the provision and its criticism of the lack of discussion of distributional aspects, niche-innovations and its deployment processes indeed generate negative side effects, especially in the first phases of a niche deployment, which is an institutional and governance matter. These negative effects – or dis-benefits - are not only a matter of the result of introducing an untested novelty itself but also pose a challenge and an institutional duty to deliver and look after public value (Docherty et al., 2018) (see Chapter 4). When these negative effects are exacerbated by a rationality of public institutions that does not enable them to be addressed, this is what this thesis calls 'contested' niche-innovations.

Therefore, this thesis places the focus on an early stage of a niche deployment, focusing on how the 'enabling environment' to deploy the BSS in Santiago was created and operated in practice. Thus, significant insight can be obtained in the relational dynamics between the institutional and operational levels to understand if a transition takes place and, if so, the subsequent character. In examining the case study in Santiago, this thesis echoes these critiques by addressing the theoretical bias on users' travel needs and experiences, considering that a mobility justice transition is required, going beyond the assumption that by solving a production and supply problem, social issues are solved (Temenos et al., 2017). Indeed, a 'transition researcher' would have similar biases as conventional transport planners by not addressing the concept of mobility itself (Ibid), where initiatives encouraging cycling or electric vehicles usually pose significant social challenges in travel needs, thereby disadvantaging particular groups of people. Socio-Technical Transition research has a pending debt with the socio-spatial dimensions of mobility and inequalities (Levy, 2013). In this regard, the limitations that MLP exhibits are addressed in the second part of this chapter with the mobility justice framework discussed below.

## 3.4 From generic transition to a mobility justice transition

Contributions to the 'automobility in transition' perspective have recognised the dominance of car-based mobility, arguing that transitions to sustainable transport futures "cannot avoid taking automobility into account" (Geels, 2012:xiii).

Sustainable transitions have been discussed as intrinsically linked to a social justice transition (Mullen and Marden, 2016; Sheller, 2018). However, as explained in the previous subchapter, discourses within the Multi-Level Perspective (MLP) continue to detach social justice aspects from sustainable transitions, particularly disregarding the distributional aspects of a niche deployment.

This thesis echoes these concerns arguing that there is a need to develop a comprehensive framework to address multiple concerns to justice to enable sustainable transitions. Indeed, a more comprehensive theory of justice and mobilities is required to address the unsustainable production-consumption patterns as part of the common, everyday phenomenon of uneven mobilities and differentiated accessibility (Levy, 2015; Sheller, 2018).

Significantly, the 'mobility justice' framework echoes these concerns by discussing the movement of people across the city and the difficulties that some groups of people may face regarding accessibility issues to their everyday activities that make up a decent life. Therefore, mobility justice is a theoretical framework that encompasses the power relations among multiple domains of mobility, both the material/spatial dimensions and the institutional rationale and processes that constitute and shape the movements of people across the city.

In addressing the distributive dimension of mobility justice, this thesis argues that it goes beyond the material distribution of goods and its implications for social positions (Young, 1990). Therefore, the focus here is on institutional practices through which unequal conditions are created, affecting the accessibility of different groups of people when deploying a transport innovation.

Therefore, this subsection considers the notion of 'equality' as a high-level priority in addressing the institutional dimension for mobility justice transition research (Harris, 1988, 1997; Cohen, 1989; Sen, 1993; Dworkin, 2000; Mullen, 2009; Mullen et al., 2014). The concept of equality here has its roots in the political philosophy of what kind of society we aspire to? (Crisp and Slote, 1997; MacIntyre, 1982; Sandel, 2013; DFID, 1997; Jones, 2012; Mullen et al., 2014). As such, equality rests on the assumption that people should be 'treated as equals' (Dworkin, 1977:68).

This subchapter is structured as follows to address these concerns, providing a theoretical basis for the critiques of justice of practices and impacts when deploying a niche-innovation in transport. The first part provides a discussion of mobility justice. Then, given the focus on the institutional levels, a critical perspective further discusses the institutional-political dimensions in mobility justice. This perspective is built upon the three principles of social justice: (re)distribution, recognition, and participation to complement the Multi-Level Perspective. Furthermore, the accessibility framework is introduced as a high-level priority in mobility justice, complemented by a brief discussion on data management and protection. Finally, some research related to mobility justice and transport innovation is presented to contextualise the present discussion.

### 3.4.1 Exploring and defining the concept of mobility justice

Literature in mobility justice comprises a synergistic mixture between political philosophies of justice literature (Martens, 2017, Urry, 2007; Sheller, 2018, 2019; Cook, & Butz, 2018, 2019) and the new mobilities paradigm (Urry, 2007). On the one hand, it is composed of the study of rights, freedoms, capabilities, distribution, among the most relevant concepts of justice (Rawls, 1999; Walzer, 1983; Miller, 1999; among others).

On the other hand, an expanded vision of justice has been added through discussing the fairness of the mobility relations when looking at the contemporary mobile life (Everuss, 2019), questioning "how relations of (im)mobility... are produced within and through social and political practices" (Sheller et al., 2018:24)

Mobility justice is an umbrella concept for analysing "how power and inequality inform the governance and control of movement, shaping patterns of unequal mobility and immobility in the movement of people, resources, and information" (Sheller, 2019:23). Thus, this concept stresses the ontology of movements through which inequalities are generated by analysing the movement of people and the difficulties that different social identities may face in accessibility issues to their everyday activities as well as those valued activities that make up a dignified and worthwhile life. In this regard, people's capacity to move (or stay), around and between spaces is conditioned by different social and cultural constructions of self, such as class, level of education, wealth, or gender (Levy, 2015). Derived from an 'uneven' mobility rationale, processes and practices (Mullen and Marden, 2016; Sheller, 2018), this conceptualisation operates at intersectorial and multiple scales, ranging from the body to household, community, city, region, nation and the globe (Brenner & Schmid, 2015; Sheller, 2018).

Therefore, the mobility justice framework allows "to show how [uneven (im)mobilities] not only intersect but refract and intensify each other in multiple ways simultaneously" (Sheller, 2019:23). Thus, by linking both the institutional and material/spatial dimensions for an approach to mobility justice regarding the distributive concerns, movements of people are here understood as both "an outcome of political and power relations as well as the institutional processes that constitute and shape them" (Everuss, 2019:133).

Accordingly, this thesis considers mobility justice as an open-ended discursive construct made up of a combination of power relations between governing institutions/processes and the spatial/material dimensions of mobility as regards many forms of discrimination and injustices that reproduce and deepen urban inequalities. Thus, while the spatial/material dimensions of mobility are an expression of different dynamics of exchanges and values, institutions are seen here as "more than just agencies: institutions are also 'rules of engagement', which embed power and decision-making processes" (Frediani et al.,2020:10).

Therefore, an approach to the distributive sphere requires a recognition of people's differing needs, based on the assumption that each person matters (Mullen et al., 2014). By questioning the "the why (the public policy function), the what (the rules of the game), the who (the networks of actors and their position, power and objectives [as well as who receives social welfare]) and how (the way in which the public is involved and how accountability and transparency are maintained)" (Docherty et al., 2018:117-118), three principles of social justice are intersected to create an approach towards mobility justice transition research.

### 3.4.2 Principles for research in mobility justice transition

Building on the social justice debates between Young (1990, 1998), Fraser (1996, 1998a, 1998b) and Levy (2015) on transport and the just city, this thesis considers three interconnected mobility justice principles: (re)distribution, recognition, and participation.

Debates in the distributive sphere of justice have posed different questions on the ontology of distribution. One line of discussion stresses the distribution of goods by questioning what transport goods and services are planned and how they are located, how they are distributed and among whom (Walzer, 1983).

However, Young (1990) has questioned distributive perspectives based on the allocation of goods and the distribution of social positions, arguing they ignore the institutional contexts in which distribution occurs. Under this perspective, institutional contexts are considered as "any structure or practice, the rules and norms that guide them, and the language and symbols that mediate social interactions within them, in the institutions of the state, the family, and civil society, as well as in the workplace" (Young, 1990:22). She, therefore, broadened the scope of distributive justice by addressing concerns over decision-making processes by arguing that many activities of people are the result of processes and relationships based on beliefs, ideologies and values. In this sense, she expanded the discussion by stating that the mechanism that produces injustice is the institutional structure, posing questions over the extent to which the institutional levels affect the travel experiences.

Levy (2015:2) further developed the concept of (re)distribution, linking (conventional) transport planning and urban equality. She defines (re)distribution as a macro-level material-spatial sphere "embedded in a relationship between social identity, urbanisation and capitalist development". In this regard, she argues a differential access to and control over resources with a spatial urban expression in the interaction between transport, land uses and land markets.

Likewise, Sheller (2018:14) defines mobility justice as 'multi-scaler' and an inter-sectional process comprising the distributive perspective: "from micro-level embodied interpersonal relations to meso-level issues of urban transportation justice and the "right to the city," to macro-level transnational relations of travel and borders, and ultimately global resource flows and energy circulation". These aspects expressed by Sheller take into account the mobility regimes in reference to "a specific set of principles, norms and rules that govern the mobility practice" (Kesselring, 2015:576), informing about an unequal stable pattern, as an expression of beliefs, practices, and traditions (Rhodes, 2007; Kesselring and Volg, 2013).

Therefore, these outlined approaches to the distributive spheres in mobility expressed by Young (1990), Levy (2015) and Sheller (2018) make it possible to create links between the social justice dimension and the Multi-Level Perspective to address mobility justice transition research. In particular, these perspectives are relevant when observing that the physical movements across the city are governed by certain rationality influencing who is allowed and able to move, how, and under what conditions (Kesselring, 2015; Sheller, 2018), marginalising the improvement of the quality of life of some groups of people (Ohnmacht et al., 2009; Lucas, 2012; Levy, 2013).

Connectedly to the principle of (re)distribution, recognition refers here to a relationship between the recognition (or misrecognition) of social "differences in the conceptual frames of institutional practices" (Levy, 2015:3) and its influence on differential access to and control over resources.

In this regard, this thesis takes into account the integrated vision between technology and society (Bijker et al., 1987) that the MLP offers, under the understanding that socio-technical changes are a social construct. Rooted in the Sociology of Technology in Transition Studies, this perspective emphasises the link between technological developments and local practices to understand the relationship between different actors,

alignments and perceptions, comprising different and heterogenic resources, capacities and elements (e.g. knowledge, regulation). Further, the notion of 'social construction' deals with how different actors (e.g. citizens, scholars, practitioners and institutions) interpret the world, stressing the idea that the knowledge/understanding of the world might differ according to class, race, gender, culture. However, this may also constitute significant biases in how people's movements are understood at the institutional level.

Therefore, this line of argumentation helps to understand that socio-technical changes are constituted by a dynamic process of constructing values and meanings which has a spatial/material expression, comprising different stages, levels, and domains, or what is so-called the 'social construction' of technological developments (ibid). Therefore, how public and private values are addressed becomes crucial.

Likewise, a critical recognition element relates to personal data as a crucial asset for systems operation and key input to match the demand and the 'spatial/material' dimension, making it the most valuable commodity. In other words, personal data is recognised as "the knowledge upon which the power to control the marketplace is built" (Docherty et al., 2018:121). This is so when looking at the key building blocks of an emerging deployment. Based on the ideas of 'smart mobility' (ibid), there is a novel marketplace of mobility based on on-demand service users, automatic payment systems, crowdsourced, user-centric, real-time new information as well as smart' infrastructure and equipment based on new user information to influence behaviours and optimise system performance (Alam et al., 2016). It also includes the marketplace modelling, where "all users being accepting of sharing which is imposed upon them by a system manager" (Docherty et al., 2018:119). However, this approach in 'smart mobilities' introduces significant institutional challenges in terms of recognition, particularly regarding the access to and control over personal data as these data are given to private interests. In this sense, a deregulated institutional context may be subject to an asymmetry of information that makes it difficult to prevent potential harm, exposing travellers of these systems to a vulnerable position regarding the control of their personal data. Indeed, relevant for the present discussion is the type of governance we are looking at and the ideology to which they subscribe, as the governance system can exacerbate or mitigate injustices through investment decisions (ibid).

Regarding the principle of participation, Fraser (2009:16) has discussed justice as participation parity: "justice requires social arrangements that permit all to "participate as peers in social life". Levy (2015) further discussed participation in transport planning as parity political participation in transport planning, referring to both the right to participate in transport planning decisions in reference to medium and long-term impacts on the spatial/material dimensions of mobility, therefore allowing changes to improve people's travel experiences.

This thesis considers the principle of participation from an institutional point of view, dismantling first the institutional rationale, configuration and practices that prevent some people from participating on a par with others to understand how institutions work as well as how change can be guided. In other words, this principle refers here to who and how key actors are being recognised and integrated into the processes that trigger change, as well as who has effective decision-making power and how it is exercised. Therefore, the analysis of embedded strategies in the deployment of emerging mobilities can help to address the study of institutional changes towards mobility justice scenarios.

This subsection explored each principle to expand the account of mobility justice, providing a theoretical basis for the critiques of justice of capabilities, practices and impacts in light of the case study.

### 3.4.3 Mobility Justice Transition research

This thesis argues that the achievement of mobility justice is through processes in which inequalities and patterns of urban segregation can be challenged. As seen in Transition Theories and the Multi-Level Perspective, a technological deployment faces different phases that account for a process of change. In this regard, this thesis emphasises on an initial transition pathway referred to the existence of transformative adaptation or adaptive strategies triggering processes of change and simultaneously creating and/or accommodating alternative systems (Patterson et al., 2017).

The emphasis of paying attention at an early stage of change lies in the relevance of the drivers of change at the institutional level, as social justice principles may not be as

explicit or aligned and therefore require to be observed and analysed at their genesis. Thus, the institutional rationale, the constitutive set of values and meanings underlying a technological deployment, the institutions contexts and their decision-making scenarios can shed light on what to consider and how to trace a transition pathway towards mobility justice. Therefore, this thesis explores retrospectively the existence of transformative strategies that boost processes of social change and thus complement interventionist research.

In this regard, Frediani and colleagues (2020:10) have argued that a relevant intervention in urban equality relates "to change the way in which institutions work". Therefore, "if research projects seek to bring about some sort of change to advance urban equality, they have to be able to impact institutions - local and national governments, the private sector, NGOs, community organisations and international bodies – and the broader set of institutional arrangements and relationships that govern them" (ibid:4).

To develop a mobility justice transition research, the understanding of how movements supported by a new technological deployment are understood, allowed, and controlled is here addressed through the concept of accessibility as a high-level priority in mobility justice concerns, considered central to distributional issues (Mullen et al., 2014; Martens, 2012; 2017). A perspective of equal concerns on data management and protection is briefly introduced to complement the accessibility framework.

### 3.4.3.1 Accessibility framework

Mullen et al. (2014) have pointed out two high-level priorities in transport planning to launch the discussion: i) Reducing transport-related deaths to the minimum (i.e. from collision, pollution, climate change, or lack of transport), recognising the right to an equal safety in order to tackle inequalities in exposure to risk, and ii) recognising the people's right to have access to some form of effective means of transport. Thus, while the first priority relates to protecting life, the second refers to having access to effective means of transport in order to access the goods, services and activities that make up a decent life.

Accessibility has been defined as the potential of opportunities for interaction (Hansen, 1959). As a potential matter, the accessibility level that a person could experience is

determined by the spatial distribution of activities, the available transport system, and a person's ability or capacity to overcome spatial separation. Thus, since different groups of people have different resources and capabilities, limitations, impediments, constraints, opportunities, the perception of the benefits of transport can all be understood through the accessibility framework (Rimmer, 1985; Martens, 2012, 2017; Levy, 2013; Moser, 2016).

Martens (2012) has noted that the social meaning of transport goods is best reflected by analysing accessibility. Indeed, the concept of accessibility has also been described as a social meaning for transport, having a lot to do with how people relate to it by considering not only the possibility of moving across the city but to reach the activities that people value as important (Martens, 2012; Grengs, 2015). Regarding the progress that the concept of accessibility has achieved in including the social dimensions of transport, Geurs & Van Wee (2004:208) linked transport systems and land use combined by impedance and opportunities, defining accessibility as "the extent to which land-use and transport systems enable (groups of) individuals to reach activities or destinations by means of a (combination of) transport mode(s)". Bocarejo and Oviedo (2012:143) included subjective aspects and the idea of potential movements, or "the ease of reaching desired destinations given a number of available opportunities and intrinsic impedance to the resources used to travel from the origin to the destination" as one of the latest definitions. Everyday activities are considered behind this conceptualisation to understand different social identities and positions of users, as well as their transport and spatial needs.

Accessibility, as a social need, relates to the spatial and material dimensions of mobility such as jobs, public services like health, education, housing, transport, formal and informal institutions, as well as community relationships, through transport systems (Martens, 2017), in line with how Mullen et al. (2014) refer to an equal concern. So different groups of people have the possibility to participate in urban activities, reaching activities that generate and require particular assets (Levy 2013). In this regard, accessibility is seen in this research as a public value that should be addressed and maximised to access the things that make up a decent life (Beyazit, 2011; Mullen et al., 2014; Levy; 2013; Martens, 2012:2017; Hrelja et al., 2018). However, the different access to and control over resources that some groups of people experience in their daily life is crucial to understanding accessibility. Inequalities have spatial, economic, social and

political dimensions that make it possible to detect unequal accessibility levels as a consequence of a given transport-planning rationale (Bocarejo and Oviedo, 2012, Harvey, 1990; Martens, 2017).

Accessibility reformulates the concept of travel pattern, further discussed through the concepts of 'actual' and 'perceived' accessibility. On the one hand, Lucas (2012) identified the following dimensions of actual accessibility that diverse groups of people have: (i) individual dimension, reflecting needs and opportunities based on people's gender, income, age, travel budget, educational level, among the main personal characteristics; (ii) land use dimension, reflecting the spatial structure of cities and their processes of contemporary urban development, including the built environment, land market, among others; (iii) transport systems dimension, in relation to the available means of transport to accessing activities; (iv) temporal dimension, related to constraints, in terms of time budget, schedules, costs, in a particular cultural context; and (v) cognitive dimension, or the physical and mental ability to access the transport system.

On the other hand, 'perceived accessibility' is defined as how easy it is to live a satisfactory life using the transport system (Lattman et al., 2016; 2018). Furthermore, it has been recognised that accessibility to important activities impacts subjective wellbeing or quality of life (Olsson et al., 2013; Parkhurst & Meek, 2014). Linking actual accessibility and perceived accessibility, accessibility is defined here as the ease of performing a frequent activity using the BSS compared to the previously used means of transport. It implies understanding the perceived interaction between the city and the possibilities and capabilities to carry out day-to-day activities.

### 3.4.3.2 Data management and protection

A less explored aspect of accessibility relates to the perception of different restrictions and limitations in terms of access and control of personal data and information in technological innovations in transport, which can lead to scenarios of vulnerability, exploitation and even exclusion. In the context of the priorities explored by Mullen et al. (2014) and Mullen and Marsden (2016) with respect to accessibility and security factors as high-level priorities in transport planning, the discussion here is expanded through the principle of recognition and possible risks associated with an asymmetric position of travellers to access to and exert control over their personal data (see for example Verma and Rubin, 2018; Eubanks, 2018; Sheller, 2018; Zuboff, 2019). Kazim and Koshiyama (2019) have discussed issues of justice and fairness as one of the major themes in technology and ethics. Two considerations are relevant here when discussing mobility justice and accessibility. The first consideration relates to the notion of privacy, based on a "public and political demand to respect a human's personal information" (Ibid:12). In other words, these authors stress the role of the public-political sphere with respect to the demand for private-personal data. However, in more neoliberal market-driven contexts, the state has shifted its position as the main source of knowledge about travel patterns, making the governance of mobility a private sector practice despite the efforts made through open data sources. Likewise, another crucial aspect of privacy relates to informed consent, which informs and requests permission to store and use personal data for particular purposes. However, debates relate to the value associated with personal data for economic and financial purposes that certain stakeholders have over them (Mittelstadt, 2017).

In this regard, Kazim and Koshiyama (2019:13) have recognised the existence of institutional biases, referring to a "preferential or discriminatory treatment of persons or groups illustrating that biases may be present". It relates, for example, to historical datasets, which could influence the treatment of certain groups of people regarding the service quality, as well as dominant practices, for instance, regarding pricing. In this sense, it would be a matter of discrimination, in access as well as treatment (e.g. if an artificial intelligence service only recognises male voices), or as a consequence of its design (Lipton et al., 2018). However, these factors are often interconnected in practice. Despite the extensive literature on technology and the discussion on ethics and governance, I limit the attention to some broad points to complement the mobility justice discussion of Mullen et al. (2014) and Mullen et al. (2016) and equal concerns for accessibility.

Thus, while the discourse on digital ethics is geared towards the mitigation of potential harms, this literature undoubtedly encourages their standardisation. Dwork et al. (2011) and Lipton et al. (2018) have stressed the rationale of accessibility of new technologies in terms of 'equal access', aside from affordability and user-friendly. In this regard, technological developments remain unclear regarding how society is viewed and treated. This thesis discusses the rationale of 'equal access', highlighting the difference between equal access and equal treatments, considering that the latter requires taking account of people's differing needs, institutional contexts and governances (Dworkin et al., 2011).

Thus, this perspective leads us ultimately to the question: what kind of society are we envisioning, and what kind of relationships are we creating when deploying a niche-innovation?

Due to its universalising stance on mobility, technological determinism, and an independent logic of social dimensions, this novel mobility marketplace also reflects unfair and biased institutional and organisational practices. Therefore, the mobility justice framework offers an opportunity to address the ethical and philosophical questions of how technology and society relate to each other. The debate in this regard has just opened up, challenging us to continue to discuss the responsibility that a few take on the provision of new transport services. Citizens must have the right to effective and secure access to these new systems (Mullen et al., 2014; Mullen et al., 2016).

# 3.4.4 Mobility justice framework and niche-innovations in transport

Over the last few years, a committed research effort has focused on niche-innovations in transport, addressing concerns about low-carbon transitions and sustainable mobility (O' Tuama, 2015, Meelen et al., 2019). While recognising the undoubted importance of environmental concerns in the attempt to influence current mobility discourses and practices (Temenos et al., 2017), an interdisciplinary approach discussing the institutional and social challenges that a sustainable mobility transition require is still sparse (Stanley et al., 2011, Martens et al., 2012, Mullen et al., 2014; Schwanen et al., 2015). However, literature on emerging mobilities, particularly Bicycle Sharing Systems, has not said much about mobility justice principles and the links between governance and institutional dimensions, as its focus remains on technology as the object of study. Yet, there are some attempts to address concerns of mobility justice.

For example, in the case of the London Bicycle Sharing System (LBSS), Goodman and Cheshire (2014) showed inequalities related to location, socio-economic and genderrelated features that turned into a non-inclusive initiative catering to the advantagedwhite-male population (Goodman and Cheshire, 2014). Nevertheless, findings showed that registered users in deprived areas used the system more when extended outside central London. In fact, the proportion of registered users from deprived areas doubled the percentages of the total number of users from 6% to 12%. However, the proportion of these trips was far lower than the trips made in affluent areas. Also, women represent a small minority of users of the scheme, under 20% (Goodman and Cheshire, 2014).

Moreover, although there is evidence pointing out that the BSS has the potential to be inclusive (Clark and Curl, 2016), it has become clear that efforts to deploy a BSS are addressing the movements of certain groups of people. Barriers to access based on social characteristics such as class, race, income or education have also been demonstrated (Fishman et al., 2013, 2016; McNeil et al., 2017). Thus, while white, young middle-class men are most privileged in this regard (Goodman, 2015), other groups have remained disproportionally under-represented or directly ignored as no clear strategy of inclusion in the medium and long term could be perceived for them in these deployments. Durán et al. (2019) have been studying governance issues in the Latin- American context, yet governance dimensions in BSS decisions are still considered at a descriptive level and scarcely addressed. As such, a number of central social challenges identified during the early days of BSS are still to be addressed (Fishman et al., 2012; Saud and Thomopoulos, 2021).

To conclude, the mobility justice framework has provided significant insights, principles and elements to combine with the Multi-Level Perspective and thus conduct a mobility justice transition research. However, it requires explicit and well-framed analytical tools, particularly in the Global South. Chapter 4 provides an analytical framework on the functioning of institutions through the New Institutional Economics (NIE) framework. This perspective allows the creation of linkages between the institutional and operational levels, focusing on a decision-making process and issues 'around the state' concerning novel partnerships designs and practices (Carroll, 2012). This is particularly relevant when examining the hybrid governance in such technological deployments, meaning that some sectors of the economy and global corporations dominate technological and industrial deployments. To address the complexities, contradictions and synergies comprised in such contexts, it requires an adequate analytical framework to examine the existence of drivers of change towards mobility justice.

# Chapter 4. Institutional analysis for a research on mobility justice transition

This analytical chapter addresses the initial complexities facing the first inter-*comunal* BSS during its process of deployment. Considering the case of Santiago, the regional authority promoted a joint public tender between municipalities with a private sector company within a framework that can be understood within the broad framework of the New Institutional Economics (NIE). Novel organisational forms of governance and contractual practices are considered in this chapter as examples of institutional and organisational complexities when deploying the BSS in Santiago, having a direct influence on the perception of the benefits.

This chapter comprises two phases. The first part of this chapter (Phase I) seeks to provide an analytical framework to help a better understanding of the construction of an 'enabling environment' in which Santiago's BSS was deployed and the conditions under which it might lead to a mobility justice transition towards more inclusive and equal transport landscapes. Phase I examines the analytical elements needed to approach the process of BSS deployment within an institutional and organisational perspective, considering both synergetic and collaborative alignments alongside asymmetries in power and motivational and informational issues that might have influenced the reproduction of socio-economic inequalities in Santiago. Hence, studying decisionmaking scenarios becomes relevant in this research, as actors relate in a given institutional environment within a particular dynamic interaction that shapes their actions as well as adapting their characteristics when undertaking new relational scenarios (Canitez, 2019). As a relevant component of transition literature (Chapter 3) NIE framework comprises a range of perspectives that contribute to building up an analytical framework on mobility justice transition. Selected literature on NIE for this research are: business model innovation, contracting enabling collaboration, polycentricity and the Social Stratification and Government Inequalities (SSGI) thesis (Ostrom, 1983) to contextualise the socio-spatial inequalities in Santiago.

The second part of the present chapter summarises the key concepts derived from the theoretical (Chapter 3) and the analytical framework to guide the analysis with the empirical information arising from the deployment of the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago in Chapter 6,7 and 8.

# 4.1 An institutional analysis for niche-innovations deployments: the New Institutional Economics (NIE) perspective

The analytical perspective in this research combines three 'approaches' to analyse the institutional environment or 'arenas' derived from an NIE perspective.

Firstly, Transaction Cost Economics (TCE) framework provides relevant insights into transactions taking place between public transport operators and authorities (Canitez, 2019:521) such as that developed within the first Inter-comunal BSS in Santiago (see Chapter 6). However, and in line with the research aims, this thesis does not attempt to analyse efficiency on transactions typically associated with TCE research (Williamson, 1991; 1997; 1998), but rather seeks to analyse the rationale of a potential transaction. It is worth considering that prior information could take a hybrid form. In a market-led governance context such as Santiago, public information relating to feasibility studies could also include business models as a tool of planning to guide future transactions deploying niche-innovations. A business model innovation framework indeed relates to TCE according to "the ways in which the transactions of the organisations are carried out, that are market, hierarchy or hybrid form" (Moreira de Oliveira et al., 2018:42). Here, the focus is placed on the assumptions that underpin public and economic values and principles embedded in the public information that triggered the deployment of the first inter-comunal BSS in Santiago, and the role that the regional business model plays in a mobility justice transition (van Waes et al., 2018). Furthermore, as a tool to set the rules of the game, a business model for an intervention such as the BSS in Santiago offers an orchestration scenario between the regulative, normative, and cultural-cognitive actors guided by values, shared beliefs and assumptions (Geels, 2004, Raven et al., 2017) all together providing a certain degree of legitimacy.

Secondly, debates about the metropolitan organisation are discussed through the lens of the Social Stratification and Government Inequality (SSGI) thesis (Ostrom, 1983) to

contextualise the socio-spatial inequalities in Santiago. This is framed within the notion of 'polycentricity' in reference to *comunas* as the basic 'semi-autonomous units of decision-making' (Oakerson and Parks, 2011). This highlights the institutional capabilities to create inter-governmental patterns of collaboration to face socio-spatial segregation.

Thirdly, contractual agreements both in the design and management process introduce significant institutional and social challenges, particularly with reference to the rationale behind 'self-interested' issues between different actors involved in the BSS deployment. From the literature on NIE, contracts can be imperfect, incomplete or ambiguous (Williamson, 2000). Therefore, the assumptions made in collaborative and flexible arrangements can also introduce important biases by leaving out important factors. This research highlights the relevance of ongoing learning process over signed contracts to deploy the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago towards more relational and collaborative schemes, and thereby explores trust-building processes as the basis of 'trusting partnerships' (Hrelja et al., 2018).

This thesis argues that inter-governmental agreements can help to address socio-spatial inequalities. However, collaboration within the institutional and organisational 'arena' deploying the BSS in Santiago is subject to motivational and informational problems that may have an influence on the reproduction of inequalities. From the institutional and organisational side, corporate responsible sustainability and the 'paradox framework' help to unfold such problems concomitantly with the synergies that characterise the inter-governmental agreement. At the end of this chapter, the analytical model summarises key principles developed in Chapter 3 and in the first part of the present chapter.

### 4.2 Business Model Innovation

As previously mentioned, public information related to feasibility studies as early decisions to deploy the BSS in Santiago included business models as a tool of planning. Therefore, this thesis discusses business models developed by an 'enabling state' that is, a state action "just enabling the opening up of markets" (Docherty et al., 2018:117) under market-led governances to reveal the way in which public and economic values and the underlying assumptions were formulated by this tool of planning.

Shafer et al. (2005) define a business model as a representation of the underlying structure of a firm, comprised by selected strategies for creating and capturing economic values which are embedded in a given support network. Osterwalder and Pigneur (2010:14) explain business models as "the rationale of how an organisation creates, delivers, and captures value" as three fundamental building blocks or major components for a business proposal: i) value proposition, ii) value creation, and iii) value capture. While value proposition refers to a particular value comprised in goods or services offered, value creation relates to the way in which a firm creates and delivers a particular value to consumers. Value capture comprises the way in which a revenue stream and cost structure are assembled in the goods or services offered (Bocken et al., 2014).

According to Boons and Lüdeke-Freund (2013), value proposition defines or redefines values as an exchange relationship of value between a related group of people and organisations, governance and institutions in charge, providing environmental and social values associated in conjunction with economic ones. Value creation positions the institutions/organisation in a large system context in an attempt to equalise the distribution of cost and benefits among all actors whilst also taking into account environmental and social impacts (Boons et al., 2013).

When referring to innovation, business models relate to a form or process of renewal, improvement or change in both organisational and institutional practices and/or by technological niches (see Chapter 3). From a perspective of sustainability, business model innovations comprise both changes in the way an organisation creates and/or reorganises its activities and purposes (Bocken et al., 2014), including outsourcing practices towards sustainability. However, little has been said in the literature of business models about addressing 'public values', as a matter of governance. Bozeman (2007:17) defines public values as "(1) the rights, benefits, and prerogatives to which citizens should (and should not) be entitled; (2) the obligations of citizens to society, the state, and one another; and (3) the principles on which governments and policies should be based". Bryson et al. (2014:446) explain that the main role of the state is nowadays to ensure that public values agreed in "broadly inclusive dialogue and deliberation", understood in relation to the fundamental goals agreed by a society, which includes the actions of non-governmental bodies as well as a private business.

Similarly, Rauschmayer et al. (2015) argue that in the absence of clear normative rules in interventions to trigger transitions to sustainability, there are doubts about the achievement of the promised goals and objectives.

# 4.2.1 Business model innovation in bike-sharing: a niche-innovation in transport

Business model innovation in BSS has been recognised as a niche-innovation by transition scholars (Geels, 2019). van Waes et al. (2018) have argued that the emergence of these business models has positioned the BSS as a part of urban mobility transition by effectively incorporating a bicycle as a transport alternative within formal transport services.

Currently, it is possible to recognise a variety of bike-sharing niche types, depending on its technological development. Analytically and for urban transport purposes, these systems can be distinguished into two categories: between return trips and single trips. While the first comprises a system station based on collecting and returning a bicycle, the second consists of a system that allows collecting and returning the bicycle everywhere, as a free-floating system. Recently, a peer-to-peer system emerged, in particular in the Dutch context, where people rent out their own bikes; however, these systems have not been as popular as the two previous ones (van Wees et al., 2018).

In terms of value proposition, these systems have been conventionally deployed to resolve the so-called 'last-mile' problem, referring to this as the last part of a journey of people from the formal transport systems to their final destinations (Adnan et al., 2019), in particular in the busiest areas of a city. However, these systems can also have touristic purposes, including offering local mobility options. As a public transport policy matter, Rojas-Rueda et al. (2013) and Woodcock et al. (2014) highlight the importance of a BSS to facilitate short term bicycle trips in urban areas, in the light of the social and environmental benefits that the literature has shown, such as improving health (Woodcock et al., 2014) and potentially, accessibility (Clark and Curl, 2016) through its adoption (see also Chapter 3).

Value creation and capture relate to the profit and resource formula to deliver the value proposition, commonly comprising a membership scheme, advertising and branding formulas, or governmental subsidies, in both for-profit and non-profit modalities (DeMaio, 2009; Shaheen et al., 2010). Key processes for delivering a value proposition relate to the operation and maintenance of the system, which comprise payment and access system, travel records, fleet management, maintenance, payment, vandalism and customer service satisfaction (Crutchley and Kubitz, 2019; Nikitas, 2019), as well as the distribution of bicycles.

However, as an institutional and organisational matter, there is a need to review these BSS business models, as several of the key challenges identified during the early days of BSSs (Fishman et al., 2012) have yet to be addressed. Thus, social and governance challenges need to be rethought in order to reconcile the value formulas in business models between public and private objectives (Backhaus et al., 2019; Signor et al., 2019). This is because business models comprise several assumptions about the principles underpinning their values, which can introduce significant institutional biases and impact how these services are planned and performed in practice. Moreover, discussion in business models seems to be static on the main pillars of value proposition, creation and capture, not yet addressing public values as a core societal issue, particularly regarding transport needs.

In value proposition terms, spatial coverage implies both the system size and location of stations, considering a docking bike-sharing scheme as in the case study in Santiago. In this regard, it has been said that system density influences adoption and usage (Shaheen et al., 2012; Fishman et al., 2014) in conjunction with the presence of some attributes of public space to encourage cycling (Saud, 2014; Rosetti et al., 2019), which are both a matter of the system purpose and its distributive dimensions across the city. For example, in the case of the inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago, its size and location as relevant variables were defined in support of current transport demand in the busiest areas of the city. However, travel needs in Santiago and new demands were not explicitly addressed in the business model. Spatial coverage of a BSS is a crucial matter, enabling the examination of assumptions made regarding the definition of for whom such a system is aimed. Indeed, and typically in business model designs, a company would proceed by 'stratifying' or 'segmenting' groups of people with similar needs to define a value proposition. That is, a group is a subject of targeting for the delivery of such values. The

sensitivity of these considerations lies in the way in which needs are considered, to whom they are addressed and the assumptions underlying a business model.

In terms of the key process related to value creation and capture to deploy a BSS, an extensive body of literature has discussed the rebalancing problem in dock-station based systems (Erdogan, et al., 2015; Laporte et al., 2015; Sari, 2015). A crucial problem for operators is to maintain a well-balanced number of bikes in stations. Hence it implies a logistical dimension in the fleet distribution that could have an impact on travel patterns resulting from managerial decisions, especially within flexible contracting schemes. Furthermore, this problem also leads to modifications of the system, for example, mixing between manual and automated systems, as logistics are ultimately among the costliest aspects of these systems, which could have a strong impact on the user's perception of benefits.

The connections between value proposition, creation and capture in terms of decisionmaking processes have been little explored in relation to technological innovations such as a BSS (Boons and Lüdeke-Freund, 2013). This is particularly relevant when looking at the institutional/organisational agreements and the degree of alignment towards common purposes, which is crucial to unfold the rationale underlying these innovative transport deployments. Therefore, links between a business model and a tendering process are relevant for an in-depth discussion of the institutional implications within a framework of mobility justice.

# 4.2.2 The role of a business model in a transition process

To understand the role of a business model in a transition process and how it influences the trajectory towards mobility justice, three functions of this planning tool are considered in this research (Bidmon and Knab, 2018):

a) As an industry recipe. It refers to a working hypothesis or an industry formula that has persisted over time. It is a dominant model which represents a particular organisational modus operandi (Chesbrough, 2010; Bohnsack et al., 2014) embedded in a dominant industry logic (Bettis and Prahalad, 1995). Thus, this type of business model provides an understanding of how organisations operate, guiding decisions on how to create and capture most effective value for organisations and institutions around the industry.

- b) As a mechanism to commercialise technology: this type of business model seeks to link new technologies with a high commercial business impact (Chesbrough, 2010; Teece, 2010; Zott et al., 2011), providing the required context and scope by composing specifics values to enter the market. In doing so, technological niches can be based on existing types of business models or by developing a new formula (Chesbrough, 2010).
- c) Subject to innovation itself: This role relates to a novel business model with the potential to disrupt industries (Mitchell and Coles, 2003), redefining the way in which organisations and institutions deliver values to people independently of the technology itself (Casadesus-Masanell and Ricart, 2010; Zott et al., 2011). Novel business models can also be technology-generated or technology-driven (Velamuri et al., 2013).

However, within transition research, it has been argued that, in the absence of political, regulatory and market changes, a business model innovation lacks sufficient capacity itself to trigger effective processes of changes (Bolton and Hannon, 2016). This is particularly relevant in early decisions deploying niche-innovations in transport. For example, in the case of Santiago, the business model mainly focused on increasing the return problem disregarding a broader governance discussion about travel needs and the high socio-spatial inequality that affects Chile. In this regard, Docherty et al. (2018:116) state that the rationale for a public value-driven governance intervention is to work on the opportunities offered by "a particular socio-technical mobility transition to (a) maximise the benefits that mobility brings to people" … "(b) manage the distribution of these improved mobility opportunities according to democratically agreed objectives on equalities and social justice, and (c) to do so within the framework of international agreements about reducing the impact of mobility on the environment, and particularly with regard to decarbonisation".

What is crucial in this thesis is understanding who and how key partners are recognised and embedded in a particular partnership design deploying a transport innovation at the regional scale. Stadtler (2018) analyses the collaborative partnership between businesses, companies and civil society to provide public goods and services which effectively enhance common interest towards delivering the expected social outcomes. Hrelja et al. (2018) argue the need to build new forms of control and governance based on the trust-building process as the basis of 'trusting partnerships'. Saud and Thomopoulos (2021) stress the need for better alignment between the key partners towards pursuing societal objectives such as accessibility and equity. The main definitions, components and the role of the business model in a socio-technical transition have been described in this sub-chapter. However, in the absence of political governance and institutional discussion to address the kind of social concerns posed here, there remains a disconnection with socio-spatial concerns, an issue addressed in the next subsection, followed by assembling these as an analytical framework at the end of the chapter.

# 4.3 Socio-spatial inequalities: an institutional approach from the perspective of polycentricity

Debates in a metropolitan organisation are discussed through the polycentricity perspective in reference to the notion of units of decision-making with some degree of autonomy and independent from one another and their capacity to create intergovernmental agreements. This highlights their relevance in facing the socio-spatial segregation that affects Santiago.

Polycentricity is broadly rooted in the New Institutional Economics (NIE) framework, in particular based on the work of Vincent and Elinor Ostrom, in reference to socio-spatial segregation and collaboration as a matter of decision-making (Andersson and Ostrom, 2008; Galaz et al., 2012; Bixler, 2014; Carlisle and Gruby, 2019). Polycentricity in this research is relevant to highlight the inter-governmental agreements which gave rise to the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago.

Ostrom et al. (1961) defined polycentricity as a metropolitan-area governance system characterised by multiple political units of decision-making. Oakerson and Parks (2011:153) discussed polycentricity as a model of governance structure, which describes a process of decision-making "where multiple independent actors interact to produce an outcome that is commonly valued" in contrast to 'monocentricity', whereby a single centre concentrates the power of decision-making. A polycentric structure comprises two conditions: the existence of multiple centres of local authority and partial dependency on

higher levels of governance, or what these latter authors called 'semi-autonomous units of decision-making' (Ibid). This perspective considers the production and provision of public goods and services discussed as a dynamic to enforce the rules for the provision and production to occur. This allows an open governance structure for non-governmental actors to enter into the side of production, delivering benefits to the community.

What is highlighted here is the possibility of an institutional environment able to create and/or modify the pattern of provision and production, which is possible by local governments setting the rules of the game, but also by a partnership capability, or the way in which local governments create and adjust their revenue collections to make agreements with other institutions and organisations (Ibid).

Relevant for research in polycentricity are the two attributes comprised in a polycentric governance system (Carlisle and Gruby, 2019; Kübler and Rochat, 2019):

- i) units of decision-making with some degree of autonomy and independent of one another
- ii) a capacity to establish relationships between the units, considering the role of inter-governmental collaboration in facing patterns of socio-spatial segregation.

Semi-autonomous units of decision-making, in the context of the notion of 'polycentricity', refer to both formal and informal institutions with the capacity to make and manage "norms and rules within a specific domain" (E. Ostrom, 1999:552). The semi-autonomous units of decision-making could operate taking "into account in competitive relationships, enter into various contractual and cooperative undertakings or have recourse to central mechanisms to resolve conflicts" (V. Ostrom et al., 1961:831).

This research focuses on sub-national administrative 'divisions' in Chile (see Chapter 5). The semi-autonomous units of decision-making refer to *comunas* as administrative units able to exercise "considerable independence to make norms and rules within a specific domain" as decision-making centres (E. Ostrom, 1999:552). To contextualise the discussion in Santiago, it is worth noting that local governments although having a functional territorial autonomy to provide basic public services at the local level, such as

health or education, in practice many of them barely have the resources to make these services available (Du Plessis, 2020), either differing substantially in quality compared to others or compared to the fully private provision (see Chapter 5).

This conceptualisation was adopted and adapted here to create an analytical approach towards social-spatial inequality that affects Santiago. Considering the research subject on decision-making processes, the conceptualisation on semi-autonomous units is complemented with the social stratification and government inequalities (SSGI) (Ostrom, 1983) as institutional practices in segregation. The rationale for doing so is to place the focus on the institutional and organisational arenas when creating an 'enabling environment' to deploy the BSS in Santiago, highlighting the different capabilities of local governments to provide basic services.

## 4.3.1 The social stratification and government inequalities (SSGI) thesis

The SSGI thesis helps to provide an understanding of the role of the inter-governmental agreement to deploy the BSS in Santiago in both fostering or hindering socio-spatial inequalities. The present discussion is illustrated through the collaborative agreement that took place between 11 *comunas* in Santiago, further analysed in Chapters 6 and 7.

The SSGI thesis explains the existence of institutional arrangements oriented towards wealthy residents, which implies socio-spatial segregation associated with the distribution of public goods and services. Ostrom expresses her concerns on particular institutional arrangements whereby some groups of people and firms might exercise control over access to land and resources for their own short-term purposes, shielding themselves and their residential areas from potential low-income residents, thus affecting the burden of public services and perpetuating inequalities across a metropolitan area (Hill, 1974; Long, 1967; Neiman, 1982; Ostrom, 1983). The SSGI thesis also states that a lack of local resources and inequalities can be faced via inter-governmental agreements towards collaboration, demanding an active role of "overlapping governmental units in redistributing resources" (Ostrom, 1983:93). This statement stresses the usefulness of local policies and institutional designs to regulate self-interest practices to face challenges arising from the distribution of public goods and services with the "process of

experimentation catalysed by public entrepreneurs operating at all scales" (Wright et al., 2011:17).

Scholars such as Wright et al. (2011) and Oakerson and Parks (2011) advocate the ideas of 'polycentricity' on the basis of greater autonomy of local governments and a strengthening of their capabilities to provide goods and services to effectively respond to different local needs. Kübler and Rochat (2019) argue that social inequalities are the result of a mismatch between resources and needs, arguing that the stronger the capability to generate/obtain municipal revenues, the greater the chances are of avoiding competition between jurisdictions as a cause of inequalities.

## 4.3.2 Inter-governmental agreements. A perspective from the SSGI thesis

As the SSGI thesis states, a relevant mechanism to address socio-spatial inequalities associated with the distribution of public goods and services in the Santiago metropolitan context can be through the inter-governmental agreements between the units of decision-making based on patterns of collaboration (Ostrom, 1991). In this regard, this attribute assumes that these decision-making units have the capacity to leverage strategies and resources by creating a coherent set of rules or patterns towards collaboration (Ostrom, 1999; Carlisle and Gruby, 2019). The relevant concepts are defined below in order to undertake an analysis of the agreements involved in the deployment of the inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago, developed in-depth in Chapter 7.

## 4.3.2.1 Collaborative inter-governmental patterns

Collaboration comprises both a multi-level dynamic describing a process of decisionmaking "where multiple independent actors interact to produce an outcome that is commonly valued" (Oakerson and Parks, 2011:153) and where the value of collaboration lies in reinforcing different capabilities levels with unified objectives. Two dimensions of collaboration between the semi-autonomous units of decision-making are relevant under the rationale of polycentrism. On the one hand, from a spatial planning perspective, polycentricity in urban research recognises collaboration as a spatial function to achieve territorial cohesion (Meeteren et al., 2016). On the other hand, McGinnis (1999:4) argues that "polycentricity allows considerable mixing and matching of consumption, provision, and production units operating at different scales of aggregation".

Cefai (2007) refers to collaboration by including all the possible ways in which this could be possible, constituted by individuals who share a common objective, and facing tensions between cooperation and competition to other collectives. From the perspective of collaborative governance practices, Emerson et al. (2012:2) define collaboration as "the processes and structures of public policy decision-making and management that engage people constructively across the boundaries of public agencies, levels of government, and/or the public, private and civic spheres in order to carry out a public purpose that could not otherwise be accomplished". Here, these authors stress governance and collaboration by recognising different units of decision-making to create new forms of 'cross-boundary' governance.

Furthermore, Carlisle and Gruby (2019) understand collaboration in a broader sense, emphasising a voluntary joint action that gives shape to a process that includes various formal and informal mechanisms to legitimise jointly made commitments. These authors also argue that this is a crucial matter of a governance system's functionality due to the real need for decision-making units to engage with others to produce, provide, and distribute goods and services.

This thesis considers collaboration broadly as an essential attribute of the functionality of a governance system, based on a voluntary joint action to produce and deliver goods and services for public purposes, carrying out a process to constructively engage a constellation of actors. Key to the collaborative process of deploying the BSS in Santiago is the understanding of the way by which travel needs are recognised so as to be able to emphasise the sense of sharing as a common goal, defining the way in which the collaboration is conducted. Similarly, this assumes different contractual commitments to achieve a unified system in Santiago to leverage and maintain the required cohesion over time. It implies creating an enabling context of decision-making, such as cross-border governmental and non-governmental actions to work towards public purpose and common benefits. It also implies recognising and working through tensions between collaboration competition, local/collective and identity conflicts, and modification/introduction of new routines and activities. From an institutional point of view, the attribute of collaboration is considered here an assemblage of semiautonomous decision-making units under 'taking one another into account' rationality (Ostrom, 1991).

## 4.3.2.2 Self-organised practices and socio-spatial inequalities

Competition and segregation are related concepts in this research in so far as they influence socio-spatial inequalities (Ostrom, 1983). Inequalities are considered here from the perspective of Otero-Bahamon (2019:188), who stated that some groups of people are "a marker for stratification and segregation among culturally defined (or constructed) groups", referring to sub-national inequalities that determine uneven accessibility to fulfil social needs and well-being. Moreover, the concept of stratification, considering the SSGI thesis, is linked with the notion of self-organised practices (Ostrom, 1983), which operate on the basis of a certain status, such as class, gender, race/ethnicity, with a territorial expression (Lobao et al., 2007) and evidencing a difference "between subnational units of the same country on dimensions related to the capabilities needed to access the things that people have reason to value" (Otero-Bahamon, 2019:189).

Collaboration and segregation are relevant conceptualisations in this research as they show a mismatch in terms of institutional capabilities, power and values over shared resources, leading to disputes that affect the distribution and utilisation of public goods and services (Dietz, Ostrom, & Stern, 2003). These authors also argued an equal importance to analyse tensions and disputes when designing and/or adjusting current institutions concurrently with the shared resources itself. Therefore, non-collaborative patterns refer here to self-organised institutional and organisational practices. Considering the arguments comprising the SSGI thesis regarding a municipal selforganisation pattern with spatial segregation effects, the municipalities would be facing competition for certain types of residents at the same time restricting access to others (Ostrom, 1983). It also explains that this phenomenon would be occurring in contiguous or near decision-making units with some access to information. Thus, segregated-related competition relates to a competition-policy issue (Craw, 2015). Here, a municipal economic constraint is assumed as a subject of biases, which makes a difference in local government capabilities to attract and/or leverage public investment and provide public goods and services.

Regarding the mechanism to self-organisation related to local governments, Down (1994) discussed the existence of a planning mechanism to limit housing opportunities for less
advantaged groups in some wealthy municipalities. Lowery (2000:65) also argued that rich municipalities hinder the arrival of other diverse and more disadvantaged groups "by the absence of a political forum in which it might be addressed". Craw (2015) states that political institutions could mediate the local expenditure and taxes so there arises 'inter-governmental competition'. Therefore, political dynamics could strongly influence local decision-making as a source of segregation associated with local self-organisation mechanisms (Ostrom, 1983; Kübler, & Rochat, 2019). However, and even though collaborative practices exist, da Silveira and Richards (2013) found that, in such highly 'competitive' contexts, collaborative actions can be negatively affected in terms of the effectiveness of their actions over time. Indeed, self-organised actions by the municipalities are also a matter of government capabilities to interact with others, where persistence in collaborative action is crucial, considering the fact that institutions enhancing collaboration may lose the initial meaning that brought them together (Imperial, 1999; Olsson et al., 2007; Carlisle, 2018; Stadtler, 2018; Carlisle and Gruby, 2019).

Regarding the context of this research, for BSS users as for other transport users, accessibility is a cross-boundary matter across a metropolitan area such as Santiago. When looking at the travel patterns there, few 'wealthy' areas concentrate the majority of the trips. In this regard, the role of inter-governmental agreements helps to answer the research question, an issue further examined through the matter of contracts and collaboration.

#### 4.4 How contracts enable collaboration

A contract is not an easy task to execute by institutions and organisations. Its design depends on the broader institutional environment and the lens through which the state is seen. In contexts of deregulation, privatisation and competitive decision-making such as those in Chile, an important challenge relates to the new forms of control and governance, not only aiming to cease conflictive 'rationale self-interest' but rather to align self-interest with the public interest and public values (Docherty et al., 2018).

In such contexts, although governments still retain the power to define the characteristics of new services (usually through feasibility studies and business models in the initial stages of a niche-deployment), in practice, non-governmental and profit-driven organisations are likely to lead their deployments (Hrelja et al., 2018). Under these 'institutional arenas', the provision of such new transport services introduces concerns over novel forms of governance and control over resources due to the mismatch of different goals and logics between the key partners. Discussions in this regard range from the notion of an authority mediating/consolidating the operational levels (Gudmundsson et al., 2015) as well as partnership approaches aiming to support the operational levels in terms of service quality and reliability (Davison and Knowles, 2006; Rye and Westrand, 2014; Hrelja et al., 2018).

It has been pointed out that contracts can be incomplete (Yvrande-Billon, 2006; Hart, 2017). Hrelja et al. (2018) refer to this as a matter of how actors are considered, assuming they will act in a self-interested way. North (2005:viii) argued for the need to change the perception of actors to tackle unexpected and undesirable issues. These visions also relate to the premise of working on common interests and collaboration. Hrelja et al. (2018) further discuss two strands in contracting to address 'self-interested' actions. On the one hand, one strand says contracts should be very precise about every detail of the provision and distribution of a given service, including the key performance indicators (KPIs) and indicators for measuring compliance in order to guide actions and avoid opportunism. On the other hand, these authors also recognise the difficulties establishing and adjusting such clarifications to reality as well as the importance of instances of ongoing learning processes over a signed contract for the fulfilment of agreed goals, especially in previously unreferenced or completely new scenarios. Furthermore, scholars such as Hensher and Stanley (2010) argue for a performance-based negotiation contract to avoid contractual hazards, calling for 'trusting partnerships' towards more 'relational contracting forms' between actors. This is particularly relevant in the relationship between public authorities and operators as a means to facilitate collaboration between different institutions and organisations involved. Key issues here relate to the alignment between high-level goals and processes of decision-making built up on collaboration, deliberation as well as democratic deliberation practices towards trust-building processes as the basis of 'trusting partnerships' (Hrelja et al., 2018). Therefore, this thesis is in line with the idea posed by these latter authors (Ibid:329) when arguing that 'contracts are less highly specific and more reliant on process'. They also argue that it is not a matter of disregarding specifications but rethinking how to deal with unexpected scenarios, particularly when facing power relationships (Van Slyke, 2009) and difficulties in reaching agreed objectives. In this regard, transparency and trust are key factors based on the understanding of differences in roles, capabilities, conditions and beliefs (Schot and Geels, 2007), as well as in shared experiences and evidence (O'Neil, 2002).

Considering the contractual types in technological niche deployments, such as the BSS in Santiago, in conjunction with an absence of robust political, legal and regulatory frames, contracts could take different forms, depending basically on the level of state involvement in the process design, implementation and operation (Chapter 6,7 and 8). Thus, contracts can range from direct awarding at the local or regional levels to negotiated performance-based contracts, including those via corporate social responsibility based on outsourcing. They could also differ in terms of competitive tendering processes, depending on technical and administrative characteristics. This thesis seeks to understand contractual challenges in collaboration that institutions and organisations may face in the deployment of a niche-innovation in transport, particularly in a highly socio-economic segregation context with weak institutions such as Santiago, where mixed governance (Dávila and Brand, 2012) and flexible contracts take place. In this sense, the main concern here relates to collaborative challenges within 'institutional arenas', through the lens of collective action outlined and linked to the operational levels through motivational and asymmetry of information (Chapter 7), issues explained below.

# 4.4.1 Motivational and information problems at the operational level: an approach from relational contracting

Motivational and informational problems relate to collective action problems. Ostrom et al. (2014:3) argued that "a lack of motivation and/or missing or asymmetric information generates incentives that prevent individuals from satisfactorily resolving a collective-action situation". These problems concern to public goods, common-pool resources, and the 'Samaritan's dilemma' framework. They are present in at least in three levels of governance: the constitutional level, policymaking (also called collective choice) and the operational level (Gibson et al., 2005; Ostrom et al., 2014). In this research, the focus is on the links between the last two levels mentioned. Those institutional and organizational problems are described below.

It is worth mentioning first that these problems vary according to the nature of the good. For public goods and services available to all members of society, problems occur when there is a free ride issue, that is, for example, when a service is consumed without contributions from users. For common-pool resources or shared goods and services available to members of a community, the problem is about how they are shared. In other words, when one person's use subtracts from the resource available to others. Thus, without effective institutions, too many users with this attitude may lead to over-exploitation or loss of the resource (Ostrom et al., 1994). The Samaritan's dilemma occurs in development assistance but also involves infrastructure maintenance. Here, the dilemma is about helping and the efforts to deliver/receive aid. Thus, if the donor extends help but the recipient needs to exert high effort, this is argued as not the best strategy for the recipient despite the benefits perceived (Ostrom et al., 2014).

These authors also state that motivational and informational problems relate to incentives, or lack of incentives, that do not have satisfactory outcomes. In addition, asymmetry or lack of information occurs when an overview of the situation that actors face is not possible to obtain, as well as the linkages to outcomes and the perception of benefits may be partial (Holmstrom, 1982; Miller, 1992; Moe, 1984). Ostrom et al. (2014) also argued that these problems also relate to poor incentives regarding a mismatch between different views over common goals between actors, the inability to comply with contracts, and bad decisions due to a lack of information. Even though the institutional analysis framework contributes significantly to shedding light on the social and environmental problems faced in such an 'enabling environment', the conceptualisation of social inequalities in technological deployments is worked out here as a prelude to the analysis of incentives, commonly addressed by the Institutional Analysis framework.

Motivation and information issues provide a relevant insight that gives rise to linkages between the institutional and operational level, under the understanding that these are learning processes about a signed contract, from a more relational contracting perspective towards a mobility justice transition agenda, rather than an assessment to overcome contractual hazards. In this regard, conflict and tension analysis require explicit and well-framed analytical tools to adequately look at issues in collaboration, as in motivational and asymmetry of information and power. A corporate responsible sustainability framework associated with the paradox perspective is a suitable analytical framework to reveal contradictions, tensions but also the simultaneous synergies that characterise competing social and environmental needs and profitability. A corporatesocial-responsibility-related perspective based on outsourcing of an operation is outlined at the end of this chapter to introduce the case study.

#### 4.4.2 From corporate sustainability to 'effective' philanthropy approaches

Literature on corporate sustainability conventionally refers to a proactive organisational strategy via a developmental approach to profit, people and the planet to ensure an organisation's long-term growth (Jayakumar, 2016), under the rationale that firms will perform better by incorporating sustainable practices in their business strategies (Bonn and Fisher, 2011; Nguyen and Slater, 2010). However, different strands emerged in the last decades. In this regard, Corporate Social Responsibility (CRS) has emerged in the 1990s as a result of the abandonment of more collective forms of social solidarity (Brammer et al., 2012), incorporating neo-liberal and market functions as a means to resolve collective actions problems. This has emphasised the role of firms in addressing social and environmental challenges and thus shifting from state responsibility as a political matter to the 'voluntary' will of private firms to fulfil social needs.

Different variants of corporate sustainability have been reported, ranging from incorporating sustainable activities as a "part of a company's routine operations, with its economic profit serving the long-term goal of contributing to social welfare" (Zollo, 2003:19) to spheres further away from the daily routines of organisations (see, for example, Jayakumar, 2016). A relevant strand to analyse is the philanthropic strand of corporate sustainability, considering the 'enabling environmental' context that takes place to deploy the BSS in focus and the subsequent outcomes (Carroll, 2012; Docherty et al., 2018). Indeed, a neo-liberal discourse in philanthropic organisations has taken over under the assumption of "solving the world's problems through market-like" actions (Eikenberry and Mirabella, 2018:43). These practices, also called 'effective' philanthropy', comprise the 'philanthro-capitalism' and 'effective altruism' perspectives (Goss, 2016; Reckhow 2016; Reich 2016; Eikenberry and Mirabella, 2018), referring to similar social, economic and sustainability concerns and using metrics to operationalise their decisions. However, they differ in terms of their assumptions about giving and, thereby, how they proceed in practice.

Philanthro-capitalism refers to business strategies leveraging "the profit motive for social good" (Bishop and Green, 2008:6), thus seeking better organisational performance. It is characterised by large-scale, metric-based interventions assuming no conflict between market-like approaches in promoting changes (Edwards, 2015) and making their intentions and efforts explicit (Eikenberry and Mirabella, 2018). In terms of decisionmaking, 'philanthro-capitalists' use estimations and criteria to decide which group to benefit after determining their specific causes to address, under the rationale that "all causes are equally valued" (Eikenberry and Mirabella, 2018:44). On the other hand, 'effective altruists' believe in evidence-based donation decision-making, where metrics play a crucial role in deciding which cause to support (Schambra, 2014). Thus, these practices can be described as "a radical utilitarian approach to giving" (Schambra, 2014:1), referring to metrics such as Quality Adjusted Life-Years (QALYs), often used to measure lives saved or lives improved, setting standards in 'development economics' (Clough, 2015) and determining "the most effective ways to improve the world" in so doing (Singer, 2015a:11). Under this neoliberal philanthropic decision-making rationale, needs have become utilitarian and exchangeable QALY widgets reliant on estimations, criteria and performance-focused donors over time (Malone et al., 2005).

Philanthropy can have a high impact on social policy, influencing both who they decide to benefit and how social spending is provided since a shift from "the governmental and political sphere over social concerns to private metrics in their own performance and accountability" can be perceived (Eikenberry and Mirabella, 2018:43). Such organisational practices are usually found entangled between matters of privatisation and deregulation, thus embedded in public-private partnerships and various flexible-mixed type agreements. However, as a matter of public policy, they operate on an individual basis of metrics, lacking a clearly defined framework of planning and management to ensure public values. Montero (2020) argues, through the concept of 'leveraging cities', the existence of a logic that mobilises certain urban policies as trans-national policy models, which are circulated by international development and philanthropic organisations as 'best practices', introducing interventions as ready-made solutions to fulfil their own metrics.

Here, the state seems increasingly oriented towards voluntary and non-governmental efforts to address social complexities and challenges (Dean, 2015; Henriksen et al., 2012). In this regard, Nickel and Eikenberry (2007) stated the existence of a 'voluntary

state' rationale comprised by a philanthro-capitalist elite and firms as power groups, influencing the public sphere from a different sphere of action and without democratic deliberation. In turn, there is a hybrid context of decision-making deciding "the 'why' [the public policy and institutional setting], the 'what' (the rules of the game), 'who' (the networks of actors and their position, power and objectives) and 'how' [the way in which the public is involved in social interventions, 'how' benefits are perceived and accountability and transparency are maintained] (Docherty et al., 2018:117-118).

Under this 'voluntary state' rationale, one of the main critiques of this particular 'enabling environment' is those interventions with unequal influence on public and social policy, which lead to reproducing the same social and economic inequalities that they seek to challenge (Arnove, 1980; Roelofs, 1995; Siegel, 2012; Silver, 2012; Reich, 2016; Theodossopoulos, 2016). As a result, there is a mismatch between the needs and resources in philanthropic practices related to social needs, as philanthropy takes place as "market opportunities rather than as political questions" (Nickel and Eikenberry 2013:2). The main discussion and criticisms of these complex neo-liberal practices in philanthropy are discussed below, introducing one of the applications that have emerged this last decade in the field of transport in highly unequal metropolitan contexts in Latin-America. In this regard, Private Social Investment (PSI) is presented first and then addressed as a case study (Chapter 7).

#### 4.4.3 Private Social Investment in bike-sharing

Private Social Investment (PSI) has been defined as one of the most relevant organisations supporting social causes in the last decade, through the Group of Institutions, Foundations and Enterprises (GIFE), 'movement' contextualised in Latin-America, and led by a Brazilian business association, which invests in social, cultural and environmental purposes in such a context (Nogueira and Schommer, 2009). Andion et al. (2012:409) refer to the PSI scheme as "a planned, monitored, and systematic voluntary allocation of private resources" – whether financial, monetary, human, technical or managerial – for the public interest. Thus, PSI is understood as a voluntary resource allocation aiming at transforming conventional philanthropy, to a more 'creative' donor action participation in projects of 'public interest' (Andion et al., 2012). As an example of a GIFE organisation, Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A, decided on four strategic lines or causes

to allocate private resources through PSI schemes: education, sustainability, health and urban mobility. Therefore, a Bicycle Sharing Scheme is part of the financial interest of an international investment holding company in the pursuit of sustainable and social goals. Thus, a 'philanthropic' practice supported by large investment companies is motivated by specific urban mobility objectives, consolidating a hybrid public-private organisational scenario to deploy an emerging mobility system. In this research, a BSS is an institutional target for a voluntary allocation of resources. Here, the mobility scheme deployment is formulated as a mobility 'cause' through a Private Social Investment scheme (PSI), aiming to provide 'access to a safe, affordable, and sustainable transport system' in different countries of Latin-America, such as Brazil, Chile and recently Argentina.

What is relevant to research like this in PSI, is the influence that this 'philanthropic' scheme would exert on the public sphere and the assumptions under which an 'enabling environment' is created for its inception, with the emphasis here on the public network and its instruments that nurture its deployment. That is, the relationship between the trans-national and sub-national levels as decision-making arenas in Santiago, and the *comunal* cluster as a unit of analysis. Considering a hybrid and a flexible scenario where a PSI scheme is introduced, agreements become a relevant subject of analysis, giving rise to complexities and tensions derived from those collaborative scenarios. In this regard, the corporate sustainability and the paradox perspective summarises the key principles that define the analytical framework proposed here to analyse the implementation of the BSS in Santiago.

#### 4.4.4 Corporate sustainability and the paradox perspective

Corporate sustainability literature has also recognised the existence of inherent tensions and complexities in managing the societal and environmental goals (Aram, 1989; Kaptein and Wempe, 2001; Vilanova et al., 2009; Margolis and Walsh, 2003; Calton and Payne, 2003; Kallio, 2007; Haffar and Searcy, 2015; Van der Byl and Slawinski, 2015). However, the corporate sustainability and the paradox perspective has recently begun to be consolidated as an analytical framework to address these concerns (Gao and Bansal, 2013; Slawinski and Bansal, 2015; Hahn et al., 2014; 2015; 2018). Paradox theory poses the existence of a "persistent contradiction between interdependent elements" (Schad et al., 2016:6) in reference to managing sustainability goals. Smith and Lewis (2011:381) refer to this as "how organisations can attend to competing demands simultaneously ... [which require] ... continuous efforts to meet multiple, divergent demands" for the long-term success of goals. In corporate sustainability perspective, inherent tensions and complexities lie in conflicting social, economic, and environmental dimensions (Hahn et al., 2015). Indeed, Hahn et al. (2018) clarify the conceptualisation of the paradox as "competing social and environmental needs and profitability" and not the "business case for sustainability" (Hahn et al, 2018:235). Luscher and Lewis (2008:234) state that "by accepting and 'working through' paradoxical situations", it makes it possible to conduct processes of change. This is so not by "eliminating or resolving a paradox, but [by] constructing a more workable certainty" when recognising and dealing with complexities and unexpected tensions. Doing so allows addressing a more dynamic perspective in decision-making, especially in 'enabling' and unequal environments.

#### 4.4.5 An analytical approach to the corporate sustainability paradox

Smith and Lewis (2011) defined four types of paradoxes: i) belonging, ii) learning, iii) organising, and iv) performing. Paradox in organization and performance is here addressed for the purpose of this research.

Paradoxes in organisation allow an understanding of tensions between collaborative and competitive practices when incorporating social and sustainability concerns into/under organisational and institutional structures (Smith and Lewis, 2011). Relevant to this research is the ongoing debate on how social and sustainability concerns are effectively incorporated and/or driven in a given organisational and institutional structure (Griffiths and Petrick, 2001; Yuan et al., 2011; Assens et al., 2015). A large body of literature is associated with the different types of incorporation of such practices into organisational and institutional structures, ranging from fully integrated practices within the business core to marginalised strategies, including independent bodies from the core structure. Paradoxes in organisation consider these different perspectives, thus contributing to a perspective of 'working through' the simultaneous and "competing social and environmental needs and profitability" (Hahn et al., 2018:235). While the integration into

organisational routines and activities could reinforce commercial benefits, it has also been said that separate spaces for social and sustainability activities can "flourish independently of prevailing business practices" (Yuan et al., 2011:77). Thus, to meet pursued societal and environmental challenges, this latter rationale would be looking for more flexible environments beyond the commercial and environmental areas with which organisations are affiliated (Hahn et al., 2018).

Paradoxes in performance relate to tensions pursuing organisational goals. Smith and Lewis (2011) explain that organisations may leave aside pursued concerns they originally had when facing multiple dilemmas derived from a market-led vision. In this regard, paradoxes in performance 'work through' ongoing improvisations, addressing simultaneously multiple areas of the organisational performance in a holistic and balanced approach, based on multiple economic, social and environmental outcomes. Research on organisational paradoxes offers an understanding of collaboration between governments and other institutions and organisations to help address institutional, organisational and societal challenges (Stadtler, 2018), giving rise to simultaneously competitive and collaborative issues as a dynamic of interaction, that is providing services, including humanitarian aid (a paradox also called coopetition, originally combining the notion of cooperation and competition) (e.g. Peloza and Falkenberg, 2009; Tomas and Fritz, 2006; Stadtler, 2018). Hahn and Pinkse (2014), stated that firms would tend to maximise their profits through competitive practices between the key partners, so they suggest assessing in the partnership design those undesirable elements that may detract from common objectives. However, it has also been argued that working simultaneously with competitive and collaborative scenarios, and actors can achieve something they cannot do unilaterally, going beyond a given metric or profit maximisation (Huxham, 1993; Stadtler, 2018).

Stadtler (2018) has recently found an insight to 'walk through' tensions in corporate sustainability, considering competitive and collaborative scenarios in multi-company Cross-Sector Social Partnerships (CSSP) when pursuing social goals. This author explored the structure of partnership management in terms of how collaboration and competition appeared simultaneously and how this paradox is addressed. Evidence suggested positive effects in collaboration derived from competitive practices within a CSSP structure, as well as relevant features in partnership designs to enhance collaboration over time. These features were related to the characteristics of the partners,

including prominent individuals and transparent commitments towards greater long-term contributions to avoid monopolistic and dependent structures. This author also found failures in sustaining commitment and engagement in philanthropic-oriented approaches based on reputational benefits and poor incentives in the implementation phase at the earliest stages of the implemented programmes under analysis.

Smith (2014) contributes with an understanding of the organisational paradox through a decision-making dynamic analysis of leader managers in key technological companies, expanding the notion of dilemmas to paradoxical issues when dilemmas persist over time. This author found dilemmas in resource allocation, fostering scenarios of flexibility and stability, where the more stability leaders experienced in allocating resources, the greater flexibility was found to allocate the resources, engaging tensions between both dilemmas and paradoxes. Moreover, in analysing dynamics in decision-making, integration and differentiation were required to 'work though' tensions by contrasting different business models regarding practices in technological innovations. From a practitioner's point of view, these findings suggest shifting time horizons for 'work through' tensions from a single solving-problem to a dynamic pattern of decision-making that better faces unexpected issues. Likewise, this author calls for more integrative ways for paradoxical thinking.

Stadtler and Wassenhove (2016) analysed conflicting organisational interests as a matter of trust to achieve common goals by narrowing down synergistic effects in collaborative and no-collaborative scenarios simultaneously at the same time with separate-based strategies, suggesting integration as an organisation's capability. Their research indicates that logics framed in a 'nested' identity, or an identity that brings them together, and a conceptualisation of different but interlinked logics helps to trigger collaboration avoiding extreme competition and, at the same time providing competitive advantages to the organisation. By using the conceptualisation of 'segmentation' referring to different logics of actions in different localities in conjunction with the notion of 'integration' in reference to synergies between these logics, their findings suggest that, in both a collaborative and non-collaborative humanitarian organisation research context, more flexible organisational structures are crucial to face tensions through the understanding of roles, conditions, and relationships between actors. Similarly, the mechanism of socialization and control are highlighted by addressing different social and normative logics. In this research, actors perceived social cause and collaborative commitments as 'noble and different' from conventional competitive market-led instances (Ibid:680), in addition to a perceived contribution that has positive outcomes. In the event of 'misconducts' instead of a control dynamic, increased social and moral pressure from key partners was found significant in addressing unilateral benefits, considering a humanitarian organisation context. Assens et al. (2019) found paradoxical strategies between territorial authorities, arguing that different local governments sharing responsibilities in regional projects face both simultaneously competitive and complementary issues due to overlapping competencies. This also highlights the political dimensions that may influence public investment and public management.

Thus, this analytical framework offers a position to place the focus on actors' intervention encouraging diverse firms, organisations, governance and institutions to "embrace tensions to simultaneously accommodate competing yet interrelated economic, environmental and social concerns" (Hahn et al., 2018:237). In this regard, Stadtler (2018) analysed the collaborative partnership between business, companies and civil society to provide public goods and services which effectively enhance common interest towards delivering the expected social outcomes. Hrelja et al. (2018) further argued the need to build new forms of control and governance based on the trust-building process as the basis of 'trusting partnerships'. Saud and Thomopoulos (2021) stressed the need for better alignment between the key partners towards pursuing societal objectives such as accessibility and equity. Thus, this research addresses paradoxes in organisation and performance, allowing the creation of linkages between the institutional and operational levels with social inequalities, focusing on the relevance of inter-governmental agreements to deploy the BSS in Santiago.

What is crucial in this regard is understanding who and how key partners are recognised and embedded in a particular partnership design, as well as the way by which common goals are planned and pursued. Through this perspective, the understanding of the planning and policy setting where the institutional vision of change is embedded as well as the institutional capabilities and practices, are all essential inputs to research mobility justice transition. In this regard, collaborative logics to deploy a BSS can account for transformative strategies leading to change scenarios. Thus, a retrospective institutional analysis complements an interventionist one. In concrete and with an interventionist perspective, any tool developed to support a technological deployment requires specific actions to address public values. One of the key actions is to interrogate institutional capacities to address them, especially in hybrid governance scenarios. In other words, an explicit set of social justice values is required to pursue transformative goals. Also, the governance of the public values must be clearly articulated within the process to support the achievement of common objectives in the long-term. Otherwise, technological deployments could also be seen only as a 'ready-made' and 'universal' solutions (Temenos et al., 2017). Indeed, a niche configuration may fail to challenge the dominant regime logics that reproduce unsustainable and unequal production-consumption patterns by not addressing the real social and environmental challenges. However, this thesis also argues that prior institutional analysis is required to support subsequent interventionist work and address long-term challenges, thus, effectively transforming the regime's logic.

This subchapter has sought to provide an analytical approach towards understanding the construction of an 'enabling environment' to deploy a niche-innovation in transport and the condition under which it could lead to a mobility justice transition. Furthermore, it has attempted to create an approach to analysing the initial process of deployment of the BSS in Santiago under an institutional and organisational perspective. This analytical perspective considers both the synergetic and collaborative alignments that face socio-spatial inequalities simultaneously with motivational and information issues that may influence the reproduction of inequalities.

The second part of this chapter discusses an analytical model comprising the theoretical and analytical basis to approach the case study.

# 4.5 An analytical model (Phase II)

Consequently, with the theoretical framework developed in Chapter 3 in conjunction with the analytical framework developed in the first part of Chapter 4, the second part of this chapter presents an analytical model to guide the analysis in Chapters 6,7 and 8. Indeed, these chapters present the three-stages of analysis based on empirical information arising from the deployment process of the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago. The analysis structure of the deployment process is as follows (for details see Chapter 2): a) Chapter 6: Analysis of early decisions, comprising the business model used to deploy the BSS in Santiago and the public tendering that took place, b) Chapter 7: The implementation process, considering the inter-governmental agreements, and c) Chapter 8: The operational level, comprising a survey carried out.

# 4.5.1 Chapter 6: Analysis of early decisions

This analytical stage aims to provide an understanding of the institutional rationale behind the BSS regional business model as a planning tool to deploy the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago in order to analyse its role in triggering a mobility justice transition.

Chapter 6 analyses the regional business model (the regional business model or regional study), considering the definition of business models as "the rationale of how an organisation creates, delivers, and captures value" (Osterwalder and Pigneur, 2010:14). Information regarding the regional business model is presented by the three major components: i) value proposition, ii) value creation, and iii) value capture.

In terms of the role of a business model in carrying out a transition process, Chapter 6 also includes the two-tendering types to deploy the BSS in Santiago. To answer the research question, this research considers the three functions of this planning tool in a process of change in conjunction with the Multi-Level Perspective to build the narrative in mobility justice transition while integrating the data in Chapter 8, Phase II, further discussed in sub-section 4.2.2 (Bidmon and Knab, 2018):

- i) As an industry recipe
- ii) As a mechanism to commercialise technology
- iii) Subject to innovation itself

## 4.5.2 Chapter 7: The implementation process

Chapter 7 aims to provide linkages between the institutional and operational levels when implementing the BSS BikeSantiago, highlighting the role of the inter-governmental agreement in fostering or hindering the reproduction of socio-spatial inequalities. For both Chapters 6 and 7, the working statement is that alliances in support of niche-innovations operate within structures as rules, values and practices that influence society's actions systematically. Analysing this rationale, and working towards common interests based on collaborative patterns, is crucial for building a mobility justice transition pathway. Considering the corporate sustainability paradox as an analytical tool that brings together the required elements to answer the research question, Chapter 7 considers four qualitative categories to analyse a transition trajectory deploying a niche-innovation (Smith, 2014; Stadtler and Wassenhove, 2016; Standtler, 2018): ii) Scheme case, Private Social Investment (PSI), ii) the emerging patterns (collaboration and segregation), iii) aligned benefits, and iv) experienced tensions.

## 4.5.2.1 Scheme case, Private Social Investment (PSI)

Derived from the Corporate Sustainability framework, PSI is understood as a voluntary resource allocation aimed at transforming conventional philanthropy, to a more 'creative' donor action participation in projects of 'public interest' (Andion et al., 2012). The BSS BikeSantiago, therefore, is here considered as a 'philanthro-capitalist' practice, as this scheme relates to a 'cause' in mobility, which is led by Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. in this case study.

#### 4.5.2.2 Competition and self-organised practices

According to the SSGI thesis in socio-spatial inequalities, non-collaborative practices here relate to self-organised municipal practices in decision-making, considering the first type of public tendering based on isolated contracts in the three wealthiest *comunas* in Santiago. However, in contracting and public tendering terms, competition as self-organised actions by the municipalities is also a matter of governance capabilities to interact with others, in particular under market-led principles, where there is again a socio-spatial inequality discussion (Ostrom, 1983) which posed challenges in novel forms of governance and control over what is common and to whom.

#### 4.5.2.3 Collaboration: the inter-governmental agreements

This thesis defines collaboration broadly as an essential attribute of the functionality of the governance system, based on a voluntary joint action between different institutions and organisations to produce and deliver goods and services for public purposes, carrying out a process to constructively engage a constellation of actors. In terms of contracts, the collaborative agreement to deploy the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago, is considered here as a novel expression of the governance of this new transport service or as an 'enabling environment'. Key to this collaborative process is the way by which are understood needs, considering a mobility justice approach, as well as differences in roles, conditions and beliefs (Schot and Geels, 2007) to sustain commitment and cohesion over time. Therefore, Chapter 7 considers the notion of 'nested identity' referring to 'institutional alliance or cohesion for social integration, and 'segmentation' referring to different logics of actions in different areas of the city.

#### 4.5.2.4 Aligned Benefits deploying the BSS BikeSantiago

Chapter 7 considers the intentions of a PSI practice in deploying the BSS BikeSantiago as a mobility 'cause', promising to deliver 'access to safe, affordable, and sustainable transport system', assuming a philanthro-capitalist action in an attempt to promote changes in mobility while implementing this system in 14 *comunas* in Santiago. From a donor point of view, benefits also relate to better organisational performance leveraging "the profit motive for social good'" (Bishop and Green, 2008:6), positioning Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A in the regional public sphere as a way to make their intentions and efforts explicit, including leadership and political alignment for this purpose.

## 4.5.2.5 Experienced tensions at the operational level

Considering that the BSS BikeSantiago was deployed partly via corporate sustainability purposes and financed by a PSI structure, tensions at the operational level consider a paradox in organisation (collaboration and competition or segregation), which relate to tensions created by the different tendering types that gave rise to the inter-*comunal* BSS in 14 *comunas*. It is relevant to consider that this perspective in paradox relates to the distributional perspective, as the focus is placed on the system performance. Three key aspects comprise the analysis of experienced tensions.

First, reputational issues related to the philanthropic action consider dilemmas as links between institutional and operational levels, in particular, due to institutional and organisational characteristics and the capabilities of making agreements in Santiago, as well as the nature of the inter-governmental agreement that took place in the tendering process. Second, dilemmas faced due to the two-tendering approach relate to the resulting organisational structure and its operational performance, revealing motivational and informational problems, which are framed in the Chilean context as a de-regulated 'enabling environment'. Third, paradoxical tensions in organisational dimensions consider tensions in terms of trust between the key actors as well as the way by which unexpected issues are dealt with in the first year of operation of the BSS BikeSantiago.

#### 4.5.3 Chapter 8: the operational levels

Chapter 8 analyses the BSS BikeSantiago performance considering the first year of its full operation in the 14 *comunas* in order to understand the relationships between planning tools, agreements made, and the operational level in both fostering and hindering more equal and inclusive mobility landscapes. Here, the working statement is that the maintenance of the BSS BikeSantiago is significant in the levels of adoption and the perception of the benefits, which are shaped by the previous decision-making processes. Two key approaches comprise the following data analysis levels: one level focused on the users' profile, their travel patterns, as well as service levels and perceptions of benefits. Benefits were considered as described in the business model section in terms of improving health, saving time and money as well as perceived accessibility. Perceived accessibility refers to the ease of performing a frequent activity using the BSS compared to the previously used means of transport.

System performance or the key performance indicators (KPIs) are approached by the inter-governmental agreement made between the participating institutions and the service operator for the system's operation. Thus, an understanding of the critical factors at the operational level alongside social and institutional goals is provided in Chapter 8. How the BSS BikeSantiago is implemented and how it deals with delivering the service in 14 *comunas* is analysed here by observing the fleet distribution.

#### 4.5.4 Integration of the data

As outlined in Chapter 2, this research adopted a "simultaneous integration or merging to develop integrated results and interpretations that expand the understanding to provide comprehensive results" (Cresswell and Plano Clark, 2017:221). Thus, the representation and interpretation of the integration here is done through a narrative (Cresswell and Plano Clark, 2011; 2017) by using the Multi-Level Perspective (Eaton, 2004; Geels and Schot, 2010; Roberts and Geels, 2019) and combining different analytical frameworks derived from Chapter 4. This gives rise to links that can describe the transition pathway.

Relevant to notice is the subject of analysis for a discussion of findings through the MLP narrative. Thus, decision-making practices comprised in the different stages of the deployment provide relevant linkages for a narrative in MLP, connecting key ideas to the mobility justice framework, as explained in Chapter 3. The integration is done in Chapter 8 – Phase II, summarising key findings first, followed by related conceptualisations across the results at the end of Chapter 8, on the understanding that different decision-making as institutional and organisational 'practices', i.e. the regional business model, the tendering process as well as the operational practices, are the subject of analysis. It allows giving rise to explanative factors to expand the understanding of a mobility justice transition and answer the research question through the lens of the MLP.

# Chapter 5. Contextualising a sub-national research in mobility justice transition. The case of Santiago metropolitan region

Understanding mobility justice transitions involves grappling with the configuration and distribution of power while establishing links with governance capacity and political authority (Eaton, 2004) to address socio-spatial inequalities (Chapter 4).

Debates on metropolitan organization raised in Chapter 4 posed relevant strands to discuss socio-spatial inequalities, in a context where global inequalities have increased over the past decades (Milanovic, 2016).

This chapter offers a context for the unit of observation of Santiago Metropolitan Region, Chile's capital region, with over 7 million inhabitants distributed across 52 comunas (34 comunas comprise Greater Santiago). It is the most densely populated city in Chile and one of the metropolitan areas with the highest concentration of population and political power in Latin America (Valenzuela and Ortiz, 2017; Brinkhoff, 2020; National Institute of Statistics Chile, 2020). This chapter seeks to contextualize mobility justice transition research. Decentralization policies are a crucial institutional matter to discuss in this regard, particularly in the Chilean context as one of the most centralized countries in Latin America (Eaton, 2004). The institutional specificity regarding the design of the subnational institutions in the context of decentralization policies is introduced first, describing how sub-national political authorities are constituted, what institutions can actually do, and the resources available to them. The relevance of this discussion lies in the top-down public policies approach promoting cycling through the BSS implementation. Socio-spatial inequalities in Santiago consider an introduction from the Social Priority Index, a regional tool to prioritise investment, an overview of travel patterns and accessibility in Santiago, and distribution of cycling facilities and characteristics of the cyclist. Key elements derived from regional transport planning in cycling and the cycling infrastructure distribution are described at the time of the BSS deployment.

#### 5.1 The decentralization process in a centralist Chile

Decentralization is considered in this research as a process of transferring competencies and resources from the national to the sub-national levels of administration (Eaton, 2004), in this case, the regional and local levels, considering a constitutionally unitary country. The three most commonly used concepts in this respect are: political authority decentralization, administrative decentralization and fiscal decentralization. While decentralization of political authority relates to the decision of shifting from indirect to direct election of the subnational officials, decentralization of governance capacity refers to the specific rights and responsibilities in charge of the sub-national officials. In this regard, the national level delegates responsibility for planning, operational management and, to some extent, financing infrastructure and services. This is what this thesis highlights when referring to some degree of autonomy. Fiscal decentralization refers to taxation power over resources, namely public revenue and expenditure. Indeed, a decentralized sub-national unit can only perform its tasks effectively if it has the required resources and the decision-making power, which is a focus of this research by analysing the inter-governmental agreements reached to deploy the BSS in Santiago (Chapter 6 and 7) (Aylwin and Azocar, 1996; Moreno, 2013).

These three types of decentralization pose significant challenges in the nature of resources and sub-national capabilities over the taxation power and administration, considering the enormous differences that municipalities in Chile have in practice in accessing and managing fiscal resources. Therefore, it is significant to discuss the real available options to address the distributional dimensions of services and goods.

## 5.1.1 The process of decentralization in Chile

The process of decentralization began in Chile in 1974, during the context of the military regime. By means of decree-law number 573 the sub-national levels were created with administrative purposes for the administration of the regions, provinces and the *comunal* level. During this period, the country was initially divided into 12 regions and a metropolitan region. Then, this intermediate unit comprised provinces within the regions. For the local administration, the provinces were then subdivided into *comunas*, the basic administrative unit of the territory.

This decree also established that the regional government is in charge of a regional executive (Intendentes) and, in the provinces, by a governor. The president initially appointed both. Currently, comunas are administered by the municipalities under the charge of a mayor elected. However, a new re-distribution of power authority and policymaking capacity at the sub-national level took place in the 1990s, when important reforms made Chile a more decentralized country, particularly regarding the decentralization of political authority. Indeed, while in 1974, comunal mayors were also appointed by the president and the regional executive, in the 1990s, municipal democratization was introduced, shifting from indirect to direct election. Nevertheless, it was not the case of governors and regional executives until the data collection for this thesis. In this regard, the process of decentralization in governance capacity from the 1990's consisted of two key sub-national functions. On the one hand, comunas are in charge of local fiscal resources, including both those raised in their own jurisdictions as well as those leveraged from the national level. Likewise, municipalities as a basic unit of public goods administration include among their competencies the charging for services they provide and the concessions they grant as a means of generating revenue at the local level, and in turn, establishing a relationship of control over the provision of goods and services. To comply with their functions, the municipalities have, among other essential attributions, "the administration of municipal and national goods for public use, the establishment of rights for the services they provide, and for the permits and concessions they grant" (Law 18.695. Title I, Paragraph 1, Art 5). In doing so, the municipal or national goods of public use, that are "administered by the municipality, may be subject to concessions and permits" (Ibid. Paragraph 5. Article 36). In fact, one of the main ways to generate municipal revenues is through the permits and concessions they grant (Ibid. Article 13).

At the level of regions, on the other hand, regional executives (*Intendentes*) are directly appointed by the president at the time of this research. These officials play a double role as head of the regional government and as the representatives of the national level in the regions. In terms of regional fiscal resources, the regional government has no independent taxing authority. This fact is possible to corroborate when looking at the national budget law and the distribution of the national regional development fund, managed by the regional government in Chile.

According to the Law 19175 regarding regional governance in Chile, the regional government manages the territory comprised in their jurisdiction. Still, in practice, this

public institution seeks to improve the efficiency of public budgeting and investment, from the national level to the local level. This is so by evidencing the composition of the regional spending process and the decision-making in regional planning. In this regard, while the 'normative' comunal planning and land use regulations belong to the municipalities, the regional planning has an 'indicative' character, more in line to assist municipalities and provide public investment. Hence, even if moving from a hierarchical relationship of governance to one of management and negotiation between different institutions (Dávila and Brand, 2012), the regional level still remains a governance challenge regarding its competencies and participation in local decision-making (Eaton, 2004). Thus, the local level in Chile has a semi-local autonomy of decision-making, referring to spending and revenue decision-making capacity to provide, distribute and administer local goods and services. However, what happens in practice translates into a high dependence on national fiscal resources for an effective provision of basic services, such as health and education. Due to the centralised nature of Chile, the regional government today consists of coordinating and transferring national resources between the various territorial levels of administration. Therefore, the key issue for regional governments today is not related to a lack of resources but rather a lack of capacity to effectively execute those resources and be able to address inequalities at this level of governance.

This thesis considers a metropolitan governance regime as a unit of coordination based on multiple semi-autonomous local decision-making levels (Ostrom, Tiebout, & Warren, 1961; Ostrom, 2005), as discussed in Chapter 4. In this respect, *comunas* as a semiautonomous unit of decision-making evidence a high level of disparities in the capacity to generate and leverage resources across Santiago city. Chile and Santiago as the capital shows, from the 1990s, a progressive devolution of governing capacity and political authority to the sub-national levels. However, the regional level remains a governance and institutional challenge to go beyond an 'enabling environment', more related to management and negotiation forms of governance (Dávila and Brand, 2012), a critical institutional juncture to address issues of socio-spatial inequalities. This is aggravated by a persistent centralist tendency, where urban regulation in Chile has a 'vertical' direction (Galentovic, 2006). That is, rules are imposed by top-down bodies, despite the fact that potential autonomy that local government has in terms of a governance capacity and political authority, which led to scenarios of self-organization for purposes that favour only a few population groups located in wealthy *comunas*.

# 5.1.2 The Social Priority Index (SPI)

The Social Priority Index is defined as "a combined indicator that integrates relevant aspects of communal social development" (Ministry of Social Development and Family, 2017:4), i.e. the dimensions of: income, education and health of households in Santiago. It is a synthetic index whose numerical value makes it possible to measure the relative standard of living attained by the population of a comuna. Thus, the SPI value obtained by each comuna is only understood in relation to "the values of this index in the other comunas" (Ibid). Therefore, in illustrating socio-spatial inequalities in Chile, the Social Priority Index (SPI) (Table 5.1 and Figure 5.1) is a valuable regional mechanism to locate programmes, projects and/or resources in comunas with the greatest relative deprivation, expressed as a high, medium and low range of regional investment priority. As shown in Figure 5.1, there are clear differences between comunas regarding the investment priority. When looking at their spatialisation, there is a white cluster of non-prioritized comunas in the eastern part of the city, namely the wealthiest eastern-area of Santiago as non-prioritized areas. It is clear too that this white cluster is also an area of attraction for travel journeys, as well as the area of highest income concentration, as shown in Figure 5.1 (PNUD, 2017).

According to the population projection of 2017 (Ministry of Social Development and Family, 2017), both nationally and regionally, the most populated *comuna* in Chile is led in first place by Puente Alto *comuna* with 568,106 inhabitants, followed by Maipú with 521,627, Santiago in third place with 404,495 and then La Florida with 366,916.



Figure 5.1: Metropolitan Region of Santiago *comunas* and SPI position by categories of public investment prioritization. In the white east area, the wealthiest *comunas* with no priority for regional investment. Source: Own elaboration based on Ministry of Social Development data (2017). Source: Ministry of Social Development and Family, 2017 1. Scale is referential in the source. Santiago metropolitan area comprises 52 *comunas* (rural and urban), in contrast to Greater Santiago area, with 34 urban *comunas* comprised in Santiago province or the centre of the region, in addition to Puente Alto (Cordillera province) and San Bernardo (Maipo province) as peri-urban *comunas*. Considering a trip from downtown to the southern *comunas*, e.g. Puente Alto (38), to Santiago (43) *comuna* (the busiest area), the travel distance is about 25 km and the travel time takes around 1:30 in the rush hour by public transport.

<sup>1 34</sup> comunas belonging to Greater Santiago.

Table 5.1. List of comunas in Santiago Metropolitan region and their SPI position. Source: Minis	stry
of Social Development and Family (2017). Ranking position number is the numbering of t	he
comunal regional investment prioritisation.	

Level	Comuna	Ranking
	La Pintana	1
	Lo Espejo	2
~	Cerro Navia	3
iorit	San Ramon	4
n Pr	Isla de Maipo	5
Higl	Maria Pinto	6
	Curacavi	7
	Conchali	8
	El Monte	9
	Paine	10
	Melipilla	11
	Buin	12
	Lo Prado	13
n High Priority	Padre Hurtado	14
	San Joaquin	15
	San Bernardo	16
	El Bosque	17
diur	San Jose de Maipo	18
Me	Recoleta	19

Level	Comuna	Ranking
	Independencia	20
	Til Til	21
	Alhue	22
	Lampa	23
	Quinta Normal	24
	La Granja	25
	Estacion Central	26
	Pedro Aguirre Cerda	27
	Peñaflor	28
	San Pedro	29
	Renca	30
	Talagante	31
ity	La Cisterna	32
	Pirque	33
riol	Pudahuel	34
N F	Colina	35
ЧГ	Cerrillos	36
diur	Calera de Tango	37
Me	Puente Alto	38

Level	Comuna	Ranking
	Peñalolen	39
Low Priority	La Florida	40
	Maipu	41
	Huechuraba	42
	Santiago	43
	Quilicura	44
	Macul	45
	San Miguel	46

Level	Comuna	Ranking
	Ñuñoa	47
No Priority	La Reina	48
	Lo Barnechea	49
	Providencia	50
	Las Condes	51
	Vitacura	52

# 5.2 An overview of travel patterns, distribution of cycling facilities and characteristics of cyclists

Socio-spatial inequalities in this research are examined though official information of current travel patterns derived from the Origin-Destination survey (2001 and 2012), accessibility in Santiago and cycling facilities distribution, including national and regional planning policies as outlined below.

# 5.2.1 Santiago Travel Origin - Destination Survey 2012

The travel origin-destination survey in Santiago (SECTRA, 2012) is summarised to explain current travel patterns across Santiago. This secondary source is the latest version from the official travel information in Santiago, aiming to support the infrastructure, planning process and project formulation to improve the mobility conditions of people and goods in Santiago, including transport policies in related areas. Therefore, these data describe the most common trips in the Santiago Metropolitan Area. Here, the focus is placed on the characteristics of the trips<sub>2</sub>.

# 5.2.1.1 Total trips made

One of the main results of the 2012 survey relates to the total trips generated in Santiago. In a normal working day, it exceeded a total of 18 million trips, with an average of 2.78 trips per person per day and nine trips per day per household.

# 5.2.1.2 Modal split

Walking (34.5%), car (25.7%) and public transport (Metro and bus, 25%) were the three most used daily means of transport in Santiago. Trips made by non-motorized means of transport (walking and cycling) represented 38.5% of total trips for a normal working day,

<sup>2</sup> According to this official source, a trip is defined as any journey made on public roads for a specific purpose, between two places (origin and destination) at a certain time of day, which may be made by various means of transport and consists of one or more stages; and by normal season, the period between the months of March and November, when educational activity is in full operation. The representative sample size was 18,000 households comprising the 45 busiest *comunas* in Santiago metropolitan area. The Metropolitan area of Santiago comprises 52 *comunas* within their jurisdiction. The measured area comprised around 6.5 million people, with an estimated 1,160,000 private vehicles, 6,300 urban buses, 27,000 basic taxis, 11,000 urban collective taxis and five metro lines with 104 km of tracks.

with walking (trips made entirely on foot) being the most used means of transport (34.5%). Daily trips by bicycle counted for 747,000 every day in Santiago, representing 4% of the total trips made on a normal working day. Compared to 2001, cycling trips increased (SECTRA, 2001).

# 5.2.1.3 Main characteristics of trips in Santiago

The trip characteristics and the concentration of the population by sectors in the city showed that walking is the most used mode, except in the wealthiest *comunas* concentrated in the east sector of the city and some of the south-east, which are far from the urban centres. Equally, while the wealthiest *comunas* located in the east sector were the areas with the highest generation of private transport trips, poorer *comunas* in the south-east sectors showed a greater use of public transport. Likewise, the east sector (wealthiest *comunas*) had the highest use of automobiles and bicycles, while the highest use of public transport occurs in *comunas* located in the west and south-east sectors of Santiago. Comparing the travel origin-destination survey in Santiago between 2001 and 2012, it is worth mentioning that the population in Santiago grew 27% in the number of households and 13% in inhabitants. However, it was significant that the vehicle fleet increased by 60% in this period, as shown in Tables 5.2 and 5.3.

Table 5.2. Population, household and	vehicle growth betwee	en 2001 and 2012	. Source: Origin-
Destination Survey (SECTRA, 2012)			

Year	Households	Inhabitants	Vehicles
2001	1,522,607	5,538,635	596,325
2012	1,938,463	6,268,039	1,115,295

Table 5.3. Evolution of household size and motorization rate in Santiago between 2001 and 2012. Source: Origin-Destination Survey 2012

Year	Inhabitants/Households	Vehicles / Inhabitants	Vehicles / 1000 inhabitants
2001	3,64	0,46	125,7
2012	3,23	0,58	177,9

#### 5.2.2 Accessibility in Santiago

Over the last decade, Santiago has experienced a strong process of urban expansion resulting in accelerated gross domestic growth initiated by the return to democracy (Ffrench-Davis, 2018). The urban effects of such macroeconomic policies can be seen from the processes of urban expansion (Galentovic, 2006) and population and household and vehicle growth between 2001 and 2012 (Contreras et al., 2016).

Despite Chile's strong growth, it is indeed an emerging middle-income economy (about 40% of that of the United States) (Foxley et al., 2017; Ffrench-Davis, 2018) with the highest level of socio-economic inequality within the OECD. Chile has one of the highest ratios in terms of income of the wealthiest group, 10%, and that of the poorest 10%, when contrasted to all OECD countries (OECD, 2018). Chile also shows significant inequality in the key elements of development, with persisting gaps in quality of employment, gender, quality of public services and availability of goods and services, spatially manifested in strong residential segregation and concentration of activities (Figueroa et al., 2108). This is evident when looking at the high level of spatial concentration of highincome households in the eastern sector (also called the high-income cone, see Figure 5.2), as well as the segregation of the poorest households scattered throughout the city, especially in the southern sector. This pattern of segregation is observed along with homogeneity of its urban spaces and households of similar social conditions (Sabatini et al., 2010) regarding the poorest households. This pattern also presents a duality with respect to the will to self-segregation as well as one that was forced as a product of Pinochet's dictatorial regime and the subsequent social housing policies based on market-led principles. For the former group, self-segregation is accompanied by investment in infrastructure to access these locations. For the latter group, the insufficient provision of public goods and basic services locally (Rodriguez and Sugranyes, 2005) is clear evidence of the socio-economic inequality that affects Chile due to its development model and the deregulated urban land market (PNUD, 2017) despite the public policies to reduce poverty and improvements in irregular settlements (Techo-Chile, 2016). The insufficient provision of public goods and basic services in some deprived areas of Santiago (areas in light blue in Figure 5.2) also demonstrates that urban activities are highly concentrated in only certain areas, forcing the majority of the population to move to these locations (Figure 5.3).



Figure 5.2 Socio-economic sectors and location in the Metropolitan Area of Santiago by 2012. The map shows the location of the various sectors of the socio-economic groups distributed in the region. The ABC1 sector is concentrated in the north-eastern sector of Santiago. Source: Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government, 2015. It is important to note that this source used secondary data such as the official information from Ministry of Housing and Urbanism, 2012, among others to create this map.



Figure 5.3 Road and transport system in the Metropolitan Area of Santiago and origin-destination survey, 2012. The map cross-references information on transport infrastructure in conjunction with the points of origin and destination of more than 3,000 trips per day in the morning peak hour. Here, a concentration of trips towards the central and north-eastern sector (the wealthiest areas) at the morning peak hour can be seen, evidencing a high dependence of peri-urban areas on these points of convergence of activities. Source: Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government, 2015.



Figure 5.4 Distance commuting (maps on the left-hand side) and travel time (maps on the righthand side) per area comprised in the origin-destination surveys 2001 and 2012 (comprising 730 areas). Source: Adapted from Contreras et al. (2016).

Contreras et al. (2016) developed maps showing accessibility in Santiago, characterising the distribution of the trips in Santiago, as Figure 5.4 shows. Through the use of the origin-destination surveys comparing the period 2001 and 2012, these authors calculated that

the average travel distance for Santiago is 8.2 kilometres, which proved to be constant for the two periods compared in general terms, despite the emergence of some urban centres in peri-urban *comunas* (Figure 5.4). They also observed that inhabitants of households located in central and peri-central *comunas* travel shorter distances on average. Travel time had worsened by 2012. These authors found that the travel time of the inhabitants of the southern and western peri-urban *comunas* of Santiago had deteriorated by 2012. Furthermore, travel times are not homogeneous between means of transport in Santiago. The results show that long distances are related to long travel times, which differ between different areas in relation to faster means of travel, such as cars in the wealthiest north-east area of Santiago as well as better connectivity and facilities, as Figure 5.4 shows.

Having briefly shown the characteristics of travel in Santiago, it is worth noting that a felt need in the provision and distribution of basic goods and services in Santiago is related to transport systems. Ureta (2017:24) explained that the public transport reform that took place in 2007 was "the worst public policy that has ever been implemented in our country", echoing the ideas that the ministers of that time highlighted. This is reflected in the results of the origin-destination survey for 2012, which shows an increase in the number of vehicles, on the one hand, and a deterioration in the quality of life of the people, on the other. Furthermore, this author explained in detail that this dehumanized and ambitious public transport modernization project failed as a result of an old-fashioned and segregated attempt of public policies based on complex infrastructures separated from the social order, connecting better residents in comunas with more facilities and investment capacities in detriment to those in more distant and disadvantaged *comunas* (Figueroa et al., 2018). Ureta (2017:24) concludes with a question: "where to situate the human being in an infrastructural policy such as Transantiago?" (the public transport system which includes buses and metro) (Latour, 1993). He answered that the place of humans in these public policies must be seen as one of the most transcendental and urgent political questions of our time. The failure of the public transport system in Santiago meant a worsening of people's quality of life, an increase in travel time and cost, and the deprivation of choice for many in favour of a few as a matter of private business.

This way of planning Santiago city has led to a city with high car dependency, long distances and travel times faced by the majority of the population, aggravated by the high levels of air pollution. Karekla et al. (2018) recognised that the biggest challenge in this

regard is changing social habits in Santiago, requiring promoting non-motorised means of transport, improvements to the transport system as well as road monitoring to reduce the current traffic flow. This discussion is addressed in this thesis through an institutional and organisational perspective, in particular with regard to the necessary alignment between technological developments in transport and transport needs to deploy accessible and fair systems.

# 5.2.3 Cycling and the built environment in Greater Santiago: a retrospective look at the urban landscape construction

In the context of promoting the use of bicycles in Santiago, it is relevant to analyse Santiago's cycling and the way in which the built environment has accompanied these policies. Indeed, one of the most relevant factors in promoting cycling relates to the physical infrastructure available (Saud, 2014; Rosetti et al., 2018). This retrospective look at the implementation of cycling infrastructure is based on the main conclusions contained in planning and regulatory background associated with cycling and the studies 'Relevance of public space in cycling route decisions', adapted from Saud (2014) to contextualise the distribution of the cycling infrastructure in the BSS pre-deployment process, secondary data derived from SECTRA (2013), and Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government (2012) for the characterization of a cyclist at the time of the BSS deployment.

5.2.3.1 Planning and regulatory background associated with cycling

In this subsection, the main planning and regulatory background associated with cycling in Chile is presented, comprising the following indicative and regulatory instruments both at the national and regional levels: Santiago Transport Master Plan 2025 (SECTRA, 2013c), the National Urban Development Policy (Ministry of Housing and Urbanism, 2013), the Regional Development Strategy for the Metropolitan Region 2012-2021 (Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government, 2013) and the Chilean Traffic Law N 18.290. According to the 'Santiago Transport Master Plan 2025', the quality of life in the city of Santiago has deteriorated significantly in recent years, particularly in terms of mobility. This instrument warns, in a motorization growth trend scenario, that the number of vehicles will at least double between 2012 and 2025 from 1.3 to 2.7 million (SECTRA, 2013c). Therefore, this diagnosis urged the need to promote non-motorized means of transport, specifically targeting at increasing active travel by deploying an inter-comunal BSS. At the national public policy level, the National Urban Development Policy (Ministry of Housing and Urbanism, 2013) recognized the need to promote non-motorized means of transport. This was based on encouraging pedestrian traffic and bicycle use, ensuring universal accessibility with specific urban planning standards for public space, establishing the components, characteristics and minimum standards of quality and coverage for urban public goods, and promoting public transport systems with an intermodal offer and integrated fares that facilitate people's autonomy. At the regional level, the Regional Development Strategy for the Metropolitan Region 2012-2021 (Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government, 2013), referred to increasing the provision of bike-lanes and supporting a BSS deployment, from a management and coordination point of view, according to the institutional characteristics mentioned at the beginning of this chapter.

In terms of regulations, the Chilean Traffic Law N 18,290, the bicycle has the status of a vehicle, whereby a cyclist is considered as a driver, and its traffic space, like a car, is on the roadway and positioned preferably on the right side, except when there is a bike-lane.

5.2.3.2 Distribution of the cycling infrastructure at the BSS pre-deployment process

The distribution of the cycling infrastructure in Santiago is described below to contextualise the built environment when the BSS in focus was deployed, summarising the research conducted by Saud (2014) at the time. The main indicators that the author used were the quantification in linear metres (LM)<sub>3</sub> of bicycle lanes per *comunas* in Greater Santiago, the information provided by the Secretary of Transport (SECTRA) and population projections by *comuna* (Ministry of Social Development, 2012). This

<sup>3</sup> The information presented on the average length of bicycle lanes is expressed in linear metres (LM) as many *comunas* do not reach the full kilometres built.

information is complemented by the Master Plan for bike lanes 2012-2020 developed by the Metropolitan Regional Government of Santiago and the SPI indicator (Table 5.1).

The average length in the 34 *comunas* of Greater Santiago was 6.3 kilometres per *comuna*, considering 215 km built in Greater Santiago by 2012. Santiago *comuna*, with a low SPI (position 43, or a low priority of regional investment, see Table 5.1 for details) and located downtown, has the largest number of ML, with 25,500 ML, in contrast to *comunas* such as Macul (SPI 45) or San Miguel (SPI 46) *comunas*, located at the pericentre of the city; however, with no presence of such infrastructure, as Figure 5.5 shows. The case of Puente Alto *comuna* is noteworthy with regard to the length of bike lanes. This *comuna* is located 20 kms from downtown, with a medium-low priority of regional investment (SPI 38) and is the second-best *comuna* ranked, reaching 20,000 ML of bike lanes. According to this ranking, *comunas* with the highest number of bicycle lanes built in 2012 were Santiago (SPI 43), Puente Alto (SPI 38) and Ñuñoa (SPI 47). However, when linking the length of LM of bicycle lanes per *comuna* and per 100 residents, La Reina (SPI 48), Santiago and Ñuñoa (SPI 48) *comunas* lead the ranking, as shown in Figure 5.2 (Saud, 2014).

Regarding the significant difference of LM of bicycle lanes between *comunas* in Santiago, these data also raise questions about the distributive dimensions of promoting cycling, visualising to whom such a public policy is addressed and how it is implemented in practice (Chapters 6,7 and 8). As a matter of sub-national institutions, these results express that the distribution of this infrastructure follows a self-organized municipal pattern that does not necessarily correspond to the regional needs, especially when looking at the SPI indicator (Table 5.1). Indeed, according to this information, there is no direct relationship between the length of LM of bicycle lanes and the population density per comuna (Figure 5.6). Furthermore, this is also an expression of self-organized municipal practices with little effective regional coordination, despite the regional efforts to coordinate this sub-national investment. This dissociation was partly due to the fact that bike lane initiatives emerged from the capacity of each municipality to directly generate its own investment or to leverage resources to obtain regional funds. In practice, the formulation of such projects involves high financial costs and professional capacity, together with a recent update of the methodology for social assessment on bike lanes (Ministry of Social Development, 2013), which required high dissemination and professional capacities for its implementation. For this reason, several public institutions joined together in a commission in charge of formulating norms for the design and construction of bicycle lanes, meaning an instance of support to the municipalities for the formulation of projects at regional level, and thus achieving an integrated vision for bike lanes distribution within the region. As an instance of this, I was part of this commission as an investment analyst of the Metropolitan Regional Government of Santiago (Ministry of Housing and Development, 2015a; 2015b)4.



Figure 5.5: Linear metre of bike-lanes in *comunas* of Greater Santiago, 2012. Source: Retrieved from Saud (2014).



Figure 5.6: Ranking of *comunas* of Greater Santiago and rate of linear metres bike-lane per 100 inhabitants by 2012. Source: Retrieved from Saud (2014).

<sup>4</sup> Both manuals are currently being updated, however, for details see

https://www.gob.cl/noticias/ciclovias-descarga-y-conoce-los-manuales-de-diseno-y-construccion/
In terms of planning instruments to coordinate public investments in bike lanes in Greater Santiago, the Master Plan for Cycle Routes 2012-2020, carried out by the Santiago Metropolitan Region Government and SECTRA, defined 800 km to be built by 2020, including implementation stages. The definition of these stages was based on criteria for prioritizing the projected sections: priority by type of road, physical feasibility, and demand observed in terms of current flows. The total masterplan implementation was scheduled for the year 2022 with regional public funding, with an updated assessment methodology developed by the Ministry of Social Development. However, it is evident that the difficulty in materializing such a plan lies in the real possibility of the municipalities to leverage these resources since these projects must be financed locally, considering that their development is costly and requires specialized personnel in charge of their management and evaluation.

In conclusion, Santiago shows a high dispersion and disparity of bike lane distribution, expressing disparities in terms of the areas of Santiago where cycling is being promoted through support for infrastructure investment, both intra-*comunal* and inter-*comunal*. Against this backdrop, route options are restricted to road and pedestrian areas, as findings in Saud (2014) showed. As a matter of institutions, disparities are also an expression of the poor coordination between sub-national levels, a consequence of the high degree of centralism that characterises the institutional setting in Chile. This deficit arises mainly from self-organized municipal practices (Chapter 4). Indeed, these data show that many of Santiago's bike lane initiatives have a *comunal* scope, as investment decisions are made at the municipal level, and the *comunal* territory is administered autonomously by each municipality.

While the need for this infrastructure is not disputed, neither the autonomy of each *comuna,* there is a need for creating horizontal inter-governmental agreements avoiding potential top-down relationships that could influence the accessibility and perceptions of the benefits to promote cycling and active travel in Santiago. In addition, talking about linear metres or kilometres of bicycle lanes also requires considering the physical characteristics of what has been built and what is planned. Indeed, at the time of the BSS planning process, this incipient period of the bicycle boom showed an absence of standard design for bike-lanes (Saud, 2014).

# 5.2.3.3 Current characterization of cyclists in Greater Santiago – an institutional perspective

This sub-section summarises the results of two relevant studies characterising cyclists in Santiago at the time of BSS deployment. The first one is the 'Analysis and evaluation of the master plan for bike-lanes in Greater Santiago' developed by the Metropolitan Regional Government of Santiago and the Secretariat of Transport, Ministry of Transport and Telecommunications (SECTRA) in 2013. This corresponded to a national level decision to implement such infrastructure, contained in the Master Plan for Cycle Routes in Greater Santiago 2012-2020.

The second document is comprised of the 'Feasibility Study and Management Model for the implementation of Public Bicycles' developed by the Regional Government of the Metropolitan Region (Santiago Metropolitan Region Government, 2012), which offers relevant data associated with the characterization of potential BSS travellers, in the context of promoting cycling at the regional level. 'Analysis and Evaluation of the Master Plan for bike-lanes in Greater Santiago 2012-2020' (SECTRA, 2013b). This study conducted a survey of bicycle users in the 34 busiest *comunas* of the Metropolitan Region as a part of the Master Plan of bike-lanes of Greater Santiago 2012-2020. This survey was conducted in the different *comunas* of the city according to the distribution of bicycle trips attracted by each *comuna* on working days and by considering those places with the highest levels of cyclist flow. This survey reached a total of 640 respondents. For the present research, the following measurements are considered relevant for a characterization of cyclists: the characteristics of their trips, reasons for using the bicycle, the alternative means of transport available, cycling behaviour and the perceived safety of the mode.

# *i) 'Analysis and evaluation of the master plan for bike-lanes in Greater Santiago'* (SECTRA, 2013)

In terms of trips made by the cyclists surveyed, this study showed that the highest number of trips is made at intra-*comunal* level, as is the case of trips in Puente Alto *comuna*, with 5.3%, Providencia with 3.6% and Maipú with 3.1%, according to the distribution of total trips. Those *comunas*, except for Providencia, are a medium-low priority of regional

investment and located on the outskirts of the city, which is 20 km from the city centre (Figures 1 and 5). Regarding inter-comunal trips, the areas with the highest bicycle trip generation were the following comunas grouped by proximity: Conchalí-Independencia with 1.8% of total trips, Quinta Normal-Estación Central with 1.4% and Pudahuel-Lo Prado with 1.3%, which correspond to less advantaged peri-central comunas located at the north-east area of Santiago. Figure 5.7 shows the percentage of trips generated and attracted by comuna. In this regard, the main comunas that concentrate bicycle trips both origin and destination were San Bernardo, Santiago, Puente Alto, Pudahuel and La Florida, both in origin and destination corresponding to peri-urban *comunas* in Santiago, meaning those are closer to the rural boundary. It is noteworthy that these comunas are the ones that concentrate the largest amount of *comunal* population at the national level. Figure 5.8 plots respondents' trips, both intra-comunal and inter-comunal. Trips have been differentiated according to the length of red lines representing the movements of the longest trips (more than 10 km) and in green the shortest ones (less than 2 km). This figure shows the presence of long trips generated by origins and/or destinations from the peri-urban comunas of the city.



Trips generated and attracted per *comuna* morning rush hour, Santiago 2012

Figure 5.7: Proportion of trips generated and attracted per *comuna*. Source: Adapted from SECTRA (2013b)



Figure 5.8. Origin-destination of trips by bicycle in Greater Santiago, 2013. Source: SECTRA (2013b)

### Cyclist characterization

Out of a total of 640 respondents, 16% were women and 82% were male. Regarding the age range, 53% of surveyed cyclists are aged between 26 and 45 years old, as shown in Figure 5.9, and 6% of cyclists were aged 60 and over. Regarding their occupation, cyclists were mainly dependent workers, with 66% and 12% of them were students. In relation to the level of education, 61% declared having a high school education and 21% reported having higher education, as in Figures 5.11.



Figure 5.9 Age of bicycle users in 2013. Source: SECTRA (2013b)



Figure 5.10: Occupation of the bicycle users in 2013 Source: SECTRA (2013b)



Figure 5.11: Cyclists' levels of education, 2013. Source: SECTRA (2013b)

### Travel time by bike in Santiago

The average journey time for cycling was 29 minutes by 2013. 68% of the trips had a duration of less than 31 minutes. Figure 5.12 below presents the share of trips by duration. The red line presents the sums in relation to the described categories.



Travel time by bike in Santiago, 2012

Figure 5.12: Travel time by bicycle, workday peak morning (PM), 2013. Source: SECTRA (2013b)

### Reasons for cycling

86% of the respondents declare using the bicycle for utility purposes, that is for essential trips such as commuting. Regarding the reasons for cycling, 45% of users stated that the most important reason is that it is cheaper, while 28% stated that they use it to save time. Regarding the alternative means of transport available, 83% of those surveyed stated having no car to make a similar trip, 68% stated that if they could not make the trip by bicycle, they would use a bus, and 15% said they would walk. Regarding the previous means of transport used a year prior to making the similar trip, there was a significant modal shift from public transport bus to bicycle, corresponding to 32%.

### Perception of safety

The cyclists' perceptions of safety are directly related to the infrastructure on which they ride. When users ride on a bicycle lane, the perception of safety is greater than when they ride on another type of road, a perception mainly associated with accidents. It was also noted by cyclists that they felt more insecure in terms of crime (e.g. being assaulted) than accidents. The perception of safety, in the event of accidents, was 5.9 on a bike lane versus 4.4 on routes without it, considering a 1-7 (1 very unsafe, 7 very safe) Likert scale point, as shown in Figure 5.13. Numbers at the top of the bars show the average percentage.



Figure 5.13: Perception of safety travelling by bike in Santiago, 2013. Source: SECTRA (2013b)

Figure 5.14 shows the perception of safety on and off a bike-lane by gender, in the event of acts of vandalism; 18% of users give a score of 7 when cycling on bike-lanes, while 33% give a score of less than 4. In relation to the perception of safety according to gender, there are slight differences. However, women give a higher evaluation than men when cycling on bike lanes and a lower score when cycling outside cycle lanes, which shows that there is a gender gap that needs to be addressed in public policy.



Figure 5.14 Average score for sense of safety by gender, 2013. Source: SECTRA (2013b)

### Main results

According to the survey of the study 'Analysis and Assessment of the Master Plan for Cycle Routes in Greater Santiago 2012-2020' (SECTRA, 2013b), cyclists in Santiago in 2013 were mainly men (82%), aged between 26 and 45 years (53%), with high school (61%) and they were mainly dependent workers (66%), as in Figure 5.11. They used bicycles as a means of transport to get to work or school (86%), and a significant proportion of them (32%) replaced public transport with bicycles as a means of transport. The trips made by bicycle in the morning peak period are mainly for commuting purposes. The main reasons for cycling are mainly economic (it is cheaper) as well as time-saving reasons. The highest concentration of trips was made by peri-urban and dense *comunas* in Santiago. With regard to the perception of safety when cycling, users feel more fear of crime rather than of accidents, with gender differences. This perception of insecurity is greater when cycling in places other than bike-lanes and is slightly greater in women than in men.

 I) 'Feasibility Study and Management Model for the implementation of Public Bicycles for Greater Santiago' (Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government, 2012)

This study was carried out by the Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government in the planning process of the first *inter-comunal* BSS in Santiago. Further details are given in Chapter 6. The relevance of this study in the context of this chapter is to highlight the rationale for determining the profile of a potential user of the system. For this regional study, a survey was carried out collecting a total of 620 responses comprising disparate groups of people in different sectors of Greater Santiago, differentiated into two main groups: those who travelled by public transport (assuming the key actors in a model transfer towards a BSS cyclist), and current cyclists, comprising both current users of the *comunal* BSS existing at that time in Providencia (assuming a scenario of service continuity) and general cyclists in Santiago, considering all socio-economic strata between 18 and 60 years of age, residents of the Metropolitan Region.

It is important to note that, at the time of the development of this study, there was a local BSS in Providencia *comuna*. It comprised 150 bicycles and 15 stations and consisted of a manual system, controlled by the municipality but privately operated. With a contract expiring at the end of 2012, this local government aspired to be part of a system that transcended *comunal* boundaries.

Returning to the regional study, one of the most relevant aspects of this study was to determine the willingness to use a BSS in Santiago. 70% of respondents said they would be willing to use a BSS as a complement to their usual transport in the city, as shown in Figure 5.12. The reasons stated for using a BSS when it is deployed were time-saving, money-saving and physical activity, according to this study. For public transport users, 65% said they were aware of what a BSS meant, and 68% of the respondents indicated their intention to use it. 32% would not use it, mentioning the lack of bicycle lanes and safety reasons. Other reasons were using their own bicycle, the preference for another means of transport and distances of trips. Although some respondents stated that they would continue using their own bicycle, 73% would be willing to use a BSS, with time-saving as the main reason, fitness as the second most important reason, followed by saving money and environmental protection as the third main reason.



Figure 5.15: Willingness to use a BSS in Santiago. Adapted from Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government, 2012.

In relation to the answers given by the users of the local system in Providencia, 80% of them were composed of young people between 21 and 36 years of age, distributed evenly between genders. The main reason given to continue using the system was commuting, also mentioning it was very useful as a complementary means of transport for this purpose. 45% of them stated that they would use public transport for their current trip if they did not use the current BSS. The level of satisfaction with the existing BSS in Providencia was also measured in the regional study on a rating scale of one to five Likert scale point (1 very good, 5 very bad). The best score was 3.2, associated with the price of the service. In second place was the attention of the staff at the dock station, with a score of 3.1. In third place was the availability of bicycles with 2.8. The lowest scores were associated with the degree of information on bicycle use, followed by the behaviour of motorists, the behaviour of pedestrians towards cyclists, and the low number of bicycle lanes and poor connectivity as external factors. The direct implications of mobility justice transition research suggested in this chapter regarding travels patterns, public policies and cycling are linked in greater detail in Chapters 6, 7 and 8.

## Chapter 6. Analysis of early decisions to deploy the first intercomunal BSS in Santiago

This chapter seeks to provide an understanding of the institutional rationale behind the BSS regional business model as a planning tool to deploy the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago in order to analyses its role in triggering a mobility justice transition.

In particular, this chapter provides an understanding of the underlying values and principles embedded in the regional business model for potential decision-making scenarios to deploy the BSS in Santiago. Two sub-national administrative levels - the local and the regional level in Santiago– comprise the focus on this sub-national research, considering Santiago as a context of high socio-economic segregation.

Two parts comprise the present chapter. The first part of the analysis comprises an examination of documents related to the initial process of the BSS deployment. It analyses key assumptions made in the 'Feasibility Study and Management Model for the implementation of Public Bicycles for Greater Santiago' (Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government, 2012). This analysis is preceded by a governance and policy background. It is important to note that this source as a planning tool was developed as a business model in practice, according to the public records reviewed. Furthermore, this regional study is part of my personal work experience as an investment analyst in Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government between 2011 and 2015. As mentioned in Chapter 1, I was responsible for coordinating different policies and public investment to encourage non-motorised means of transport. In this regard, I was in charge of elaborating the requirements for funding this study, developing the terms of reference for the hiring of a consultancy and, subsequently, evaluating its content. This chapter also constitutes an empirical reflection of the work I carried out there, which allowed me to gain perspective on the assumptions under which investments are made in Chile. In doing so, the focus of this analysis is on the assumptions made about how private and public values were formulated and the role of these in a potential transaction for this technological deployment. It would consider Santiago as a context of 'enabling state' action that creates an 'enabling environment' as a hybrid way of allocating and leveraging resources (Carroll, 2012), more related to forms of governance management and negotiation. Therefore, the business model analysis becomes relevant as a planning tool in such contexts.

The information is grouped on the basis of the three key components of the business model innovation framework: i) value proposition, ii) value creation, and iii) value capture (see Chapter 4). Thus, this analysis examines the regional business model rationale for creating, providing, and capturing economic and public values, guided by two questions: What values are implicitly and explicitly proposed through the BSS implementation in Greater Santiago and for whom? What was the purpose and role of the business model developed by the regional government to implement a BSS?

The second part of the analysis introduces the public tendering of the BSS, particularly disaggregated by the *comuna*, date of tender, projections basis, and general aspects comprised in the resulting technical offer to provide a detailed overview of the BSS deployment process.

The analysis concludes by determining the role of the regional business model in both reproducing and challenging socio-spatial inequalities in order to understand how this initial stage of decision making influenced the configuration of a transition towards more socially inclusive and fairer transport landscapes. This is possible by integrating the different analytical chapters (Chapter 6,7 and 8) at the end of Chapter 8, in the light of the various sources of information used here. This is an expanded work presented in Saud and Thomopoulos (2021).

### 6.1 Pre-deployment background

By 2011, the national government in Chile had the intention of promoting utility cycling or bicycle use as a formal means of transport to reduce the increasing rate of motorisation (see Chapter 5). Thus, the regional and local public levels became more aligned to achieve this national goal, especially by supporting bike-lane and cycling facilities investments across the region. In addition, Providencia *comuna* had already deployed a local BSS, in operation from 2008. However, its contract was due to expire, and the local desire was to constitute a system that went beyond the *comunal* scale. Thus, the deployment of the BSS in Santiago began in 2011 with the regional executive in turn

prioritising public resources to guide the decision-making process. The investment decision was materialised through a feasibility study, which comprised a business model, as the argument in the public document shows:

From the point of view of promotion, one of the most appropriate examples for the government's goal of increasing the participation of the bicycle within the modal split of transport in Santiago... is through the provision of a System of Bicycle Concessions in Greater Santiago, strategically giving an impulse to the use of the bicycle as an alternative means of transport, and thus increasing its participation within the modal distribution of transport. To do this, it is required to carry out a market study in the first instance, which will indicate the specific characteristics that will have an impact on the implementation of the initiative, the detection of the most suitable alternatives and, in general terms, the relevance of the proposal for its implementation (National Investment System, 2011).

In addition, the explicit characteristics of the business model are recognised in the tendering process regarding the expected outcome, as an argument to a regional investment decision:

A market research aims to ratify the real possibility of implementing the initiative through knowledge of the information that will impact on the structure of the initiative. Also, to determine the magnitude of demand and the characteristics of the potential users, as well as the orchestration nodes (both of those detected within the preparation of the proposal and key actors within the operation of the initiative), among others (Ibid).

The methodological proposal in the public bid listed several components to developing a regional study: current and potential users, sponsors, as well as a market. It also included the characteristics of the key actors in the implementation and operational levels. After a tendering process led by the regional government of Santiago, a firm was hired to develop the regional study as a blueprint to understand the BSS industry worldwide and its formulas, as can be seen in the following quote:

...'[Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government] has taken the initiative to promote a project to implement a public BSS, precisely in order to fulfil its institutional mission... For this purpose, a consultancy was invited to resolve the natural questions of any initiative. In fact, before implementing any undertaking, three basic questions must be answered: where are we, where do we want to go, and how are we going to get there? That is why initially it was necessary to establish a diagnosis of the BSS in the world in order to solve the basic concerns that arise when trying to implement a similar system in Chile' (Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government, 2012:15).

As the BSS in Santiago originally pursued the regional institutional mission of "ensuring harmonious and equitable development" by implementing the BSS at the Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government (2012:15), the analysis of the institutional rationale

becomes crucial to understand how this institution defines and address public and private values, to whom and by whom, especially considering the context of Santiago which presents a high socio-economic segregation (PNUD, 2017).

### 6.2 A bike-sharing regional business model

As further discussed in Chapter 4, a business model describes the rationale of how institutions and different "organisations create, deliver and capture values" (Osterwalder and Pigneur, 2010:14) through an intervention such as the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago. Since Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government financed the 'Feasibility and Management Study of a Public Bicycle Concession for Greater Santiago' (the regional business model), which comprised a private and social assessment, the present analysis focuses on how Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government defined how institutions and organisation might create, deliver and capture values through the BSS deployment comprising the analysis of 34 urban *comunas* – Greater Santiago. Thus, this analysis examines the regional business model rationale for creating, providing, and capturing economic and public values as a key component of the present analysis. Table 6.1 summarises the main topics developed and grouped by these categories.

Table 6.1: Overview of the business model analysis. Source: Own elaboration based on Bocken *et al.* (2013).

Analysis of the regional business model						
A) Value Proposition An alternative and sustainable means of transport for gree Santiago to reduce congestion and pollution						
B) Value Creation	Sponsorship-based and a private – public institution managing the implementation					
C) Value Capture	Two different membership schemes, free public space concession and a subsidy					

### 6.2.1 A value proposition design for the first *inter-comunal* BSS in Santiago

Value proposition, which is further developed in Chapter 4, is considered in this analysis as a 'bundle' of benefits that a service provides to citizens to solve a need. In doing so, it comprises the relationship between key actors exchanging values to solve a need for a selected population (Ludeke-Freund, 2013; Osterwalder and Pigneur, 2010). Likewise, when promoting the bicycle as a means of transport through a Bicycle Sharing System (BSS), many urban, economic, and societal values have been highlighted in the literature about BSS worldwide. Indeed, the broad literature recognises that such systems offer significant contributions to cities and people. Promoting physical activity, reducing pollution, discouraging car use, reducing congestion, family recreation, reducing obesity, encouraging local tourism and promoting community development are the main contributions discussed (Pucher, Dill and Handy, 2010; Zhang et al., 2015; Pucher et al., 2016 among others). Thus, the present analysis of the value proposition places the focus on the spatial coverage proposed in the regional business model, comprising several principles regarding the built environment and socio-demographic factors.

### 6.2.1.1 Spatial coverage proposition

Spatial coverage is a complex variable when examining the deployment of a docking station BSS in the metropolitan area of Santiago pursuing an objective such as offering an alternative and sustainable inter-*comunal* means of transport. How, by whom, and to whom are those values addressed? An analysis of the spatial criteria to define these attributes sheds light on helping elucidate the Regional Government rationale when selecting the areas in which to allocate the BSS docking station. According to the literature on bike-sharing (Chapter 3), decisions on spatial coverage are based on a set of assumptions regarding the quality of the built environment and mixed land-use, thus applying a recipe disseminated by the bike-sharing industry worldwide:

- i) multi-modality -or those areas with other means of public transport
- ii) centrality -or those areas that attract trips.
- iii) inter-comunality -or a network to connect comunas across the region.

All of these principles refer to the current travel patterns, and mixed land uses as an inherent dominant industrial condition. Consequently, a total of seven 'standards' were developed to assess the 34 *comunas* comprised in Greater Santiago. These standards or variables were: i) size of population (resident and floating5), ii) stock of shops and services, iii) Metro stations per km2, iv) trips per *comuna* / day (all means of transport),

<sup>5</sup> The regional business model defined the 'floating population' as those who travel to the selected areas for study or work purposes; however, they do not necessarily live there.

v) topography, vi) km distance of bike-lanes, and vii) number of incidents of vandalism and crime reported. These variables, pointed out as fundamental for the success of these systems, were introduced in the business model by means of the Delphi method or a prospective technique based on an expert panel assessment. The methodology in the regional study weighted each factor in relation to the attractiveness of trips in each *comuna*, as in Table 6.2. After discussing the degree of equivalence and relevance of these factors for the BSS implementation in Santiago, topography and crime were eliminated. The rest were grouped by three key concepts, centrality, inter-modality and inter-*comunality*. Indeed, Santiago is a flat city, with a 3% slope in its urban area. Thus the topographical factor would not influence the willingness to use this service. The crime factor penalised attractive *comunas*, since these reported crimes included those related to a lower amount, arguing that the perception of security had a local scale. Thus, the concept of centrality comprised population (floating) and stock of services, while intermodality measured the existence of Metro stations and bike-lanes in each. Inter*comunality* (proximity) considered trips attracted per *comuna*, as in Table 6.3.

Indicators	Weight
Size of population	20%
Metro stations per km2	20%
Topography	20%
Bike-lanes	15%
Trips per <i>comuna /</i> day	10%
Stock of shops and services	10%
Vandalism and crime	5%
Total	100%

Table 6.2 Initial variables to locate the network of BSS docking stations. Source: Retrieved from Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government (2012)

Table 6.3 Regrouping and weighting of variables to locate the network of BSS docking stations. Source: Retrieved from Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government (2012).

Category	Weight
Centrality	55%
Inter-modality	35%
Inter-comunality (proximity)	10%
Total	100%

These indicators were applied as a ranking, rating each *comuna* by a 1 to 7 scale to assess and prioritise a network of dock stations, creating a list of prioritised *comunas* that 'achieved' the best score. Therefore, the first nine more highly ranked *comunas* constituted the initial 'plan' for estimating the size of the system, as shown in Table 6.4. Hence, the number of stations per *comuna* was decided when meeting two key criteria: density of transport services, in particular Metro stations, and kilometres of bike lanes. Likewise, a similar filter was applied at the *comuna* scale to define the location of the docking stations, in addition to those areas when current traffic flows converge.

The nine best-ranked busiest *comunas* across Greater Santiago comprised an initial plan to deploy the system, estimating a total of 105 stations and 2,100 bicycles, as in Table 6.5 and Figure 6.1. This estimation projected demand of 2,815,551 floating population in the busiest areas of the city, where the vast majority are wealthy central and peri-central *comunas*.

COMUNA	RANKING	Score	COMUNA	RANKING	Score
Santiago	1	6,1	La Reina	18	1,2
Providencia	2	3,8	Peñalolén	19	1,2
Las Condes	3	2,9	P. Aguirre Cerda	20	1,1
Ñuñoa	4	2,8	San Ramón	21	1,1
Macul	5	2,4	La Granja	22	1,0
Lo Prado	6	2,0	Vitacura	23	1,0
Recoleta	7	2,0	Huechuraba	24	0,9
La Florida	8	1,8	Cerrillos	25	0,8
San Miguel	9	1,7	San Bernardo	26	0,8
Maipú	10	1,6	Pudahuel	27	0,8
Puente Alto	11	1,5	Cerro Navia	28	0,7
Estación Central	12	1,5	Lo Barnechea	29	0,7
San Joaquín	13	1,4	Quilicura	30	0,6
Quinta Normal	14	1,3	El Bosque	31	0,6
Independencia	15	1,3	Lo Espejo	32	0,5
Conchalí	16	1,3	Renca	33	0,5
La Cisterna	17	1,3	La Pintana	34	0,5

Table 6.4: Ranking derived from the regional business model for implementing the BSS. Source: Retrieved from Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government (2012)

Table 6.5: *Comunas* listed in the ranking developed by the regional business model for implementing docking stations. Social Priority Index, position 52 to 1, from no priority of public investment (wealthiest areas) to high priority of public investment. Source: Retrieved from Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government (2012) and Ministry of social development (2017).

COMUNA	SPI Position	Floating population covered	No. of docking stations
Santiago	43	995,338	26
Providencia	50	582,363	13
Las Condes	51	647,418	19
Ñuñoa	47	132,414	12
Macul	45	52,896	6
Lo Prado	13	129,185	10
Recoleta	19	10,969	4
La Florida	40	135,318	5
Maipú	41	129,650	10
Total		2,815,551	105



Figure 6.1 Inter*-comunal* BSS in Santiago. Dots in yellow show proposed docking stations according to the regional business model. Source: Retrieved from Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government (2012).

#### 6.2.1.2 Beneficiary population

Location of the sample

Santiago

7.

8.

The business model proposed three types of potential users, as further explained in Chapter 5. First, Providencia's current local BSS users were considered as part of the beneficiary population. Second, cyclists using their own bikes were considered to explore user's willingness to replace and/or complement a trip by using a BSS. Third, current public transport users were assumed as incorporating or shifting the BSS in their trips. This proposal of potential users shows that the assumptions of the data collection followed a conventional transport planning rationale since this tool of planning considered the current bicycle and public transport users as promoters of the expected change in terms of reducing vehicle occupancy rates in Santiago. However, there is no concrete measure in this study to incentivise car replacement. Likewise, this proposal was also in line with a profile of a place of residence near the busiest areas, and/or working there, travelling by public transport or by active travel, and/or who commutes by private bike towards the busiest area of Santiago, replicating conventional transport frameworks to assess a public investment. In accordance with the SPI, those *comunas* where the system was located have a greater capacity to leverage public resources to effectively improve their public space, as in Figure 6.2.

### Public Transport users 1. Metro Universidad de Chile, 2. Gabriela Mistral cultural centre 3. Metro Tobalaba 4 Metro Bilbao 5. Metro Irrarazaval Quinte Norma 6. Metro Bellavista de La Florida Current cyclists Alameda bike-lane, Santiago Pocuro bike-lane, Providencia 9. Americo Vespucio, Las Condes 10. Vitacura bike-lane, Vitacura Cerrille 11. Duble Almeyda bike-lane 12. Vicuña Mackenna bike-lane (La Florida) 13. Pajaritos bike-lane, Maipu

Figure 6.2: The Inter-comunal BSS in Santiago. Dots in red/blue show users sample location in Metro stations and busiest bike-lanes by comunas, as in the regional business model. Source: Retrieved from Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government (2012).

Las Conde

La Florid

Thus, the value proposition comprised a docking station-based BSS in support of the existing public transport network, aiming to reduce the high levels of car occupancy in Santiago. With the first phase of implementation in the nine best-ranked and busiest *comunas* across Greater Santiago, following the conventional criteria to locate such a network, a total of 105 stations and 2,100 bicycles was estimated. Therefore, this tool of planning is an expression of a mechanism that benefits those groups who live in areas with more facilities.

### 6.2.2 Value creation and value capture to deploy a BSS in Santiago

Value creation and capture in the BSS in focus comprised an overlapping, imbricated network of key partners and public-private strategic negotiations to offer a private operator the best conditions to secure an attractive financial return. In doing so, the business strategy rationale for implementing the inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago assumed the following three key principles: a private operator taking over the operation via advertising, a profit formula under conventional access (subscription fee scheme) in conjunction with a public subsidy. Hence, a sponsorship-based business model via an advertising-funded plan was the 'ideal' scenario of key partners assessed to deploy the BSS. As the cash flows show (see Table 6.6 and Appendix C) by aligning and providing the best ideal conditions assessed, the minimum expected (private) returns over a period of 10 years would be achieved. In doing so, while the designed model positioned the private sector fully in charge of the BSS deployment, the state assumed an 'enabler' role, supporting the argument that the public sector lacks the capacity and knowledge to operate such a system.

It is common when observing how regional governments or other government agencies have financed a BSS implementation (elsewhere) in other countries. The operator is fully focused on financing the operation... it seems to be the solution for the BSS success. However, the main failure is not regarding the cost but the degree of use of the system. Therefore, one way to improve the BSS profitability is by increasing daily use.... what is relevant is to create the conditions that allow the system to be viable before its implementation, otherwise, the project becomes a failure, even if the objective is profitable from the viewpoint of a social assessment (Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government, 2012:3).

Likewise, the business model sought a financial and regulatory strategy that allowed – under the rationale, this was to be as free as possible - a fully private self-financing scenario, following the decision made to capture resources:

Having contextualised the macro-organisation of the system and having defined a business model based on a DBOMF scheme, that is, designing, building, operating, maintaining and financing with its own resources and eventual contributions from the state, then the specific business model that will manage the commercial relationship of the operator with each of the nodes (or participants in the execution of the project) will be designed. This will position those actors of the first order, in order to seek a mechanism that allows for self-financing, or in its absence, that minimises the impact of the subsidy that the state will need to promote so that the operator is encouraged to invest (Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government, 2012:239).

### 6.2.2.1 A free public space concession

A key urban governance challenge in creating the 'ideal' urban conditions when implementing the BSS scheme is the *comunal* public space negotiation for an eventual operation via advertising.

As explained in Chapter 5, *comunas* in Chile act as 'autonomous' administrative units. Thus, 'public goods', also known as National Public Goods<sub>6</sub> (NPG) or those goods that belong to all the inhabitants of the nation such as roads - becomes a crucial business strategy for negotiating the deployment of a unified inter-*comunal* system. In practice, each municipality is in charge of regulating the conditions for the exploitation of national public good, including setting the municipal fee, for example, allowing and providing conditions to exploit advertising in the public space, among other *comunal* duties (Chapter 4)7.

Thus, the regional business model outlined a public-private strategic negotiation to offer a private operator the best conditions to obtain an attractive profit, under the premise that the exploitation of a national public good was given for free (or a free public space concession). This argument was that this would be the only possibility of financing the system, balancing revenues and costs under a marketing rationale. In addition, strong coordination between municipalities was required as a crucial governance matter to address a free public space concession in Santiago, and an institution in charge of such coordination was recommended to be created.

<sup>6</sup> Art 589 Civil Code, Chile.

<sup>7</sup> In accordance with the current Chilean constitution, this local level responsibility may be subordinated to national level decisions.

(Street Advertising) is a crucial financial aspect of the project, because, without advertising, the system is not self-financing... Assuming that the municipalities will make it easier for the operator to obtain income from the exploitation of advertising rights on their national goods for public use, an innovative model could be considered, such as freeing the operator from the charge derived from advertising rights (Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government, 2012:246).

### 6.2.2.2 Revenue stream and cost structure

To further explain the business strategy proposed, the regional business model assessed three forms of revenue stream and cost structure. As is commonly the case with transport schemes, the first revenue stream assessed was a conventional membership cost, meeting the industry's recipe in accordance with similar access and fee structures worldwide. A survey conducted by the regional business model analysed the willingness of the population studied to pay, confirming similar results between the type of user examined in other case studies – Ciudad de Mexico, Paris, and Berlin – and their willingness to pay, which was reflected in the final membership cost defined for the service. For better private profitability, an estimation of the best return considered an extra revenue stream, based on an additional and differentiated service provision in some docking stations argued as a level of automation of the docking stations. This proposal of a mixed-system formula was designed for those stations located closer to public transport services in less attractive areas for a sponsorship-based scheme. It consisted of manual or staff-assisted docking stations in conjunction with valet parking of the private bicycle service, assuming a modal-shift from current cyclists arriving on their own bikes to use the BSS. Thus, this profit formula of a mixed system involved a type of revenue derived from an extra membership to use the system in these areas. Thus, one access was assessed through a manual station with staff assisting the bicycle collection and return, and one automatic through a card access service. Under this rationale, the initial plan estimated a total of 105 dock stations, with 40 automatic stations, and 65 manual stations

This shift, from an automatized to a manual scheme, however, is argued on the basis of a certain 'idiosyncrasy in Chile' (see the quotation below), linking the place of residence, purchasing power, and educational levels, with a 'level' of (previous) exposure to the technologies. Thus, some differences were recognised, applied as an extra fee to different users. Likewise, it was also argued that there would be a learning process in those areas to encourage and increase a 'potential demand'; however, the core argument for this shift is to safeguard the investment in the equipment. In this regard, it constitutes a proposal clearly oriented towards increasing private profitability via discriminating less advantaged groups under this institutional rationale. This argues a 'learning process' to introduce a 'top down' policy that benefits the private sector at the expense of potential users who live in areas farther away from the location favoured by a potential sponsor and who would be assumed to require a different membership given the socio-spatial conditions associated with the profile of these users, as the quotation below shows. Therefore, this is clear evidence of the social – spatial and governance inequality posed by Ostrom (1983).

Regarding the level of automation of the dock stations, implementing a mixed system is recommended, due to the 'Chilean idiosyncrasy', that is, considering manual and automated stations. Indeed, automatic stations could be placed in areas with greater purchasing power and higher educational levels... on the one hand, (in those areas) they are more familiar with the technology, and they also have electronic payment. On the other hand, in areas with fewer resources and lower levels of education, manual stations assisted by human staff are recommended... to interact with and to instruct the users, and fundamentally to safeguard the equipment. This format also allows for the coexistence of a loan and private bicycle parking option, which can become mixed stations... Based on this suggested mixed operation – manual and automatic - considering 105 mixed stations, 40 automatic and 65 manual stations, and when considering 20 docks per station, a total of 2,100 bicycles were estimated (Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government, 2012:10).

### 6.2.2.3 A regional subsidy for the initial investment of the BSS

As the regional business model recommended a sponsorship-based model supported by a regional subsidy, a social assessment was also conducted to provide the required information and arguments to effectively subsidise the operator with the initial investment argued to start the BSS deployment. The assessment consisted of conventional social benefits as measured internationally. Four social benefits were quantified in Santiago: i) time-saving, ii) public health improvements, iii) benefits from reduction of environmental pollution, and iv) reduction of accident costs associated with increased bicycle usage. Hence, by quantifying all these benefits as an average in Santiago, the social return, or the pertinence of public investment, was estimated at 132,5%8, thus justifying the allocation of public resources.

This social assessment for subsidising the initial investment, namely the system equipment, is argued in support which the investor obtains at least in the value of the investment made above the profitability required for implementing the system. The

<sup>8</sup> Considering a discount rate of 5% and that operational costs are a transfer of resources as well as the associated taxes.

assessment also indicated that there is a social cost for the state in implementing and managing the operation due to the administrative costs inevitably involved, which affect the positive social returns assessed. This rationale reinforced the state's selfpositioning as an 'enabler' by not considering a demand-side subsidy, especially in the most remote and disadvantaged areas.

### 6.2.2.4 The formulas assessed: public and private sector involvement

Based on the assumption that the public sector lacks the capacity and knowledge to operate a BSS, the regional study discussed three types of public and private sector involvement to implement the system and guide the public tendering (Chapter 7). These potential types of contracts were assessed according to the assumptions discussed above: location, size, and operational characteristics proposed as well as revenue/cost structure.

For the first type of contract assessed, called 'DBOMF', it meant that the operator is in charge of 'Design, Build, Operate, Maintenance and Finance' of the system, and the conditions offered the maximum freedom to operate and to finance the operation. In the second type of contract, called the 'DBOM' where the operator is in charge of 'Design, Build, Operate, and Maintenance', the aim was to guarantee the operator revenues and the best conditions to operate. Regarding the third type of contract assessed, called 'DB', the private sector was only involved in the design and build process, and the public sector would have complete control of the project 9. Hence, only the 'DBMOF' and 'DBOM' contracts were examined in the regional study. Net Present Value (NPV) and Internal Rate of Return (IRR) were used as conventional metrics for evaluating the cost structure and the profitability of potential (private) investments, as shown in Table 6.6. The crucial assumptions in both alternatives are the different levels of private and public sector involvement. In this regard, assessing the operator in Designing, Building, Operating, Maintaining and Financing the BSS, as well as the required conditions given by the public sector. For both types of contracts, the assessment combined the four types of revenue streams and cost structure (described above) and argued to visualise the best conditions for a business opportunity. The first scenario included the public subsidy supporting the initial

<sup>9</sup> The 'DB' contract was excluded from the technical/economic assessment, arguing that this model was unfeasible due to the operating model, which assumes a public institution overseeing the operation of the system, argued that the state lacks the knowledge to do so.

investment described above. The second one involved assessing a scenario of payment/exemption for the operator to pay for public space exploitation. The third scenario assessed a mixed operational system (manual and both automatic, including the extra membership for parking in some areas) and a fourth scenario, a mixed scenario combining all those mentioned conditions, as shown in Table 6.6.

For the 'DBOMF Contract', the assessment focused on a fully private system, assuming that the cost of the system operation, as well as the initial investment costs, would be assumed by the private sector. In illustrating the best profitability for an attractive business opportunity, the assessment contrasted the payment /exemption of the fee for the exploitation of a national good for public use (NGP) and a public subsidy to the initial investment when assessing the alternatives. This assessment also included the additional service of the previously mentioned extra membership structure based on a valet parking service for private bikes in less advantaged areas as well as the mixed-manual (staff-assisted docking stations) and automatic - system model. By including all those conditions, the Internal Rate of Return (IRR) rose to 30%, while by not considering any of them, it dropped to -9,7%, as shown in Table 6.6. The model called the 'DBOM Contract' focused on the operator in the role of designing, building, operating and maintaining the operational business, based on the assumption that the public sector ensures the revenues and profits as well as setting the prices. The assessed model and details regarding cost structure, revenue streams and profitability are shown in the cash flow in Appendix C.

The assessment concluded that a model involving a public subsidy and no NGP tax was the ideal scenario for implementing the BSS. It meant that the operator would obtain the ideal financial compensation conditions, covering their operational cost, recovering the investment, as well as receiving the minimum return required on the investment. Thus, the 'DBOMF' Mixed System, considering subsidising the initial investment and no NGP tax was the best alternative assessed over a period of 10 years, as in the sum made in Table 6.6 and detailed in Appendix C. This recommendation was based on the profitability of a 'regulated model company' (Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government, 2012:11). This type of assumption implies an analysis based on a hypothetical/ideal scenario of prices, applying efficiency principles for the best cost/revenue structure (Butelmann and Drexler, 2003).

The rationale for the recommendations made was twofold: while an attractive business strategy for branding and advertising purposes is created, the focus is placed on the cost and revenue streams as an average but not on the travel needs of different groups of people in the *comunas* beneficiaries, therefore, people are not 'treated as equals' under this rationale. This is shown, for example, when the IRR is based on the extra service in less attractive areas in order to 'balance' an advertising model on the basis of a degree of exposure to technologies and some groups of people to 'ensure' the 'success' of the system. In this respect, the public assessment did not focus on subsidising remote areas but on offering attractive conditions for the operation, which means perpetuating urban inequalities through an institutional bias in the design.

Table 6.6: NPV / IRR assessment by models in US\$. NPV: Net Present Value. (IRR) Internal Rate of Return. NGP: national good for public use. Numbers in red colour represent negative values. Source: Adapted from Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government (2012).

MODEL	NPV (US\$)	IRR
DBOMF Mixed - Manual System + subsidy + no NGP tax	1.154.143	30%
DBOM no NGP tax	564.547	21%
DBOMF no NGP tax	(1.053.950)	9%
DBOM + NGP tax	(1.547.206)	1,3%
DBOMF + NGP tax	(3.165.703)	-4%
DBOMF Mixed - Manual System + NGP tax	(6.635.838)	-9,7%
	Capital Cost	15.41%

Likewise, estimating costs via a 'regulated model company' profitability introduces strong biases since it is difficult to determine prices, in particular regarding the revenue streams and cost structure as well as the operation without robust state involvement. Also, planning through a free public space concession contract to improve profitability is a proposition based on depriving a municipality of the right to be involved at the operational level and ultimately affects the provision of a valid transport option to users.

### 6.3 Mixed governance to deploy the first *inter-comunal* BSS in Santiago: Creating a regional private and public institution

In providing the ideal conditions for implementing an inter-comunal BSS described above, the regional study pointed out that an institution was required to coordinate different local governments. Two primary functions for this institution were mentioned: i) to directly manage a public subsidy for financing the initial investment (bicycle, dock stations and equipment), ii) to have a strong capacity to coordinate the free-concession contracts between different *comunas* and the private operator, including the regional subsidy (Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government, 2012:257). Thus, a proposal aimed at bringing together the contracts with the selected municipalities was launched to be approved by the regional council.

Despite this advice for an integrated authority to co-ordinate the various decisions required, similar to other urban authorities worldwide (Rode et al., 2017), no such integrated authority with co-ordinating powers was established. This was because the Santiago Metropolitan Regional proposal to create a public-private partnership in charge of the BSS was rejected by the regional council in December 2013 (Agreement Report 11/12/2013 - Ordinary session Number 23, Santiago Metropolitan Government Region). As a result, the BSS was set up independently in each *comuna* by carrying out separate public procurement tenders as a bottom-up negotiation between the local government and the service operator. No records of the regional subsidy created in 2015 exist at earlier stages of the BSS deployment. Indeed, I was in charge of creating the regional subsidy to finance the BSS operation (Budget Law 2015, Minister of Finances. Chile) in 2015. However, this was not applied, as demonstrated in the interviews conducted in Chapter 7.

# 6.4 The two-tendering types to deploy the first *inter-comunal* BSS deployment in Santiago

The second part of this chapter analyses the public tender and the BSS scheme that took place, namely BikeSantiago. This analysis considers a description at the *comuna* level, date of tender, projections basis, and general aspects regarding the technical offer, based on the public information available in Mercado Publico platform, including public records from the municipality of Lo Barnechea10.

In the absence of a single coordinating unit and the semi-autonomous character of the *comunal* administration in Chile, the BSS was tendered at the *comuna* level between 2013 and 2014 (Table 6.7) with a total of 14 *comunas*. The implemented system took shape as automatised dock-stations, and it was deployed through a sponsorship-based model, which comprised a transnational level -a foreign financial sponsor in alliance with a private local operator. Indeed, public information shows that a bid for the BSS BikeSantiago was offered in the tender process by only one operator, B-Cycle LATAM SpA, between June 2013 and June 2014. This period considered two types of tendering processes to deploy the BSS in the 14 *comunas* data summarised in Table 6.7.

The first tendering approach consisted of a BSS implementation by three wealthy *comunas* (Vitacura, Lo Barnechea, Ñuñoa). These *comunas* tendered and negotiated contracts with the BSS operator individually, introducing the BikeSantiago BSS within their territorial area first between June and December 2013, at the same time when the regional council was discussing a broad regional public-private partnership – without success (sub-section 6.3). The second approach was a process of implementation by 11 different *comunas* in 2014 with the same operator, entailing a collaborative tendering process supported by the two busiest ones (Santiago and Providencia), alongside some lower-income ones (for example, San Joaquin, Lo Prado). In contrast with the first tendering approach, the remaining 11 *comunas* signed a collaborative agreement to deploy the system. Thus, a collaborative initiative took place to include less advantaged areas with lower SPI, such as San Joaquin and Lo Prado. Regardless of the different approaches to tendering, each comuna had its respective BSS contract with the operator B-Cycle LATAM SpA, including specific

<sup>10</sup> *Mercado Publico* is a public electronic platform where public institutions in Chile carry out their acquisition processes and suppliers offer their products and services, managed by the ChileCompra Direction, Ministry of Finance, Chile. All tenders were downloaded from this public platform, with the exception of Lo Barnechea where the information was taken from the municipality's website.

characteristics of the BSS provision such as usage projections with direct implications for infrastructure (e.g. docking stations), number of bicycles, and locations.

To illustrate the difference between the two types of tendering process, the Social Priority Index (SPI) is displayed in Table 6.7. Vitacura is highlighted as the wealthiest BSS *comuna* in Santiago, ranked in position 52 (Ministry of Social Development, 2017), while Lo Prado *comuna* is in position 17 by the SPI. These data revealed that a total of 223 stations and 2980 bicycles were tendered for the 14 participant *comunas* in Santiago, among the main features, as shown in Table 6.7. Interestingly is the BSS case in Las Condes *comuna*, ranked in position 51, one of the wealthiest *comunas* in Santiago. This municipality launched their local BSS in 2014 with 1,000 bicycles and ten stations (Mercado Publico, 2020). However, this system is incompatible with the inter*-comunal* BSS BikeSantiago. In this regard, this is a common issue worldwide in the bike-sharing industry, and how to ensure further integration remains unclear in this new mobility landscape.

When comparing both tendering approaches to deploy the BikeSantiago scheme, similarities and differences can be perceived. Table 6.7 shows the different tenders made and their main characteristics. One of the major similarities perceived was that all tendering processes carried out opted for only one service provider. Vitacura deployment was used as a blueprint to define key operational elements such as service characteristics and requirements. Regarding the contents and key features, differences are detailed in Table 6.7 by comuna level as follows: i) tender number (4), ii) comunas participating, iii) Social Priority Index per comuna, iv) publishing date of tender per comuna, v) contribution to system exploitation, vi) by whom the projection basis was made, vii) technical offer (docking stations and bicycle projection). Another similarity was the key performance indicators (KPIs) in both tendering types. Building upon data of the Vitacura public tender, these indicators were later integrated into the next contracts to standardise the provision of the unified system, as the information in Mercado Publico (2020) shows. The following items were identified which were to be met by the service operator: Travel information availability, Customer service communication, e-payment system, BSS travellers' cost, i.e. price for travellers, System geographic coverage, Docking station availability, Docking station maintenance, Bikesantiago bicycle availability and Bikesantiago bicycle maintenance.

Table 6.7 BikeSantiago public tendering 2013 – 2014 and System Performance 2015, including BiciLasCondes. Source: Author's own elaboration based on: www.mercadopublico.cl, www.lascondes.cl, www.lobarnechea.cl, and BikeSantiago Database 2015. \*The monthly tax unit (MTU) is used as a tax measure for public space exploitation and constitutes municipal revenue. Internal Revenue Service, Chile. 1 MTU=US\$66 (July 2014). NIA: No information Available / OBO: Offered by the Operator / (\*) Location Map Included / SBRG: Technical offer and projection basis is suggested by the Regional Government, in accordance with the regional business model / GBM: Given by the municipality

Inter-comunal BSS deployment - Sponsorship-based model. Public Tendering 2013-2014								
Tender	ender Tender Date Tax for public space exploitation (MTU)*	Tax for public	Projection		SPI	Technical Offer		
N		position (2017)	Stations	Bicycles				
1	Jun-13	NIA	NIA	Lo Barnechea	50°	15	150	
2	Jul-13	0,5 MTU (Semester)	GBO*	Vitacura	52°	53	530	
3	Dec-13	0,12 MTU (Monthly)	GBO	Ñuñoa	47°	15	200	
	Jun-14	No Fee	SBRG	Santiago	41 <sup>o</sup>	40	600	
				Providencia	48°	40	600	
				Maipu	44º	10	150	
				Recoleta	18º	10	150	
				Independencia	14º	6	90	
4				Estacion Central	30°	6	90	
				San Miguel	46°	6	90	
				San Joaquin	31 <sup>o</sup>	6	90	
				Macul	42°	6	90	
				La Florida	45°	6	90	
				Lo Prado	17º	4	60	
Total Station & Bicycles Tendered - first Inter-comunal BSS.2232,980								

Comunal deployment / Public Advertising Contract LasCondes								
5	Jun-14	Advertising Contract	GBM	Las Condes	51°	10	1,000	

The most striking difference is the types of tenders made related to the isolated or collective character, as described above. Connectedly, some features were tendered and offered differently. For example, while the technical offer for Vitacura and Ñuñoa relates to stations, the number of bicycles and their location was an offer made by the operator. Indeed, the technical offer was mentioned for the collective tendering as 'previous operator experience'. Therefore, the basis of the projections was a suggestion made in the public tender documents to be offered by one company, in accordance with the projections made in the regional business model.

Also, connectedly with this marked difference, another key discrepancy between the two approaches was that the first tendering imposed a public goods exploitation tax, while the second one excluded such a tax, in accordance with what was previously assessed in the business model. This difference is also perceived in the tendering objectives. Thus, while for the first approach, the system is tendered as a service concession 'in addition' to the public space for advertising purposes, which involves a tax, for the second approach, the system is defined as a contribution from companies as social responsibility, which excluded such tax in this regard.

... the purpose of selecting a natural or legal person to whom the Municipality of Vitacura will award the concession for the provision, installation, maintenance, and operation of a bicycle service aimed at users of Vitacura *comuna*, and in addition to the advertising spaces associated with the BSS, all under the conditions detailed in these Administrative Rules and the Technical Rules. (Vitacura *comuna* tendering, Mercado Publico, 2019:2)

This service is conceived in the form of an exclusive concession that makes possible the provision, installation, maintenance and administration of an inter*comunal* BSS in a self-service model, financed by the users and contributions from companies, within the framework of their policies of social responsibility. For the same reason, it is not a service financed by advertising (Collaborative tendering, Mercado Publico, 2019:2)

The basis for these projections was mixed in nature when comparing the tendering process with the regional study. For the first three *comunas*, Lo Barnechea, Vitacura, and Ñuñoa, as they tendered first individually with the private operator, these local areas established their own projections based on their local needs, in agreement with the service operator. However, these projections did not necessarily consider regional needs. The unified projection of bicycles and docking stations of the remaining 11 *comunas* are coincidental with the regional business model, as I was in charge of promoting BikeSantiago as a collaborative process in my position at the Regional Government due to some municipalities indeed had more capabilities to empower such decisions than others.

## Chapter 7. The implementation process of the BSS BikeSantiago: an inter-governmental agreement

This chapter aims to provide linkages between institutional and operational levels to deploy the BSS in Santiago, highlighting the role of inter-governmental agreements in fostering or hindering the reproduction of inequalities. In particular, this chapter explains how, in practice, territorial disparities are created as a result of self-organised municipal practices, which, at the same time, are challenged by an inter-governmental agreement in an attempt to introduce inclusive practices in decision-making to deploy the BSS BikeSantiago in 14 *comunas*. Thus, this chapter analyses the relevance of the inter-governmental agreement and flexible contracts in defining a transition pathway in Santiago.

The inter-governmental agreement and self-organised practices comprised in the BSS deployment are analysed through the understanding of both socio-spatial inequalities leading to segregation and collaboration (Chapter 4). This chapter is divided into four qualitative categories of analysis derived from the paradox in the corporate sustainability framework (see Chapter 4): 1) a Private Social Investment (PSI) as the scheme case, 2) emerging patterns (collaboration and segregation), 3) aligned benefits, and 4) experienced tensions (Smith, 2014; Stadtler and Wassenhove, 2016; Stadtler, 2018). By analysing how decision-makers dealt with simultaneous institutional synergies and tensions, these categories helped to capture the enabling environment created to deploy the BSS, giving rise to significant insights into the character of the resulting transition pathway in Santiago. Two data sources are used: i) secondary data derived from the public tendering for the first Intercomunal Bicycle Sharing System in Santiago (Mercado Publico, 2020) (Table 7.1) and Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A, Annual report (2017) and ii) interviews with key actors related to the implementation process (Table 7.2). With these sources, different roles, positions and perspectives regarding decision-making practices are highlighted. Relevant quotes regarding the implementation process are displayed in Appendix B1. Table 7.1 summarises the present data structure and coding scheme regarding the public tendering approach.

As a quick reminder from the previous chapter, the first inter-*comuna* BSS deployment in Santiago BSS tendering and scheme implementation is first provided to contextualise this chapter (Table 7.1 and 7.3). The BikeSantiago implementation started in 2013 with Vitacura *comuna* and concluded at the beginning of 2016 through the BSS deployment in the Lo Prado *comuna*. This public tendering can be divided into two separate approaches. The first approach was implemented by three wealthy comunas (Vitacura, Lo Barnechea, Ñuñoa), which negotiated contracts with the BSS operator individually and introduced early the BikeSantiago BSS within their territorial area. The second approach was implemented by the remaining 11 *comunas* in 2014 with the same operator, entailing a collaborative process supported by the two busiest ones (Santiago and Providencia), alongside some lower-income ones (e.g. San Joaquin, Lo Prado). From this tendering process in Santiago Metropolitan Region, the BSS totalled 223 docking stations and 2,980 bicycles across 14 *comunas*. Projections were estimated locally for each individual approach for the three wealthy *comunas*, and regionally for the 11 remaining ones according to the regional study (Table 7.1). In addition, the first approach was used as a blueprint to define key operational elements such as service characteristics and requirements for the second one.

Table 7.2 shows the expert and key stakeholders interviewed. They were selected regarding their particular role and perspective about the processes of the BSS deployment. In particular, the expert interviews sought to provide an understanding of key aspects regarding the processes of the BSS deployment, from an 'insider' viewpoint: i) the design and implementation of the BSS provision, ii) the relationships and agreements made by the different actors to deploy the system, iii) the effects of the decision-making, and iv) the social and urban contribution and the final beneficiary population. The interview also started by clarifying the role of each actor in the BSS deployment. Participants described multiple aspects of the process of deployment (both positive and negatives), the relationships with other actors and institutions (including the service provider and the financial sponsor). It is important to highlight that by 2017 the service provider faced a process of a legal court case due to its operational processes. Despite the fact that this institutional issue was not anticipated by this research, the operational levels constituted a knowledge interest to further understand relationships between institutions and organisations at the sub-national level when deploying the BSS BikeSantiago as a niche-innovation.

Table 7.1 Decision-making to deploy the first *inter-comunal* BSS. Sources:

- 1. Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government (2012). *Feasibility Study and Management of Public Bicycle Concession for Greater Santiago*. Development and Planning Division. Santiago de Chile.www. <u>https://www.gobiernosantiago.cl/</u>
- 2. Agreement Report 11/12/2013 Ordinary session Number 23, Santiago Metropolitan Government Region
- 3. Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A, Annual report 2017:85
- 4. Public Tendering 1. BSS Lo Barnechea published in June 2013 '*Concession of the Service, installation of stations and rental of bicycles in Lo Barnechea comuna*' to the company B-Cycle LATAM, SpA. (Source: Municipal Decree N 4518, <u>www.lobarnechea.cl</u>), adjudicated in August 2013.
- 5. Public Tendering 2. BSS Vitacura: published in July 2013 'Concession for the provision, installation, maintenance, and administration of a public bicycle system for Vitacura comuna' to the company B-Cycle LATAM, SpA. Source: <u>www.mercadopublico.cl</u>, municipal decree N 2729, adjudicated in September 2013.
- Public Tendering 3. BSS Ñuñoa published in December 2013 'Concession for the provision, installation, maintenance, and administration of a public bicycle system for Ñuñoa comuna' to the company B-Cycle LATAM, SpA. Source <u>www.mercadopublico.cl</u>, municipal decree N 172, adjudicated in January 2014.
- 7. Public Tendering 4. Inter-comunal BSS Tendering Process: published in June 2014 'Concession for the provision, installation, maintenance, and administration of an inter-comuna public bicycle system for various comunas of Santiago city' to the company B-Cycle LATAM, SpA. Source: www.mercadopublico.cl, municipal decree N 3591, adjudicated in October 2014.

Decision-making timeline implementing the first inter-comunal BSS in Santiago								
Institutional Levels / Year	2012	2013			2014	2016	2017	
Regional Government	1. 'Feasibility and Management of a Public Bicycle Concession' (the regional business model)	2. Regional Development Corporation (creation) Discussion at the Coordination Commission, Regional Council of Santiago			7. Public Tendering 4: Collaborative Tendering	End of the implementation	Fieldwork (first vear of	
Local Government (public tendering)		4. Public Tendering 1: BikeSantiago Lo Barnechea		6. Public Tendering 3: BikeSantiago Ñuñoa	(to implement BikeSantiago in 11 <i>comunas</i> )	process (14 comunas)	full operation)	
Private Sector	3. PSI scheme (Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A – B-Cycle LATAM SpA)							

Figure 7.1 summarises the present data structure and coding scheme, adapted from the paradox in the corporate sustainability framework (see Chapter 4). As explained in Chapter 2, this data analysis considers an inductive and deductive process in accordance with the pragmatic epistemology adopted, which allows a pluralistic position to integrate different approaches to the study subject (See Chapter 2).

Accordingly, an interlinked data structure and coding scheme were developed. Supported by the interview guidelines, an inductive process was conducted first to explore the range of content that interviewees made of the decision-making process to deploy the BSS BikeSantiago, organising topics by differences and similarities.

After this inductive process, the paradox framework helped organise the different contents as a deductive approach (Hennink et al., 2011). The decision of this analytical framework was made based on the nature of the data obtained from the inductive process. This framework was also chosen in light of the institutional characteristics of the context, the challenges faced by the inter-governmental agreement made to include more and heterogenic *comunas*, and the nature of the sources to deploy the BSS in Santiago.

In this regard, while the contents analysed inductively showed conclusive aspects of the decision-making process to deploy the BSS BikeSantiago, the type of argument also expressed contradictory and synergistic processes at the same time. Phrases such as 'I see it was a successful project even though it has many problems' or 'it was a good agreement but a weak one' gave rise to issues in collaboration when challenging patterns of segregation. To adequately address this type of data, data coding schemes founded in the literature were defined in Chapter 4 to better understand the collaborative issues in decision-making under a particular institutional setting. Thus, by adapting the codes schemes from the literature, four categories comprised an aggregated level for the data structure, followed by the second orderdimensions to contextualise them, recognising recurrent patterns when interviewees referred to the study subject. To move towards the analysis and interpretation, I turned to first-order codes after several iterations to avoid overlapping, analysing key specific contents that appeared on the topics raised (Figure 7.1). In addition, I decided to transcribe and manage the information on my own to preserve data protection when analysing the data.

This chapter is divided into four qualitative categories comprised at the aggregation level to organise the analysis and interpretation: 1) a Private Social Investment (PSI)

as the scheme case, 2) the emerging patterns (collaborative and segregation), 3) aligned benefits, and 4) experienced tensions (adapted from Smith, 2014; Stadtler and Wassenhove, 2016; and Stadtler, 2018).

In addition, relevant quotes regarding the implementation process are displayed in this analysis, based on Appendix B1.



Figure 7.1. Data Structure. Coding Scheme. Source: Author's own elaboration based on Smith (2014:1602), Stadtler and Wassenhove (2016:669) and Stadtler (2018:335).
Level	N	Role	Identifier	Date of Interview	
National	1	Head of Legal Division - National Consumer Service	N1	10/10/2017	
	2	Regional Executive of Santiago	RG1	21/08/2017	
	3	Regional Coordinator (Implementation / Operation process)	RG2	27/06/2017	
evel	4	(Former) Regional Coordinator (Planning Process)	RG3	19/06/2017	
onal L	5	Regional Councillor 1 (Planning process) RG4		08/08/2017	
Regic	6	Regional Councillor 2 (Planning process)	RG5	01/12/2017	
	7	Leader and practitioner, Municipality of Santiago (Inner City, medium - income level)	LG1	16/08/2017	
	8	Leader and practitioner, Municipality of Santiago (Inner City, medium - income level)		29/06/2017	
	9	Leader and practitioner, Municipality of Providencia (East Area, high - income level)LG3		21/08/2017	
	10	Practitioner, Municipality of Recoleta (North area, medium / low - income level)	(North area, LG4 25/08/2017		
	11	Practitioner, Municipality of La Florida (South-east area, medium / low - income level)		20/11/2017	
Level	12	Practitioner, Municipality of Independencia (North area, medium / low - income level)	LG6	10/05/2018	
Local	13	Practitioner, Municipality of Maipu (West area, medium / low - income level)	LG7	07/05/2018	
	14	BSS Sponsor - Manager of Corporate Affairs and Sustainability (foreign financial sponsor)	PS1	08/09/2017	
	15	BSS Coordinator (Marketing Manager)	PS2	09/03/2017	
or	16	BSS Finance Manager	PS3	15/03/2017	
ect	17	BSS Operations Manager	PS4	25/04/2017	
/ate S	18	BSS Fleet Operator	PS5	14/09/2017 - 02/1272017	
Priv	19	BSS Fleet Coordinator (UTB)	PS6	24/11/2017	
	20	Academic Researcher in Transport 1	E1	16/11/2017	
	21	Academic Researcher in Transport 2	E2	18/12/2017	
	22	Academic Researcher Urban Planning	E3	18/12/2017	
6	23	Expert in Intellectual Property Lawyer	E4	28/12/2017	
oert:	24	Expert in Public Concessions in transport	E5	19/12/2017	
Exp	25	Expert in Business Models	07/07/2017		

Table 7.2: Interviews conducted in Santiago Metropolitan area. Source: own elaboration based on the fieldwork design

# 7.1 Deploying a BSS as a 'social cause'

Different solutions for business models in bike-sharing have been widely discussed in the literature (see Chapter 4 and 6). In many cases, these schemes are often implemented supporting the formal public transport system or are deployed for leisure purposes, all of which vary their revenue streams and cost structure formulae.

Interestingly, a less explored model is related to a hybrid organisational type pursuing sustainable and social goals in mobility embedded in a voluntary organisational arrangement (further explained in Chapter 4). Indeed, a Private Social Investment is the scheme examined that gave rise to the BSS in Santiago. Focusing on how this 'hybrid' business strategy is positioned in the public sphere providing goods/services of 'public interest' with philanthropic motivations, the decision-making process to create an enabling environment is analysed in this chapter.

As in Chapter 4, PSI is understood as a voluntary resource allocation aiming at transforming conventional philanthropy, to a more 'creative' donor action participation in projects of 'public interest' (Andion et al., 2012). Nogueira and Schommer (2009) defined Private Social Investment (PSI) as a 'movement' led by a Brazilian -business-association investing in social, cultural and environmental projects. As a member of the philanthropic group GIFE, Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. (from now on, the financial sponsor of the BSS), decided to support a Bicycle sharing Scheme as a 'cause' in urban mobility. Thus, the inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago took shape as a mobility 'cause' through a Private Social Investment scheme (PSI), to provide an "access to safe, affordable, and sustainable transport system", as the company declared in their annual report below. Hence, a 'philanthropic' institutional behaviour supported by a large investment company is motivated by specific urban mobility objectives, the BSS BikeSantiago is deployed here as a 'social cause' as in the quotation:

... We recognise the importance of valuing active transport for the sustainable development of cities, we define urban mobility as a pillar of investment within our platform of sustainability...seeking to influence public policies that promote the use of bicycles in people's day-to-day life. The cause dialogues with the Sustainable Development Goals, encouraging access to systems of safe, affordable and sustainable transport.... we started sponsors Bike Rio in partnership with the City Hall of Rio de Janeiro. The success of this program led to the expansion of the project to São Paulo and Porto Alegre in 2012, Pernambuco, Salvador and Santiago (Chile) in 2013, arriving in Brasília and Belo Horizonte in 2014... In 2017, we started the renovation of the project in Pernambuco, Porto Alegre, São Paulo and Rio de Janeiro. We imported cutting-edge technology still foreign to Brazil and reviewed the standards of operation and implementation (Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A, Annual report 2017:85).

One of the most striking differences is made between the concept of Corporate Social Responsibility (CRS) and Private Social Investment (PSI), according to the Manager of Corporate Affairs and Sustainability, a representative of the ITAU bank in charge of the system. They find very relevant the proximity to the people and the company's relationship with its environment are one of the key values for this investment decision, alongside the explicit reputation of carrying the brand on a bicycle.

We are not talking about Corporate Social Responsibility, but about sustainability... it means bringing value to the city, to society, and helping with mobility, reducing congestion with faster, friendlier mobility option... a company and its environment... its relationship with society must have an additional contribution to the business.

In our advertisements, we try to reflect closeness, children, soccer, family, not only Itaú sponsors ...BikeSantiago communicates emotions, closeness...people identify the bank with the bicycles... the orange ones are the bicycles of Itaú that are super installed; therefore, it gives you a strong and positive brand presence in the streets, everywhere, and ideally more and more...' (PS1, September 8, 2017).

PSI schemes differ from CRS as the former is an expression of a 'participative and responsible citizenship' when looking at the sponsor side (Brito and Melo, 2007). GIFE group, an association of Brazilian social investors constituted as a non-profit organization in 1995, becoming one of the major references in Latin-America in the field of private social investment (Andion et al., 2018), has distinguished the PSI practice from solely marketing purposes by adding attributes of the urban and social experiences, as in the quote:

Practices in Social Investment have a distinct nature and cannot be confused as a tool to commercialise tangible or intangible goods with the purpose of marketing profit for companies like, for example, marketing (GIFE, 2012:01)

This difference may appear a little confusing at first glance, but it derives from a PSI practice seeking 'autonomy' from the core business to enhance the business's public interest with social actions (Andion et al.,2012). However, this does not detract from the fact that there is an explicitness effort that can undeniably lead to marketing actions.

Looking at how a PSI is organisationally structured, private actors engaged as part of the BSS process were mentioned as follows: ITAU as a financial sponsor and creditor, B-Cycle LATAM SpA as a service provider, and B-Cycle LLc as a manufacturer in charge of providing software and the trademark. The PSI financing scheme involved a private contractual scheme between the sponsor and the service provider: a lease contract to finance the initial investment (i.e. infrastructure, vehicles, and equipment), and a branding contract to finance the system operation, as shown in the quotes in Table B-1 (Appendix B). The financial institution assumed a position as the lenderowners of the system, financing the initial investment and the operation. Both ITAU and B-Cycle LATAM SpA were related in creating the BikeSantiago trademark by 2012.

Through this flexible financial formula, a bicycle is considered as an urban 'asset' where 'active' mobility is associated with an urban experience led by the brand. In this regard, the BSS is described as: i) "a commitment of the financial institution with its environment", ii) "a link between the society", iii) a mechanism "to reflect closeness", and iv) an alternative in "reducing congestion... with faster, friendlier mobility" (PS1, September 8, 2017), as shown in the quotes in Table B-1 (see Appendix B). This alliance between ITAU and B-Cycle LATAM SpA enabled the service provider to proceed in implementing the system, selecting first the three wealthiest municipalities in Santiago in 2013.

# 7.2 Individual and collaborative institutional practices to deploy the BSS BikeSantiago

While a regional institution being put in charge of the system was being debated unsuccessfully in the regional council, simultaneously, the BSS began its implementation based on an individual tendering type, as shown in Chapter 6. This was a process carried out between the service operator and three wealthy municipalities separately during 2013. This isolated action meant a stratification marker or a *comunal* segmentation, with a socio-economic class that connotes the territory (Otero-Bahamon, 2019). In response to this isolated pattern, the second approach in tendering entailed a collaborative process supported by the two busiest *comunas* in Santiago Metropolitan Region (Santiago and Providencia).

A collaborative action in decision-making meant a synergistic cluster of *comunas* to effectively integrate disparate and heterogenic areas into the deployment process to achieve a unified system. Both approaches are analysed as institutional-organisational practices in urban mobility.

# 7.1.1 The individual tendering types

As discussed in Chapter 3, an increasing amount of the literature about bike-sharing systems has emphasised their social benefits, arguing they are non-inclusive systems which often involved gentrification processes (Sheller, 2015). Consistently, the different actors and experts involved in the BSS BikeSantiago's deployment pointed out a tendency, at the *comuna* level, to take isolated decisions among the better-resourced *comunas*, as in the first tendering approach. They referred to weak institutions in conjunction with the reproduction of inequalities.

There was a process of inorganic expansion in which each *comuna* was making its own system, in the absence of a robust metropolitan and/or regional structure (RG1, August 21, 2017).

[This is] 'a logic that does not promote *inter-comunalidad*... a logic of urban plots' (LG3, August 21, 2017).

Urban inequalities in Chile are explained as a relationship between the high-income group location and the presence of public infrastructure and services: "the available infrastructure tends to be used as a means of attracting high-income groups..." and "urban infrastructure tends to be captured by (them)" (E3, December 18, 2017). Where these socio-economic groups are concentrated, the infrastructure and mixed land uses are located. Hence, the first tendering approach followed these territorial market-led principles. Concepts such as 'classist', expressed the system's perception among interviewees:

The journey is not generally analysed as a concept, which is very important. That is why the city is fragmented, and the mobility of people is not linked... in the daily mobility the inequality that we live in, then the public services, which are poorly planned, affect some groups of people... Supposedly, the infrastructure was made to connect, bridge, not bring together but divide... This infrastructure of the bank I don't know what connects... It can increase the flow of bicycles; however, it does not relate to a larger (regional) context.. (E2, December 18, 2017).

Furthermore, the usefulness of the system was questioned among experts when comparing their size and position in relation to urban scale and needs, highlighting the disconnection with the real social needs of the majority. Concepts such as 'division' and an 'urban fragmentation' describe the idea of a reinforcement of socio-spatial inequalities brought about by the new system. Urban inequalities also relate to the dominant rationale of travel choice in transport planning, based on the people's decisions, but assumed from a 'social vacuum' where the focus on users and their trajectory experiences are disregarded. This lack of social awareness is linked to a lack of planning:

... Due to a lack of planning in the city... the system has been very elitist ... even in *comunas* like Independencia or Recoleta ... coverage in those places is practically non-existent. This elitism responds to the financing structure that it has, finally it is a private business... it does not respond to a logic... locating them where they are needed.... you can see that it is a private project using public goods, apparently it is subsidised. Still, it is not clear... they do not have an integrated fare, they are not integrated into the transport system... and I do not know if they are coordinated... in general, having to go and talk to one or another is an indicator of how weak our governance is. As a consequence, this problem is not an integrated system, that the coverage is biased by the level of income, without adequate cycling infrastructure (E1, November 16, 2017).

In a broader sense, 'mobility as a public good' expressed the sense of the 'public' in 'transport' manifested as an urban right or a guarantee for the inhabitants.

...one of the big problems is that there are no guaranteed urban rights' and 'mobility should be considered as a public good' (E3, December 18, 2017).

#### 7.2.2 The collaborative tendering processes

The individual and collaborative practices are interlinked approaches to the two types of tendering process to deploy the BSS BikeSantiago, as shown in Table 7.3. As a challenging response to the first 'unequal' approach in the three wealthiest *comunas* in Santiago, a collaborative local government action emerged by re-grouping the subnational level synergistically to unify 11 *comunas* with a single new mobility deployment, as described in Chapter 6. Encouraged by the regional government of Santiago, a novel and collaborative public tendering effectively brought together 11 *comunas* in Santiago in a tendering process, expecting to provide an *inter-comunal* system to 14 heterogeneous and the busiest *comunas*.

#### 7.2.2.1 A 'political' action promoting a sub-national alliance

The horizontal and flexible collaborative sub-national partnership between local governments was seen by interviewees as 'an alliance', 'encouragement for a solidarity agreement', 'a participative model'; yet, one which allowed 'an effective' cooperation between the *comunas* (Table B1-3, Appendix B). This collaborative action was also an expression of a political strategy at the regional level appealing to a sense of regional identity, advocating a sense of commonality to trigger the deployment. It is relevant to highlight the relationship between the sub-national and trans-national levels, as the collaborative action was already established and evaluated in the regional business model (Chapter 6). At this stage of the decision-making, different roles were assumed. For example, at the regional level, the regional executive, in turn, described his participation as an implementation 'convener'. At the local level, two types of actors were identified: those municipalities that led the BSS implementation and those who were invited to jointly deploy the BSS, as shown in this quotation.

A process of inorganic expansion [of the BSS BikeSantiago regarding the deployment on the three wealthiest *comunas*] was coming, in which each *comuna* deployed its own system, based on this endemic problem of Santiago city, that is, a territorial fragmentation of the local governments and the absence of robust metropolitan governance... I understood that one of my roles, beyond the concrete attributions or economic power -which we did not have- 'was to convoke' by using the figure of the regional executive, who is a figure that symbolically says much more than the capacities and faculties that it has, to convoke and promote a collaborative agreement. (RG1, August 21, 2017)

This dynamic of collaborative decision-making demonstrates a sub-national 'empowerment' to address the course of actions, and this sub-national cohesion serves as a point of convergence at the sub-national level, challenging the conventional conceptualisation of the regional and local level as governance 'silos' in decision-making. Thus, the emergence patterns -segregation and collaboration - to deploy the BSS engendered an external private-intervention influencing the public-sphere as an inner-pulse to deploy the system on a city scale.

.... [my role was] to promote, based on the largest municipalities (and with more capacity to attract good bidders), a solidarity tendering process that would involve other municipalities... to convene everyone and to promote this agreement... with which it was possible for 11 municipalities to effectively bid jointly on a complex administrative mechanism, and for this tendering process to be awarded by the same company that had three other municipalities. I think it was a good agreement, fragile, but still ... I think that the image and the idea of the city were reinforced by the idea of the public bicycle system and vice versa, that is, the public bicycle system was reinforced by the idea of cooperation among municipalities (RG1, August 21, 2017).

Thus, this novel sub-national association is perceived by the key actors interviewed as a shared experience to achieve a common goal of deploying the BikeSantiago scheme in the highly 'unequal' metropolitan region of Santiago. This is also an expectation of moving away from the persistence of socio-spatial segregation.

The Metropolitan Regional Government invited a number of municipalities to participate in a new project that would be implemented as an alternative transport system in most of the municipalities in the Metropolitan Region ... The system for us and the great majority of the *comunas* was seen as something very far from being implemented ... a relatively elitist system... (people) never thought that this system would be implemented in lower-middle-class and peripheral *comunas*... [now] people see themselves as part of the Metropolitan Region (LG5, November 20, 2017).

# 7.3 Aligned benefits within the inter- governmental agreement

Through this private-public partnership, the regional government sought a subnational effort as an alternative means of addressing social and regional needs in transport, contesting the administrative rationale that promotes isolated and segregated practices. This collaborative rationale gave rise to significant urban and social challenges regarding the *comunal* constraints related to the "empowerment" capacity of weak sub-national institutions in Chile.

Indeed, the BSS deployment via a collaborative action set a precedent as an alternative solution to provide a new transport system between several municipalities across Greater Santiago under the rationale of social inclusion (see Table B1-5 in Appendix B for details). This was an attempt to include different areas of the city as shown in Chapter 6 with the Social Priority Index. As a political action (Table B-3, Appendix B), the collaboration also introduced a 'regional' sense, aligning these benefits across the 14 *comunas*.

Although this action involved a political decision to unify local efforts, it is also a 'symbolic' agreement regarding the nature of the public tendering carried out. A public procurement assumes governments are carrying out efficiently tendering processes with high standards to address the public interest through delivering such a novel transport service. It is also true that due to the difficulties involved in regional planning in Chile (Chapter 5), this collective action, promoted by the intendant on duty, may have been the best option to achieve a regional image with a unified system.

However, the institutional challenges in the tendering process are related to the recognition and work at the operational level on the differences between the *comunal* needs, that is by subsidising the demand, thus enabling sustaining such a philanthropic action over time rather than just creating the 'enabling environment' for a BSS deployment via a PSI-based system generically for all *comunas*.

Table 7.3: BikeSantiago Public Tendering 2013 – 2014 and system performance 2015, including. Source: Own elaboration based on: www.mercadopublico.cl, www.lascondes.cl, www.lobarnechea.cl, and BikeSantiago Database 2015. \*The monthly tax unit (UTM) is used as a tax measure for public space exploitation and constitutes municipal revenue. Internal Revenue Service, Chile. 1 MTU=US\$66 (July 2014). NIA: No information Available / OBO: Offered by the Operator / (\*) Location Map Included / SBRG: Suggested by the Regional Government / GBM: Given by the municipality

Inter-comunal BSS deployment - Sponsorship-based model. Public tendering 2013-2014					System performance 2015						
Tender N	Tender Date	National good for public use tax (MTU)*	Projection basis	Comuna	SPI (2017)	Technical Offer		Stations	Docks in	Additional Bikes	Additional Bikes
						Stations	Bicycles			(am)	(pm)
1	Jun-13	NIA	NIA	Lo Barnechea	50°	15	150	13	141	0	0
2	Jul-13	0,5 MTU (Semester)	GBO*	Vitacura	52°	53	530	36	502	0	0
3	Dec-13	0,12 MTU (Monthly)	GBO	Ñuñoa	47°	15	200	15	261	0	260
	Jun-14	No Fee	GBRG	Santiago	41°	40	600	28	770	350	800
				Providencia	48°	40	600	33	774	645	65
				Maipu	44°	10	150	4	80	0	0
				Recoleta	18º	10	150	5	91	0	70
				Independencia	14º	6	90	3	65	0	75
4				Estacion Central	30°	6	90	2	40	0	35
				San Miguel	46°	6	90	0	0	0	0
				San Joaquin	31º	6	90	0	0	0	0
				Macul	42°	6	90	0	0	0	0
				La Florida	45°	6	90	0	0	0	0
				Lo Prado	17º	4	60	0	0	0	0
	Total Station & Bicycles Tendered - first Inter-comunal BSS 223 2,980					2,980	139	2,724	995	1,305	

# 7.4 Tensions experienced between the institutional arena and the operational level

Despite the collaborative approach to deploying the inter-*comunal* BSS BikeSantiago, complexities, misalignments, and disputes between the institutional and operational levels appeared emanating from the double-tendering process. There were tensions during the BSS deployment, an issue examined here according to a number of topics, derived from the corporate sustainability and paradox framework (Chapter 4 and Figure 7.1) i) relationships ii) dilemmas faced, and iii) paradoxical institutional and organisational tensions.

# 7.4.1 Relationships: institutional capabilities and reputation

Inter-institutional tensions arise from the two tendering types carried out. Expressions such as "a good but a weak agreement" (RG1, August 21, 2017) illustrate the nature of the decision-making in the context of weak institutions such as Chile (Chapter 5). Furthermore, within a PSI, the 'reputation' of an organisation gave rise to recognition and a sense of commitment from whoever was ultimately in charge of the system.

# 7.4.1.1 Institutional capability-related conflicts: a weak sub-national governance capacity and weak agreements

Even when the regional executive expressed a need for a robust regional governance structure, the legal body that guides regional government actions constrained the state involvement in practice. This was a related discussion when the public-private partnership in charge was rejected by the regional council (Chapter 6). The expected use of this partnership was left in doubt when it was being voted on and also from the descriptions made by the interviewees. The arguments against their creation were that this novel institution would basically be in charge of coordinating the municipalities in providing the free public space and administering the subsidy for the operation. However, they would not effectively be in control as the system was private, thus generating tensions associated with mistrust.

Furthermore, the collaborative agreement also involved municipalities "losing their ability to get involved" (RG1, August 21, 2017) from the operational levels due to the flexible agreement made in the second tendering. However, 'weak agreements'

seemed to be the best option for inclusion. Simultaneously, this semi-autonomous character of the sub-national levels witnessed interest from the transnational level to introduce a branding strategy via a flexible and de-regulated scene.

Thus, the rationale of the second tendering process introduced significant challenges regarding the nature and scope of the contracts. The free concession of the public space was agreed to facilitate the branding of the sponsor – ITAU bank, yet the contracts were not a concession of a service. Since it was no longer possible to grant a service concession, no municipal control could be set up due to the national good for public use tax exemption as a free public space concession type of contract (Table 7.3 and Chapter 6), where municipalities lost "their ability to get involved" (RG1, August 21, 2017) to regulate the operation.

Hence, a weak governance capacity relates to weak agreements when pursuing social goals under branding purposes, in line with an 'incomplete' contract or a type of ambiguous agreement that omits crucial matters (Hart, 2017).

#### 7.4.1.2 Reputation-related tensions

ITAU is a sponsor and also a creditor, they (the operator) have a loan with the bank with which they did this business and regarding which (the bank) has a reputation in respect of the brand ... people talk about those bicycles as the ITAU bicycles, so they have a great commitment to making this system work... (LG1, August 16, 2017).

As a result of the different public and private flexible arrangements made, the business partners ended up in dispute due to problems at the operational level and the sponsor reputation was mentioned as a crucial element in its resolution. These results are consistent with studies in paradox in corporate responsibility, as the reputation emerges from companies wanting exclusive positions and benefit attributions (Thomas and Fritz, 2006; Peloza and Falkenberg, 2009). However, the institutional and organisational challenge it is not a matter of reputation enhancement but of relational design between key partners. If only one actor is responsible for providing the BSS, it is difficult to guide the expected outcomes, in particular considering a completely unregulated scenario introduced by the free public space concession contract. To ensure institutional commitment, a dispute resolution system, as well as an integrated strategy between the actors, would lead to the pursued social goals. Similar findings are discussed by Stadtler (2018) on the

alignments and misalignments between NGOs, the government, multiple companies (here, the business partners), and civil society when analysing collaboration and competition. Stadtler (2018) also explains that transparent commitment processes require managing competitive tensions and disputes to address social goals, helping to reduce the risk of monopolistic behaviours and path-dependency (Martens, 2007).

# 7.4.2 Dilemmas faced

Dilemmas faced discussed by the interviewed were grouped under two themes: 1) resource allocation and 2) the organisational structure provision.

# 7.4.2.1 Dilemmas in resource allocation

In managing the two-tendering process, several topics arising from the interviews were related to the assets and revenue stream dilemmas in allocating resources for the BSS deployment. Therefore, those topics were grouped into two interrelated subgroups: 1) resources allocated (by type, purposes and by whom), and 2) resource restrictions (branding and advertising).

# Resources allocated

Given that for BikeSantiago the choice of a revenue structure was financed solely by the sponsor through a branding contract, the system had two sources of revenue. While the sponsor financed the larger portion of the cost structure, membership fares contributed a small part of the revenue stream. There was no other financial source of funding, and no public funds were involved in the earlier stages of the deployment. Hence, considering a conventional BSS deployment equation via a PSI scheme, while the sponsor appears as the principal financer, the state did not allocate the public subsidy created in 2015 for these purposes. Indeed, a regional subsidy was created to finance the operation11 in 2015 to finance the system operation; however, no records for its application in the earlier stages of the deployment12 exist yet, as some conditions from the operator, namely transparency and accountability regarding the lack of information on the operational level, were mentioned that

<sup>11</sup> Budget Law 2015, Minister of Finances. Chile

<sup>1212</sup> https://www.gobiernosantiago.cl/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Cuenta-P%C3%BAblica-Intendencia-2017-2018.pdf

undermined the allocation of public resources. Neither is just providing a subsidy ensure a fair operation of an unprecedented system since this is a relational matter between the key partners involved in the deployment of the BSS BikeSantiago.

Furthermore, the negotiation was related to the free public space concession contract as a public 'asset', with a view of integrating different areas of the city and materialised via a tax exemption. Therefore, this agreement was explained by a key actor interviewed, who related the BSS BikeSantiago deployment as a public good: "A free concession of the land was agreed to promote the system as a public good, as the superior good considered" (LG1, August 16, 2017). Here 'superior good' means the public space as an asset to exchange. However, the land as an asset was not sufficient value in exchange under a conventional PSI formula, in particular without public funds involved. Moreover, this type of land concession involving a tax exemption agreed upon did not allow a service concession. Instead, there were agreements to provide the conditions for a transaction between the operator B-Cycle and the international investor, Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A.

#### Resource restriction

Resource restriction relates to the nature of the resources allocated. In Chile, branding and advertising contracts have extensive restrictions, such as the presence of a trademark and the proximity to other brands on the public street. Although they normally involved a potential municipal revenue, these urban entrepreneurial practices in effect lead to a socio-economic segmentation of the comunas, since through these market principles not all brands will be present in the same way through the metropolitan area.

This 'unique' formula of the concession was so defined due to the branding restrictions that the *comunas* of Santiago and Providencia had since in these two *comunas* the exploitation contracts for advertising had already been assigned... The model based on a joint tender was finally the one that could be implemented... (LG2, June 29, 2017).

For example, suppose two branding/advertising contract schemes coexist at the metropolitan level. In that case, these two will be in dispute because of their branding restrictions derived, a local 'autonomy' in decision-making and a weak regional institution. Thus, the co-existence of different models becomes the emerging mobility landscape in Santiago. Indeed, Las Condes *comuna*, the second wealthiest *comuna* 

in Santiago, deployed its *comunal* BSS -BiciLasCondes13- in 2015, only operating inside the *comunal* boundaries, comprising 100 docking stations and 1000 bicycles and with its own management system. Furthermore, while the inter-*comunal* system in Santiago relates to a Private Social Investment led by a multi-national institution, the local system in Las Condes responds to a conventional street advertising formula (e.g. Clear Channel). However, these two systems were incompatible with each other, both technologically and regarding their business models, including their territorial boundaries. Thus, a competitive-related tension deepens socio-demographic and spatial inequalities when the bicycle is transformed into an advertising palette and *comunas* into competitive units for branding movements.

When we tried to integrate the model of Las Condes and the model of 'BikeSantiago'... everything 'clashed' [both companies] disagreed... so if you keep looking at the issue from that point of view this is not a public service (LG3, August 21, 2017).

Resources via branding and advertising gave rise to constraints and restrictions regarding policy jurisdictions at the *comuna* level. Furthermore, this also expresses an asymmetrical relationship between the state and trans-national corporate firms regarding how such a novel mobility deployment might be governed, particularly under market-led principles.

# 7.4.2.2 Dilemmas in the organisational structure provision

In conjunction with flexible contracts, the final system comprised a de-regulated system with no legal framework for guiding either the operation or the bicycle trips as a formal means of transport.

# A de-regulated system by design

Predictably, flexible contracts led to a 'lack of a control system' viewed from three perspectives: 1) the rationale of the agreements made, 2) the incapacity of the municipalities to monitor the system, and 3) a 'freedom' to operate.

First, the concerns of the various levels are fair regarding the symbolic contracts signed as they did not establish in practice a control system, and no rules could be

<sup>13</sup> www.bicilascondes.cl

applied to control the system performance; therefore, the operational levels seem like an act of good faith, similar to neoliberal philanthropic actions widely criticised in the literature (Chapter 4). Second, flexible contracts meant that municipalities lost their control capacities, disassociating them from operational levels.

I honestly have to tell you the truth. For a long time, this contract has been unsupervised. It has had no supervision, none. We have not been able to - not that we have not wanted to - we have not been able to supervise... we do not make any gauges... the supervision of the service is minimal today, that is the reality... e.g. we claimed that the management system was not what we had defined in the bases. Then, we got into a situation of confrontation with the company (LG3 August 21, 2017).

Thus, the rationale of the collaborative agreements to include more and diverse *comunas* created at the same time several constraints to continue being involved at the operational levels. Thus, with "less principal" municipalities (RG1, August 21, 2017), it becomes evident that there are complex challenges and tensions arising from power asymmetries between trans-national relations and sub-national levels. Disagreements, unwillingness to audit, and misunderstandings at the time of applying some standards are expressions of these tensions that the interviewees mentioned.

Third, flexible arrangements and the absence of control systems also relate to a 'freedom' to decide on 'fleet management' at the operational level. Freedom to operate autonomously was part of the agreement made between the two business parties. Thus, what was agreed upon was a de-regulated BSS accommodated as a neoliberal philanthropic practice.

We let the operator provide the BSS 100% autonomously. There is the brand, and we take care of the brand presence that is well installed on the bikes... we follow up, we observe, we are aware, but it (system control) is not part of a contract. (PS1, September 8, 2017)

# No rules by context: legal ambiguity

Legal ambiguity characterises the new scheme deployment. As the bicycle and the new scheme were not yet recognised as part of public transport in Chile, a private rental bicycle scheme took shape as a legal form. Therefore, a 'public' bicycle here is, in practice, a private good under a rental scheme, accommodated under the context of the common goods via a membership scheme. This lack of legal regulation

led to three sources of tensions: i) a lack of access to a public transport subsidy, ii) a lack of fare integration into the formal public transport system, and iii) a normative framework to effectively apply a control system.

Expressions such as "the state's hands are tied" (PS3, March 15, 2017) exemplify the problem of deregulation and the lack of an appropriate legal framework to support the operational stages of the deployment. This deregulation and self-exclusion arise from the ideological principles underpinning the governance of these new deployments.

# 7.4.2.3 Dilemmas in the system performance: informational issues and control demand

Connected to organisational dilemmas, critical operational practices challenged the expected social outcomes. Informational issues and control demand were the most relevant themes in the interviews, despite the key performance indicators (KPIs) included in the tendering process (Chapter 6).

# Informational Problems

Providing information on how the system performed was one of the duties agreed in the public tendering, as the quotation shows:

To provide the system's administration software, which must be approved by the municipalities that order this service, it must be able to access this software and the information that it must provide, at all times.

The concessionaire will incur a fine of 5 MTU [see Table 7.3] for the delay in the delivery of the monthly information on statistics and management (Collaborative Tendering, 2014:8)

However, informational issues had three critical sides: i) the shared information and the way the operator must deliver it, ii) software management, and iii) a lack of information on complaints given by users.

Regarding the way that the operator delivers the information of the system, even when municipalities periodically received reports on the system performance (i.e., how many trips were made by bicycle, busiest stations, among others) these reports were questioned as the information is out-of-date and solely managed by the service provider. On the other hand, the financial information related to operational cash flows is questioned due to a lack of information in this regard. This issue was crucial to provide a public subsidy, which blocked such public involvement. Preconditions and operational agreements must be in place to establish a minimum level of transparency.

Related to the software management, the information was solely managed by the service provider in a completely private scheme, as mentioned before. Having deployed a de-regulated system, the service provider ultimately decides what information to share and with whom. For example, information on complaints at the local level is valuable for community liaison management. However, there was a lack of involvement between the sub-national levels and the users in this regard. In general terms, there is a generalised call for an understanding of the system performance, such as the number of people registered, their complaints, as well as the current records of available bikes circulating. Thus, considering these lines of dispute, information provided. Thus, 'asymmetry of information' (Ostrom et al., 2014) says much about an 'enabling' state unable to address risks and failures as a result of design issues. In doing so, the most damaged by this type of decision-making are people requiring an alternative and affordable means of transport.

# Motivational issues: control demand

Fleet management is one of the most critical factors when looking at a performancebased BSS system on dock-stations, both in terms of system coverage and service quality.

To move bicycles from the stations where they are accumulated to the distribution stations that require it, not having a station without a bicycle for more than an hour. A minimum of one logistic vehicle per *comuna* is required. (Mercado Publico, 2020. Administrative basis of the collaborative tendering, p:8.)

Vitacura, Lo Barnechea, and Ñuñoa *comunas* tendered first a total of 880 bicycles and 83 docking stations, establishing a local character for the BSS management. Within the second phase of tendering, considering the 11 *comunas,* the operator defined a logistic strategy at key points when the system reached full capacity. This strategy significantly increased some docking station supply capacity during peak times, transforming the automatised BSS into a mixed-manual system BSS at strategic locations marked by greater demand.

For us, it was quite critical to have (first) *comunas* with a low-flow (and then) intra-*comunal* trips.... For us, it was very complex to expand (the system) ... so we learned day by day... it was complex to first understand the idiosyncrasy... to observe the flow of bicycles, to redefine some stations regarding the residential and commercial sectors... we had nothing pre-established, and we processed as we went along... (PS4, April 25, 2017)

Since any BSS operation scheme based on docking stations required an adaptation of supply chain management as docking stations increased, it is relevant to analyse BSS operational practices when facing the expansion from three *comunas* to a total of 14. In this regard, two operator-based logistic strategies were implemented:

- a) A bicycle distribution circuit designed with certain strategic bicycle docking stations at its core (e.g. Providencia, Santiago)
- b) Increased supply of bicycles at strategic bicycle docking stations during peak times

As in the description summarised above, in conjunction with the different tendering approaches, the strategic docking stations identified have been labelled as the 'lungs' of the BSS network by the BikeSantiago operator:

We formulated the concept of the 'lung', which we call the bike collection for high usage times. We set aside an additional daily supply of approximately 400 bikes in Costanera Centre, 100 additional bikes in Pedro de Valdivia [...] preparing the system we leave the main [docking] stations at their upper operational margin.

We have a 'marshal' at some of the busiest stations [...] this person is taking the bicycles out of the 'lungs' and places them into the docking stations [...] Bike collection always has to operate via the BSS card (PS4, April 25, 2017).

In practice, many additional bicycles were stored in nearby selected locations where bicycles were infused or introduced manually in the BSS docking stations by a 'marshal' during peak times to balance fleet management. Table 7.3 presents the additional supply capacity, called the 'lung' docking stations by the operator, highlighting that additional 'lung' bicycles at selected docking stations (e.g. Costanera

Centre in Providencia) significantly exceed the projected capacity in the tendering process. As a consequence, the BSS operator directly influenced the system usage and urban accessibility levels via a BSS fleet management strategy. Furthermore, the decision-making at operational level lies in four relevant urban transport attributes: i) the location and distance between docking stations, 2) the number of bicycles to be distributed, 3) the number of logistic vehicles available, and 4) the logistic route decision. Thus, all those relevant attributes defined the control demand. These urban attributes, in turn, conditioned the logistic route decision. In conjunction with the lack of legal recognition of the bicycle as a means of transport in Chile, all together it made it impossible to improve/extend the route distance and times for the logistic vehicles at peak hours. Thus, focusing on the rationale of the logistic decision, crucial urban aspects were stressed, which influenced the system's distribution and performance in the 14 *comunas*. As a consequence of these disregarded urban attributes, the BSS operator directly influenced usage levels at some stations, which had social inclusion and accessibility implications.

Thus, having presented all these operational challenges, it was impossible to ensure a rebalancing in the 14 municipalities, as market principles, budget constraints and urban conditions guided the distributive principles by default. Informational problems also influenced the system management and administration, impacting the distributional patterns as the information did not match with real-time performance and there was no widespread understanding of the system. As interviewees highlighted, there was no connection with users. Users' claims were inadequately attended to at this point. Furthermore, and facing budgetary restrictions, a lack of trust and a lack of regional political incentive to intervene deepened a disassociation between stakeholders, the service provider, and users.

Dilemmas in the system performance, information issues and control demand informed critical issues between policymakers and the operational levels. This suggests that regulation, transparency and an effective control capacity are critical aspects to deploy more inclusive and fairer niche-innovations.

#### 7.4.3 Paradoxical institutional and organisational tensions

The nature of the public procurement introduced paradoxical dimensions involving two types of relationships 1) stability and flexibility, 2) certainty and uncertainty, not only contradictory yet inter-related demands embedded in the different and imbricated institutional and organisational goals.

# 7.4.3.1 Stability and flexibility

Despite envisioning a long-term operation based on active collaboration, flexible agreements gave the state a secondary role, conditioning the subsequent operational arena. In this regard, while in the long term it was expected that the state would be actively involved in the system's operation, the capabilities of the operator and their weak management capacities were, in fact, the organisational concerns in the short-term.

Moreover, the insufficient or non-existent public management capacity is a short-term rationale that positions the state as a secondary or non-existent actor. The decision not to intervene with a subsidy as well as the rejected public institution in charge entails a decision of abstention, in line with neoliberal governance principles. In this sense, an attempt was made to 'enable' social investment by creating novel and flexible agreements but simultaneously excluding the participation of the state and creating ambiguous or unfeasible roles. In other words, while the sponsor expressed a willingness to allocate voluntary resources bolstering a context of innovation, the answer given by the regional governance to foster inclusion was excluding its participation by promoting flexible and collective agreements. Thus, in practice, longterm stability was premised on the capacities of the operator, based on the principles developed in the regional business model as a short-term perspective. However, an ideal operation was not clear in the public contract either, as it was not ultimately a service provision. Similarly, in a subsidiary type of governance, stability could be interpreted as non-intervention or non-involvement, as a status quo of an absent state. Thus, this 'enabling' negotiation lacks support for "guaranteeing" access and inclusion to such a service, despite the collaborative efforts. These findings are consistent with the argument that the involvement of the state supporting these new technological niches in transport depends on the ideological lens with which the state is analysed (Docherty et al., 2018).

# 7.4.3.2 Certainty and uncertainty issues

It has also been discussed that there are certain models of shared mobility already installed and accepted, imposed upon by a 'system manager' (Docherty, 2018). In this tandem between uniformity and specificity, tensions faced at the operational levels expressed uncertainty and certainty issues. It is a fact that the operational levels of new systems have uncertainty issues. For example, forecasting the demand as well as the operator's management skills were the most critical issues in BikeSantiago. In particular, the fleet-balance strategy is an expression described as a 'manual process' to a 'lack of experience'; however, it is a common practice worldwide (Sari, 2015). However, the fact remains that the uncertainty in BikeSantiago lies in the disengagement of its actors regarding reported issues such as 'lack of control system monitoring', 'control demand', and 'informational problems'. Hence, while uncertainty was associated with a lack of previous experience operating the system in several *comunas* in Santiago, certainty was based on perceptions of an ideal performance where trust plays a key role.

Some mentions were related to the need to modify the operational scheme as those paradoxical tensions raised red flags. Indeed, with all these described issues, the financial sponsor replaced the service provider in 2018 with a trans-national service provider.

How to address the present dilemmas and societal challenges with a governance regime encouraging inclusion but absent, deploying un-coordinated and de-regulated models? This empirical analysis highlighted the common challenges and uncertainties that emerging early-stage niches may face. In such, wicked problems, complex solutions.

# Chapter 8. The operational levels. System performance and perceived benefits of the BSS BikeSantiago

This chapter analyses the performance of BSS BikeSantiago, considering the first year of its full operation in the 14 *comunas* in order to understand the relationships between planning tools, agreements made and operational levels in both fostering and hindering more equal and inclusive mobility landscapes. In doing so, this chapter comprises two parts. The first part of this chapter (Part I) analyses travel patterns, service levels and perceptions of benefits derived from the survey carried out in 2017 to current users. Focusing on the system performance and the key performance indicators (KPIs) agreed in the public tendering (Chapter 6), an understanding of the critical factors at the operational levels is provided from the perspective of users.

As explained in Chapter 2, the quantitative phase of the present research comprises an examination of travel patterns, perceived benefits, system performance, and service levels through a BSS travellers cross-sectional survey carried out at the busiest stations, locations previously identified in the qualitative research phase (Chapter 7). The sample size (343) was calculated with the standard formula for a finite population (Aguilar-Barojas, 2005; Cochran, 2007; Bryman, 2016) in accordance with the data provided by the operator in 2017 and field observations. Thus, the first part of Chapter 8 comprises two subsections. Sub-section 8.1 offers a socio-spatial setting, and subchapter 8.2 analyses the travel patterns, scheme performance and service levels by a descriptive statistical analysis of the crosssectional survey, including tensions experienced by current users derived from service levels. This information and procedure were important for this research, as no public authority was monitoring the system's performance, and it became crucial to observe the current isolated position of the travellers in the deployment process.

The second part of this chapter (sub-section 8.3) comprises an integration and discussion of results between the three analytical chapters (Chapter 6, 7 and Chapter 8 Phase I). As further explained in Chapter 2, this research applied a convergent research design to analyse both qualitative and quantitative databases concurrently in order to address the research question. Indeed, a convergent analysis demands a space to reflect and expand the findings giving rise to links between the different decision-making scenarios to address a mobility justice transition research. The integration of results here is done through the MLP narrative (Chapter 3 and 4)

(Cresswell and Plano Clark, 2011; 2018) by applying the analytical model posed at the end of Chapter 4. Here, this thesis argues that the maintenance of a BSS is significant in the levels of adoption and benefit perception, which is determined by decision-making processes for its deployment.

Thus, the different decision-making and the operational practices comprised in the first inter-*comunal* BSS provide relevant linkages to create a transition narrative, connecting the key concepts of the MLP and mobility justice derived from the analytical model at the end of Chapter 4. This is an expanded version of Saud and Thomopoulos (2021).

# 8.1 A socio-spatial background in Santiago

Prior to analysing the system performance and perceived benefits of the first intercomunal BSS in Santiago, a socio-spatial background is incorporated to contextualise the data. The government Social Priority Index (SPI) (Table 8.1) is used here to visualise and compare socio-demographic *comunas* comprised in the present analysis to better understand their differences in terms of regional investment priorities expressed as a position in a ranking. This index is further explained in Chapter 5. Table 8.1 presents the *comunas* participating in the BSS by position, geographical sector, and priority in investment and Table 8.2 expands the ranking to the whole region, highlighting *comunas* participating in the BSS. For more details regarding the SPI index, please see Chapter 5. It is relevant to mention that while the Metropolitan Area of Santiago is composed of 52 *comunas* (Figure 8.1) 34 urban comunas comprise Greater Santiago, usually grouped into seven sectors: north, centre, east, north-east, south, south-west and north-west, as Figure 8.2 shows. The majority of the BSS stations are located in the central and eastern areas; however, this analysis involved a regional scale, in particular, to observe the travel patterns. Table 8.1: Metropolitan Region of Santiago *comunas* participating in the BSS by geographical sector and SPI position. Source: Own elaboration based on the Ministry of Social Development data (2017)

Comuna	Position	Geographical Sector	Priority	
Lo Prado	13	West		
San Joaquin	15	South	Medium-High Priority	
Recoleta	19	North	Thomy	
Independencia	20	North	Medium-Low	
Estacion Central	26	West	Priority	
La Florida	40	South-East		
Maipu	41	West		
Santiago	43	Centre	Low Priority	
Macul	45	South-East		
San Miguel	46	South		



Figure 8.1: Areas within Santiago conurbation. Adapted from Caceres, 2015.



Figure 8.2: Socio-economic distribution map (left) and *comunas* participating in the BSS BikeSantiago (right) Dots in orange show data collection points. Wealthier areas in dark blue. Source: Own elaboration based on Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government (2016) and BikeSantiago webpage (2017).

According to the local BSS operator (B-Cycle LATAM SpA14) there were 33,146 registered BSS travellers, with 175 stations and 2,020 bicycles by September 2017, by which time the system had been operating for a year at full capacity in 14 *comunas* of Greater Santiago. As no single public authority coordinated the BSS operation of a fully private scheme, a unified public dataset of BSS usage at the local or regional level did not exist. Additionally, the qualitative phase highlighted operational issues regarding the first year of the BSS implementation (See Chapter 7). According to these contextual specificities, an observational study of the BikeSantiago scheme was performed before the survey to identify appropriate BSS strategic locations for the data collection process (Chapter 2). Figure 8.2 shows the *comunas* where the survey was carried out.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Referred to as the 'operator' in the remainder of this thesis.

Table 8.2: Metropolitan Region of Santiago *comunas* and SPI position. In grey, *comunas* participating in the BSS. Source: Author's own elaboration based on the Ministry of Social Development data (2017).

Segment	Comuna	Rk
	La Pintana	1
ity	Lo Espejo	2
rior	Cerro Navia	3
gh F	San Ramon	4
Ī	Isla de Maipo	5
	Maria Pinto	6
	Curacavi	7
	Conchali	8
	El Monte	9
~	Paine	10
iorit	Melipilla	11
ЪР	Buin	12
Hig	Lo Prado	13
-un	Padre Hurtado	14
/ledi	San Joaquin	15
2	San Bernardo	16
	El Bosque	17
	San Jose de Maipo	18
	Recoleta	19

Segment	Comuna	Rk
	Independencia	20
	Til Til	21
	Alhue	22
	Lampa	23
	Quinta Normal	24
	La Granja	25
	Estacion Central	26
riority	Pedro Aguirre Cerda	27
₹ A	Peñaflor	28
u Lo	San Pedro	29
diun	Renca	30
Mee	Talagante	31
	La Cisterna	32
	Pirque	33
	Pudahuel	34
	Colina	35
	Cerrillos	36
	Calera de Tango	37
	Puente Alto	38

Segment	Comuna	Rk
	Peñalolen	39
	La Florida	40
rity	Maipu	41
rio	Huechuraba	42
<u>с</u> >	Santiago	43
Lov	Quilicura	44
	Macul	45
	San Miguel	46

Segment	Comuna	Rk
	Ñuñoa	47
ity	La Reina	48
Lioi	Lo Barnechea	49
Р	Providencia	50
Ž	Las Condes	51
	Vitacura	52

# 8.2 A survey of the system performance and perceived benefits of the BSS BikeSantiago in 2017

This sub-section seeks to clarify the system's performance and perceived benefits for travellers while using the system. The survey questions focused on four dimensions: i) Socio-demographic profile, ii) General travel patterns, including travel patterns using BikeSantiago, iii) Perceived benefits, and iv) Perceived BSS performance and service level.

Two analytical methods were used. First, a set of descriptive statistics are shown using SPSS and R software to characterise the current travellers' profile, travel patterns, and perceptions regarding the service level. Second, alluvial diagrams and a circular dendrogram are used to visualise the BSS travel patterns as origin-destination flow maps across comunas within the Metropolitan Region of Santiago.

# 8.2.1 Socio-demographic profile

The analysis proceeds by describing the survey results in terms of age, nationality, gender, occupation, income, and *comuna* of residence of current travellers by BikeSantiago. Results indicate that the proportion of male travellers is more than double female travellers. Of 343 answers, 110 were female, and 233 were male travellers, 32.1% and 67.9% respectively. As shown in Figure 8.3, the age-range population mix by age and gender shows that most of the respondents were men in an age range between 25 to 29 (70.6%), followed by women (29.4% in the same age-range). The following majority group comprises an age-range between 30 and 39, with 35% women and 65% men. The majority of respondents are Chilean (85.1%).



Figure 8.3: Survey respondents by age and gender. Source: Own elaboration based on survey data.

Regarding the main occupation or activity of the respondents, the majority stated that they are employees, with 85.4%, less than 3% are students, and 6.1% are self-employed (Figure 8.4). Commuting was the main purpose of travel by BSS, with 89.5%, as Figure 8.5 shows.



Figure 8.4: Occupation of survey respondents. Source: own elaboration based on survey data.

As shown in Figure 8.6, 82.5% of respondents had 16 years in education, indicating that they have a higher education degree compared to the national levels with an average of 11 years (National Institute of Statistics, 2017).



Figure 8.5: Purpose of travel of survey respondents. Source: Own elaboration based on survey data.



Figure 8.6: Number of years in education of survey respondents. Source: Own elaboration based on survey data.

Concerning the 'declared income' by quintile number of the households, quintile 4 represents the highest group of current travellers, followed by quintile 5, with 41.4% and 38.5%, respectively, as Figure 8.7 shows. Almost 80% of the survey respondents are, on average, part of the fourth and fifth quintile groups, showing a higher socioeconomic level than the general average of Santiago's total population (Ministry of Social Development, 2015).



Figure 8.7: Income (quintile number by household) of survey respondents. Source: Own elaboration based on survey data.

In terms of place of residence, the most significant proportions of survey respondents live in the central and eastern areas of the city, 39.7% and 23% respectively, reaching a total of 62% (Figure 8.8, for more details, see Figure 8.1 and 8.2). *Comunas* were grouped according to census districts, as in Figure 8.1. Central and eastern areas of Santiago represent 'the high-income cone' in Santiago and are closely connected to the high educational and income levels of a large proportion of BSS travellers, as shown in Figure 8.8.



Figure 8.8: Residence by sector or areas in Santiago of survey respondents. OMR: Outside Metropolitan Region. Source: Own elaboration based on survey data.

By clustering the data with R software, the most common profile of respondents corresponds to the following characteristics. A large share are Chilean males, employees who commute, with an average of 16 years in education. They declared a household income between the quintile 4 and 5, and a place of residence in central or eastern *comunas*. Finally, they are mostly young people, with ages ranging between 25 - 29 and 30 - 34 years old, as shown in Figure 8.9.



Sum of N for each Nationality broken down by Residence.by.Sector vs. Age, Gender, Education and Income.



Conclusions relate to the young male-dominant profile of responses. Therefore, there are evident biases in terms of gender, age, place of residence, educational level, occupation, and income with a dominant profile -or a profile by default - that constrains more equal and socially inclusive transport deployments. Results are in accordance with similar studies in countries such as the UK and the US when looking at inequalities based on the profile of BSS current travellers (Ogilvie and Goodman, 2012; Goodman and Cheshire, 2014). In this regard, the main results were consistent with earlier findings regarding the BSS traveller profile in bike-sharing literature worldwide, where women and residents of deprived areas were under-represented among BSS users.

# 8.2.2 Travel patterns

The survey analysis offers an explanation of travel patterns in two ways. On the one hand, an overview of travel patterns at the *comuna* level considered a visualisation of collection and return areas. On the other hand, information regarding the *comuna* of residence and *comuna* of occupation was integrated into the previous data of *comunas* of collection and returns to visualise general travel patterns when using the system.

Data visualisation through circular dendrograms in conjunction with an innovative application of alluvial diagrams have been selected as the most appropriate method to present and visualise the BSS travel patterns as origin-destination flow maps across *comunas* within the Metropolitan Region of Santiago. Thus, by using alluvial diagrams as a static image of left-right reading direction, travel patterns are visually illustrated as flows that connect, in an abstract way, the *comunas* where bicycles have been collected and the *comunas* where bicycles have been returned. At the same time, such an alluvial diagram allows the visualisation of the bicycle demand at each *comuna* illustrated as a black vertical bar for each *comuna*. Contrasting the black bars on each side of Figure 8.15, a snapshot of the flows between different *comunas* participating in the BSS is offered, facilitating the visualisation of the fleet management strategy (Chapter 7).

The survey also examined modal shifts, implying previous means of transport for a similar trip, inter-modality, or if travellers are combining BSS trips with other means of transport, the frequency of the common trips by BSS, and the level of usage. This section presents these data first to provide further information regarding travel patterns. Thus, as is shown in Figure 8.10, when asked about the means of transport used before the BSS for the same trip, it assumed that a shift from another means of transport for this trip is done when the comparative advantages are sufficiently significant (Rodrigue, 2020). 77.8% of the respondents said that the previous means of transport for a similar trip before starting to use the system was public transport (bus or metro), followed by walking with 11.4%, and car, with 5%.



Figure 8.10: Modal shift. Source: Own elaboration based on survey data.

Inter-modality or multi-modality questions were asked regarding whether the most frequent trip using the BSS was also combined with other means of transport. 53.4% of travellers declared that they only used the BSS for the most frequent route, which includes a public bike, followed by combining a public bike with public transport at 34.4%, and a smaller group of people combined a public bike with a long walk, at 7.3% as Figure 8.11 shows. In addition, as shown in Figure 8.12, the majority of travellers expressed that the frequency of the most common trip was more than three times per week with 85%, which could imply that the majority uses the BSS for regular commuting trips.



Figure 8.11: Inter-modality. Source: Own elaboration based on survey data.



Figure 8.12: Frequency of the most common trip by BSS. Source: Own elaboration based on survey data.

The analysis of travel patterns was structured by combining the results of the *comuna* of residence, the *comuna* of main activity as well as the *comuna* of the most frequent bicycle collection and return. As shown in Figure 8.13, the main *comunas* of residence of respondents were Santiago, Providencia and Nuñoa, which are located in the centre and the east area of the Santiago Metropolitan Region. *Comunas* of main activity were Providencia, Santiago, areas of the greatest concentration of travel in Santiago, as in Figure 8.14.



Figure 8.13: Comuna of residence. Source: Own elaboration based on survey data.



Figure 8.14: Comuna of main activity. Source: own elaboration based on survey data.

According to the Santiago travel origin-destination survey (2012), the beneficiaries of BikeSantiago are residents in the centre and north-east areas of the city (the wealthiest areas), areas with the highest concentration of trips in Santiago. Therefore, this initiative does not seem to be oriented to effectively support the travel characteristics of the city of Santiago regarding the high dependence of peri-urban areas on those areas of convergence of activities (Chapter 5).

# 8.2.3 Visualising BSS BikeSantiago travel patterns and fleet management in the first year of its full operation

Conventional flow maps based on origin-destination information – nodes connected by edges - have two-fold aesthetical challenges. On the one hand, in positioning and adjusting the nodes when locating them geographically, and on the other hand, in adjusting the geometry of the links or edges for optimal readability to accurately provide the relevant information (Benhard et al., 2016). As suitable methods to visualise BSS travel patterns, data are presented at the *comuna* level, generating figures via RAWGraphs (Mauri et al., 2017). This open-source data visualisation framework offers a quick diagrammatic overview of a database. Within RAWGraphs, circular dendrograms and alluvial diagrams have been selected as flow maps across *comunas* within Santiago's Metropolitan Region. The goal is to highlight specific variables within the travel patterns that characterise the system for both cases. Such
diagrammatic maps also help visualise relevant issues at the operational level, considering a context when information is not managed by a solely public authority and/or when it is a private asset.

In this regard, a general overview of the system demand at the *comuna* level is offered through Figures 8.15, 8.16 and 8.17, identifying the general pattern of the system at the regional scale as well as providing a quick visualisation of underrepresented areas. Thus, while alluvial diagrams (Figures 8.15; 8.16) allow combining several variables, such as *comuna* of activity, residence collection and return point, in circular dendrograms (Figure 8.17), the focus is placed on two relevant variables, residence and return point *comunas*.

A static image left-right reading direction is used to build a travel pattern diagram to illustrate flows through alluvial diagrams. Here, the representation of BSS usage is done through connections between both black sidebars representing flows between *comunas*. The sizes of the sidebars also indicate the percentage of trips to and from *comunas*. Using the information displayed in Table 8.3, Figure 8.15 shows how *comunas* are participating in the agreed network, highlighting *comunas* here where bicycles have been collected and *comunas* where bicycles have been returned. For example, in red, all trips initiated in Providencia *comuna* are connected to different *comunas* where a bicycle was returned.

Moreover, Figure 8.15 also reports on the 'lung' fleet management (further details in Table 7.3 regarding the system performance and additional bikes, Chapter 7). This is possible to perceive when looking at the bicycle collection sidebar where Providencia and Santiago's *comunas* lead the origin of travel patterns due to the fleet management performed by the operator. Furthermore, it is possible to perceive that trips are not limited to a single *comuna* when looking at the bicycle return sidebar.

Figure 8.16 complements the understanding of flows with an overview of the BSS travel patterns. Here, the alluvial graph was made by combining trips between *comunas*, placing the collection and return *comunas* in the central bars. The sidebars represent the activity and residence *comunas*, thus connecting all *comunas* present in a frequent trip when using the system. In this way, it is possible to visualise schematically the trips made at the regional level and the *comunas* of origin and destination where the BSS BikeSantiago was incorporated.

Considering the case of Figure 8.17, this dendrogram diagram shows the relationship between the *comuna* of return and the *comuna* of residence as a part of a frequent trip when using the BSS. Here, while the internal points inscribed on the circumference represent the *comuna* of a bicycle return, the external points show the different *comunas* where people live. For example, people who ended trips in Recoleta comuna lives in Recoleta and Conchali *comunas*. It is important to note that the centre of this diagram does not specify the point of origin, but rather this diagram tries to generate the connections between two variables (comuna of bicycle return and comuna of residence) schematically.

Thus, a quick understanding of the system demand is offered by visualising travel patterns from this novel visual representation. These diagrams are a helpful tool for practitioners to take action when institutions face asymmetry information and thus have the relevant information available to improve the system performance in light of the agreed network.

Table 8.3: *Comunas* of bicycle collection and return. *Comunas* grouped as the first tier show those busiest stations with a pre-determined circuit of extra bicycles. The second tier of *comunas* are those more distant to the busiest areas and/or well/less attended by the operator. Source: Own elaboration based on survey data.

Comuna of Collection Point					
Comuna	Freq	%			
First Tier	1. Providencia	168	49		
	2. Santiago	114	33.2		
	Total Busiest Stations	282	82.2		
Second Tier	3. Estacion Central	23	6.7		
	4. Vitacura	21	6.1		
	5. Ñuñoa	9	2.6		
	6. Lo Prado	4	1.2		
	7. Recoleta	1	0.3		
	8. Independencia	1	0.3		
	9. Macul	1	0.3		
	10. Lo Barnechea	1	0.3		
	Total Under-represented (second)	61	17.8		
Total First	343	100			

Comuna	of Return Point			
Comuna		Freq	%	
First Tier	1. Santiago	153	44.6	
	2. Providencia	99	28.9	
	Total Busiest Stations	252	73.5	
Second Tier	3. Estacion Central	35	10.2	
	4. Ñuñoa	15	4.4	
	5. Vitacura	14	4.1	
	6. Recoleta	9	2.6	
	7. Maipu	7	2	
	8. Independencia	6	1.7	
	9. Macul	3	0.9	
	10. San Miguel	1	0.3	
	11. San Joaquin	1	0.3	
	Total Under- represented (second)	91	26.5	
Total Fire	st & Second	343	100	



Figure 8.15: Alluvial map illustrating *comuna* of bicycle collection and return in Santiago. Line thickness represents the number of BSS travellers per *comuna* – Source: Own elaboration based on survey data.

As in Figure 8.15 and Table 8.3, Providencia, Santiago and Estacion Central generate the highest demand for bicycles. Providencia appears at the top of the list of *comunas* with the highest volume of bicycle collections (49%), and the greatest number of returns (28.9%). In addition, Providencia is also the *comuna* with the greatest inter-*comunal* scope, distributing the BSS trips not only to Santiago as the second largest and adjacent *comuna*, but also to more distant *comunas* such as Maipu and Independencia, as the alluvial diagram shows in Figure 8.15 (see also Figures 8.1 and 8.2 for details).

Linking travel patterns to urban socio-economic characteristics, the follow-up returns journey activity during the evening peak times (Figure 8.16), and the need to provide more docking stations at residential areas of certain *comunas* are expressed, for example, Ñuñoa, and Maipu, as well as the need to expand this BSS beyond the 14 participating *comunas*, for instance, Quilicura and Pudahuel. In turn, such

visualisation offers valuable insights about BSS travel patterns, which enhances not only fleet management efforts to ensure that bicycle supply matches the demand at selected stations but also can quickly highlight under-represented areas. These findings demonstrate that the time of day and particularly peak times significantly influenced bicycle demand and direction of travel correlated with the place of work and the place of residence (Table 8.3 and Figure 8.16). Thus, Figure 8.15 offers a general overview of the BSS fleet management at each comuna, and Figure 8.16 provides additional information regarding not only the trips made by the BSS but also a full overview of the journey by the BBS in Santiago.



Figure 8.16: *Comuna* of activity, bicycle collection, return and residence in Santiago Metropolitan Region. Line thickness represents the number of BSS travelers. Source: Own elaboration based on survey data.

As Providencia, Santiago, Las Condes and Vitacura are *comunas* with the most travel attractions, numerous collection stations and a sufficient bicycle supply are offered there in addition to having a different type of contract. As they are the wealthiest areas of the city, they receive, therefore, more attention from the operator. Interestingly, Las Condes is a *comuna* adjacent to Providencia, which is also a travel attraction area, and some BSS respondents stated having picked up bicycles crossing the *comuna* boundary.

Furthermore, Chapter 6 and 7 explained the co-existent BSS -BiciLasCondes-, which effectively is a substitute for BikeSantiago inside its territorial boundaries. Unfortunately, these two systems are incompatible with each other, both technologically and in regard to their business models and consequently compete with each other. Regarding the relationship between bicycle return and the comuna of residence, Table 8.3, Figures 8.15 and 8.16 also show that BSS respondents are not only residents of the 14 comunas participating in the BSS but also of peripheral (e.g. Puente alto, and Peñalolen) and rural comunas (e.g. Talagante, and Peñaflor), highlighting the inter-comunal and multi-modal character of this BSS. It is important to state that the docking station at Estacion Central is located near the bus and train terminal offering multi-modal transport connections not only to rural comunas of the Santiago Metropolitan Region but also to other regions of Chile. Furthermore, Figures 8.15 and 8.16 highlight the challenge facing BSS managing organisations since it is evident that cycling journeys are not geographically confined to a single *comuna* in Santiago. In this regard, by identifying the under-represented comunas (e.g. Estacion Central, and Ñuñoa) when facing higher or lower demand at certain times of the day, a sufficient bicycle supply could be rebalanced. Under-represented comunas (Table 8.3) are those that face some demand for bicycle pick-ups or bicycle returns. However, they are not located within the central areas, so they are not prioritised in the fleet management, as discussed in the previous chapter regarding control demand.

Therefore, less attended stations relate to inclusion and accessibility. Although they were provided with a docking station and bicycles by contract, this does not guarantee the availability of bicycles at all times or that the station is in operation in practice (Figure 8.15). Additionally, the contribution of more distant *comunas* (e.g. Maipu) in the overall BSS network is illustrated (Figures 8.16 and 8.17), stressing their role in such a large network within a metropolitan region as well as the need for integrated multi-modal transport planning.



Figure 8.17: (Dots from the centre to outside) Under-represented *comunas:* return and residence in Santiago – Source: Own elaboration.

#### 8.2.4 Perceived Benefits

BSS operational challenges alongside social and governance goals were also evaluated in the 2017 BSS survey. These categories sought to analyse perceived benefits when using the BSS for the most frequent trips to enhance evidence-based policymaking and support multi-modal integrated transport planning based on travellers' perceptions and preferences. Perceived BSS traveller benefits were assessed through four subjective variables: Improving health, travel time savings, BSS traveller costs (membership), accessibility.

Perceived accessibility was evaluated in the BSS traveller survey as "the ease of performing a frequent activity using the BSS compared to the previously used means of transport" (Chapter 3). BSS unavailability for travellers due to peak time demand,

lack of maintenance or other reasons were also explored based on a 7-point Likert scale (Strongly Disagree – Strongly Agree) applied throughout the survey.

In line with other cities worldwide (Carrasco and Lucas, 2019; Nikitas, 2019; Otero et al., 2018; Rojas-Rueda et al., 2011; Woodcock et al., 2014), improved health (85%) and accessibility (75%) were found to be the most commonly perceived BSS benefits (Figures 8.18, 8.19, and 8.20: Combined Strongly Agree and Agree responses). 77.8% of respondents who previously travelled in Santiago using public transport for the same journey, declared worsened health as one of the main consequences of system access deprivation (50.7%). Such findings express a negative travel experience faced by BSS travellers when using their previous means of transport. further explained in the next qualitative section regarding the public transport system. Travel time reliability was also a key element of the BSS perceived accessibility due to high congestion levels and lower reliability of the public transport network in Santiago, as the increased travel time faced by 24.2% of travellers. Similar to other cities worldwide (Nikitas, 2019; Otero et al., 2018; Rojas-Rueda et al., 2011; Woodcock et al., 2014), improved health was found to be the most common perceived BSS benefit (Figure 8.18 – Combined: Strongly Agree – 7 and Agree – 6). Indeed, the best benefit ranked was 'improving health' with a percentage of 63.3% and ranked 7 and with a mean of 6.36, followed by perceived accessibility. In general, BSS travellers gave accessibility a high rating. The highest was 6, with 41.7%, followed by 7 with 33.2% and with a mean of 6.03, as Table 8.4 shows.



Figure 8.18: Perceived benefits improving health. Likert scale: 1 – Strongly Disagree, 7 – Strongly Agree – Source: Own elaboration based on survey data.



Figure 8.19: Perceived benefits in improving accessibility. Source: Own elaboration based on survey data.

The perceived benefit in saving money was the worst ranked, with a percentage of 40.5% with a score 7, and of 7.6% with a score of 1, as in Figure 8.20. Possible explanations of this low score could be related to the poor system performance.



Figure 8.20: Perceived benefits in saving money. Source: Own elaboration based on survey data.

A hypothetical situation was offered to respondents whereby they might be deprived of access to the BSS (Figure 8.21). Therefore, worsened health condition was declared one of the main consequences of the hypothetical system deprivation, with 50.7%, followed by increased travel time with 24.2% and more expensive trips with 11%. This result relates directly to the negative travel experience that the current travellers face with the public transport system, according to the previous means of transport declared.



Figure 8.21. Consequences of system deprivation. Source: own elaboration based on survey data.

77.8% of respondents who previously travelled in Santiago using public transport when making the same trip declared decreased health conditions as one of the main consequences of system deprivation (50.7%). These results suggest a negative travel experience which BSS travellers faced in their previous means of transport, unhappiness about the public transport system, followed by increased time travel with 24.2%. Thus, travel time reliability was a decisive element of perceived accessibility benefits due to congestion and lower reliability of the public transport network in Santiago, following the previous means of transport reported (Figure 8.10).

In conclusion, the deployment of the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago suggests that, combined with the generally negative perception of the mobility experience in Santiago, the BSS BikeSantiago could be contributing to reducing negative travel experiences. In this regard, the contribution of improving the travel experience can

be observed especially regarding health issues and accessibility to better performing day-to-day activities.

# 8.2.3 Perception of service level and system failures

The 2017 BSS survey also focused on service levels to provide links to perceived benefits. This led to an aggregate analysis of individual BSS traveller responses (micro-level) to evaluate the overall BSS service level (macro-level) and links to inclusion and inequalities. According to the review of the types of public tenders in Chapter 6, key performance indicators (KPIs) were agreed upon between municipalities and the service operator. The following items were evaluated through the BSS survey to assess the perceived service level, as in Table 8.4. This analysis was done with a view to supporting evidence-based policymaking, particularly in a de-regulated governance context such as Santiago.

		Available Information	Customer service communication	E-payment system	Price	System Coverage	Public Bikes Availability	Dock stations Availability	Public Bikes Maintenance	Dock stations Maintenance
Ν	Valid	343	343	343	343	343	343	343	343	343
	Missing	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Mean		4.90	3.41	4.54	5.54	5.58	4.81	5.55	3.80	4.67
Median		5.00	3.00	5.00	6.00	6.00	5.00	6.00	4.00	5.00
Mode		5	5	7	7	7	5	6	5	5
Std. Deviation		1.660	2.178	2.301	1.490	1.378	1.404	1.305	1.537	1.545
Percentiles	25	4.00	1.00	3.00	5.00	5.00	4.00	5.00	3.00	4.00
	50	5.00	3.00	5.00	6.00	6.00	5.00	6.00	4.00	5.00
	75	6.00	5.00	7.00	7.00	7.00	6.00	6.00	5.00	6.00

Table 8.4: Descriptive statistics regarding perceived service level. Source: Author's own elaboration based on survey data.

Findings in Table 8.4 show that the mean perceived service level satisfaction by BSS travellers ranged between 3.4 (Customer service communications) and 5.6 (System coverage) in a 7-point Likert scale. Service level ranges from somewhat dissatisfied to somewhat satisfied. The lowest perceived system satisfaction levels were reported about customer service communication. Key users' problems with the BSS service

are summarised in Table 8.4, with e-payments and BikeSantiago bicycle and dock maintenance being identified as low-level service perceived. While bicycle maintenance issues encompassed wheel, seat or brake problems, docking stations maintenance comprises the infrastructure to collect and return a bike. Low BSS service level resulted in a perception of low BSS reliability by travellers, which in turn had implications for the perception of benefits in accessibility and social inclusion since certain travellers were blocked from completing their planned journeys by bicycle or even at all, due to these operational issues. Docking station maintenance (28.6%) was reported as a common challenge for BSS travellers to return a bike. Figure 8.22 highlights that BikeSantiago bicycle maintenance and the e-payments system were among the most common and concerning challenges BSS travellers faced. It is noteworthy that bicycle returns, data errors and e-payment problems are all intertwined, so this issue is further discussed in the next sub-section. To provide an overview of how travellers perceived the service level in different comunas, Figure 8.23 summarises the average score by *comuna* of bicycle collecting stations. Thus, while comunas from the first-tier (Santiago and Providencia) scored between 4 and 4.6, comunas from the second tier scored better on those two issues. In general, station maintenance obtained a better score than the e-payment system due to bicycle hire process errors.



Figure 8.22: Main system failures perceived. Source: Own elaboration based on survey data.



Figure 8.23: Main system failures scored by *comuna* about collection points. Source: Own elaboration based on survey data (Phase II). Orange bars represent the satisfaction level with the e-payment system. Blue bars represent the satisfaction level of the dock station maintenance.

#### 8.2.4 Perceived accessibility and perceived service level

A regression was conducted to understand those factors underlying the perception of benefits while using the BSS, testing significant aspects of perceived service level and their association with perceived accessibility.

The model explained 23.3% of the variance in perceived accessibility and was a significant predictor of this outcome F (7, 335) = 14.57, p < 0.05. Of the predictor variables, three ratings were not found to be significant predictors of perceived accessibility – ratings of available information (B = 0.0036, P = 0.90), ratings of customer service communication (B = 0.020, P = 0.33) and ratings of the e-payment system (B = 0.025, P = 0.20). However, of the predictors that attained significance, the weakest role was played by ratings of docking station maintenance (B = 0.076, P < 0.05), followed by ratings of price (B = 0.092, P < 0.05), then by ratings of public bicycle availability (B = 0.10, P < 0.05), with the strongest effect exerted by ratings of system coverage (B = 0.11, P < 0.05). Thus, robust coverage is one of the key factors in deploying a BSS, according to the perception of current BSS travellers. This finding suggests that improving perceptions of the availability of the BSS can be best served by ensuring that the system coverage is as extensive as possible.

## 8.2.5 A qualitative approach to the system performance

Considering the survey limitations and its sampling in the busiest stations, additional short questions were carried out with 35 travellers (See Appendix B2). Two openended questions were added at the end of the survey, asking about their positive and negative experiences while using the system, stressing perceived benefits in accessibility (Lättman et al., 2016; Martens, 2017) and their experience with their data and records while using the system. 10% of survey respondents were interviewed based on convenience sampling and stratified by gender at each station. The analysis was organised by first identifying the themes associated with the previous service level assessment as well as the perception of benefits. Then, the links between the issues raised were recognised, emphasising the relationships established between them based on their argumentation.

As a qualitative analytical approach regarding the system performance, the system performance is valued by current travellers by describing their experiences. They highly value the health benefits as it reduces the stress associated with the negative experience of public transport and the consequent improvements related to active travel. Time-saving speed, comfort and convenience are also associated with their experience, in conjunction with reducing the disadvantages associated with using a personal bike, such as parking and risks of theft. Positive experiences such as freedom and autonomy came from women when they compared the system to using a car. Here are some BSS travellers' quotes about these issues:

My overall experience has been good in the sense of being able to use a mode of transportation that can return you to other places and not having to leave your (personal) bike parked' (U09. Woman, Costanera Centre station)

Using the bicycle is priceless, much more comfortable and faster'. (U08. Man, Costanera)

it is a convenience for me, basically, because if I buy one I would have nowhere to park it (a personal bike). (U017. Man, Estacion Central Station)

It's a relief... before I used to use the Metro. I used to arrive at the station, wait for the station to be full, wait for one wagon to pass and then another. (U019 .Man, Estacion Central Station)

I feel more agile, ... (it) has helped me a lot... In that period, I was going through a lot of issues that were stressing me out, so I feel it was (better) thanks to the bicycle. (U021. Man, Estacion Central Station)

The bicycle gives me an autonomy that a car does not. Because I don't depend on others. I don't have to wait 30 minutes for the bus' (U023. Woman, Teatinos / Moneda Station)

I need to come home quickly because I need to see my baby, I need to meet work schedules (U024. Woman, Teatinos / Moneda Station).

On the other hand, the main concerns raised were e-payment errors, data collection from journeys made, and a lack of information (Figure 8.22). Most of the arguments tried to explain these errors in relation to the stations being in bad condition, involving concerns regarding the system performance. This was because the company cannot handle billing problems, and neither the company nor the government has solved the problem so far. Such difficulties triggered a series of in-depth interviews regarding the main system failures previously assessed, which made it possible for the study team to have a broader understanding of them. BSS travellers' quotes refer to these points:

In October they say that I stole a bicycle. In October this (the application) did not exist. I didn't notice, and I paid it (the credit card), then I looked, and it came out (the bicycle) for 192.000 Chilean pesos (US\$266)... they told me 'madam, the bicycle number xxx' is lost... you collected it and never returned'; however, it is not true! Maybe someone took it because the station was in badly maintained condition (U024. Woman, Teatinos/Moneda Station).

The negative part is not being able to communicate effectively with the company and have the problems solved timely... they charge you more because they use the 'PAT System' [automatic payment from credit cards] that charges you automatically and then they can take whatever they want out of your account per month, and as many times as they want. Well, it seems to me that they do it because of the overtime.... That's why I try not to do overtime, and that's why they can't charge me anything more as they argued. If I go to my bank account, I see that they are charging me more... I sent an email, and they still haven't answered me for a month... I feel very insecure about the problem of not getting a response (U010. Man, Costanera Centre Station).

My experience has not been very good... the service provider updated the BSS's application, but it does not show my trips (made). Now, I can't see the record of my trips... The biggest problem I have had is with respect to the charges. There are times when they charge you three times more... that makes you doubt whether or not to continue using the system (U07. Man, Pedro de Valdivia Station).

Every day you find (bicycles with) bad brakes, punctured tyres, the handlebars to regulate it well... The conditions go from bad to worse, there is no technical service (that repair the docks and the bikes), there is no communication with the company directly... (U016. Man, Teatinos/Moneda Station).

Nonetheless, it is evident that an additional qualitative study is required employing, for example, interviews with a large number of BSS travellers, and non- travellers as well as former travellers, or alternatively structured focus groups. This would be in order to understand key barriers to the implementation of such a sustainable means of transport with broader social goals (Rietveld and Stough, 2005).

This second part of Chapter 8 is presented below, comprising the integration and interpretation of results through the lens of the analytical model developed in Chapter 4, in accordance with a convergent research design (Chapter 2).

#### 8.3 Integration and discussion of findings (Phase II)

The integration and discussion are made through comparing the subject of study – the decision-making in the deployment process of the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago, providing relevant linkages for a narrative in MLP and connecting key ideas with the mobility justice framework. This integration and discussion of findings aim to answer the research question How might a niche-innovation in transport lead to a mobility justice transition, considering the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago, Chile in the period 2011-2017 as a case study? (see Figure 1.1, Chapter 1).

The case of BikeSantiago demonstrates the ways in which such a niche-innovation faces conflicts and complexities when aimed to expand the inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago, a highly segregated metropolis in socio-economic terms, through collaborative practices at the sub-national levels. Indeed, the three analytical chapters (Chapter 6, 7 and 8, Phase I) showed that decision-making in collaboration is highly relevant in emerging mobility deployments, especially when facing a context with a weak regional governance capacity. *Comunas* as semi-autonomous decision-making units faced significant institutional challenges to tackle self-organisation practices. As the literature on Social Stratification and Government Inequality (SSGI) shows (Chapter 4), the lack of capacity of sub-national institutions to leverage and effectively implement initiatives at the regional level entails unequal distributive processes.

Therefore, the niche-level alignment by executing an inter-governmental agreement expressed signs of change from the initial configuration of the BSS deployment as a self-organisation practice in the three wealthiest comunas in Santiago. At the regime level, institutions took for granted the benefits of promoting cycling through this novel system under the premise that these models had already been proven worldwide. In addition, a local system was already in place (Providencia comuna), and a local system (BiciLasCondes, Chapter 6) was in the process of deployment. Hence, in conjunction with the perceived bicycle boom of Santiago as seen in its public policy and public investment (Chapter 5), all these convergent factors contributed to explaining a niche-momentum in cycling and, therefore, 'leveraging' an unprecedented inter-comunal system in Santiago. However, the BSS's deployment process faced significant institutional and organisational challenges to reach stability and meet the promise of effectively providing a service in 14 diverse comunas, which is a matter of mobility justice. This is discussed below within the MLP perspective presented in Chapter 3 and structured as an analytical framework in Chapter 4. This

discussion analyses the decision-making process to unfold its rationale and, therefore, the transition pathway to engage with the research question. The integration of the three analytical chapters draws empirical findings and assessment of: i) early decisions to deploy the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago, ii) implementation process, and iii) operational levels, according to the sub-objectives.

## 8.3.3 Early decisions to deploy the first *inter-comunal* BSS in Santiago.

By integrating and discussing results through the MLP (Chapters 3 and 4), early decisions to deploy the BSS in Santiago sought to provide an understanding of the institutional rationale behind the BSS regional business model in order to analyse its role in triggering a mobility justice transition. The present discussion begins by discussing the transition pathway involving the BSS in Santiago, discussing then the role of the regional business model in establishing a trajectory of change towards a unified system.

The transition pathway took shape with an initial political decision from the regional executive, in turn, to start with the BSS deployment. This is a particularly novel and relevant decision in the context of Santiago Metropolitan Region as this is one of the metropolitan areas with the highest concentration of population and political power in Latin-America (Valenzuela and Ortiz, 2017; Brinkhoff, 2020, National Institute of Statistics Chile, 2020). However, the regional governance setting remains an unclear challenge in Chile regarding the lack of effective capacity to plan the execution of regional resources and address inequalities, due to the high centralism that characterises Chile (Eaton, 2004). In this regard, the conceptualisation of the subnational levels through the notion of a metropolitan governance regime based on multiple local semi-autonomous decision-making units helped to illustrate that regional planning today consists of coordinating and transferring national resources between the various territorial levels of administration (Saud, 2014; Valenzuela et al., 2019; Henriquez, 2020). Thus, this lack of capacity faced by the regional level to actively participate in the deployment and effectively execute the resources allocated to subsidise the operation of the system was manifested from the beginning in the justification expressed in the regional business model for deploying the first intercomunal BSS in Santiago, and was evident throughout the process analysed.

Early decisions showed that the regional government in Santiago was not able to create an adequate and competent institution to manage the operational level as well as not being able to provide a subsidy due to its institutional and political weakness.

However, the early decision to start with the deployment from the regional level suggests an adaptive strategy or a transformative institutional adaptation challenging the existing centralised top-down decisions and self-organised local government practices. This is when considering that the initial decision to deploy the inter-*comunal* system at the regional level is rarely in a highly centralised context such as Santiago. In guiding a potential BSS implementation, the regional business model played a key role in setting the challenging objective of incorporating a BSS into a formal transport alternative for Greater Santiago, as the argument to justify the public investment for its business model showed. Furthermore, the arguments that give rise to it are related to the required information needed to decide the 'best' alignment between multiple actors and resources. This brings them all together to create a niche as the support network or the instance of support. Thus, it is possible to recognise the regional business model as niche-innovation in transport, in line with the literature about transitions and bike-sharing (O' Tauma, 2015; van Waes et al., 2018; Geels et al., 2019).

As analysed in the regional business model, a set of values illustrates the interwoven network of key partners and strategic public-private negotiations, highlighting the emphasis in providing the best conditions for a business opportunity and illustrating through the analysis of value proposition, creation and capture how an 'enabling environment' took shape. However, this tool of planning disregards the real travel needs in Santiago, nor does it adequately address public values, as the financial assessment and its arguments showed in Chapter 6. Indeed, the spatial coverage of the BSS was built on assumptions regarding the current characteristics of the built environment and people, requesting a given quality of the built environment and mixed land-use in support of current travel patterns. In addition, the regional business model does not address how the state should invest in infrastructure to enable more inclusive access to the system, but instead, it develops a 'ranking' to select the areas. Furthermore, and according to the socio-spatial inequalities (the SSGI thesis in Chapter 4) and uneven distribution of the infrastructure and service that affect the metropolitan context in Santiago (Chapter 5), this ranking showed that most of the comunas with the best urban conditions are coincident with the wealthiest central and peri-central comunas of the region, despite the intention to include heterogeneous

areas. Thus, the regional business model can also be seen as a 'top-down' public policy as a dominant rationale, in accordance with the Social Stratification-Government Inequality (SSGI) thesis (Ostrom, 1983).

This finding suggests that the ranking illustrates a strategy of 'stratification' fostering socio-economic segregation, expressing a mismatch between resources and socio-spatial needs in transport when looking at the Metropolitan Region of Santiago *comunas*, their SPI position as well as distance and travel time in commuting. Likewise, here is highlighted the 'artefactual' and a ready-made solution with which a BSS in Santiago is planned. Moreover, findings within the value formula revealed a subordination of private values over public ones by emphasising the role of the private profit formula as an argument for the persistence of the system over time. The following arguments support this argument.

Firstly, when referring to the beneficiary population as a user segment, a terminology widely used in the private sector, the regional study assumed a modal shift from public transport, walking and current cyclists, all with a general travel pattern in the busiest areas of the city. Moreover, there is no concrete measure in this study to incentivise car replacement. This argument evidences a strategy to attract a larger user population more quickly to ensure the operation of the service rather than encouraging other motorised means of transport, in conjunction with the spatial coverage principles. This argument is consistent with Docherty et al. (2018:115) when arguing the intention of 'smart mobility' in creating markets in which "there is more mobility, not less, in order to maximise its returns", in accordance with an intense utilisation of such equipment as the heart of these business models for userships in shared schemes.

Secondly, value creation and capture analysis strongly support a partnership design based on a sponsorship-based business model as the best scenario, under the assumption that the state lacks the ability to implement and manage such a system but rather to provide the conditions for a private party to take over the operation, reinforcing the institutional weaknesses affecting the regional level in Chile. In this regard, the profit formula suggests a potential self-organised practice, subordinating private values over the public one, involving asymmetries of power relations and introducing a strategy of 'defection' (Chapter 3) to maximise private returns. 'Defection', in the regional business model, relates to the suggested type of contract based on the free concession strategy. Developed as a tax exemption, it sought to maximise private profits for an attractive business opportunity (Chapter 6). However, as the analysis in Chapter 7 demonstrates, it implied weakening the decision-making capacity and deprivation of both a potential municipal revenue and the ability to establish sanctions on concessionary services. Therefore, to establish a transition trajectory of 'change' towards a unified system including different *comunas*, a destabilisation of the local government is proposed by this tool of planning. Similar to 'ranking' as a mechanism to perform social-spatial segregation by design, the profit formula also shed light on a mechanism of discrimination, e.g. planning an extra charge in more disadvantaged places. Decisions were argued on the basis of safety reasons and a given idiosyncrasy. However, it could also be seen as a strategy to maximise the expected private returns by discriminating against people on the basis of their place of residence and class.

These findings demonstrate a particular rationale in the design of niches at the subnational level, in particular, by an envisioned institutional-organisation dynamic which is close to an 'enabling state' action or "just enabling the opening up of markets", (Docherty et al., 2018:117). These results are also consistent with van Waes et al. (2018) on the assertion that a business model is not sufficient to lift trajectories in transition research.

To sum up, findings from the analysis of early decisions on innovation showed the twofold role of the regional business model. This tool of planning expressed the intentions of replicating a dominant industrial recipe via stratification and defection as in the value formula strategy. However, an incipient adaptive strategy or a transformative institutional adaptation, as a subject of innovation, also challenged existing centralised top-down-policies and self-organised practices at this early stage of decision-making. In addition, the rationale of stratification and defection strategy for the envisioned deployment introduced significant institutional and social biases with potential effects in reproducing inequalities. Crucial institutional issues arising from these findings at the early stage of decision-making related to how to address public value via bottom up and integrative strategies when designing an effective institutional and organisational partnership to deploy an inclusive niche-innovation in transport. This idea implies recognising the specific institutional settings to address the integration of the various *comunas* in Santiago, and thus building more equal and inclusive transport landscapes.

#### 8.3.4 The implementation of the BSS BikeSantiago

The implementation process in Chapter 7 provided an understanding of the subnational decision-making when implementing the BSS BikeSantiago, highlighting the role of inter-governmental agreements when deploying the BSS in Santiago to tackle inequalities. Results in this chapter showed a comprehension of simultaneous patterns of self-organisation and collaboration as an interaction of path-dependence and change (see Chapter 3) illustrated by the tendering process. The discussion is elaborated through the MLP, giving rise to relevant links between the institutional and operational levels.

The first discussion from the implementation process relates to the institutional levels, by linking the regional business model and the tendering process. The analysis in Chapter 7 showed a link between the regional business model and what was tendered subsequently, considering that the business model is public information. Therefore, this link between early decisions and the implementation stage evidences a sign on a mechanism creating an 'enabling environment' in Santiago.



Figure 8.24. Nested hierarchy of multiple levels of decision making in Santiago Metropolitan Area. Source: Own elaboration based on Geels (2002; 1261; 2012:52). See also Saud and Thomopoulos (2021).

Moreover, while findings showed that the three self-organised deployment practices in the wealthiest *comunas* did not match with the regional business model proposal (neither regional transport needs), the inter-governmental agreement did match with the technical offer in almost all aspects of the technical offer, apart from a deployment based on a corporate sustainability practice (Chapter 4). This match is significant in this research as it is a decision that helped to tackle self-organised practices, which effectively helped to start a mobility justice transition towards more equitable and inclusive transport deployments. This link is illustrated by the MLP in Figure 8.24. Here, the niche level consisted of a novel alliance between different comunas, in the attempt to raise a 'mobility change' in Santiago. The niche-innovation in Santiago that finally took shape had a multidirectional relational level: the transnational level - a foreign financial sponsor in alliance with a private operator financing the system via flexible branding and lease contracts (the PSI scheme, see Chapter 4 and 7) - and several local semi-autonomous decision-making units connecting to them via free concession contracts. Thus, Figure 8.24 illustrates the inter-governmental collaboration to deploy BikeSantiago inter-comunal bicycle sharing scheme. At the niche level, it represents a local decision-making unit contributing to forming a new regional mobility regime via deploying a single inter-comuna BSS scheme in Santiago (moving from A to B – Figure 8.24). Through this niche-actor alignment, the regime level is reconfigured by different institutional arrangements considering individual and collective contracts, which depend on the socio-economic position of each comuna, as the public tendering showed. The resulting mobility landscape-level showed that the inter-governmental agreement effectively incorporated heterogeneous geographic areas to achieve a unified inter-comunal system. These findings expressed the relevance of the inter-governmental collaboration between local governments playing a leading role in bringing 11 *comunas* together and totalling 14 comunas with a unified mobility system. Thus, this collaborative practice manifests a transformative strategy, suggesting collaborative practice as an incipient sign for a mobility justice transition pathway.

Worthy of note is the self-organised niche BiciLasCondes, which remained a single *comunal* scheme. Due to competitive organisational practices in bike-sharing and disputes between those service operators, this self-organised system could not be incorporated with the BikeSantiago scheme. Findings also revealed that the first inter*comunal* BSS was implemented via a PSI scheme as an individual private scheme without any active state involvement, as Chapter 7 showed. Equally, the BSS was deployed as a 'mobility cause' by the transnational financial sponsor; therefore, this

financial institution is in fact the lender-owner of the system, under a voluntary state rationale. These results are consistent with a type of philanthro-capitalism practice with a predefined cause in mobility (Chapter 4) being novel with respect to a mobility justice and transition research.

A second discussion provides links between the institutional and operational levels, focusing on the consequence of the rules, agreements and practices to deploy the BSS BikeSantiago. Links in rules refers to the decision over the regulatory conditions under which the BSS could be deployed in Santiago. Findings suggest that the deployment was done via a collaborative strategy based on flexible contracts 'less highly specific' to accommodate a corporate sustainability practice (the PSI scheme, for details, see Chapter 4), requiring a de-regulated context for its introduction. Here, the scheme led by Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A exerted pressure from the landscape level, re-organising the sub-national governance regime in Santiago.

From an institutional point of view, findings from both early decisions and in the public tendering indicate that flexible contracts also relate to a strategy of 'defection' (see Chapter 3) as the best alternative to effectively achieve a unified BSS in Santiago. As introduced previously, a strategy of 'defection' refers in this research to the free concession contracts, as the public tendering showed. While this strategy was present in the regional study aiming at increasing the profit formula, the analysis in Chapter 7 showed that this was the only alternative to achieve an inter-*comunal* system due to a branding restriction that the sponsor faced in deploying the BSS BikeSantiago.

As with the links in rules, links in practices relate to all those practices that made possible the BSS in Santiago. Chapters 7 and 8 showed that the network agreed in the public tendering presented critical conjunctures due to relational problems derived from the partnership design at the niche-level. These conjunctures were noticed in the organisational dilemmas and particularly regarding motivational and informational issues that culminated in being decisive in the distribution and perception of benefits. Indeed, results indicated that the flexible agreements influenced the operational levels in a more 'self-interested way'. This evidence also expresses a mismatch between the high-level goals agreed and the system performance. In this regard, self-organised practices conducted by the operator, such as control demand and informational problems, indicating difficulties in reaching the agreed objectives, leaving room for doubt about opportunistic behaviour when the service operator faced unexpected and unresolved issues in the first year of operation. This finding also reveals a rationality of an abstentionist state, and an absence of effective mediating bodies between civil society and institutions. This is demonstrated, for example, by the inability to provide a subsidy arguing a lack of trust between the key partners as well as the lack of capacity to address system failures and public values.

In this regard, the financial institution's reputation played a crucial role as the principal to address the shortcomings; however, its limitations became evident when addressing public values. In addition, results expressed tensions between collaboration due to this partnership design (the niche level) and an 'institutional and organisational vacuum' meaning a lack of recognition of the different capabilities and challenges that each actor faced in Santiago to build a robust relationship on the agreed interests. Indeed, results in Chapter 7 showed that the niche-level faces a key challenge in building up the process of a trust-building partnership towards common purposes, requiring work 'through' effective involvement, participation and deliberation based on transparency and trust (Hrelja et al., 2018). It implies the consideration of relevant features in partnership designs to enhance collaboration over time, face unexpected issues and build more robust and long-term contributions.

Moreover, findings associated with system performance suggest significant challenges on how niche-actors and partnerships are envisioned, recognised and relate in practice. Difficulties in sustaining commitment in a philanthropic-oriented practice also relate to poor incentives between the key partners to continue the collaboration. In a more relational perspective, this discussion implies that contracts should be seen as 'less highly specific and more reliant on process' (Hrelja et al., 2018:329). Flexibility in contracts entails a potential process of openness and learning to sustain commitment over time, stressing the need to work on common interests towards cohesion and avoiding working in an 'institutional and organisational vacuum', as seen in the operator's difficulties in the first year of deployment. However, results in Chapter 7 also indicate that the agreements were based on nested identity as a sub-national common value. Therefore, transformative urban and institutional practices were expressed by the key partners, suggesting a sign of a transition pathway towards a more inclusive deployment. However, it also stressed the need to understand that a fundamental component of a mobility justice transition is relational in nature, where public and private values must be constantly aligned.

#### 8.3.5 The Operational Level

System performance analysis of the BSS BikeSantiago examined current travel patterns, service levels and perceptions of benefits in order to understand the relationships between planning tools, agreements made and operational levels in both fostering and hindering more equal and inclusive mobility landscapes.

This analysis showed the significance of maintenance in the level of adoption, usage and perception of benefits, which is shaped by previous decision-making stages when looking at the agreements and decisions previously made regarding the signatory parties, their capabilities and what was agreed. These results suggest that not only the spatial availability of the service is sufficient to ensure its use and adoption, but also maintenance is strongly influenced by the characteristics of the partners and the partnership design. The novelty of this evidence in bike-sharing relates to the previous institutional and organisational settings in decision-making, a social cause without a state intervention that took shape in Santiago. In understanding maintenance, two supply chain management factors were found describing the BSS performance: a) a strategic bicycle distribution circuit and b) increased bicycle supply at strategic bicycle docking stations during peak hours.

Despite its positive effects in the short-term to manage the BSS BikeSantiago, findings in Chapter 8 (phase I) expressed the lack of a clearly defined framework of system management, deviating from the original common purpose of having this system in all 14 comunas. Findings on the operational levels showed a pattern of selforganised practice from a key partner who decides to unilaterally set up a demand control. These results showed that the collaborative agreements could not be achieved in practice, as a reduction of service levels was found affecting remote and less busy docking stations in terms of accessibility, equality and social inclusiveness, especially in deprived areas in Santiago. These findings are significant, considering the inter-governmental agreement and the Private Social Investment purpose in providing an effective access to a safe, affordable, and sustainable novel means of transport system in Santiago. These results are consistent with a 'voluntary state' rationale, as the PSI scheme led to, in practice, more "market opportunities rather than as political questions" (Nickel and Eikenberry 2013:2). Indeed, the maintenance of BikeSantiago evidenced logistical mechanisms that was influential in reproducing the social, environmental and economic inequalities in Santiago and that, to some degree, the niche-level was supposed to challenge.

Regarding problems with system performance and the impossibility for public institutions to have real-time information from the system, the construction of the alluvial diagrams and the circular dendrogram allowed illustrating this issue. This data visualisation showed the inter-*comunal* and multi-modal character of this BSS by providing the 'big picture' of the travel patterns not only in the strategic *comunas* where the fleet management strategy was found (i.e. the first-tier), but also allowed an understanding of the second-tier group of *comunas*, which are crucial components for the inter-*comunal* success of this BSS. The identification of the second tier *comunas* provided significant information on the actual system capacity in its first year of implementation, as current BSS users not only were residents of the 14 participating *comunas*, but also provided a regional view on the activities of the people using the system.

To understand the operational levels (macro-level) it was essential to examine the experiences of current users as a key factor for a mobility justice transition pathway. This was particularly relevant when carrying out the survey, as I perceived a high motivation of respondents to express their opinion and share their experiences. Thus, findings on low service level, i.e. bicycle returns, data errors and electronic payment problems, were found to be interrelated, which allowed to expand the relationship between planning tools, agreements made, and the operational levels. These findings were mainly corroborated by giving voice to the BSS travellers, which in turn they relate to the low levels of 'customer service communication', aggravated by the institutional context in Santiago, where public institutions could not actively participate in the operation of the system nor address public values (Chapter 7).

In connection with low service level results, it is relevant to discuss the findings of card payment problems through the lens of mobility justice as it raised significant concerns to data management and protection, especially at peak hours at 'lung' locations and at poorly maintained stations. In this regard, these results lead to red flags about exposing people to negative side effects derived from experimental technological deployments and de-regulated 'enabling environments', in the absence of clear legal and regulatory frameworks. These findings suggest a critical institutional and organisational juncture as a matter of social justice, requiring addressing at earlier decision-making processes, possible risks or abusive practices and thus to address public values as a priority, in the light of this unexpected outcome. The debate in this regard has just emerged, posing the challenge not only to provide access to such systems but also requiring ensure sufficient quality for safety reasons.

Despite the negative side effects of the results from the perception of benefits, they are, in general, favourable, allowing approaching the objective of becoming a real transport alternative. Likewise, it is important to stress the health and wellbeing benefits of BSS perceived. However, a remaining challenge is to ensure that such benefits also meet the different socio-spatial transport needs as a matter of equal concerns and, therefore, being able to treat the different *comunas* as equals.

To conclude, it is possible to state with these results that the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago is a contested niche-innovation in transport due to its decision-making process of deployment and the subsequence social outcomes here described. Worthy of note is the BSS operator replacement at the end of 2018, in light of a civil lawsuit due to widespread operational difficulties that became unsustainable over time, and which are beyond the scope of the analysis of this thesis. This replacement aimed at improving the initial system performance conditions described in Chapter 8. Nonetheless, the BSS challenged the governance regime as a niche-innovation, moving away from multiple and isolated decision-making silos to one with a complex but unified system at the regional level. As such, this empirical analysis highlighted the common challenges and uncertainties that niche-innovations may face.

Changes do not happen in a vacuum. This thesis created a recognition of the set of rules that must be considered to trigger processes of change. Considering for example the case of extra charges to users, the Chilean state must update the protection of personal data as the European states have done with respect to such protection. This argument also points to the role of the state assumed in this deployment, having to address the public values of access, equality and safety.

# **Chapter 9. Conclusions**

This thesis has sought to contribute to current research efforts about socio-technical transitions and mobility justice. In this sense, this thesis analysed the role of decision-making processes comprised in the deployment of niche-innovation in triggering transformative adaptations towards mobility justice transition by placing the focus on the early stages of a technological niche-deployment to analyse the internal congruence of its transition trajectory. Here it is argued that significant insights can be obtained in the relational dynamics between the institutional and operational levels to understand the character of the transition towards more inclusive and equal transport landscapes, examining possible alternatives for these purposes.

The research objective had a twofold purpose. On the one hand, literature on mobility justice (Chapter 3) stresses the need to focus on 'distributional' dimensions since critiques about transition studies very much focus on 'provisioning' dimensions, neglecting distributional aspects. This critique leads to analysing path-dependence that tends to perpetuate inequalities, and therefore, leads to unsustainable and unequal socio-technical systems. On the other hand, this thesis was motivated by the role of inter-governmental collaboration in addressing issues of distribution and equity at the sub-national levels of governance, exploring the rationale behind unequal socio-spatial patterns in regional development. This draws on the New Institutional Economics (NIE) framework and a set of analytical bodies of theories brought together for this purpose (Chapter 4).

The notion of self-organised practices (Ostrom, 1983) was crucial to reveal segregated and unequal socio-spatial metropolitan patterns linked to the concept of stratification, in the understanding that any system operates on the basis of perceptions of status, such as class, gender, race/ethnicity. The notion of self-organised practices as applied to territorial units highlighting critical differences among the subnational units to address distributional issues is a matter of public values in mobility justice. This perspective provided relevant insights into the mobility justice framework, allowing placing the focus on the differences in the capabilities of institutions, travel needs and challenges that each niche-actor faces, for example, institutions, organisations and civil society. Achieving the overarching research objective was also possible by incorporating a relational perspective, showing existent mismatches between capabilities, power and values over shared resources that indeed lead to disputes about resource distribution.

Engagement with the literature corporate sustainability and the on philanthrocapitalism framework offered an entry point into tensions, synergies and complexities in an environment of competing social and environmental needs and profitability such as that found in Santiago's BSS. This helped reveal the simultaneous patterns of inertia and change in a given trajectory of transition, here addressed in relation to organizational paradoxes. The corporate sustainability and philanthro-capitalism literature also contributed with a broader perspective to understanding relational issues resulting from agreements made. These are currently exploring innovations in mobility by highlighting institutional, organisational and operative levels, in particular in an attempt to address inclusive objectives. Paradoxes in organisation contributed significantly to a relational vision of the first inter-comunal BSS deployment in Santiago.

Another important contribution to the research comes in the literature on contracts. As the relational perspective focused on significant relationship-building processes, it enabled a 'big picture' of the institutional and organisational landscape. This perspective made it possible to shift the focus of BSS deployment from problemsolving to building partnership processes, stressing that differences in decision-making capabilities can be crucial in hindering or fostering issues in moving towards more cohesive operational scenarios. Therefore, by aligning high-level objectives to fulfil the agreements through processes of transparency, trust and deliberation comprised in a niche-deployment, it is possible to conclude that a mobility justice transition is also a relational issue.

## 9.1 Addressing the research question

This final chapter summarises key findings and returns to the original research question.

To remind the reader, the central question here posed asked:

How might a niche-innovation in transport lead to a mobility justice transition, considering the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago, Chile in the period 2011-2017 as a case study?

In order to address this research question, the thesis sought to analyse the role of decision-making processes in triggering transformative adaptations that account for

a mobility justice transition towards more equitable and inclusive mobility landscapes, considering the case of the first inter*-comunal* BSS in Santiago.

In this regard, three key sub-objectives helped to build an answer:

- To understand the institutional rationale behind the BSS regional business model as a planning tool to deploy the first *inter-comunal* BSS in Santiago in order to analyse its role in triggering a mobility justice transition.
- To provide linkages between institutional and operational levels to deploy the BSS in Santiago, highlighting the role of inter-governmental agreements in fostering or hindering the reproduction of inequalities.
- iii) To analyse the performance of BSS BikeSantiago considering the first year of its full operation in the 14 *comunas* in order to understand the relationships between planning tools, agreements made and the operational level in both fostering or hindering more equal and inclusive mobility landscapes.

To address the first research sub-objective, this research drew on insights in the literature from transition studies, business model innovation, and bicycle sharing systems, as in Figures 1.1 and 1.2 (see Chapter 1). Key findings on early decision-making analysis showed a particular rationale in the niche-level design process, where the regional business model and the construction of values comprised there were, in part, the planning tool to guide the potential decision-making process for the BSS deployment. This planning mechanism comprised those initial alignments at the sub-national level, envisaging a particular institutional-organisational dynamic. The role of the regional business model relied on two premises. While it expressed intentions to replicate a *dominant industry recipe*, it also showed an incipient transformative institutional adaptation as a *subject of innovation*, challenging existing centralised top-down- policies and local self-organised practices.

However, the rationale of the original proposal had significant biases based on the ideas of opening markets to replicate an industrial formula in BSS, disregarding potential negative effects about the reproduction of socio-spatial inequalities that the literature on bike-sharing has stressed. Through these results, such a planning mechanism proved to be limited to deal with a complex metropolitan-wide deployment process. Crucial challenges from these findings in the early stages of decision-

making related to how to address public value through integrative strategies in a niche-deployment in transport. Here, it was also recognised the horizontal differences in the metropolitan context in Santiago, yet vertically integrated with such niche-deployment.

Regarding the sub-objective ii) it may further be said that inter-governmental agreements and collaborative actions are crucial to challenging patterns of sociospatial inequality such as those seen in Greater Santiago. Indeed, results in Chapter 7 offered an understanding of simultaneous patterns of self-organisation and collaboration challenging the novel governance dynamic between the trans-national and the sub-national levels to implement the BSS in Santiago. This approach, combining several theoretical bodies, revealed links between the institutional and operational levels to provide an understanding of the role of decision-making processes in triggering transformative adaptations that account for a mobility justice transition, considering the case of the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago. In this regard, key findings relate to the relational rationale about how partners and partnerships are seen and designed and how they perform in practice. Differences regarding capabilities in conjunction with the institutional setting in decision-making led to isolated or self-organised practices, giving rise to difficulties to sustain the collaboration over time and, therefore, affecting the performance of the system.

Findings also revealed that the first inter-comunal BSS was implemented in 14 *comunas* via the Private Social Investment scheme. As the analysis in Chapter 7 showed, it was a highly hybridised pattern of governance in mobility, illustrating an asymmetry of power between a trans-national investment holding and their preference for building key partners with the sub-national governance regarding the degree of autonomy. Thus, this is a shift from the state responsibility as a political matter to a 'voluntary' will of firms. As a result, the system was deployed through a philanthro-capitalism action, or a 'mobility cause' as a practice in corporate sustainability, and a 'voluntary state' rationale, revealing a marked reduction in the size and role of the state in the deployment of the BSS BikeSantiago.

Worthy of note is that collaboration as an inter-governmental arrangement towards social inclusion proved to be a transformative strategy for change, given that Greater Santiago is a metropolitan context with high levels of socio-economic inequality and where decision-making capacity at the sub-national levels was found to be weak. Therefore, the inter-governmental arrangement could be argued pragmatically as the best available option to include more and diverse *comunas*. This statement also

expresses a political action to address such deployment in the attempt to include less advantaged areas; however, it was a weak agreement when examining the operational level of BikeSantiago. At the same time, this collaborative practice also raises critical institutional and social questions regarding the way partners were considered in the partnership design. It is important to highlight here the relevance of the institutional and organisational characteristics relating to values, norms and capabilities within partnership designs in pursuit of common goals.

Indeed, free concession contracts led to a weakening of the sub-national governance regime by depriving those who were included in the collaborative agreement of their decision-making capacity. This was due to the agreement on branding and the restrictions that the financial institution faced territorially to implement BikeSantiago through a PSI scheme, thus revealing certain self-organised practices in local governments as critical institutional and organizational conjunctures. In this regard, this decision was found to be a critical factor that discouraged the initial collaboration, also showing a mismatch between high-level goals agreed in the public tendering and performance activities. In addition, the implementation process showed tensions between collaboration and self-organised practices, recognizing that the intergovernmental agreement was made in a 'institutional and organisational vacuum', disregarding differences in capabilities and challenges that each actor faced to sustain commitments over time.

However, these findings are significant for institutional analysis research as they allow the focus to be placed on the design and construction of robust, flexible and sustainable partnerships. Here, capabilities, institutional setting and knowledge were found to be key partner features but more relevant was to understand that common interests, shared experiences, and values that bound them together were crucial to face unexpected issues. Collaboration and flexible arrangements posed a challenge regarding the need for a new relational perspective on emerging mobility contracts as "less highly specific and more reliant on process" (Hrelja et al., 2018:329), particularly in contexts where a single authority managing an emerging mobility deployment may not be sufficient to address organisational complexities in practice.

These observations about collaborative practices also suggest a need to focus on the time horizon of an intervention. The BSS seemed to be a problem-solving intervention accommodating an industry recipe while seeking to build trust-partnerships and yet seemed unable to face the real social challenges that such a deployment entail. Distributive concerns discussed in this thesis, through the lens of the NIE framework,

suggest working 'through' tensions and synergies to sustain collaboration and build cohesion. Therefore, a mobility justice transition was found to be a relational matter between key partners, namely the public sector, private sector and civil society. The discussion posed here involves understanding who and how key partners are recognised and embedded in a particular partnership design.

In approaching the sub-objective iii) it may be stated that the success of a transition pathway towards mobility justice is a constant institutional and organizational interaction that requires mediation on the basis of inclusion and deliberation processes. The analysis of the operational levels showed that system performance and maintenance are significant at the level of adoption, usage and perception of benefits, which are shaped by the different decision-making stages. At the operational levels, findings showed the lack of a clear framework of planning and management and a misalignment with initial high-level objectives in terms of effectively achieving the agreements for 14 *comunas* in Santiago. Here, a pattern of self-organised logistical practices from a key partner, who decides to unilaterally set up a strategy for controlling demand, reduced service level and therefore, affected the more remote and less busy docking stations, in particular in socio-economically deprived areas. Thus, the distributional sphere of BikeSantiago was not only a spatial matter but also a matter of a partnership design, where such mechanisms of control can also be influential in reproducing the social, environmental and economic inequalities.

Motivational and informational issues observed in the system performance, in conjunction with the public institutional governance context, revealed another crucial factor that discourages collaboration. Indeed, a complete disconnection between the different parties involved (private and public institutions, organisations and civil society) was found during the fieldwork, enabling self-organised practices at operational levels with unequal and unfair consequences, especially regarding the user's data management and the extra charges reported. This fact is evidenced by observing that information regarding the operation was found to be in the power only of the service operator, and even though I had access to the system's database, information about system performance was a contested matter. Indeed, people's travel and billing problems were very sensitive issues, and the operator already had a lawsuit in progress in this regard at the time of the fieldwork. It was therefore decided to create my own mechanisms for analysing the operational level. Hence, the construction of the alluvial diagrams and the circular dendrogram were crucial

tools to illustrate the 'big picture' of the system's performance, thus showing travel patterns, service level and the perception of benefits.

Through these data visualisation tools, it became possible to understand the fleet management strategy (i.e. the first tier or the busiest *comunas*), in addition to the second-tier group of *comunas* as the most remote and unattended locations. An understanding and mapping of second-tier *comunas* offered significant information on the actual system capacity in its first year of implementation, showing that current BSS travellers not only were residents of the 14 participating *comunas*, but instead providing a regional view of the system performance in the metropolitan context of Santiago.

Results of the perception of benefits were, in general, favourable, and the system was perceived as needed, partly resulting from the negative experiences associated with formal public transport as well as the distances and travel time that people in Santiago face to carry out their daily activities. Therefore, highlighted here are the health and accessibility benefits perceived. A remaining challenge is to ensure that such benefits also meet the different socio-spatial transport needs as a matter of equal concern.

Based on this synthesis of ideas, the research question of this thesis can be answered as follows: A niche-innovation in transport can trigger transformative processes towards fairer and more inclusive transport landscapes by challenging segregationist logics with collaborative actions as signs of change. This is possible by understanding their deployment process through the lens of decision-making. This helps to reveal the underlying rationale expressed in the set of rules, capabilities, alignments as well as how partners are seen and agree a partnership. Thus, as perceived in this case study, an initial step is to build an understanding of the institutional and governance setting. Changes do not happen in a vacuum, thus the recognition of the set of rules must be considered to trigger processes of changes. Likewise, partnerships supporting niche-innovations operate within norms, values and practices, which are socially and culturally conditioned, and in turn, are systematically shaped by the actions of society. Unfolding the rationale in decisionmaking and 'working through' tensions and synergies towards common interests, on the basis of transparency, collaboration, trust and deliberation, a mobility justice transition pathway can be created.

#### 9.2 Research contributions

The present research has made three types of contributions: theoretical, methodological and empirical contributions.

The first form of a contribution is to the literature in transition and mobility justice. This was possible by selecting elements of the NIE framework applied. This study focused on Santiago as a large city in South America, but findings are of wider interest, especially in Global South cities. This thesis examined the process of a BSS deployment and the decision-making scenario underpinning it, highlighting the main challenges faced by the institutions in doing so. By bringing insights from a mobility justice framework and the particular focus on NIE, this thesis was able to theoretically contribute with a Socio-Technical Transition perspective, specifically through the lens of the Multi-Level Perspective as a theory process applied. Essentially, this thesis reconceptualised the niche-regime-landscape dynamic as a multi-directional relationship in decision-making, both horizontal (the sub-national level) and vertical (the trans-national level) to settle the analysis of the deployment process of the first inter-*comunal* BSS in Santiago, a metropolitan context of high spatial and socio-economic inequalities.

The relevance of the NIE framework in a Multi-Level Perspective relates to three key dimensions: i) rules and norms embedded in an institution ii) institutions and organisations operating both in economic and institutional environments or settings and iii) the organisational 'arena' that comprises a given dynamic interaction, where actors experience tensions and complexities in the process of adaptation to institutions while strategically influencing them.

MLP and transition framework contributed to this research by providing a simplified way of approaching a complex non-linear phenomenon, understanding that a transition is a complex process of constant change, stability and adaptations. In transition research, the concept of the regime has been extensively studied from the set of rules perspective. However, this research contributes to transition theories by highlighting the role of institutions and organisations in decision-making and making explicit the focus of the distributive perspective as a relational matter in mobility justice, through an understanding of the rationale comprised in the values, rules, and practices applied. In this regard, it was possible to set a discussion not only on concerns about the failures of an 'enabling state' as Chile is usually characterised, but also about the 'enabling environment' that took place as an issue 'around the

state' regarding the focus of finance and the formalisation of these emerging mobility markets via a PSI scheme. This perspective gave room to a better discussion about the increasing governance hybridity in such technological deployments, making us recognise that the balance of power seems to be shifting to a more hybrid and transnational governance type, exemplified by the application of the philanthro-capitalism BSS deployment. Thus, this is also a philosophical discussion that places the focus on answering to which society we aspire, and the relevance of treating the institutions and individuals as equal. This means considering different capabilities and settings that influence the decision-making capabilities, particularly in weak institutional contexts such Santiago's poorer *comunas*.

In addition, BSS analysis and MLP have been largely used in the context of developed countries, extensively focusing on critical transition studies towards sustainable transport futures; however, social challenges in the Global South have been less explored from these angles. While recognising the urgency of decarbonisation concerns, this study criticises the rules and enforcement of rules considering that states have been restructured in order to minimise a direct intervention under the rationale on competitive practices and regulatory frameworks reframed to support entrepreneurial activities, as the regional business model analysis showed.

Urban transport inequalities and new technological deployments require an explicit and accurate analytical focus, addressed here from the donor-driven approach, particularly challenging in terms of institutional and organisational *conjunctures* in the context of the Global South. Thus, the MLP, mobility justice and the NIE perspective helped to provide a novel approach to visualise the main concerns of both state and market failure, which is exacerbated in such contexts.

Empirical contributions are highly relevant in light of these data. On the one hand, this thesis carried out a Multi-Level Perspective on a recent process of technological deployment in transport towards more utility cycling in Santiago, as described in Chapter 5. Beyond the focus on cycling, this thesis has sought to also present a niche-innovation promoting cycling, broadly as a mobility justice concern embedded in a multi-level governance dynamic. Thus, this thesis was able to articulate an accurate vision regarding the role of instruments, individuals, organisations and institutions to set up the analysis scene and answer the research question, considering a highly unequal metropolitan context. Thus, it was possible to raise the concerns of each key partner, the partnership design and setting as well as the
perceived benefits associated with the BSS deployment at the same time. In doing so, this thesis interviewed a broad range of stakeholders involved in the deployment at each stage of the process, introducing a holistic perspective on the path-dependency and change, in particular to the approaches taken to deploy a system in 14 *comunas* and the rationale comprised in their values, rules and practice.

Thus, this thesis contributes to the inter-governance collaboration debate through a novel perspective to approach it, and therefore, being able to discuss how an 'enabling environments' is built, from an institutional and organisational perspective, and thus to reflect on robust building trust-partnership processes. It implied shifting the focus on visualizing emerging mobilities as a short-term and problem-solving matter towards more relational processes. Therefore, this perspective allowed giving rise to tensions and synergies in collaboration and self-organised practices that challenged the reproduction of inequalities in Santiago. Thus, this analytical approach guided the analysis of agreements towards more reflective scenarios of inertia and change. This perspective, therefore, stressed the need to explore different relational forms to address social needs in context when a state does not have sufficient capacity to address public values. Hence, the philanthropic approach became a relevant analytical framework, taking into account the hybrid forms of governance we face nowadays. Thus, to address the research question, this thesis posed a 'paradox perspective' to address an approach of change rather than a contested vision. In fact, the territorial approach presented here is a contribution to the paradox theory by integrating the vision of collaboration and self-organisation to explain the mechanism that reproduces and challenges the socio-spatial inequalities and work through tensions and synergies in environments of competing social and environmental needs and profitability, considering the emerging mobility landscape. Such a perspective seems timely also due to COVID-19 and austerity challenges. The emerging mobility party is only just getting started and urges both scholars and practitioners to rethink the needs and meanings of transport regarding the urban, institutional and social challenges we are facing, where collaboration and collaborative actions are crucial.

Methodological contributions lie on the mix-method design and analysis as it allows conducting a comprehensive analysis over the phenomenon in focus, being able to combine and integrate different sources of data and key visualisation methods to answer the research question posed. Thus, this thesis addressed the distributive dimensions supported by this mixed-method approach. Furthermore, by developing key observational mechanisms as well as data visualisation and management techniques to both data collection and analysis, this thesis provided an explicit methodological contribution in mixed methods, highlighting that these mechanisms came from motivational and informational problems. Therefore, these issues contributed to answering the research question from a methodological perspective. Thus, it could be stated that the self-organised practices comprised in the decisionmaking within the institutional and organisational arena influenced the reproduction of inequalities considering the BSS deployment in Santiago as a case study. In this regard, the methodological contribution highlighted here relates to the key informational and data management issues as a matter of methodological design. It allowed shedding light on BSS management problems in relation to travel data records and personal data associated with credit cards, where the operational system appeared weak and easily corrupted. In light of these key operational insights, it is also possible to argue that this primary data also helped to identify a control group to support future research, even while this research pursued descriptive purposes and raised significant operational conflicts.

Alongside the institutional and the decision-making challenges of BSS deployment, the use of data visualisation tools stressing the operational and logistical challenges constitutes another contribution. Indeed, even the Sankey diagrams have been used in the literature to illustrate travel patterns (Oliveira et al., 2016; Shi et al., 2018; Vogel et al., 2014; Yan et al., 2018; Zhou, 2015). The contribution here is to have positioned the *comunas* as a unit of analysis in travel patterns terms. Dendrograms and alluvial diagrams used in this thesis contribute to the understanding of the BSS operational management between higher (first tier) and lower (second tier) *comunas*. The analysis and visualisation through these diagrams made it possible to quickly compare the performance of the operation (quality and quantity distributed) across *comunas*. This novel visualisation accounts for the principles required to visualise an operational level on an emerging mobility scheme, considering a fragmented metropolitan context facing motivational and informational problems.

In conclusion, it is important to note that the conceptualisation here developed was here understood as a transformative adaptation, or adaptive strategy aiming at both triggering changes and simultaneously creating/accommodating alternative systems to depart from unequal and dominant mobility regimes towards a more equal and inclusive mobility landscape. This suggestive conceptualisation through the lens of the Multi-Level Perspective was refined during the course of this research, highlighting the interlinked social and technological role to conduct a mobility justice transition research and to bring about more equal and inclusive transport landscapes. In particular, having answered the research question by clearly drawing attention to existing and dominant self-organised practices which are deeply socially embedded, nevertheless, it was aggravated by the 'artefactual' perspective on technologies.

To sum up, for building a mobility justice transition pathway, it is crucial to have elements and strategies in place that reinforce and maintain collaboration towards cohesion while contributing to reducing institutional and social biases. Likewise, in light of the theoretical and empirical approach, addressing the real societal challenges that mobility poses imply a relational matter, requiring a critical perspective over values, rules and practices that these technologies embody. This enables the conduct of activities that are significant for people, taking into account their differences in needs, capabilities, beliefs and settings that they deserve as everybody deserves to be treated as equal.

## 9.3 Limitations and future research

Common weaknesses and limitations due to a single case study define the first limitation. In this regard, a cross-sectional user survey across diverse cities or contexts would be beneficial, in addition to analysing and comparing the links between the institutional and operational levels in decision-making, and being able to determine the differences that foster or constrain both social and sustainability policies successfully. For example, the deployment of autonomous vehicles is a highly complex process that requires holistic multi-level views. From a sub-national research perspective, it would certainly be helpful to apply a survey to the whole BSS network and cross it with the database to highlight those perceptual aspects of the operation. This research explicitly critiques the generalised approach of the technological deployments and in particular, to the bike-sharing literature, which makes it difficult to analyse the perception of the benefits.

A theoretical limitation is the application of MLP on a single case study in a shortperiod of time. It would be valuable and insightful to contrast several case studies over a longer period of time under this theoretical and analytical approach. However, this thesis contributes with the approach and the necessary elements to be able to adequately conduct a comparative work, taking into account the complexity of the decision-making scenarios, mix-methods and therefore, the point of comparison. It would also be interesting to review the application of MLP and its common criticisms regarding the distributive dimensions (Geels, 2019). A longer analysis could allow identifying the pattern of social and sustainable transformations and may take into account the particularities of different contexts (Shove and Walker, 2010). Equally, it is highly relevant to work with sub-national research and MLP to compare different governance styles and to discuss their decision-making challenges, expanding the notion of fragmented metropolitan settings to different governance settings.

In line with contemporary debates, participatory processes of technological niche deployment require an explicit social justice framework to address issues in participation and deliberation, which also constitutes a limitation of this research as it requires a more interventionalist approach. Participatory Action Research methods, in conjunction with collaborative learning processes between different institutions, organisations and civil society, as well as grassroots and bottom-up innovations (Nixon and Schwanen, 2018) in emerging mobility deployments, are all future studies that strengthen a more integrative social justice perspective. This in turn is particularly relevant in drawing attention to the challenges faced by the philanthropic context, which needs to be supported with a holistic institutional perspective, which is also a future study envisaged.

Given the sub-national issues and the nature of the resources raised with their branding constraints, the need arises here to rethink how 'enabling environments', and partnership design are built to address public values, assuming increasing hybridity of governance, as seen through BikeSantiago. While it is important to explore flexible and novel tools of planning which are more reliant on processes, current societal and governance challenges require novel social and institutional approaches and thus, avoiding working separately with social and institutional complexities in mobility justice (Mullen et al., 2014; Backhaus et al., 2019; Signor et al., 2019). In other words, this is a concern when contrasting accessibility objectives and equity principles with policy-making priorities and capabilities (Clark and Curl, 2016; Hickman et al., 2020; Nikitas, 2019; Pajarito et al., 2018; Thomopoulos and Grant-Muller, 2013; Thomopoulos and Nikitas, 2019).

Since the data visualisation of BSS constitutes a contribution to the literature of bikesharing, operational arenas require innovative tools to further interact with institutional levels, in a dynamic dialogue for emerging niches and data management, particularly in a context where different niches co-exist. For example, the service provider Serco and Transport for London (TfL) have a public-private alliance to maintain a high level of availability of Santander Bikes. Thus, data visualisation dynamically integrated with the institutional and operational levels could lead to a more efficient, equitable, and ethical distribution of a niche, and thus addressing its public values.

... the only thing that actually works is not ideological, it is impure, has elements of both arguments and never actually achieves any kind of partisan or philosophical perfection. It's pragmatic, it includes the best aspects of socialistic thought and of free market capitalism and it works because we don't let it work entirely ... (David Simon, The Observer, Sunday 8 December 2013)

http://www.theguardian.com/world/2013/dec/08/david-simon-capitalism-marxtwo-americas-wire (accessed 11/03/18)

## References

Adey, P., Bissell, D., Hannam, K., Merriman, P., & Sheller, M. (2014). *The Routledge Handbook of Mobilities*. London: Routledge.

Adnan, Muhammad, Altaf, Shahbaz, Bellemans, Tom, Yasar, Ansar-ul-Haque, & Shakshuki, Elhadi M. (2019). Last-mile travel and bicycle sharing system in small/medium sized cities: User's preferences investigation using hybrid choice model. *Journal of Ambient Intelligence and Humanized Computing*, *10*(12), 4721-4731.

Aguilar-Barojas, S. (2005). Fórmulas para el cálculo de la muestra en investigaciones de salud en Tabasco, vol. 11, núm. 1-2, , pp. 333-338 Secretaría de Salud del Estado de Tabasco Villahermosa, México.

Agyeman, J., & McLaren, D. (2017). Sharing Cities. *Environment: Science and Policy for Sustainable Development*, 59(3), 22-27.

Alam, M., Ferreira, J., Fonseca, J., (2016). Intelligent Transport Systems. Springer, New York.

Alasdair M. (1982). How Moral Agents Became Ghosts or Why the History of Ethics Diverged from That of the Philosophy of Mind. *Synthese (Dordrecht), 53*(2), 295-312.

Aligica, P. D., Boettke, P. J. & Tarko, V. (2019) 'Public Governance and the Classical-Liberal Perspective', Public Governance and the Classical-Liberal Perspective, (November), pp. 1–24. doi: 10.1093/oso/9780190267032.001.0001.

Aligica, P. D. & Tarko, V. (2012) 'Polycentricity: From Polanyi to Ostrom, and Beyond', governance, 25(2), pp. 237–262. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0491.2011.01550.x.

Andersson, Krister P, & Ostrom, Elinor. (2008). Analyzing Decentralized Resource Regimes from a Polycentric Perspective. *Policy Sciences*, *41*(1), 71-93.

Aram, J. D. (1989). The paradox of interdependent relations in the field of social issues in management. Academy of Management Review, 14(2), 266–283. doi:10.5465/AMR.1989.4282119.

Arnove, Robert F. 1980. "Introduction." In *Philanthropy and Cultural Imperialism: The Foundations at Home and Abroad*, ed. Arnove, Robert F., 1–24. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.

Assens, Christophe, Bartoli, Annie, & Hermel, Philippe. (2019). Cooperative competition? The ambivalence of coopetition in territorial authorities. *International Review of Administrative Sciences*, *85*(3), 457-472.

Aylwin, P. & Azócar, E. (1996) *Derecho administrativo*. Editorial Universidad Nacional Andres bello. Santiago, Chile.

Andersson, K., & Ostrom, E. (2008). Analyzing Decentralized Resource Regimes from a Polycentric Perspective. *Policy Sciences* 41: 71–93.

Andion, C., Becker, Y., & Victor, I. (2012). Is Private Social Investment A Form of Public Goods Coproduction? An Overview Of The Brazilian Reality. *Annals of Public and Cooperative Economics*, 83(3), 407-433.

Andriopoulos, C., & Gotsi, M. (2017) 'Methods of Paradox', Oxford Handbook of Organizational Paradox, (June), pp. 1–20. doi: 10.1093/oxfordhb/9780198754428.013.26.

Backhaus, W., Rupprecht S., & Rupprecht D.F (2019). Road Vehicle Automation in Sustainable Urban Mobility Planning. Retrieved from https://www.eltis.org/sites/default/files/road\_vehicle\_automation\_in\_sustainable\_urban\_mobi lity\_planning\_0.pdf.

Baden-Fuller, Ch., & Haefliger, S. (2013). Business Models and Technological Innovation. *Long Range Planning, 46*(6), 419-426.

Baden-Fuller, Ch., & Mangematin, V. (2013). Business models: A Challenging agenda. *Strategic Organization, 11*(4), 418-427.

Bakogiannis, E., Siti, M., Tsigdinos, S., Vassi, A. & Nikitas, A. (2019). Monitoring the first dockless bike sharing system in Greece: Understanding user perceptions, usage patterns and adoption barriers *Research in Transportation Business & Management*. Volume 33, December 2019, 100432.

Bedeley, R., Iyer, L., Sills, S., & Damera, D. (2017). "Quality of Life Explorer Prototype to Address Socio-economic Problems: A Design Science Approach". Proceedings of the Pre-ICIS 2017 SIGDSA Symposium. 7. http://aisel.aisnet.org/sigdsa2017/7.

Beckert, J. (2002). *Beyond the Market: The Social Foundations of Economic Efficiency.* Princeton, USA: Princeton University Press.

Beckert, J. (2010). How Do Fields Change? The Interrelations of Institutions, Networks, and Cognition in the Dynamics of Markets. *Organization Studies*, *31*(5), 605–627. https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840610372184.

Bergek, A. Jacobsson, S., Carlsson, B., Lindmark, S., & Rickne, A. (2008). Analyzing the functional dynamics of technological innovation systems: A scheme of analysis. *Research Policy*, *37*(3), 407-429.

Bergek, A., Jacobsson, S., & Sandén, B. A. (2008). 'Legitimation' and 'development of positive externalities': Two key processes in the formation phase of technological innovation systems. *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management, 20*(5), 575-592.

Bernstein, R., (2010). The pragmatic turn. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Beswick, J., Alexandri, G., Byrne, M., Vives-Miró, S., Fields, D., Hodkinson, S., & Janoschka, M. (2016). Speculating on London's housing future. *City (London, England), 20*(2), 321-341.

Beyazit, Eda. (2011). Evaluating Social Justice in Transport: Lessons to be Learned from the Capability Approach. *Transport Reviews*, *31*(1), 117-134.

Bidmon, Ch., & Knab, S. (2018). The three roles of business models in societal transitions: New linkages between business model and transition research. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *178*, 903-916.

Bijker, H., Pinch, B., Wiebe E, H., Thomas P., & Pinch, T. J. (1987). *The Social construction of technological systems : New directions in the sociology and history of technology / edited by Wiebe E. Bijker, Thomas P. Hughes, and Trevor J. Pinch.* Cambridge, Mass. ; London: MIT Press.

Bijker, W., Law, J., & American Council of Learned Societies. (1992). Shaping technology/building society: Studies in sociotechnical change / edited by Wiebe E. Bijker and John Law. (Inside technology). Cambridge, Mass.; London: MIT Press.

Bishop, Matthew, and Green, Michael. 2008. *Philanthrocapitalism: How the Rich Can Save the World*. London: Bloomsbury Press

Bixler, R. Patrick. (2014). From Community Forest Management to Polycentric Governance: Assessing Evidence from the Bottom Up. *Society & Natural Resources*, *27*(2), 155-169.

Blomquist, W. (2009). "Multi-level Governance and Natural Resource Management: The Challenges of Complexity, Diversity, and Uncertainty." In Institutions and Sustainability, eds. Volker Beckmann and Martina Padmanabhan. Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer Science + Business Media B.V., 109-126.

Bocken, N., Short, S., Rana, P., & Evans, S. (2013). A value mapping tool for sustainable business modelling. *Corporate Governance (Bradford), 13*(5), 482-497.

Bocken, N., Short, S., Rana, P., & Evans, S. (2014). A literature and practice review to develop sustainable business model archetypes. *Journal of Cleaner Production, 65*, 42-56.

Bocken, N. et al. (2013). 'A value mapping tool for sustainable business modelling', Corporate Governance (Bingley), 13(5), pp. 482–497. doi: 10.1108/CG-06-2013-0078.

Bohnsack, R., Pinkse, J., & Kolk, A. (2014). Business models for sustainable technologies: Exploring business model evolution in the case of electric vehicles. *Research Policy*, *43*(2), 284-300.

Bolton, Ronan, & Hannon, Matthew. (2016). Governing sustainability transitions through business model innovation: Towards a systems understanding. *Research Policy*, *45*(9), 1731-1742.

Bonn, Ingrid, & Fisher, Josie. (2011). Sustainability: The missing ingredient in strategy. *The Journal of Business Strategy*, *32*(1), 5-14.

Boons, F., & Lüdeke-Freund, F. (2013). Business models for sustainable innovation: State-of-the-art and steps towards a research agenda. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *45*, 9-19.

Boons, F., Montalvo, C., Quist, J., & Wagner, M. (2013). Sustainable innovation, business models and economic performance: An overview. *Journal of Cleaner Production, 45*, 1-8.

Boyatzis, Richard E (1998). *Transforming qualitative information: Thematic analysis and code development / Richard E. Boyatzis*. Thousand Oaks, CA; London: SAGE.

Bozeman, B. (2007). *Public values and public interest counterbalancing economic individualism / Barry Bozeman*. (Public management and change). Washington, D.C.: Georgetown University Press.

Brammer, S., Jackson, G., & Matten, D. (2012). Corporate social responsibility and institutional theory: New perspectives on private governance. Socio-Economic Review, 10(1), 3–28. https:// doi.org/10.1093/ser/mwr030.

Brenner, N. & Schmid, C. (2015). 'Towards a new epistemology of the urban?' *City*, 19 (2–3),151–182.

Brinkhoff, T. (2020) *City Population,* Retrieved from https://www.citypopulation.de/en/world/agglomerations/

Bryman, A. (2016). Social research methods / Alan Bryman. (4th ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Bryson, J., Crosby, B., & Bloomberg, L. (2014). Public Value Governance: Moving beyond Traditional Public Administration and the New Public Management. *Public Administration Review*, *74*(4), 445-456.

Buchanan, J. M. (1977). "The Samaritan's Dilemma," in *Freedom in Constitutional Contract: Perspectives of a Political Economist*. College Station: Texas A&M University Press, 169–80

Bullock, C., Brereton, F., & Bailey, S. (2017). The economic contribution of public bike-share to the sustainability and efficient functioning of cities. *Sustainable Cities and Society, 28*, 76-87.

Butelmann, A., & Drexler, A. (2003) 'Elementos para la agenda de discusión', "Estado y Economía" del Encuentro de la Sociedad de Economía de Chile.

Cairney, P. (2018). Three habits of successful policy entrepreneurs. *Policy and Politics*, *46*(2), 199-215.

Cairney, P. (2019). *Understanding Public Policy* (Textbooks in Policy Studies). London: Macmillan Education UK.

Calton, J. M., & Payne, S. L. (2003). Coping with paradox: Multistakeholder learning dialogue as a pluralist sensemaking process for addressing messy problems. Business and Society, 42(1), 7–42. doi:10.1177/0007650302250505.

Canitez, F. (2019). Urban public transport systems from new institutional economics perspective: A literature review. *Transport Reviews*, *39*(4), 511-530.

Carlisle, K. (2018). *Governing Complexity: Polycentricity and Customary Property Rights in the Commons*. Department of Human Dimensions of Natural Resources. Colorado State University.

Carlisle, Keith, & Gruby, Rebecca L. (2019). Polycentric Systems of Governance: A Theoretical Model for the Commons. *Policy Studies Journal, 47*(4), 921-946.

Carlsson, B., & Stankiewicz, R., (1991). On the nature, function and composition of technological systems. *Journal of Evolutionary Economics* 1, pp. 93–118.

Carrasco, J., & Lucas, K. (2019). Measuring the influence of social capital and personal networks on transport disadvantage.

Carroll, T., (2012). "Working On, Through and Around the State: The deep marketisation of development in the Asia-Pacific", Journal of Contemporary Asia, 42(3): 378-404.

Casadesus-Masanell, Ramon, & Zhu, Feng. (2013). Business model innovation and competitive imitation: The case of sponsor-based business models. *Strategic Management Journal, 34*(4), 464-482.

Chapman, R., Howden-Chapman, P., Keall, M., Witten, K., Abrahamse, W., Woodward, A., & Grams, M. (2014). Increasing active travel: Aims, methods and baseline measures of a quasi-experimental study. *BMC Public Health*, *14*(1), 935.

Chesbrough, Henry. (2010). Business Model Innovation: Opportunities and Barriers. Long Range Planning, 43(2), 354-363.

Clark, J., & Curl, A. (2016). Bicycle and Car Share Schemes as Inclusive Modes of Travel? A Socio-Spatial Analysis in Glasgow, UK. *Social Inclusion*, *4*(3).

Classen S, Lopez ED, Winter S, Awadzi KD, Ferree N, Garvan CW. "Population-Based Health Promotion Perspective for Older Driver Safety: Conceptual Framework to Intervention Plan" *Clinical Interventions in Aging.* 2007;2(4):677–93.

Clough, Emily. 2015. "Effective Altruism's Political Blind Spot." Boston Review, July 14.

Cochran, W.G. (2007). Sampling techniques. John Wiley & Sons.

Coenen, L., Benneworth, P., & Truffer, B., (2012). Toward a spatial perspective on sustainability transitions. Research Policy, 41 (6), pp. 968-979.

Coenen, L., & Truffer, B., (2012). Places and spaces of sustainability transitions: geographical contributions to an emerging research and policy field. Introduction to the Special Issue Sustainability Transitions and the role for Geography. European Planning Studies, 20 (3), pp. 367–374.

Cohen, G. (2011). Equality of what? On the Currency of Egalitarian Justice, and Other Essays in Political Philosophy (p. 44). Princeton University Press.

Coll, M., Vandersmissen, M., & Thériault, Marius. (2014). Modelling spatio-temporal diffusion of carsharing membership in Québec City. *Journal of Transport Geography, 38*, 22-37.

Contreras, R., Navarrete, C., Arias G. (2016). Santiago's 2012 origin-destination survey: the evolution of accessibility scenarios. SECTRA, Ministerio de Transportes y Telecomunicaciones, Chile.

Cook, N. & Butz, D. (2018). 'Gendered mobilities in the making: Moving from pedestrian to vehicular mobility landscape in Shimshal, Pakistan'. *Social & Cultural Geography*, 19(5), 606–625.

Cook, N., & D. Butz. (2019). "Moving toward Mobility Justice." *In Mobilities, Mobility Justice and Social Justice*, edited by N. Cook and D. Butz, 3–21. London and New York: Routledge.

Craw, M. (2010). Deciding to Provide: Local Decisions on Providing Social Welfare. American Journal of Political Science 54:906–20.

Craw, Michael. (2015). Caught at the Bottom? Redistribution and Local Government in an Era of Devolution. *State & Local Government Review*, 47(1), 68-77.

Craw, M. (2017). Institutional Analysis of Neighborhood Collective Action. *Public Administration Review*, 77(5), 707-717.

Cresswell, T. (2006). On the Move: Mobility in the Modern Western World (1st ed.). Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203446713</u>.

Creswell, & Plano Clark. (2011). *Designing and conducting mixed methods research / John W. Creswell, Vicki L. Plano Clark* (2nd ed.) Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Creswell, & Plano Clark. (2018). *Designing and conducting mixed methods research / John W. Creswell, Vicki L. Plano Clark.* (Third edition.; International student ed.).

Crisp, R., & Slote, M. (Eds.). (1997). Virtue Ethics, Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Crutchley, A., & Kubitz, B. (2019). *Bike share and vandalism*. Retrieved from https://static1.squarespace.com/static/57535cc1b09f95345f7e8fa7/t/5daf1c49d4480836b7 5f7fd5/1571757130292/Vandalism+one-page+summary.pdf.

Da Silveira, André R, & Richards, Keith S. (2013). The Link Between Polycentrism and Adaptive Capacity in River Basin Governance Systems: Insights from the River Rhine and the Zhujiang (Pearl River) Basin. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers, 103*(2), 319-329.

Davison, Lisa J, & Knowles, Richard D. (2006). Bus quality partnerships, modal shift and traffic decongestion. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 14(3), 177-194.

Dávila, JD, & Brand, P. (2012). La gobernanza del transporte público urbano: Indagaciones alrededor de los Metrocables de Medellín. *Revista Bitacora , 21 (2) 85 - 96. (2012),* Revista Bitacora , 21 (2) 85 - 96. (2012).

Day, R. (2008). The technology evolving culture: Character and consequence. *Journal of Evolutionary Economics, 18*(3), 313-322.

Dean, J. (2015). "Volunteering, the Market, and Neoliberalism." *People, Place and Policy* 9 (2): 139–48.

DFID. (1997), "Eliminating World Poverty: A Challenge for the 21st Century", White Paper on International Development, DFID, London (November).

Docherty, I., Marsden, G., & Anable, J. (2018). The governance of smart mobility. *Transportation Research. Part A, Policy and Practice, 115*, 114-125. Docherty, I. (2018). New Governance Challenges in the Era of 'Smart' Mobility. In *Governance of the Smart Mobility Transition* (pp. 19-32). Emerald Publishing Limited.

Downs, A. (1994). *New visions for metropolitan America / Anthony Downs*. Washington, D.C: Cambridge, Mass: Brookings Institution ; Lincoln Institute of Land Policy

Drisko, James, & Maschi, Tina. (2015). *Content Analysis* (Pocket Guides to Social Work Research Methods). New York: Oxford University Press. Duran, A., Anaya-Boig, E., Shake, J, Garcia, L., Rezende, L., & Hérick de Sá, T. (2018). Bicycle-sharing system socio-spatial inequalities in Brazil. *Journal of Transport & Health*, 8.

Duran-Rodas, D., Villeneuve, D., Pereira, F., & Wulfhorst, G. (2020). How fair is the allocation of bike-sharing infrastructure? Framework for a qualitative and quantitative spatial fairness assessment. *Transportation Research. Part A, Policy and Practice, 140*, 299-319.

Dwork, C., Hardt, M., Pitassi, T., Reingold, O., & Zemel, R. (2012). Fairness through awareness. *Proceedings of the 3rd Innovations in Theoretical Computer Science Conference*, 214-226.

Dworkin, R. (2000). Sovereign virtue: The theory and practice of equality / Ronald Dworkin. Cambridge, Mass.; London: Harvard University Press.

Eaton, K. (2004). Designing Subnational Institutions: Regional and Municipal Reforms in Post authoritarian Chile. *Comparative Political Studies*, 37(2), 218-244.

Eaton, K. (2020). Latin American Politics and the Subnational Comparative Method: Vertical and Horizontal Challenges. *Latin American Politics and Society*, *62*(3), 149-172.

Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC). (2019). Critical obstacles to inclusive social development in Latin America and the Caribbean: background for a regional agenda (LC/CDS.3/3), Santiago.

Edwards, Michael. 2015. "Why It's Time to Say Goodbye to 'Doing Good and Doing Well." *Transformation*, December 9.

Eikenberry, A. & Mirabella R. (2018). "Extreme Philanthropy: Philanthrocapitalism, Effective Altruism, and the Discourse of Neoliberalism." PS, *Political Science & Politics 51.1*: 43-47. Web.

Elvik, Rune. (2001). Area-wide urban traffic calming schemes: A meta-analysis of safety effects. *Accident Analysis and Prevention, 33*(3), 327-336.

Elzen, B., Geels, F.W., & Green, K. (eds.). (2004). System Innovation and the Transition to Sustainability: Theory, Evidence and Policy. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham.

Envall, P. (2015). ICT and planning for increased cycling in Europe – now and tomorrow. In *ICT for Transport* (NECTAR Series on Transportation and Communications Networks Research, pp. 179-202). Edward Elgar Publishing.

Erdoğan, G., Battarra, M., & Wolfler Calvo, R. (2015). An exact algorithm for the static rebalancing problem arising in bicycle sharing systems. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 245(3), 667-679.

Escobar, A. (2018). Designs for the pluriverse: Radical interdependence, autonomy, and the making of worlds / Arturo Escobar. (New ecologies for the twenty-first century).

Eubanks, V. (2018). Automating inequality: How high-tech tools profile, police, and punish the poor / Virginia Eubanks.

Everuss, L. (2019). "Mobility Justice": A new means to examine and influence the politics of mobility. *Applied Mobilities,* 4(1), 132-137.

Fagerberg, J. (2003). Schumpeter and the revival of evolutionary economics: An appraisal of the literature. *Journal of Evolutionary Economics*, *13*(2), 125-159.

Farla, J., Markard, J., Raven, R., & Coenen, L. (2012). Sustainability transitions in the making: A closer look at actors, strategies and resources. *Technological Forecasting & Social Change*, *79*(6), 991-998.

Farjoun, M. (2010). Beyond Dualism: Stability And Change As A Duality. Academy of Management. The Academy of Management Review, 35(2), 202-225.

Faundez, J. (2016). Douglass North's Theory of Institutions: Lessons for Law and Development. *Hague Journal on the Rule of Law : HJRL, 8*(2), 373-419.

Ferscha, A, Farrahi, K, Van den Hoven, J, Hales, D, Nowak, A, Lukowicz, P, & Helbing, D. (2012). Socio-inspired ICT: Towards a socially grounded society-ICT symbiosis. *The European Physical Journal. ST, Special Topics, 214*(1), 401-434.

Figueroa Martínez, Cristhian, Hodgson, Frances, Mullen, Caroline, & Timms, Paul. (2019). Walking through deprived neighbourhoods: Meanings and constructions behind the attributes of the built environment. *Travel, Behaviour & Society, 16*, 171-181.

Fishman, E., Washington, S., & Haworth, N. (2012). Barriers and facilitators to public bicycle scheme use: A qualitative approach. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 15*(6), 686-698.

Fishman, E. (2016). Bikeshare: A review of recent literature. Transport Reviews, 36(1), 92-113.

Fishman, E., Washington, S., & Haworth, N.. (2012). Barriers and facilitators to public bicycle scheme use: A qualitative approach. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 15*(6), 686-698.

Fishman, E., Washington, S., & Haworth, N. (2013). Bike share: a synthesis of the literature. Transport reviews, 33(2), 148-165.

Fishman, E., Washington, S., & Haworth, N. (2015). Bikeshare's impact on active travel: Evidence from the United States, Great Britain, and Australia. *Journal of Transport & Health*, *2*(2), 135-142.

Fiss, Peer C, & Zajac, Edward J. (2006). The Symbolic Management of Strategic Change: Sensegiving via Framing and Decoupling. *Academy of Management Journal, 49*(6), 1173-1193.

Flyvbjerg, B. (2006). From Nobel Prize to Project Management: Getting Risks Right. Project *Management Journal*, 37(3), 5-15.

Frantzeskaki, N., & Loorbach, D. (2010). Towards governing infrasystem transitions: Reinforcing lock-in or facilitating change? *Technological Forecasting & Social Change*, 77 (8), pp. 1292-1301.

Fraser, N., (1998a), "From Redistribution to Recognition? Dilemmas of Justice in a "Post-Socialist" Age. In C Willet (ed) *Theorising Multiculturalism: a Guide to the Current Debate*, Malden and Oxford: Blackwell, pp 19-49.

Fraser, N., (1998b), "A Rejoinder to Iris Young". In C Willet (ed) *Theorising Multiculturalism:* a Guide to the Current Debate, Malden and Oxford: Blackwell; pp 68-72.

Fraser N., (1996), "Social Justice in the Age of Identity Politics: Redistribution, Recognition, and Participation", *The Tanner Lectures on Human Values*. Stanford University April 30–May 2. [http://tannerlectures.utah.edu/lectures/documents/Fraser98.pdf] [Accessed: 30/05/2013] Freeman, C. (1987). Technology Policy and Economic Performance: Lessons from Japan. London: Pinter Publishers Ltd.

Frediani, A., Cociña, C., Bhan, G., Lwasa, S., Peña Díaz., J. & Levy, C., (2020). *Institutional capabilities towards urban equality: Reflections from the KNOW programme in Bangalore, Kampala and Havana*. Knowledge in Action for Urban Equality. KNOW Working Paper Series N4. <u>www.urban-know.com/resources</u>

Freeman, C. (1994). The economics of technical change. Cambridge Journal of Economics, 1994 (18), pp. 463-514.

Freeman, C. & Perez, C. (1988). Structural crises of adjustment, business cycles and investment behaviour. In Dosi, et al., 1988. Technical Change and Economic Theory. London, New York: Pinter Publishers.

Ffrench-Davis, R., López, E., & Arriagada, C. (2013). Chile Urbano hacia el siglo XXI. Investigaciones y reflexiones de política urbana desde la Universidad de Chile. Crecimiento Desigual económico y urbano: desafíos de políticas pro equidad para las ciudades de las próximas décadas. (pp.149-159) Santiago de Chile: Universitaria.

Friedman M. (2009), "The Social Responsibility of Business is to Increase Its Profits." In *Ethical Theory and Business 8th Edition*, ed. by Tom L. Beauchamp, Norman E. Bowie, and Denis G. Arnold (New Jersey: Pearson, 2009), 55.

Foxley, A., Tironi, E. & Larrain, F. (2017). Perspectivas sobre la segunda transición. Cieplan. ISBN: 978-956-204-076-1. Santiago, Chile.

Fünfschilling, L., (2014). A dynamic model of socio-technical change. Institutions, actors and technologies in interaction. PhD Thesis, University of Basel. Available at: http://edoc.unibas.ch/34479/1/Fuenfschilling\_Edissertation.pdf [Last accessed: 05/09/2016]

Fuenfschilling, L., & Truffer, B. (2014). The structuration of socio-technical regimes— Conceptual foundations from institutional theory. *Research Policy*, *43*(4), 772-791.

Fünfschilling, L., & Truffer, B. (2016). The interplay of institutions, actors and technologies in socio-technical systems – An analysis of transformations in the Australian urban water sector. Technological Forecasting and Social Change (103), 298-312. *Technological Forecasting & Social Change*, *103*, 298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2015.11.023.

Fünfschilling, L., Binz, C. (2018). Global socio-technical regimes, Res. Policy 47 (4) 735–749.

Galaz, Victor, Crona, Beatrice, Österblom, Henrik, Olsson, Per, & Folke, Carl. (2012). Polycentric systems and interacting planetary boundaries — Emerging governance of climate change–ocean acidification–marine biodiversity. *Ecological Economics*, *81*, 21-32.

Gao, J., & Bansal, P. (2013). Instrumental and integrative logics in business sustainability. Journal of Business Ethics, 112(2), 241–255. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1245-2.

Garud, R., Hardy, C., & Maguire, S. (2007). Institutional Entrepreneurship as Embedded Agency: An Introduction to the Special Issue. *Organization Studies*, *28*(7), 957–969. https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840607078958.

Geels, F. (2002). Technological transitions as evolutionary reconfiguration processes: A multilevel perspective and a case-study. *Research Policy*, *31*(8-9), 1257-1274.

Geels, F. (2004). From sectoral systems of innovation to socio-technical systems: Insights about dynamics and change from sociology and institutional theory. *Research Policy*, *33*(6), 897-920.

Geels, F. (2005a). The dynamics of transitions in socio-technical systems: A multi-level analysis of the transition pathway from horse-drawn carriages to automobiles (1860-1930). *Technology Analysis and Strategic Management,* 17 (4), pp. 445-476.

Geels, F. (2005b). Co-evolution of technology and society: The transition in water supply and personal hygiene in the Netherlands (1850–1930)—a case study in multi-level perspective. *Technology in Society*, 27 (3), pp. 363-397.

Geels, F. (2006). Co-evolutionary and multi-level dynamics in transitions: The transformation of aviation systems and the shift from propeller to turbojet (1930–1970). *Technovation*, 26, pp. 999–1016.

Geels, F. (2007). Analysing the breakthrough of rock 'n' roll (1930-1970): Multi-regime interaction and reconfiguration in the multi-level perspective. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 74 (8), pp. 1411-1431.

Geels, F. (2010). Ontologies, socio-technical transitions (to sustainability), and the multi-level perspective. Research Policy, 39 (4), pp. 495-510.

Geels, F. (2011). The Multi-Level Perspective on Sustainability Transitions: Responses to Seven Criticisms. Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions. 1. 24–40. 10.1016/j.eist.2011.02.002.

Geels, F. (2012). Automobility in transition? A socio-technical analysis of sustainable transport / edited by Frank W. Geels [et al.]. (Routledge studies in sustainability transitions; 2). New York; London: Routledge.

Geels, F. (2019). Socio-technical transitions to sustainability: A review of criticisms and elaborations of the Multi-Level Perspective. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, *39*, 187-201.

Geels, F. (2020). Micro-foundations of the multi-level perspective on socio-technical transitions: Developing a multi-dimensional model of agency through crossovers between social constructivism, evolutionary economics and neo-institutional theory. *Technological Forecasting & Social Change, 152*, 119894.

Geels, F. & Raven, R. (2006). Non-linearity and Expectations in Niche-Development Trajectories: Ups and Downs in Dutch Biogas Development (1973–2003). *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management, 18*(3-4), 375-392.

Geels, F. & Schot, J. (2007a). Typology of socio-technical transition pathways. *Research Policy*, 36 (2007), pp. 399-417.

Geels, F., & Schot, J. (2007b). Comment on 'Techno therapy or nurtured niches?' by Hommels et al. [Res. Policy 36 (7) (2007)]. *Research Policy*, 36(7), 1100-1101.

Geels, F., & Schot, J. (2010). The dynamics of transitions: a socio-technical perspective. In: Grin, J., Rotmans, J., Schot, J., Geels, F.W., Loorbach, D. (eds.), *Transitions to Sustainable Development: New Directions in the Study of Long Term Transformative Change*. Abingdon, UK: Routledge, pp. 9–87.

Geels, F., Berkhout, F., & Van Vuuren, D. (2016). Bridging analytical approaches for low-carbon transitions. *Nature Climate Change*, *6*(6), 576-583.

Geels, F., Kern, F., Fuchs, G., Hinderer, N., Kungl, G., Mylan, J., & Wassermann, S. (2016). The enactment of socio-technical transition pathways: A reformulated typology and a comparative multi-level analysis of the German and UK low-carbon electricity transitions (1990–2014). *Research Policy*, *45*(4), 896-913.

Geels, F., Sovacool, B., Schwanen, T., & Sorrell, S. (2017). Sociotechnical transitions for deep decarbonization. *Science (American Association for the Advancement of Science)*, 357(6357), 1242-1244.

Geels, F., Schwanen, T., Sorrell, S., Jenkins, K., & Sovacool, B. (2018). Reducing energy demand through low carbon innovation: A sociotechnical transitions perspective and thirteen research debates. *Energy Research & Social Science, 40*, 23-35.

Geurs, K., & Van Wee, B. (2004). Accessibility evaluation of land-use and transport strategies: Review and research directions. *Journal of Transport Geography*, *12*(2), 127-140.

Gibson, C., K. Andersson, E. Ostrom et al. (2005). *The Samaritan's Dilemma: The Political Economy of Development Aid*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Giddens, A. (1984). The Constitution of Society. Oxford: Polity Press.

GIFE, (2012). Codigo de Etica. www.gife.org.br.

Gillard, R., Gouldson, A., Paavola, J., & Van Alstine, J. (2016). Transformational responses to climate change: Beyond a systems perspective of social change in mitigation and adaptation. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews. Climate Change*, 7(2), 251-265.

Giraudy, Agustina, Moncada, Eduardo, & Snyder, Richard. (2019). *Inside Countries*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Golub, A. (2014). Using principles of justice to assess the modal equity of regional transportation plans. *Journal of Transport Geography., 41*(C), 10-20.

Goodman, A., & Cheshire, J. (2014). Inequalities in the London bicycle sharing system revisited: Impacts of extending the scheme to poorer areas but then doubling prices. *Journal of Transport Geography, 41*, 272-279.

Goss, Kristin A. 2016. "Policy Plutocrats: How America's Wealthy Seek to Influence Governance." *PS: Political Science & Politics* 49 (3): 442–8.

Greer, I., & Doellgast, V. (2017). Marketization, inequality, and institutional change: Toward a new framework for comparative employment relations. *Journal of Industrial Relations*, *59*(2), 192-208.

Grengs, J. (2015). Nonwork Accessibility as a Social Equity Indicator. *International Journal of Sustainable Transportation*, *9*(1), 1-14.

Griffiths, Andrew, & Petrick, Joseph A. (2001). Corporate architectures for sustainability. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 21*(12), 1573-1585.

Gudmundsson, H., Hall, R., Marsden, G., & Zietsman, J. (2015). Sustainable Transportation: Indicators, Frameworks, and Performance Management. 10.1007/978-3-662-46924-8.

Hacker, Jacob S, & Pierson, Paul. (2014). After the "Master Theory": Downs, Schattschneider, and the Rebirth of Policy-Focused Analysis. *Perspectives on Politics, 12*(3), 643-662.

Haffar, M., & Searcy, C. (2015). Classification of trade-offs encountered in the practice of corporate sustainability. Journal of Business Ethics. doi:10.1007/s10551-015-2678-1.

Hahn, T. (2014). Tensions in Corporate Sustainability: Towards an Integrative Framework. *Journal of Business Ethics.*, *127*(2), 1-20.

Hahn, T., & Arago n-Correa, J. A. (2015). Toward cognitive plurality on corporate sustainability in organizations: The role of organizational factors. Organization & Environment, 28(3), 255–263. doi:10.1177/1086026615604446.

Hahn, T., & Figge, F. (2011). Beyond the bounded instrumentality in current corporate sustainability research: Toward an inclusive notion of profitability. Journal of Business Ethics, 104(3), 325–345. doi:10.1007/s10551-011-0911-0.

Hahn, T., Figge, F., Pinkse, J., & Preuss, L. (2010). Trade-offs in corporate sustainability: You can't have your cake and eat it. Business Strategy and the Environment, 19(4), 217–229. doi:10. 1002/bse.674.

Hahn, T., & Pinkse, J. (2014). Private environmental governance through cross-sector partnerships: Tensions between competition and effectiveness. Organization & Environment, 27(2), 140–160. doi:10.1177/1086026614530996.

Hahn, T., Pinkse, J., Preuss, L., & Figge, F. (2015). Tensions in corporate sustainability: Towards an integrative framework. Journal of Business Ethics, 127(2), 297–316. doi:10.1007/s10551-014-2047-5.

Hahn, T., Pinkse, J., Preuss, L., & Figge, F. (2016). Ambidexterity for corporate social performance. Organization Studies, 37(2), 213–235. doi:10.1177/0170840615604506.

Hahn, T., Preuss, L., Pinkse, J., & Figge, F. (2014). Cognitive frames in corporate sustainability: Managerial sensemaking with paradoxical and business case frames. Academy of Management Review, 39(4), 463–487. doi:10.5465/amr.2012.0341.

Hahn, T., Figge, F., Pinkse, J., & Preuss, L. (2018). A Paradox Perspective on Corporate Sustainability: Descriptive, Instrumental, and Normative Aspects. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *148*(2), 235-248.

Hansen, W. (1959). How accessibility shapes land use. Journal of the American Institute of Planners.

Hård, M. (1994). *Machines are frozen spirit : The scientification of refrigeration and brewing in the 19th century: A Weberian interpretation / Mikael Hård*. Frankfurt am Main : Boulder, Colo: Campus Verlag ; Westview.

Hard, M. (2001). "Construction, Reconstruction, or Deconstruction: How to Write Engineering History", in: Hans Glimell and Oskar Juhlin, eds, The Social Production of Technology: On the Everyday Life with Things, Gothenburg: Business Administrative Studies, pp. 207-226.

Hart, Oliver. (2017). Incomplete Contracts and Control. *The American Economic Review*, *107*(7), 1731-1752.

Harvey, D., (2006). Spaces of Global Capitalism: Towards a Theory of Uneven Geographical Development. London, New York: Verso.

Harvey, D. (2009). *Social Justice and the City* (REV - Revised ed., Vol. 1, Geographies of Justice and Social Transformation). Athens: University of Georgia Press. Harris, J. (1988). More and Better Justice. *Royal Institute of Philosophy Supplement, 23*, 75-96.

Henríquez, O. (2020). Las leyes de descentralización en Chile: eje del cambio de la intergubernamentalidad pasando de la jerarquía a la negociación. *Revista iberoamericana de estudios municipales*, (21), 5-28. https://dx.doi.org/10.4067/S0719-17902020000100005

Hekkert, M., Suurs, R, Negro, S., Kuhlmann, S., & Smits, R. (2007). Functions of innovation systems: A new approach for analysing technological change. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 74 (2007), pp. 413-432.

Hennink, Bailey, Hutter, Bailey, Ajay, & Hutter, Inge. (2011). Qualitative research methods / Monique Hennink, Inge Hutter, Ajay Bailey. Los Angeles; London: SAGE.

Henriksen, Lars S., Smith, Stephen R., and Zimmer, Annette. 2012. "At the Eve of Convergence? Transformations of Social Service Provision in Denmark, Germany, and the United States." *Voluntas* 23 (2): 458–501.

Hensher, David A, & Stanley, John. (2010). Contracting regimes for bus services: What have we learnt after 20 years? *Research in Transportation Economics*, 29(1), 140-144.

Hesse-Biber, Leavy, Hesse-Biber, Sharlene Nagy, & Leavy, Patricia. (2004). Approaches to qualitative research: A reader on theory and practice / edited by Sharlene Nagy Hesse-Biber, Patricia Leavy. New York; Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Hickman, R., Mella, B., Givoni, M. & Geurs, K. (2019). Network on European Communications Transport Activity Research. *A companion to transport, space and equity* (NECTAR series on transportation and communications networks research).

Hill, R. (1976). The social stratification and governmental inequality hypothesis: a rejoind. Ameri. Pol. Scie. Rev. 70 (March): 154-159.

Hockett, R., & Omarova, S. (2018). Private Wealth and Public Goods: A Case for a National Investment Authority. *The Journal of Corporation Law, 43*(3), 437-491.

Hogan, G., Dolins, S., Senturk, I., Fyrogenis, I., Fu, Q., Murati, E., &Thomopoulos, Nikolas. (2019). Can a Blockchain-Based Maas Create Business Value? *Proceedings*, *28*(1), 1.

Holmstrom, B. (1982a). "Managerial Incentive Problems: A Dynamic Perspective," in *Essays in Economics and Management in Honor of Lars Wahlbeck*. Helsinki: Swedish School of Economics

Hoogma, R., Kemp, R., Schot, J., & Truffer, B. (2002). Experiments in Reconfiguring Mobility. In *Experimenting for Sustainable Transport* (pp. 135-191). Routledge.

Hopkins, D., & Jenkins, K. (2019). *Transitions in energy efficiency and demand : The emergence, diffusion and impact of low-carbon innovation / edited by Kirsten E.H. Jenkins and Debbie Hopkins.* (Routledge studies in energy transitions).

Hosford, K., & Winters, M. (2018). Who are public bicycle share programs serving? An evaluation of the equity of spatial access to bicycle share service areas in Canadian cities. *Transportation research*, 2672(36), 42-50.

Hrelja, R., Rye, T., & Mullen, C. (2018). Partnerships between operators and public transport authorities. Working practices in relational contracting and collaborative partnerships. *Transportation Research. Part A, Policy and Practice, 116*, 327-338.

Hsieh, Hsiu-Fang, & Shannon, Sarah E. (2005). Three Approaches to Qualitative Content Analysis. *Qualitative Health Research, 15*(9), 1277-1288.

Hughes, T., (1986). The seamless web: Technology, science etcetera, etcetera. *Social Studies of Science*, 16 (2), pp. 281-292.

Huxham, Chris. (1993). Collaborative capability: An intra-organizational perspective on collaborative advantage. *Public Money & Management, 13*(3), 21-28.

Huzzard, T, & Ostergren, K. (2002). When Norms Collide: Learning under Organizational Hypocrisy. *British Journal of Management, 13*(S2), S47-S59.

IADB. (2017). La Bicicleta: Vehículo hacia la equidad: Recomendaciones para la equidad, acceso e inclusión social en la promoción del uso de la Bicicleta en América Latina y el Caribe. Available at:https://publications.iadb.org/es/publicacion/14072/la-bicicleta-vehiculo-hacia-la-equidad-recomendaciones-para-la-equidad-acceso-e.

Imperial, Mark T. (1999). Institutional Analysis and Ecosystem-Based Management: The Institutional Analysis and Development Framework. *Environmental Management (New York), 24*(4), 449-465.

ITAU unibanco. (2017) https://www.itau.com.br/annual-report/.

ITF. (2020). *Safe micromobility*, ITF Research Reports, OECD Publishing, Paris. Retrieved from https://www.itf-oecd.org/sites/default/files/docs/safe-micromobility\_1.pdf.

Janoschka, M. (2016). Gentrificación, desplazamiento, desposesión: Procesos urbanos claves en América Latina. *Revista INVI, 31*(88), 27-71.

Jaramillo, C., Lizárraga, C., & Grindlay, A.. (2012). Spatial disparity in transport social needs and public transport provision in Santiago de Cali (Colombia). *Journal of Transport Geography, 24*, 340-357.

Jasanoff, S. (2008) 'Speaking Honestly to Power', American Scientist, 6, 3: 240.

Jasanoff, S. (2012). Genealogies of STS. Social Studies of Science, 42(3), 435-441.

Jayakumar, Tulsi. (2016). From philanthropy to strategic corporate sustainability: A case study in India. *The Journal of Business Strategy*, *37*(6), 39-50.

Jenny, B., Stephen, D., Muehlenhaus, I., Marston, B., Sharma, R., Zhang, E., & Jenny, H. (2016). Design principles for origin-destination flow maps. *Cartography and Geographic Information Science*, *45*(1), 62-75.

Jenkins K., Sovacool B., & McCauley D. (2018). Humanizing sociotechnical transitions through energy justice: an ethical framework for global transformative change. Energy Policy 2018, 117:66-74.

Jessop, B., (1997). The entrepreneurial city: reimagining localities, redesigning economic governance or restructuring capital, in: Jewson and McGregor (eds), *Transforming Cities*. London: Routledge.

Jessop, B. (2004) 'Multi-level Governance and Multi-level Metagovernance' in I. Bache & M. Flinders (eds.) *Multi-level Governance* (Oxford: Oxford University Press).

Jimenez, B. (2014). Separate, Unequal, and Ignored? Interjurisdictional Competition and the Budgetary Choices of Poor and Affluent Municipalities. *Public Administration Review*, 74(2), 246-257.

Jirón, Paola A, Imilan, Walter Alejandro, & Iturra, Luis. (2016). Relearning to travel in Santiago. Cultural Geographies, 23(4), 599-614.

Jittrapirom, P., Caiati, V., Feneri, A., Ebrahimigharehbaghi, S., González, M., & Narayan, J. (2017). Mobility as a Service: A Critical Review of Definitions, Assessments of Schemes, and Key Challenges. *Urban Planning*, *2*(2), 13-25.

John, P. (1998) Analysing Public Policy (London: Continuum).

John, P. (1999). Ideas and interests. Agendas and implementation: An evolutionary explanation of policy change in British local government finance, British Journal of Politics and International Relations 1, 1, 39–62

John, P. (2000). 'The Uses and Abuse of Evolutionary Theory in Political Science: A reply to Alan McConnell and Keith Dowding', *British Journal of Politics and International Relations*, 11: 89–94.

John, P. (2003). 'Is There Life After Policy Streams, Advocacy Coalitions, and Punctuations: Using Evolutionary

Theory to Explain Policy Change?' *Policy Studies Journal*, 31, 4: 481–498.

- John, P. (2006). 'The Policy Agendas Project: A Review', *Journal of European Public Policy*, 13, 7: 975–986.
- John, P. (2011). Making Policy Work (London: Routledge).
- John, P. (2012). Analysing Public Policy 2nd edn (London: Routledge).
- John, P. (2018). *How Far to Nudge? Assessing Behavioural Public Policy* (Cheltenham: Edward Elgar).

Jones, L. (2012). "How can the Making Markets Work for the Poor Framework work for poor women and for poor men?", Discussion Paper for an M4P WEE Framework, Springfield Centre for Business in Development, Durham (January).

Jones, T. Harms, L., & Heinen, E. (2016). Motives, perceptions and experiences of electric bicycle owners and implications for health, wellbeing and mobility. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 53, 41-49.

Jørgensen, U. (2012). Mapping and navigating transitions—The multi-level perspective compared with arenas of development. *Research Policy*, *41*(6), 996-1010.

Kallio, T. (2007). Taboos in corporate social responsibility discourse. Journal of Business Ethics, 74(2), 165–175. doi:10.1007/s10551-006-9227-x.

Kaltenbrunner, A., Meza, R., Grivolla, J., Codina, J., & Banchs, R. (2010). Urban cycles and mobility patterns: Exploring and predicting trends in a bicycle-based public transport system. *Pervasive and Mobile Computing*, 6(4), 455-466.

Kaptein, M., & Wempe, J. (2001). Sustainability management. Balancing conflicting economic, environmental and social corporate responsibilities. Journal of Corporate Citizenship, 1(2), 91–106. doi:10.9774/GLEAF.4700.2001.su.00011

Karekla, Xenia, Fernandez, Rodrigo, & Tyler, Nick. (2018). Environmental Effect of Bus Priority Measures Applied on a Road Network in Santiago, Chile. *Transportation Research Record*, 2672(8), 135-142.

Kazim, E. & Koshiyama, A. (2020). A High-Level Overview of AI Ethics (May 24). Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3609292 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3609292

Kemp, R., Schot, J., & Hoogma, R. (1998). Regime shifts to sustainability through processes of niche formation: The approach of strategic niche management. *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management*, *10*(2), 175-198.

Kemp, R, van Asselt, M, & Rotmans, J. (2001). More evolution than revolution: transition management in public policy. Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/1765/7672

Kenis, A., Bono, F., & Mathijs, E.. (2016). Unravelling the (post-)political in Transition Management: Interrogating Pathways towards Sustainable Change. *Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning*, *18*(5), 568-584.

Kesselring, S. (2015). Corporate Mobilities Regimes. Mobility, Power and the Sociogeographical Structurations of Mobile Work. *Mobilities*, *10*(4), 571-591.

Klitkou, A., Bolwig, S., Hansen, T., & Wessberg, N. (2015). The role of lock-in mechanisms in transition processes: The case of energy for road transport. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, *16*, 22-37.

Kübler, D., & Rochat, P. (2019). Fragmented Governance and Spatial Equity in Metropolitan Areas: The Role of Intergovernmental Cooperation and Revenue-Sharing. *Urban Affairs Review (Thousand Oaks, Calif.)*, *55*(5), 1247-1279.

Kuipers, G. (2012). The rise and decline of national habitus: Dutch cycling culture and the shaping of national similarity. *European Journal of Social Theory, 16*(1), 17-35

Kwan, C. (2012). Influence of local environmental, social, economic and political variables on the spatial distribution of residential solar PV arrays across the United States. *Energy Policy*, *47*, 332-344.

Laporte, G., Meunier, F., & Wolfler Calvo, R. (2015). Shared mobility systems. 4OR, 13(4), 341-360.

Latour, B. (1993). *We have never been modern / Bruno Latour / translated by Catherine Porter*. New York; London: Harvester Wheatsheaf.

Lättman, Katrin, Friman, Margareta, & Olsson, Lars E. (2016). Perceived Accessibility of Public Transport as a Potential Indicator of Social Inclusion. *Social Inclusion, 4*(3), 36-45.

Lättman, K., Olsson, L., & Friman, M. (2016a). Development and test of the Perceived Accessibility Scale (PAC) in public transport. *Journal of Transport Geography, 54*, 257-263.

Lättman, K., Olsson, L., & Friman, M. (2016b). Perceived Accessibility of Public Transport as a Potential Indicator of Social Inclusion. *Social Inclusion*, *4*(3), 36-45.

Lättman, K., Olsson, L., & Friman, M. (2018). A new approach to accessibility – Examining perceived accessibility in contrast to objectively measured accessibility in daily travel. *Research in Transportation Economics*, *69*, 501-511.

Law N°18,290 (2009). Official Journal of the Republic of Chile, Santiago de Chile. 7 February Retrieved from http://www.leychile.cl/N?i=29708&f=2009-11-07&p=

Levy, C. (2013). Travel choice reframed: "deep distribution" and gender in urban transport. *Environment and Urbanization, 25*(1), 47-63. Lipton, Zachary C, Chouldechova, Alexandra, & McAuley, Julian. (2017).

Levy, C; (2015). Routes to the just city: towards gender equality in transport

planning. In: Moser, CON, (ed.) Gender, Asset Accumulation and Just Cities: Pathways to Transformation. (pp. 135-149). Routledge: Abingdon and New York.

Link, C., Strasser, C., & Hinterreiter, M. (2020). Free-floating bikesharing in Vienna – A user behaviour analysis. *Transportation Research. Part A, Policy and Practice, 135*, 168-182.

Livert F. & Xabier Gainza (2018) Distributive politics and spatial equity: the allocation of public investment in Chile, *Regional Studies*, 52:3, 403-415, DOI: 10.1080/00343404.2017.1309013

Lo, A. (2004). The Adaptive Markets Hypothesis: Market Efficiency from an Evolutionary Perspective. *Journal of Portfolio Management*. 5. 30: 15–29.

Lobao, LM, Hooks, G, Tickamyer, AR (2007). The sociology of spatial inequality. New York. SUNY Press

Loorbach, D. (2010). Transition Management for Sustainable Development: A Prescriptive, Complexity-Based Governance Framework. *Governance (Oxford), 23*(1), 161-183. Loorbach, D., Frantzeskaki, N., & Avelino, F. (2017). Sustainability transition research: transforming science and practice for societal change. Annu Rev Environ Resour, 42:599-626.

Lopez, L. (2017). Bicycle Share Systems as part of the sustainable transport approach: influential factors on the user experience of Santander Cycles And Encicla. Master Dissertation. University College London.

Lowe, R., Chiu, L., & Oreszczyn, T. (2018). Socio-technical case study method in building performance evaluation. *Building Research and Information*, 46(5), 469-484.

Lowery, D. (2000). Sorting In the Fragmented Metropolis. *Public Management (London, England)*, *1*(1), 7-26.

Lucas, K. (2012). Transport and social exclusion: Where are we now? *Transport Policy.*, 20(C), 105-113.

Lucas, K., Van Wee, B., & Maat, K. (2016). A method to evaluate equitable accessibility: Combining ethical theories and accessibility-based approaches. *Transportation* (*Dordrecht*), 43(3), 473-490.

Lucas, K., Ciommo, F., Dupont-Kieffer, A., & Martens, K. (2019). *Measuring Transport Equity*. San Diego: Elsevier.

Lüdeke-Freund, F., & Dembek, K. (2017). Sustainable business model research and practice: Emerging field or passing fancy? *Journal of Cleaner Production, 168*, 1668-1678.

Lukowicz, P. (2019). The challenge of Human Centric AI. Digitale Welt 3,9-10.

Luscher, L. S., Lewis M. W. (2008). Organizational change and managerial sensemaking: Working through paradox. Academy of Management Journal, 51, 221–240.

Maas, S., Attard, M., & Caruana, M. (2020). Assessing spatial and social dimensions of shared bicycle use in a Southern European island context: The case of Las Palmas de Gran Canaria. *Transportation Research. Part A, Policy and Practice, 140*, 81-97.

Malone, Mike, Grove, Robert, Byker, Carl, Wilson, Mitch, Cohen, Bonni, Stuart, Charles C., Shenk, Jon, et al. 2005. *The New Heroes: Their Bottom Line Is Lives*. Portland: Oregon Public Broadcasting

Margolis, J. D., & Walsh, J. (2003). Misery loves companies: Rethinking social initiatives by business. Administrative Science Quarterly, 48(2), 268–305. doi:10.2307/3556659.

Markard, J., Raven, R., & Truffer, B. (2012). Sustainability transitions: An emerging field of research and its prospects. *Research Policy*, *41*(6), 955-967.

Marsden, Greg, Mullen, Caroline, Bache, Ian, Bartle, Ian, & Flinders, Matt. (2014). Carbon reduction and travel behaviour: Discourses, disputes and contradictions in governance. *Transport Policy*, *35*, 71-78.

Marsden, G., & Reardon, L. (2017). Questions of governance: Rethinking the study of transportation policy. *Transportation Research. Part A, Policy and Practice, 101*, 238-251.

Marshall, G., (2009). Polycentricity, Reciprocity, and Farmer Adoption of Conservation Practices under Community-Based Governance. Ecological Economics 68: 1507-1520.

Marshall, G. (2015). Polycentricity and Adaptive Governance. Working paper presented at the 15th Biannual International Conference of the International Association for the Study of the Commons, Edmonton, Canada.

Martens, K. (2011). Substance precedes methodology: On cost-benefit analysis and equity. *Transportation (Dordrecht), 38*(6), 959-974.

Martens, K. (2012). Justice in transport as justice in accessibility: Applying Walzer's 'Spheres of Justice' to the transport sector. *Transportation (Dordrecht), 39*(6), 1035-1053.

Martens, K. (2017). Transport justice: Designing fair transportation systems / Karel Martens.

Martens, K., & Van Weelden, P. (2014). Decision-Making on Transport Infrastructure and Contested Information: A Critical Analysis of Three Approaches. *European Planning Studies*, *22*(3), 648-666.

Martínez, C., Hodgson, F., Mullen, C., & Timms, P. (2018). Creating inequality in accessibility: The relationships between public transport and social housing policy in deprived areas of Santiago de Chile. *Journal of Transport Geography*, *67*, 102-109.

Massey, D. & Denton, N. (1993). American Apartheid: Segregation and the Making of the Underclass. Cambridge: Harvard Univ. Press.

Mauri, M., Elli, T., Caviglia, G., Uboldi, G., & Azzi, M. (2017). RAWGraphs: A Visualisation Platform to Create Open Outputs. In Proceedings of the 12th Biannual Conference on Italian SIGCHI Chapter (p. 28:1–28:5). New York, NY, USA: ACM. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3125571.3125585</u>.

Maxwell, j.A. (2011). Paradigms or toolkits? Philosophical and methodological positions as heuristics for mixed-methods research. *Midwest Educational Research Journal*, 24 [2], 27-30.

Mazur, C., Contestabile, M., Offer, G., & Brandon, N. (2015). Assessing and comparing German and UK transition policies for electric mobility. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, *14*, 84-100.

McAdam, D., & Scott, W. (2005). Organizations and movements. In: Davis, G.F., McAdam, D., Scott, W.R., Zald, M.N. (Eds.), Social Movements and Organization Theory. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 4–40.

McArthur, D, & Hong, J. (2019). Visualising where commuting cyclists travel using crowdsourced data. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 74, 233-241.

McCann, E. (2013). Policy Boosterism, Policy Mobilities, and the Extrospective City. Urban Geography, 34(1), 5-29.

McGinnis, M. & Ostrom E. (2011). Reflections on Vincent Ostrom, Public Administration, and Polycentricity. *Public Administration Review* 72 (1): 15–25.

McNabola, A., Broderick, B., & Gill, L. (2008). Relative exposure to fine particulate matter and VOCs between transport microenvironments in Dublin: Personal exposure and uptake. *Atmospheric Environment (1994), 42*(26), 6496-6512.

McNeil, N., Dill, J., MacArthur, J., Broach, J., & Howland, S. (2017). Breaking Barriers to Bike Share: Insights from Residents of Traditionally Underserved Neighborhoods. NITC-RR-884b. National Institute for Transportation and Communities (NITC).

Meelen, T, Frenken, K, & Hobrink, S. (2019). Weak spots for car-sharing in The Netherlands? The geography of socio-technical regimes and the adoption of niche innovations. *Energy Research & Social Science*, *52*, 132-143.

Ménard, C. (1995). Markets as institutions versus organizations as markets? Disentangling some fundamental concepts. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 28(2), 161–182.

Mercado Publico (2020). BSS data. Available at www.mercardopublico.cl (Accessed on 29<sup>th</sup> May 2020).

Metcalfe, J., Foster, J., & Ramlogan, R. (2006). Adaptive economic growth. *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, 30(1), 7-32.

Miller, D. (1999). Principles of social justice. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Miller, G. (1992). *Managerial Dilemmas: The Political Economy of Hierarchy*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Miller, William L, Crabtree, Benjamin F, Harrison, Michael I, & Fennell, Mary L. (2013). Integrating Mixed Methods in Health Services and Delivery System Research. *Health Services Research, 48*(6pt2), 2125-2133.

Milne, D, & Watling, D. (2019). Big data and understanding change in the context of planning transport systems. *Journal of Transport Geography*, *76*, 235-244.

Ministry of development and family. (2019). Social Priority Index. Santiago Metropolitan Regional

Government.http://www.desarrollosocialyfamilia.gob.cl/storage/docs/INDICE\_DE\_PRIORID AD\_SOCIAL\_2017.

Ministry of Housing and Urbanism (2013). National Urban Development Policy. Chile. Retrieve from <u>https://www.cndu.gob.cl/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/L4-Politica-Nacional-Urbana.pdf</u>

Ministry of Housing and Urbanism (2015a). Cycle-Inclusive Lane Manual. Santiago, Chile.

Ministry of Housing and Urbanism (2015b). Bike-lane Building Manual. Santiago, Chile.

Ministry of Housing and Urbanism (2016). Satisfaction and Residential Experience report. Chile. Retrieve from <u>http://calidaddevida.colabora.minvu.cl/doc2016/2016\_Satisfacci%C3%B3n%20y%20Experie</u> <u>ncia%20Residencial.pdf</u>

Ministry of Social Development (2012). Population projections for the metropolitan region of Santiago, period 2012-2025. Santiago de Chile.

Ministry of Social Development (2013). Methodology for the formulation and evaluation of bike lanes and master plans. Santiago de Chile.

Ministry of Social Development (2017). Santiago Metropolitan Region. Social Priority Index of *Comunas*. Regional Ministerial Secretary. Santiago de Chile.

Ministers of Transport & International Transport Forum (2006). *Transport and decentralisation / European Conference of Ministers of Transport* (ECMT Round Tables; no. 131). Paris: OECD Publishing.

Milanovic, B. (2016). Global Inequality: A New Approach for the Age of Globalization. Cambridge: Harvard Univ. Press.

Misa, T. (1994). Retrieving sociotechnical change from technological determinism. In: Smith, M.R., Marx, L. (Eds.), Does Technology Drive History? The Dilemma of Technological Determinism. MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, pp. 115–141.

Misa, T., Brey, P., & Feenberg, A. (2003). *Modernity and technology / edited by Thomas J. Misa, Philip Brey, and Andrew Feenberg.* 

Mittelstadt, B. (2017). From Individual to Group Privacy in Big Data Analytics. *Philosophy & Technology, 30*(4), 475-494.

Moe, T. M. (1984). "The New Economics of Organization," *American Journal of Political Science*, 28(4): 739–77.

Mooney, S., Hosford, K., Howe, B., Yan, A., Winters, M., Bassok, A., & Hirsch, J. (2019). Freedom from the station: Spatial equity in access to dockless bike share. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 74, 91-96.

Montero, Sergio. (2020). Leveraging Bogotá: Sustainable development, global philanthropy and the rise of urban solutionism. *Urban Studies (Edinburgh, Scotland), 57*(11), 2263-2281.

Moradi, A., & Vagnoni, E. (2018). A multi-level perspective analysis of urban mobility system dynamics: What are the future transition pathways? *Technological Forecasting & Social Change*, *126*, 231-243.

Moreira, H., Messias, R., & Caetano, M. (2019). Characterization of Business Models by the Logic of Transaction Cost Economics. *Revista Iberoamericana de Estratégia*, 18(1), 40-56. <u>https://doi.org/10.5585/ijsm.v18i1.2616</u>.

Morgan, D.L. (2014). *Integrating qualitative and quantitative ethods: A pragmatic approach*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Moreno, J. (2013). Descentralización y Zonas Extremas. Dissertation for the academic degree of Bachelor of Laws. Universidad de Chile

Moser, C. (2016). Routes to the just city: Towards gender equality in transport planning. In *Gender, Asset Accumulation and Just Cities* (pp. 147-161). Routledge.

Mullen, C. (2009). Decisions, consent and expectations of the individual. In *The Governance* of *Genetic Information* (pp. 51-72). Cambridge University Press.

Mullen, C., Tight, M., Whiteing, A., & Jopson, A. (2014). Knowing their place on the roads: What would equality mean for walking and cycling? *Transportation Research. Part A, Policy and Practice, 61*, 238-248.

Mullen, C., & Marsden, G. (2016). Mobility justice in low carbon energy transitions. *Energy Research & Social Science*, *18*, 109-117.

Mullen, C., Marsden, G., & Philips, I. (2020). Seeking protection from precarity? Relationships between transport needs and insecurity in housing and employment. *Geoforum, 109*, 4-13.

National Institute of Statistics of Chile (2018). Summary of Results Census 2017. Retrieved fromhttps://www.ine.cl/docs/default-source/censo-de-poblacion-y-

vivienda/publicaciones-y-anuarios/2017/publicaci%C3%B3n-de-resultados/sintesis-de-resultados-censo2017.pdf?sfvrsn=1b2dfb06<sub>6</sub>.

National Investment System (2011). IDI Code: 30106470-0. Feasibility and management research for public bicycle concessions. Development and Planning Division, Santiago metropolitan Regional Government. Santiago de Chile. (Accessed on 29<sup>th</sup> May 2020).

Neiman, M. (1982). An exploration into class clustering and local-government inequality. Pp. 219-234 in R.C Rich (ed.) Analysing Urban-Service Distributions. Lexington, MA: D.C. Heath.

Nelson, R. (2008). Bounded rationality, cognitive maps, and trial and error learning. J Econ Behav Org, 67:78-89.

Nelson, R. (2018). Modern evolutionary economics: An overview / Richard Nelson [and eight others].

Nelson, R. & Sidney G. (1982). An Evolutionary Theory of Economic Change. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press.

Nelson, Rohan, Howden, Mark, & Smith, Mark Stafford. (2008). Using adaptive governance to rethink the way science supports Australian drought policy. *Environmental Science & Policy*, *11*(7), 588-601.

Nickel, Patricia M. and Eikenberry, Angela M. (2013). "Gastrophilanthropy: Utopian Aspiration and Aspirational Consumption as Political Retreat." *Reconstruction* 12.

Nikitas, A. (2018). Understanding bike-sharing acceptability and expected usage patterns in the context of a small city novel to the concept: A story of 'Greek Drama'. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 56*, 306-321.

Nikitas, A. (2019). How to Save Bike-Sharing: An Evidence-Based Survival Toolkit for Policy-Makers and Mobility Providers. *Sustainability (Basel, Switzerland), 11*(11), 3206.

Nikolaeva, A., Adey, P., Cresswell, T., Lee, J., Nóvoa, A., & Temenos, C. (2019). Commoning mobility: Towards a new politics of mobility transitions. *Transactions - Institute of British Geographers* (1965), 44(2), 346-360.

Nixon, D., & Schwanen, T. (2019). Emergent and integrated justice: lessons from community initiatives to improve infrastructures for walking and cycling (D. Butz& N. Cook, Eds.; pp. 129–141). Routledge.

Nogueira F. A. and Schommer P. C., 2009. 'Quinze anos de investimento social privado no Brasil: conceito e práticas em construção', *XXXIII Encontro da ANPAD*, São Paulo, 19–23, September

Nohlen, D., Schultze, R., & Schüttemeyer, S. (1998). Lexikon der Politik: Politische Begriffe 7 [Dictionary of Political Science 7]. München: Beck.

North, D. (1990). *Institutions, institutional change, and economic performance / Douglass C. North* (Political economy of institutions and decisions). Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press.

Nozick, R. (1974). *Anarchy, state, and Utopia / Robert Nozick.* Malden, MA; Oxford: Blackwell.

Nguyen, Dung K, & Slater, Stanley F. (2010). Hitting the sustainability sweet spot: Having it all. *The Journal of Business Strategy*, *31*(3), 5-11.

Oates, W. (2011). Fiscal Federalism. Aldershot: Edward Elgar.

Oakerson, R., & Parks, R. (2011). The Study of Local Public Economies: Multi-organizational, Multi-level Institutional Analysis and Development. *Policy Studies Journal, 39*(1), 147-167.

OECD (2018), Inequalities in household wealth across OECD countries: Evidence from the OECD Wealth Distribution Database. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1787/7e1bf673-en.

OECD (2019), OECD Reviews of Public Health: Chile: A Healthier Tomorrow, OECD Publishing, Paris. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264309593-en.

Ohnmacht, T., Maksim, H., & Bergman, M. (2016). *Mobilities and inequality / edited by Timo Ohnmacht, Hanja Maksim, Manfred Max Bergman*. (Transport and society).

Oliver, Christine. (1991). Strategic Responses to Institutional Processes. *The Academy of Management Review*, *16*(1), 145-179.

Oliveira, G., Sotomayor, J., Torchelsen, R., Silva, C., & Comba, J. (2016). Visual analysis of bike-sharing systems. *Computers & Graphics, 60*, 119-129.

Olsson, L. (2013). Göteborgs universitet, Gothenburg University, Samhällsvetenskapliga fakulteten, Psykologiska institutionen, Department of Psychology, & Faculty of Social Sciences. Happiness and Satisfaction with Work Commute. *Social Indicators Research*, *111*(1), 255-263.

Olsson, Per, Folke, Carl, Galaz, Victor, Hahn, Thomas, & Schultz, Lisen. (2007). Enhancing the Fit through Adaptive Co-management. *Ecology and Society, 12*(1), 28.

O'Neill, O., & British Broadcasting Corporation. (2002). A question of trust (Reith lectures; 2002). Cambridge: Cambridge UP.

Orfield, M. (2002). American Metropolitics The New Suburban Reality / Myron Orfield. Osterwalder, A., & Pigneur, Y. (2010). Business model generation : A handbook for visionaries, game changers, and challengers / Alexander Osterwalder and Yves Pigneur. Hoboken, N.J.: Wiley.

Ostrom, E. (1983). The Social Stratification-Government Inequality Thesis Explored. Urban Affairs Quarterly, 19(1), 91-112.

Ostrom, E. (1990). *Governing the Commons: The Evolution of Institutions for Collective Action* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).

Ostrom, E. (1998). 'A Behavioral Approach to the Rational Choice Theory of Collective Action: Presidential Address, American Political Science Association, 1997', *American Political Science Review*, 92, 1: 1–22.

Ostrom, E. (1999a). 'Institutional Rational Choice. An Assessment of the Institutional Analysis and Development Framework' in P. Sabatier (ed.) *Theories of the Policy Process* (Boulder, CO: Westview Press).

Ostrom, E. (1999b). Revisiting the Commons: Local Lessons, Global Challenges. *Science* (*American Association for the Advancement of Science*), 284(5412), 278-282.

Ostrom, E. (2005a). Building a better micro-foundation for institutional analysis. *The Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 28(6), 831-832.

Ostrom, Elinor. (2005b). "Policies that Crowd out Reciprocity and Collective Action." In Moral Sentiments and Material Interests: The Foundations of Cooperation in Economic Life,

Ostrom, E. (2006). 'Converting Threats into Opportunities', *PS: Political Science and Politics* 39, 1: 3–12 http://www.apsanet.org/imgtest/psjan06eostrom.pdf.

Ostrom, E. (2007a). 'Institutional Rational Choice' in P. Sabatier (ed.) *Theories of the Policy Process* 2nd edn (Cambridge, MA: Westview Press).

Ostrom, E. (2007b). Challenges and growth: The development of the interdisciplinary field of institutional analysis. *Journal of Institutional Economics*, *3*(3), 239-264.

Ostrom, E. (2008). 'The Challenge of Common-pool Resources', *Environment: Science and Policy for Sustainable Development* 50, 4: 8–21.

Ostrom, E. (2009a). 'Design Principles of Robust Property-rights Institutions: What Have We Learned?' in G. Ingram & Y. Hong (eds.) *Property Rights and Land Policies* (Cambridge, MA: Lincoln Institute of Land Policy), 25–51.

Ostrom, E. (2009b). 'A General Framework for Analyzing Sustainability of Social-Ecological Systems', *Science*, 325, 5939: 419–422.

Ostrom, E. (2010). Beyond Markets and States: Polycentric Governance of Complex Economic Systems. *Transnational Corporations Review: A Special Issue Celebrating Professor Ostrom's 2009 Nobel Prize in Economic Sciences, 2(2), 1-12.* 

Ostrom, E. (2011) 'Background on the Institutional Analysis and Development Framework', *Policy Studies Journal*, 39, 1: 7–27.

Ostrom, E. & Crawford, S. (2005) 'Classifying Rules' in E. Ostrom *Understanding institutional diversity* (Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press).

Ostrom, Elinor, Andersson, Krister, Gibson, Clark, & Shivakumar, Sujai. (2014). An Institutional Analysis of Development Cooperation. In *Environment and Development Economics* (pp. Environment and Development Economics, 2014-04-17). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Ostrom, E, R. Gardner, and J. Walker (1994). *Rules, Games, and Common-Pool Resources*. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press.

Ostrom, V. & Ostrom, E. (1971) 'Public Choice: A Different Approach to the Study of Public Administration', *Public Administration Review*, 31, 2: 203–216. Ostrom, Elinor. 2005a. Understanding Institutional Diversity. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

Ostrom, V., & Ostrom, E. (1977). "Public Goods and Public Choices." In Polycentricity and Local Public Economies: Readings from the Workshop in Political Theory and Policy Analysis, ed. Michael D. McGinnis. Ann Arbor, MI: The University of Michigan Press, 75-103.

Ostrom, V., Tiebout, C., & Warren, R. (1961). "The Organization of Government in Metropolitan Areas: A Theoretical Inquiry." *American Political Science Review* 55: 831–842.

Otero-Bahamon, S. (2019). Subnational Inequality in Latin America: Empirical and Theoretical Implications of Moving beyond Interpersonal Inequality. *Studies in Comparative International Development*, *54*(2), 185-209.

Otero, I., Nieuwenhuijsen, M., & Rojas-Rueda, D. (2018). Health impacts of bike sharing systems in Europe. *Environment International*, *115*, 387-394.

Oviedo, D. (2017). Mobilities at the Edge: Splintering Urbanism and Transport-related Social Exclusion in Soacha, Colombia, 2000-2013 / Daniel Ricardo Oviedo Hernandez.

Oviedo, V., Pinto, A., & Oviedo, D. (2020). Urban mobility and social equity in Latin America : Evidence, concepts, methods / edited by Daniel Oviedo (UCL, UK), Natalia Villamizar Duarte (Universidad Nacional de Colombia, Columbia), and Ana Marcela Ardila Pinto (Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Brazil). (Transport and sustainability; v. 12). O'Tuama, D. (2015). Ripples through the city: understanding the processes set in motion through embedding a public bike sharing scheme in a city. Research in Transportation Business & Management, 15:15-27.

Pahl-Wostl, C. & Knieper, C. (2014). "The Capacity of Water Governance to Deal with the Climate Change Adaptation Challenge: Using Fuzzy Set Qualitative Comparative Analysis to Distinguish between Polycentric, Fragmented and Centralized Regimes." Global Environmental Change 29: 139-154.

Pajarito, D. (2018). Mapping cyclists "routes: involving citizens in collecting open cycling data.

Pangbourne, K., Mladenović, M., Stead, D., & Milakis, D. (2020). Questioning mobility as a service: Unanticipated implications for society and governance. *Transportation Research. Part A, Policy and Practice, 131*, 35-49.

Papaioannou, T. (2014). How inclusive can innovation and development be in the twenty-first century? Innovation and Development: *New Models of Inclusive Innovation for Development*, 4(2), 187-202.

Parkhurst, G., & Meek, S. (2014). The Effectiveness of Park-and-Ride as a Policy Measure for More Sustainable Mobility. In *Parking Issues and Policies* (Vol. 5, pp. 185-211). Emerald Group Publishing Limited.

Patterson, J., Schulz, K., Vervoort, J., Van der Hel, S., Widerberg, O., Adler, C., & Barau, A. (2017). Exploring the governance and politics of transformations towards sustainability. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 24*, 1-16.

Peloza, John, & Falkenberg, Loren. (2009). The Role of Collaboration in Achieving Corporate Social Responsibility Objectives. *California Management Review*, *51*(3), 95-113.

Pinch, T., & Bijker, W. (1984). The Social Construction of Facts and Artefacts: or How the Sociology of Science and the Sociology of Technology might Benefit Each Other. *Social Studies of Science*, *14*, 399 - 441.

PNUD. (2017). *Desiguales. Origenes, cambios y desafios de la brecha social en Chile.* Santiago de Chile, Programa de las Naciones Unidas.

POLIS. (2019). *Macro managing Micro mobility Taking the long view on short trips.* https://www.polisnetwork.eu/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Polis-Paper-Macromanaging-MicroMobility.pdf.

POLIS. (2020). *Glasgow and Edinburgh launch temporary free bike-share.* https://www.polisnetwork.eu/article/glasgow-and-edinburgh-launch-temporary-free-bike-share/.

Pucher, J., & Dijkstra, L. (2003). Promoting Safe Walking and Cycling to Improve Public Health: Lessons From The Netherlands and Germany. *American Journal of Public Health* (1971), 93(9), 1509-1516.

Pucher, J., Dill, J. & Handy, S. (2010). 'Infrastructure, programs, and policies to increase bicycling: An international review', *Preventive Medicine*, 50(SUPPL.). doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2009.07.028.

Pucher, J. *et al.* (2016). 'Making Cycling Irresistible: Lessons from The Making Cycling Irresistible: Lessons from The Netherlands, Denmark and Germany', 1647(January). doi: 10.1080/01441640701806612.

Pyzyk. (2019). Bye-bye, bikes? Many mobility companies quietly shift their focus to scooter. Retrieved from

https://www.smartcitiesdive.com/news/bye-bye-bikes-many-mobility-companies-quietly-shift-their-focus-to-scoote/551971/.

Qian, X., & Jaller, MI. (2020). Bikesharing, equity, and disadvantaged communities: A case study in Chicago. *Transportation Research. Part A, Policy and Practice, 140*, 354-371.

Rauschmayer, F., Bauler, T., & Schäpke, N. (2015). Towards a thick understanding of sustainability transitions — Linking transition management, capabilities and social practices. *Ecological Economics*, *109*, 211-221.

Raven, R. (2004). Implementation of manure digestion and co-combustion in the Dutch electricity regime: A multi-level analysis of market implementation in the Netherlands. *Energy Policy, 32*(1), 29-39.

Raven, R., Sengers, F., Spaeth, P., Xie, L., Cheshmehzangi, A., & De Jong, M. (2019). Urban experimentation and institutional arrangements. *European Planning Studies*, 27(2), 258-281.

Rawls, J. (1999). A theory of justice / John Rawls. (Rev. ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Reich, Rob. (2016). "Repugnant to the Whole Idea of Democracy? On the Role of Foundations in Democratic Societies." *PS: Political Science & Politics* 49 (3): 466–71.

Rhodes, R., Binder, S., & Rockman, B. (2006). *The Oxford handbook of political institutions* / *edited by R.A.W. Rhodes, Sarah A. Binder and Bert A. Rockman.* (Oxford handbooks of political science). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Rietveld, P., & Stough, R. (2005a) Barriers to Sustainable Transport: Institutions, Chapter 1, Regulations and Sustainability, Transport, Development and Sustainability Book Series, Abingdon: Routledge.

Rietveld, P., & Stough, R. (2005b). Institutional Dimensions Of Cross-Border Transport. *IATSS Research*, *29*(2), 6-8.

Rimmer, P. (1988). Transport geography. *Progress in Human Geography, 12*(2), 270-281. Rip, A., Kemp, R., & Kemp, R. (1998). Technological change. In S. Rayner, & E. L. Malone (Eds.), *Human choice and climate change. Vol. II, Resources and Technology* (pp. 327-399). Columbus, Ohio: Battelle Press.

Rhodes, R. (2007). Understanding Governance: Ten Years On. *Organization Studies*, *28*(8), 1243–1264.

Roberts, C., & Geels, F. (2019). Conditions for politically accelerated transitions: Historical institutionalism, the multi-level perspective, and two historical case studies in transport and agriculture. *Technological Forecasting & Social Change, 140*, 221-240.

Robinson, Jennifer. (2015). 'Arriving At' Urban Policies: The Topological Spaces of Urban Policy Mobility. *International Journal of Urban and Regional Research*, *39*(4), 831-834.

Rode, P., Floater, G., Thomopoulos, N., Docherty, J., Schwinger, P., Mahendra, A., & Fang, W. (2014). Accessibility in Cities: Transport and Urban Form. Retrieved from http://newclimateeconomy.report/ workingpapers/workingpaper/accessibility-in-cities-transport-urban-form/.

Rodriguez, Albeto & Sugranyea, Anna.eds. (2005) *Los con techo. Un desafio para la politica de vivienda social.* Santiago de Chile, Sur.

Roelofs, Joan. (1995). The Third Sector as a Protective Layer for Capitalism. *Monthly Review* 47 (4): 16–25

Rojas-Rueda, D., de Nazelle, A., Tainio, M., & Nieuwenhuijsen, M. (2011). The health risks and benefits of cycling in urban environments compared with car use: health impactas sessments tudy. British Medical Journal, 343, 4521.

Røpke, I. (2016).: Complementary system perspectives in ecological macroeconomics — the example of transition investments during the crisis. Ecol Econ, 121:237-245.

Rosenbloom, D., Markard, J., Geels, F., & Fuenfschilling, L. (2020). Opinion: Why carbon pricing is not sufficient to mitigate climate change-and how "sustainability transition policy" can help. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 117(16), 8664-8668.

Rotmans, J., Kemp, R., & Van Asselt, M. (2001). More evolution than revolution: Transition management in public policy. *Foresight (Cambridge), 3*(1), 15-31.

Rossetti, Tomás, Saud, Verónica, & Hurtubia, Ricardo. (2019). I want to ride it where I like: Measuring design preferences in cycling infrastructure. *Transportation (Dordrecht), 46*(3), 697-718.

Rusk, D. (1995). *Cities without suburbs / David Rusk* (2nd ed.). Washington, D.C., U.S.A : Baltimore, Md: Woodrow Wilson Center Press ; Distributed by Johns Hopkins University Press.

Rye, Tom, & Wretstrand, Anders. (2014). Converging structures? Recent regulatory change in bus-based local public transport in Sweden and England. *Research in Transportation Economics*, *48*, 24-32.

Sabatini, Francisco, Caceres, Gonzalo, Serralta Carlos and Robles, Serella (2010). 'La segregacion residencial en las cinco ciudades chilenas segun las estadisticas censales: tendencias y giros'. In Sabatini, Francisco, Salcedo, Rodrigo, Worldmald, Guillermo and Caceres, Gonzalo, eds. Tendencas en la segregacion en las principals ciudades chilenas. Analisis censal 198-2020. Santiago de Chile. Universidad Catolica de Chile. Instituto Nacional de Estadisticas

Sareen, S., & Haarstad, H. (2018). Bridging socio-technical and justice aspects of sustainable energy transitions. Appl Energy, 228:624-632.

Sapag, N. (2019) Preparación y Evaluación de Proyectos - 6ta. Edición - Mac Graw Hill Latinoamericana.

Sari, N. (2015). Analysis of Demand Dynamics and Intermodal Connectivity in London Bicycle Sharing System. Master Dissertation. University College London. 10.13140/RG.2.2.31912.42248.

Saud, V. (2014). Relevancia de los atributos del espacio público en las decisiones de ruta en bicicleta. <u>http://repositorio.uchile.cl/handle/2250/130502</u>Universidad de Chile.

Saud, V. (2017). "El enfoque de los sistemas compartidos en el transporte: bienes públicos y provisión privada a escala regional." XII Congreso Colombiano de Transporte y Transito. Sesion 1D Ciudad y Territorio. https://cctt2017.uniandes.edu.co/images/Franja-1-Lunes-1030-1230.pdf

Saud, V. (2018). A 'shared' approach to transport: 'public' good, prívate provisión on a regional scale. The case of bicycle sharing system in Santiago de Chile, 2014-2016. RGS-IBG Annual International Conference 2018 http://conference.rgs.org/AC2018/324

Saud, V., & Thomopoulos, N. (2021). Towards inclusive transport landscapes: Re-visualising a Bicycle Sharing Scheme in Santiago Metropolitan Region. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 92, 103004.

Schad, J., Lewis, M. W., Raisch, S., & Smith, W. K. (2016). Paradox research in management science: Looking back to move forward. Academy of Management Annals, 10(1), 5–64. doi:10.1080/19416520.2016.1162422

Salazar, Noel B. (2010). Towards an anthropology of cultural mobilities. *Crossings* (*Bristol*), *1*(1), 53-68.

Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government (2010). Master Plan for bike lanes 2012-2020. Development and Planning Division. Santiago de Chile.

Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government (2012). *Feasibility Study and Management of Public Bicycle Concession for Greater Santiago*. Development and Planning Division. Santiago de Chile.

Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government (2013). *Regional Development Strategy 2012-2021*. Santiago de Chile. Development and Planning Division. Santiago de Chile.

Santiago Metropolitan Government Region (2013) Agreement Report 11/12/2013 - Ordinary session Number 23, Santiago, Chile

Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government (2017). *Resilient Santiago*. Development and Planning Division. Santiago de Chile. <u>https://www.100resilientcities.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/Santiago\_Resilience\_Strategy\_-PDF.pdf</u>.

Savitch, H., & Vogel, R. (1996). *Regional politics : America in a post-city age / edited by H.V. Savitch, Ronald K. Vogel* (Urban affairs annual reviews ; v. 45). Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.

Sawchuk, K. (2014). "Impairment," in *Routledge Handbook of Mobilities*, Eds. Peter Adey, et al. New York: Routledge. 409-421.

Schot, J. (1998). The usefulness of evolutionary models for explaining innovation. The case of the Netherlands in the nineteenth century. *History and Technology, 14*(3), 173-200.

Schot, J., & Geels, F. (2008). Strategic niche management and sustainable innovation journeys: Theory, findings, research agenda, and policy. *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management*, *20*(5), 537-554.

Schot, J., Hoogma, R., & Elzen, B. (1994). Strategies for shifting technological systems: The case of the automobile system. *Futures: The Journal of Policy, Planning and Futures Studies, 26*(10), 1060-1076.

Schot, J., Kanger, L., & Verbong, G. (2016). The roles of users in shaping transitions in energy systems. Nature Energy, 1 (2016), pp. 1-7.

SECTRA Transport Planning Secretariat (2001). Encuesta Origen-Destino de viajes del Gran Santiago. Santiago de Chile.

SECTRA Transport Planning Secretariat (2012). Encuesta Origen-Destino de viajes del Gran Santiago. Santiago de Chile.

SECTRA Transport Planning Secretariat (2013a). Análisis del Comportamiento de la demanda en infraestructura especializada para bicicletas. Santiago de Chile.

SECTRA Transport Planning Secretariat (2013b). Análisis y Evaluación del Plan Maestro de Ciclovías del Gran Santiago. Santiago de Chile.

SECTRA Transport Planning Secretariat (2013c). Plan Maestro de Transporte de Santiago 2025. Santiago de Chile.

Sen, A. (1979). Equality of What? The Tanner Lecture on Human Values. Stanford University.

Sen, A. (1993) *Capability and well-being*. M. Nussbaum, A. Sen (Eds.), The Quality of Life, Oxford University Press, New York pp. 30-53

Sen, A. (2010). *The idea of justice / Amartya Sen.* London: Penguin.Shafer, S., Smith, M., Jeff, H., & Linder, J. (2005). The power of business models. *Business Horizons, 48*(3), 199-207.

Schambra, William. 2014. "The Coming Showdown between Philanthrolocalism and Effective Altruism." *Philanthropy Daily*, May 22

Schram, S., Soss, J., Houser, L., & Fording, R. (2015). "The Third Level of U.S. Welfare Reform: Governmentality under Neoliberal Paternalism." *Citizenship Studies* 14 (6): 739–54.

Schreier, M. (2012). *Qualitative content analysis in practice / Margrit Schreier*. Los Angeles; London: SAGE.

Schumpeter, C., & Clemence, R. (1951). *Essays of J. A. Schumpeter / edited by Richard V. Clemence*. Cambridge, Mass.: Addison-Wesley.

Schumpeter, J. (1939). Business cycles: a theoretical. Historical and Statistical Analysis of the Capitalist Process. McGraw-Hill, New York.

Schwanen, T. (2016). Rethinking resilience as capacity to endure. *City* (London, England), 20(1), 152-160.

Shaheen S. (2012). Public bikesharing in North America: early operator and user understanding. University of California-Berkeley. MTI Report 11–19.

Shaheen, S., Cohen, A., Chan, N., & Bansal, A. (2020). Chapter 13 - Sharing strategies: Carsharing, shared micromobility (bikesharing and scooter sharing), transportation network companies, microtransit, and other innovative mobility modes. In *Chapter 13 - Sharing strategies: carsharing, shared micromobility (bikesharing and scooter sharing), transportation network companies, microtransit, and other innovative mobility modes*. EScholarship, University of California.

Shaheen, S., Guzman, S., & Zhang, H. (2010). Bikesharing in Europe, the Americas, and Asia: past, present, and future. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board.* (2143): 159–167.

Sheller, M. (2015). Racialized Mobility Transitions in Philadelphia: Connecting Urban Sustainability and Transport Justice. *City & Society*, *27*(1), 70-91.

Sheller, M. (2018). Mobility justice: The politics of movement in the age of extremes / Mimi Sheller.

Sheller, M. (2019). "Theorizing Mobility Justice." *In Mobilities, Mobility Justice and Social Justice*, edited by N. Cook and D. Butz, 22–36. London and New York: Routledge.

Sheller, M., & Urry, J. (2006). The New Mobilities Paradigm. *Environment and Planning.* A, 38(2), 207-226.

Sherriff, G., Adams, M., Blazejewski, L., Davies, N., & Kamerāde, D. (2020). From Mobike to no bike in Greater Manchester: Using the capabilities approach to explore Europe's first wave of dockless bike share. *Journal of Transport Geography*, *86*, 102744.

Shi, X., Yu, Z., Chen, J., Xu, H., & Lin, F. (2018). The visual analysis of flow pattern for public bicycle system. *Journal of Visual Languages and Computing*, *45*, 51-60.

Shove, E., & Walker, G. (2010). Governing transitions in the sustainability of everyday life. *Research Policy*, *39*(4), 471-476.

Slawinski, N., & Bansal, P. (2015). Short on time: Intertemporal tensions in business sustainability. Organization Science, 26(2), 531–549. doi:10.1287/orsc.2014.0960

Signor, L. (2019). Mobility as a service and Sustainable Urban Mobility Planning. How to integrate a Maas approach in SUM Plans. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.eltis.org/sites/default/files/sump2019\_b3\_signor\_lidia\_ertico.pdf">https://www.eltis.org/sites/default/files/sump2019\_b3\_signor\_lidia\_ertico.pdf</a>

Siegel, Daniel. 2012. Charity and Condescension: Victorian Literature and the Dilemmas of Philanthropy. Athens: Ohio University Press

Silver, Ira. 2012. "Disentangling Class from Philanthropy: The Double-Edged Sword of Alternative Giving." *Critical Sociology* 33 (3): 537–49.

Silverman, D. (2016). Qualitative research / edited by David Silverman. (4th ed.). London: SAGE.

Singer, Peter. 2009. The Life You Can Save: Acting Now to End World Poverty. New York: Random House Publishing Group

Smith, W. K., & Lewis, M. W. (2011). Toward a theory of paradox: A dynamic equilibrium model of organizing. Academy of Management Review, 36(2), 381–403. doi:10.5465/amr.2009.0223.

Smith, A. (2007). Translating Sustainabilities between Green Niches and Socio-Technical Regimes. *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management, 19*(4), 427-450.

Smith, A, Voß, J., & Grin, J. (2010). Innovation studies and sustainability transitions: The allure of the multi-level perspective and its challenges. *Research Policy*, *39*(4), 435-448.

Smith, C., Oh, J., & Lei, C. (2015). Exploring the Equity Dimensions of US Bicycle Sharing Systems. TRCLC 14-01. *Transportation Research Center for Livable Communities* (TRCLC).

Smith, W. (2014). Dynamic Decision Making: A Model of Senior Leaders Managing Strategic Paradoxes. *Academy of Management Journal*, 57(6), 1592-1623.

Sousa-Zomer, T., & Cauchick M. (2018). Sustainable business models as an innovation strategy in the water sector: An empirical investigation of a sustainable product-service system. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 171(S), S119-S129.

Sousa-Zomer, T., & Cauchick, M. (2019) 'Exploring business model innovation for sustainability: an investigation of two product-service systems', *Total Quality Management and Business Excellence*, 30(5–6), pp. 594–612. doi: 10.1080/14783363.2017.1317588.

Stadtler, L. (2018). Tightrope Walking: Navigating Competition in Multi-Company Cross-Sector Social Partnerships. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 148(2), 329-345.

Stadtler, L., & Van Wassenhove, L. (2016). Coopetition as a Paradox: Integrative Approaches in a Multi-Company, Cross-Sector Partnership. *Organisation Studies*, 37(5), 655-685.

Stanley, J., Hensher, D., Stanley, J., & Vella-Brodrick, D. (2011). Mobility, social exclusion and well-being: Exploring the links. *Transportation Research. Part A, Policy and Practice, 45*(8), 789-801.

Staudenmaier, J., & American Council of Learned Societies. (1985). *Technology's storytellers : Reweaving the human fabric / John M. Staudenmaier.* (ACLS Humanities E-Book). Cambridge, Mass.: Society for the History of Technology and the MIT Press.

Stone, D. (2008). *The Samaritan's Dilemma: Should Government Help Your Neighbor?* New York: National Books.

Stough, R., & Rietveld, P. (1997). Institutional issues in transport systems, Journal of Transportation Geography, 5, pp. 207-214.

Tashakkori, A. and Teddlie, Ch. (2003). *Handbook of mixed methods in social & behavioural research / editors, Abbas Tashakkori, Charles Teddlie.* Thousand Oaks, Calif. London: SAGE.

Techo-Chile, 2016. Techo-Chile, 2016. Catastro de Campamentos 2016. Santiago: Centro de investigación social Techo-Chile.

Teece, David J. (2010). Business Models, Business Strategy and Innovation. *Long Range Planning*, 43(2), 172-194.

Temenos, C., Nikolaeva, A., Schwanen, T., Cresswell, T., Sengers, F., Watson, M., & Sheller, M. (2017). Theorizing Mobility Transitions: An Interdisciplinary Conversation. *Transfers* 7(1): 113-129.

Temper, L., Walter, M., Rodriguez, I., Kothari, A., Turhan, E. (2018). A perspective on radical transformations to sustainability: resistances, movements and alternatives. Sustain Sci, 13:747-764.

Thomas, A., & Fritz, L. (2006). Disaster relief, Inc. *Harvard Business Review*, 84(11), 114–122.

Thomopoulos, N., Grant-Muller, S., & Tight, M. (2009). Incorporating equity considerations in transport infrastructure evaluation: Current practice and a proposed methodology. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, *32*(4), 351-359.

Thomopoulos, N., & Grant-Muller, S. (2013). Incorporating equity as part of the wider impacts in transport infrastructure assessment: An application of the SUMINI approach. *Transportation*, *40*(2), 315-345.

Thomopoulos, N., & Nikitas, A. (2019) Smart Urban Mobility Futures, Special issue Editorial. *International Journal of Automotive Technology and Management, 19,*(1/2).

Thompson, M., Nowak, V., Southern, A., Davies, J., & Furmedge, P. (2020). Re-grounding the city with Polanyi: From urban entrepreneurialism to entrepreneurial municipalism. *Environment and Planning. A*, *52*(6), 1171-1194.

Thornton, P., Ocasio, W., & Lounsbury, M. (2012). *The institutional logics perspective a new approach to culture, structure and process / Patricia H. Thornton, William Ocasio, Michael Lounsbury.* (Oxford scholarship online). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Tolbert, P., Zucker, L., (1999). The institutionalization of institutional theory. In: Clegg, S., Hardy, C. (Eds.), Studying Organization: Theory and Method. Sage, London, pp. 169–184. Turner, S., 2001.

Torres, M. (2015). "Revolución Urbana Y Derechos Ciudadanos. Jordi Borja." *Revista INVI* 30.83 223-26. Web.

United Nations Development Programme. (2017). DESIGUALES. Orígenes, cambios y desafíos de la brecha social en Chile. Programa de las Naciones Unidas para el Desarrollo. Santiado, Chile.

Ureta, S. (2017) Assembling Policy: Transantiago, Human Devices, and the Dream of a World-Class Society. Cambridge: MIT Press.

Urry, J. (2007). Mobilities / John Urry. Cambridge: Polity.

Ursaki, J., & Aultman-Hall, L. (2016). Quantifying the Equity of Bikeshare Access in U.S. Cities. *Transportation Research Board, Washington*, D.C., 2016.

Valenzuela, E., Henriquez, O., & Cienfuegos, I. (2019). The three types of power distribution, that structure decentralization in South America. *Revista De Administração Pública (Rio De Janeiro), 53*(3), 592-609.

Valenzuela, E., & Ortiz, E.. (2017). La herencia centralista de la izquierda chilena y la irrupción de un progresismo regionalista autonomista. *Izquierdas (Santiago, Chile)*, (33), 174-202.

Van Bree, B, Verbong, G., & Kramer, G. (2010). A multi-level perspective on the introduction of hydrogen and battery-electric vehicles. *Technological Forecasting & Social Change*, 77(4), 529-540.

Van der Byl, C. A., & Slawinski, N. (2015). Embracing tensions in corporate sustainability: A review of research from win-wins and trade-offs to paradoxes and beyond. Organization & Environment, 28(1), 54–79. doi:10.1177/1086026615575047.

Van Slyke, David (2008). Collaboration and Relational Contracting. In *The Collaborative Public Manager* (p. 137). Georgetown University Press.

Van Waes, A., Farla, J., Frenken, K., De Jong, J., & Raven, Rob. (2018). Business model innovation and socio-technical transitions. A new prospective framework with an application to bike sharing. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *195*, 1300-1312.

Van Wee, G., & Geurs, K. (2011). Discussing Equity and Social Exclusion in Accessibility Evaluations. *European Journal of Transport and Infrastructure Research, 11*(4), European journal of transport and infrastructure research, 2011-09-30, Vol.11 (4).

Van Zeben, J. (2019) 'Polycentricity as a Theory of Governance', *Polycentricity in the European Union*, 325(2009), pp. 9–27. doi: 10.1017/9781108528771.003. Velamuri V.K., Bansemir B., Neyer, A.-K. and Möslein K.M. (2013). Product service systems as a driver for business model innovation: lessons learned from the manufacturing industry. *International Journal of Innovation Management*. Vol.17, No 01, 1340004

Verbong, G., & Geels, F.W., (2007). The ongoing energy transition: Lessons from a sociotechnical, multi-level analysis of the Dutch electricity system (1960-2004). *Energy Policy*, 2 (2007), pp. 1025-1037.

Vilanova, M., Lozano, J. M., & Arenas, D. (2009). Exploring the nature of the relationship between CSR and competitiveness. Journal of Business Ethics, 87(1), 57–69. doi:10.1007/s10551-008-9812-2.

Vogel, M., Hamon, R., Lozenguez, G., Merchez, L., Abry, P., Barnier, J., & Robardet, C. (2014). From bicycle sharing system movements to users: A typology of Vélo'v cyclists in Lyon based on large-scale behavioural dataset. *Journal of Transport Geography, 41*, 280-291.

Waddock, S., Meszoely, G., Waddell, S., & Dentoni, D. (2015). The complexity of wicked problems in large scale change. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 28(6), 993-1012.

Walzer, M. (1983). Spheres of justice: A defence of pluralism and equality / Michael Walzer. Oxford: Robertson.

Watkins, A., Papaioannou, T., Mugwagwa, J., & Kale, D.. "National Innovation Systems and the Intermediary Role of Industry Associations in Building Institutional Capacities for Innovation in Developing Countries: A Critical Review of the Literature." *Research Policy* 44.8 (2015): 1407-418. Web.

Weber, M., & Rohracher, H. (2012). Legitimizing research, technology and innovation policies for transformative change: combining insights from innovation systems and multi-level perspective in a comprehensive 'failures' framework. Res Policy, 41:1037-1047.

Whitmarsh, L. (2012). How useful is the Multi-Level Perspective for transport and sustainability research? *Journal of Transport Geography*, 24, 483–487. http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2012.01.022.

WHO World Health Organization. (2004). The global burden of disease: 2004 update.

WHO World Health Organization. (2006). Health effects and risks of transport systems: the HEARTS project. The World Health Organization Europe.

Williamson, O. (1998). Transaction cost economics: How it works; where it is headed. *De Economist*, 146(1), 23–58.

Williamson, O. (2000). The new institutional economics: Taking stock, looking ahead. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 38(3), 595–613.

Witt, U. (2008). What is specific about evolutionary economics? *Journal of Evolutionary Economics*, *18*(5), 547-575.

Witt, U., & Chai, A. (2019). Understanding economic change: Advances in evolutionary economics / edited by Ulrich Witt, Max Planck Institute and Griffith University, Andreas Chai, Griffith University.

Woodcock, A., Romer Christensen, H., & Levin, L. (2020). TInnGO: Challenging Gender Inequality in Smart Mobility. *Put I Saobraćaj, 66*(2), 1-5.

Woodcock, J., Tainio, M., Cheshire, J., O'Brien, O., Goodman, A. (2014). Health effects of the London bicycle sharing system: health impact modelling study. *Journal of BMJ* (Clinical research ed.) 348 g425.

Woodman, Richard W, Sawyer, John E, & Griffin, Ricky W. (1993). Toward a Theory of Organizational Creativity. *The Academy of Management Review*, *18*(2), 293-321.

Wright, B., McGinnis, M., & Ostrom, E (2011). Reflections on Vincent Ostrom, Public Administration and Polycentricity. *Public Administration Review* 72 (1): 15–25.

Xue, Q., Xu, M., & Mullen, C. (2020). Governance of Emerging Autonomous Driving Development in China. *Transportation Research Record*, *2674*(6), 281-290.

Yan, Y., Tao, Y., Xu, J., Ren, S., & Lin, H. (2018). Visual analytics of bike-sharing data based on tensor factorisation. *Journal of Visualization*, *21*(3), 495-509.

Yin, R. (2018). Case study research and applications: Design and methods / Robert K. Yin. (Sixth ed.).
Young, I.M. (1998), "Unruly Categories: A Critique of Nancy Fraser's Dual Systems Theory". In C Willet (ed) *Theorising Multiculturalism: a Guide to the Current Debate*, Malden and Oxford: Blackwell, pp50-67.

Young, I.M. (1990) *Justice and the Politics of Difference*, Princeton, New Jersey and Chichester, West Sussex: Princeton University Press, 286 pages.

Yvrande-Billon, A. (2006). The attribution process of delegation contracts in the French urban public transport sector: Why competitive tendering is a myth. *Annals of Public and Cooperative Economics*, 77(4).

Yuan, W., Bao, Y., & Verbeke, A. (2011). Integrating CSR initiatives in business: An organizing framework. *Journal of Business Ethics, 101*(1), 75–92. doi:<u>10.1007/s10551-010-0710-z</u>.

Zhang, N. *et al.* (2015). 'Effects of Social Support About Physical Activity on Social Networking Sites: Applying the Theory of Planned Behavior.', *Health communication*, 30(12), pp. 1277–85. doi: 10.1080/10410236.2014.940669.

Zollo, M. (2003). Philanthropy or CSR: A strategic choice. European Business Forum, 18.

Zott, Christoph, Amit, Raphael, & Massa, Lorenzo. (2011). The Business Model: Recent Developments and Future Research. *Journal of Management, 37*(4), 1019-1042.

Zu, L., Kurz, M., Cho, B., Ferrell, W., & Neyens, D. (2016). A Study of the Static Bicycle Reposition Problem with a Single Vehicle, ProQuest Dissertations and Theses.

Zuboff, S. (2019). The age of surveillance capitalism: The fight for the future at the new frontier of power / Shoshana Zuboff.

Zuurbier, M., Hoek, G., Oldenwening, M., Lenters, V., Meliefste, K., van den Hazel, P., & Brunekreef, B. (2010). Commuters' Exposure to Particulate Matter Air Pollution Is Affected by Mode of Transport, Fuel Type, and Route. *Environmental Health Perspectives, 118*(6), 783-789.

### **APPENDIX A.1 Survey template**

My name is Veronica Saud, PhD student at the University College London (UCL). We are studying the social effects derived from the implementation of BikeSantiago, in order to contribute to a better and more inclusive provision. The question pattern relates to your experience using the current public bicycle system. The response time takes around 7 minutes. Thank you very much for your participation. Please sign at the end.

N°	Station:	Hour:	Date:	
I.	Identification Data			
1.	Age: / <u>2. Gender:_</u> F 2- Foreign	M Other	/3. Place of birth 1-Child	ean
4.	<ul> <li>What do you mainly use the p</li> <li>1. Commuting</li> <li>2. To move to/from the place of the second se</li></ul>	where I study ssiness g or carrying) ample, distributing som	ething using the bicycle	
5.	<ul> <li>¿ What is your main occupation</li> <li>1. Employer</li> <li>2. Own Business</li> <li>3. Employee</li> <li>4. Army</li> <li>5. Student</li> <li>6. Unemployed</li> <li>7. OTHER</li> </ul>	on or activity at the m	oment?	
6.	<ul><li>What is the highest level of ed</li><li>1. 12 years</li><li>2. 16 years</li><li>3. 18 years</li></ul>	Jucation you have rea	iched (years)?	
4.	Comuna of residence today			
5. 6.	Comuna where you develop y What means of transport did y 1 Walking 2. Public Tran Taxi/uber 6. Moto	our occupation you use before a publ hsport (bus / metro)	ic bicycle for the same tri 3. Car 4. Private bic	i <b>p?</b> ycle 5.
7.	<ul> <li>7. How long have you been using the Public Bicycle System? (months)</li> <li>1 0 to 6 months; /27 months to 1 years: /3 13 months to 1.5 year</li> <li>+ 1.5 years</li> </ul>		.5 years; /4.	
8.	How often do you normally us 1. Once a month 2. Every two weeks 3. Once a week 4. 2 to 3 times per week	e the Bicycle Sharing	y System?	

- 5. More than 3 times a week
- 9. In the last 30 days, how many trips did you actually make on a public bicycle? (considering as a trip, the collection and return of a bicycle) N \_\_\_\_\_

- 10. In the last 30 days, how often in % were you able to make the trips you had planned to make by a public bike?
  - 1. I made all the usual trips I had planned on a public bicycle (100%)
  - 2. I made almost all the usual trips I had planned on a public bicycle (75%)
  - 3. I made some of the usual trips I had planned on a public bicycle (50% o menos)
  - 4. I could not make any trip in the last 30 days
- 11. When you use a public bicycle for your frequent trip by BSS, do you combine with other means of transport?
  - 1. I combine between a public bike and public transport (metro, bus or other).
    - 2. I combine between a public bike and taxi / uber
    - 3. I combine between a public bike and car
    - 4. I combine between a public bike and walking (considering walking as more than 3 blocks for collecting/returning a public bike)
    - 5. I only use a public bike
    - 6. Other combination
  - 12. Do you use the mobile application (APP) of the system or online information for regular trips? 1.Yes\_\_\_\_ 2.No\_\_\_\_
- 13. ¿ How many blocks do you walk to collect a public bicycle and start a regular trip? N\_\_\_\_
- 14. Considering your experience using public bicycles and the means of transport you used before, what do you notice about the following benefits of using a public bicycle? (please rate between 1 to 7, 1 totally disagree and 7 for totally agree):
  - 1. I'm saving time
  - 2. I'm saving money
  - 3. I'm experiencing a better mood and/or better health conditions
- 15. If for some reason the public bicycle system disappears, what would be the immediate consequence that you would perceive in your routine? (from 1 as strongly disagree to 7 as strongly agree):
  - 1. \_\_\_\_ My health/mood would be affected
  - 2. \_\_\_\_ I couldn't save that much time and I can't manage my time as I do now either.
  - 3. \_\_\_\_ I couldn't save that amount of money as I do now.
  - 4. I couldn't make regular trips as easily as I do now.
  - 5. I couldn't do the same amount of activities as I do now.
  - 6. I could not travel to places more distant or difficult to reach as I do now.
  - 7. OTHER CONSEQUENCE \_
- 16. Please think of a regular trip and note the following aspects of the current system performance according to your experience (from 1 as very bad to 7 as excellent):
  - 1. \_\_\_\_ Available Information on how the system works and information about making trips
  - 2. \_\_\_\_ Customer service communication
  - 3. \_\_\_\_ E-payment system
  - 4. \_\_\_\_ Price according to quality of service and previous means of transport
  - 5. \_\_\_\_ System coverage for common trips
  - 6. \_\_\_\_ Public bikes availability for common trips
  - 7. \_\_\_\_ Dock stations availability for common trips
  - 8. \_\_\_\_ Public bikes maintenance for common trips
  - 9. \_\_\_\_ Dock stations maintenance
  - 10. \_\_\_\_ Satisfaction Infrastructure level for common trips
  - 11. \_\_\_\_ Accessibility level in reaching most frequent activities in comparison to your prior experience, before using a public bike.

- 17. Have you had any problems using the system? Please let us know those that have made it difficult or impossible for you to make a regular trip by the BSS, or the one that has caused you the most discomfort. Please indicate the main problem(s).
  - 1. \_\_\_\_ E-payment errors
  - 2. \_\_\_\_ Data Collection Errors
  - 3. \_\_\_\_ Costumer service communication errors
  - 4. \_\_\_\_\_ Bicycles in bad conditions
  - 5. \_\_\_\_\_ Stations in bad conditions
  - 6. Other:\_\_\_
  - 7. \_\_\_\_ No failures
- 18. How often are you experiencing the main problem you reported in the previous question?
- 1.- Generally (or almost always) \_\_\_\_; 2-. Frequently \_\_\_\_; 3- Occasionally \_\_\_\_; 4- Never \_\_\_\_
- 19. How easily, from 1 to 7, has that problem been solved? (1 very difficult 7 very easy)
- 20. What is the most frequent station where you collect a public bicycle?
- 21. What is the most frequent station where you return a public bicycle?
- 22. How would you classify the socioeconomic level of your household, according to the following list?
  - 1. \_\_\_\_\_ High (+\$1.2 mill)
  - 2. \_\_\_\_\_ Medium High (\$690.000 \$1.200.000)
  - 3. \_\_\_\_\_ Medium Low (\$330.000 \$680.000)
  - 4. \_\_\_\_\_ Low (\$180.000 \$330.000)

Opinion questions related to the purpose of this study.

could we give you a brief interview about some aspects of your experience using the system and record this conversation? Yes/No.

How has your experience with the system been regarding the benefits and advantages of performing your routine over the other way you used or would use? What is your opinion regarding how your personal data is recorded and used for the operation of the system? What would be your recommendations for a better system, close to your needs? Could we contact you for a participant observation about your usual trip on a public bicycle?

Signature / initials

### **APPENDIX – A.2 Semi-structured expert interviews template**

#### Introduction

This interview aims to know your opinion as a relevant actor involved in the BSS BikeSantiago deployment. Through this interview, this research seeks to know your vision regarding the required conditions (political and technical) to deploy a new urban transport service to improving current conditions that different groups of people are facing for achieving daily activities and routines.

Three aspects relate to the present interview: your relationship with the current BSS, your vision on how the provision of the public bicycle system has been structured, your opinion related to the social effects that you perceive regarding this new transport service, the way that different actors have been involved, including the previous agreements made, and opportunities, weaknesses and challenges faced to deploy such system. Your consent is required to proceed, please sign below.

#### Questionnaire

What is or was your relationship with the current *inter-comunal* BSS BikeSatiago in Santiago, Chile?

Part I. Tell us your overarching knowledge and vision about the implementation of the BSS Bikesantiago, in particular:

• The project and operation (e.g. planning, implementation and operation)

• Physical aspects (e.g. planning and investment: location, built environment, infrastructure)

• Main benefits and beneficiaries so far

• Operation and financing (e.g. costs, regulations and incentives)

• Governance challenges (e.g. relations among the various actors, instruments, institutions involved)

#### Part II. Opinion questions

1. How do you perceive the contribution of the current BSS in the city and between different social groups? Do you have indicators or measurement systems for that purposes?

2. How do you perceive how different actors are involved in the BSS deployment when looking at the various agreements made and the current system performance?

3. What are the social effects that you perceive regarding the BSS implementation and, in particular, regarding the different agreements made between the private and public sector?

4. What are the opportunities, weaknesses, and challenges you perceive when looking at the current deployment of the BSS Bikesantiago?

5. What could be, from your point of view, the required conditions (political and technical/urban, institutional and technological) for a BSS contributing to address the real social challenges improving the conditions in which different groups develop their daily routines?

Thank you very much for your participation.

### Appendix B1 Topics of the semi-structured expert interviews

Table B1-1: Data supporting Interpretations of second-order themes. Scheme case and Private Social Investment. Source: Own elaboration based on Smith, 2014:1602; Stadtler and Wassenhove, 2016:669; Stadtler, 2018:335.

	Representative quotes / First - order codes	Themes / Second - order codes	Aggregation
1 2 3 4	<ul> <li>"The bank has two leading roles: one as a sponsor, and one as a creditor. (Bikesantiago) The bank owns it They are B-Cycle Latam, that's the name of the company (operator); however, 'Bikesantiago' is a brand of the bank</li> <li>'The BSS is a cause one of the important causes of the bankthe bank has four causes in its strategic objectivesits causes are focused on education, sports, culture, and urban mobility these are from Itaú as a holding, as from the matrix. (The BSS) started in 2011 in Brazil. In 2013, we started in Chile signing of contracts, and in 2014 it was put into action. '</li> <li> We are not talking about corporate social responsibility, but about sustainability it means bringing value to the city, to society, and helping with mobility, with reducing congestion with faster, friendlier mobility a company and its environment its relationship with society must have an additional contribution to its business.</li> <li>In our advertisements, we try to reflect closeness, children, soccer, family, not only Itaú sponsorsBikesantiago communicates emotions, closenespeople identify the bank with the bicycles the oranges ones are the bicycles of ttaú. that is super installed; therefore, it gives you a strong and positive brand presence in the streets, everywhere, and ideally more and more " (PS1).</li> <li>"ITAU is a sponsor and also a creditor, they (the operator) have a loan with the bank with which they did this business and regarding which (the bank) has a reputation in respect to their brand people talk about those bicycles as the ITAU bicycles, so they have a great commitment to make this system work" (LG1)</li> <li>"The bank provided them with resources in two ways: one, through Corporate Social Responsibility they have their brand on every bicycle, station, etc. and so they spend a monthly fee But they also have a lease contract so that B-Cycle Latam bought from Treck the infrastructure and equipment so, in the end, the bank</li></ul>	Private Social Investment	7.1 Scheme case

Table B1-2: Data supporting Interpretations of Second-order themes. Segregation – Socio-Spatial (comunal) Segmentation: weak institutions and urban inequalities. Source: Own elaboration based on Smith, 2014:1602; Stadtler and Wassenhove, 2016:669; Stadtler, 2018:335.

	Representative quotes / First - order codes	Themes / Second - order codes	Aggregation
5	"There was a process of inorganic expansion in which each commune was making its own system, in the absence of a strong metropolitan and/or regional structure" (RG1).		7.2 Individual and collective tendering type
6	"This is a logic that does not promote inter-comunalidad a logic of [isolated] urban plots" (LG3).		
7	"Segregation is defined in terms of the difference in location of socio-economic groups available infrastructure tends to be used as a means of attracting high-income groups where there is a population with the capacity to pay, infrastructure and mixed land use, in general, are concentrated.In general, urban infrastructure tends to be captured by higher socio-economic groups in the city while the most vulnerable groups have less access to urban infrastructure, resulting from the problem of segregation" (E3).		
8	"The journey is not generally analysed as a concept, which is very important. That is why the city is fragmented, and the mobility of people is not linked in the daily mobility the inequality that we live then the public services, which are badly planned, affecting some group of people Supposedly, the infrastructure made to connect, bridge, not bring together but divide There is high complexity in Chile in relation to the infrastructure, the criteria, who executed, how it is done, and how it is evaluated, there is a lack of a territorial vision as the planning assessment is made by land uses how the flow performs" (E2).	Socio-Spatial (comunal) Segmentation: weak institutions and urban	
	"I see it as a successful project even though it has many problems due to a lack of planning in the city the system has been very elitist even in <i>comunas</i> like Independencia or Recoleta coverage in those places is practically non-existent. This elitism responds to the financing structure that it has, finally, it is a private business it does not respond to a logic allocating them where they are needed.	inequalities	7.2.1 Segregation
9	you can see that it is a private project using public goods, apparently, it is subsidised, but it is not clear they do not have an integrated fare, they are not integrated into the transport system and I do not know if they are coordinated in general, having to go and talk to one or another is an indicator of how weak our governance is. This problem has as a consequence the fact that it is not an integrated system, that the coverage is biased by the level of income without adequate cycling infrastructure it is a reflection of the thought "we are seeing how it works out" instead of there being planning and coordination among the decision-makers " (E1).		
10	"one of the big problems is that there are no guaranteed urban rights' and 'mobility should be considered as a public good" (E3).		

Table B1-3: Data supporting Interpretations of second-order themes. Collaboration and nested regional identity. Source: Own elaboration based on Smith, 2014:1602; Stadtler and Wassenhove, 2016:669; Stadtler, 2018:335.

	Representative quotes / First - order codes	Themes / Second - order codes	Aggregation
11	"Before assuming as the Regional Executive of Santiago, I had a conversation with the mayor of Santiago <i>comuna</i> in turn who raised that one of the problems that the city of Santiago had was this (the territorial fragmentation of local governments and the absence of a robust regional structure) then I understood that one of my roles - beyond the real attributions or the economic power that we did not have - was to convoke by using the figure of the Regional Executive, who is a figure that symbolically says much more than the capacities and the faculties that he has, to convoke everybody and to promote this agreement I think that the image and the idea of the city were reinforced by the concept of the BSS and vice versa, the BSS was reinforced by the concept of cooperation between municipalities We, as representatives of the whole city not as fragments of it, helped the Bike Santiago system to exist " (RG1).	Nested regional	7.2 Individual and collective tendering type
12	"We were the 'driving force' behind deploying this system, a system - rather than a local system - a regional system. We took steps to make this possible, that is to say, to unify the 14 municipalities and hold a joint tender, in order to provide the system in a common way" (RG2).		
13	"It was my turn as (Santiago <i>comuna</i> ) to lead the process, in collaboration with Providencia <i>comuna</i> , to look at how to implement a system that would go beyond the <i>comuna</i> sphere" (LG1).	political action, a solidary	
14	"We made the first draft of technical bases" (LG3).	agreement and	
15	"The Santiago Metropolitan Regional Government invited several municipalities to participate in a new initiative' related to implement an alternative means of transport with the Regional Government and the Municipality of Santiago who carried out the process" (LG5).	a regional sense	7.2.2 Collaboration
16	"When the current regional executive arrived, he was speaking about the city of Santiago he had a much more developed concept of the region, from a political point of view" (RG9).		
17	"The Mayor of Santiago <i>comuna</i> asked us to wait for the Regional Executive to arrive and to propose a more extensive bicycle sharing system. Finally, he arrived, and he wanted to extend the system" (LG1).		
18	"We offered the bicycle sharing system to 4 municipalities to implement at no cost for them. The mayor on duty saw this situation, and with his initial enthusiasm, he called us and told us to implement this new technology, to which we responded that we had planned a system only for 4 municipalities. The commitment was that we would incorporate other <i>comunas</i> , with a symbolic number of stations, and the regional government would be in charge of increasing that coverage " (PS2).		

Table B1-4: Data supporting Interpretations of second-order themes. Collaboration and nested regional identity. Source: Own elaboration based on Smith, 2014:1602; Stadtler and Wassenhove, 2016:669; Stadtler, 2018:335.

	Representative quotes / First - order codes	(continuation)
19	"This is the concession of a national good for public use. This solution is unique, there are other similar cases of concessions, which are given when they have social purposes. As the municipalities are the ones that administer the NPGthe most classic in terms of services associated with mobility are (the concessions) of parking lots, but that figure has an associated income. Advertising concessions also have an associated income. This system (of public bicycles) is the only one (concession) without an associated income" (LG1).	
20	"This 'unique' concession formula was so defined due to the branding restrictions that Santiago and Providencia <i>comuna</i> had, since in these two <i>comunas</i> the exploitation contracts for advertising had already been assigned The model based on a joint tender was finally the one that could be implemented as some municipalities did not all have the same possibilities" (LG2).	
21	"This was an alternative transferring directly to the municipalities that a private company operated the system and financed by a bank" (RG3).	
22	"The Metropolitan Regional Government invited a number of municipalities to participate in a new project that was, for the first time, going to implement an alternative transport system considering a great number of municipalities of the Metropolitan Region The system for us and for the great majority of the <i>comunas</i> was seen as something very far from being implemented a relatively elitist system (however, people) never thought that this system would be implemented in a lower-middle-class and peripheral <i>comunas</i> (now) people see themselves as part of the Metropolitan Region and of higher-income <i>comunas</i> than we do" (LG5).	7.2.2 Collaboration
23	"In the beginning we joined the BSS initiative led by Providencia-Santiago <i>comunas</i> everything was an expectation " (LG6).	
24	" we were invited to participate, and some points of bike rental were defined together with the mayor and people from the <i>Comunal</i> Planning Office" (LG4).	
25	"A novel joint contract, new in terms of implementing a transport service no point of comparison and different municipalities were seeing how the project was going" (LG7).	
26	"Because of the institutional difficulties, as the Regional Government is not an executing entity, those who had to tender were the municipalities" (LG1).	

Table B1-5: Data supporting Interpretations of Second-order themes. Aligned Benefits – Social / institutional benefits: an urban transformation, a new inclusive means for transport. Source: Own elaboration based on Smith, 2014:1602; Stadtler and Wassenhove, 2016:669; Stadtler, 2018:335

	Representative quotes / First - order codes	Themes / Second - order codes	Aggregation
27	".The image and idea of the city was reinforced by the idea of the BSS and the BSS was reinforced by the idea of cooperation between municipalities " (RG1).		
28	"(The BSS) allowed to make <i>inter-comunal</i> trips challenging a logic that does not promote the <i>inter-comunal</i> in the city, a logic of urban plots " (LG3).		
	'An inter-comunal system was consolidated when systems were previously seen only in certain comunas. (LG6)	Social /	
29	" The system for us and the great majority of the <i>comunas</i> perceived was a relatively elitist system by 'normal' people they never thought that this system was going to be implemented in a lower-middle-class and periphery <i>comuna</i> people already see themselves integrated in the Metropolitan Region " (LG5).	institutional benefits: an urban transformation,	7.3 Aligned Benefits
30	"An alternative means of transport was implemented to support the public transport systemwe have a new mobility system without needing to have your own bike" (LG1).	a new inclusive means for transport	
31	".The BSS helped to return the bicycle as a means of transport" (LG1).		
32	".I think it has been a contribution, it has covered a real need that some people had nobody thought that there was going to be this explosion of students, young people,. and micro-entrepreneurs it proved that the bicycle in Santiago has had an explosive increase" (RG2).		
33	" users are charged very low, 5 or 6 thousand pesos a month. Each bike trip is about 300 Chilean pesos in circumstances where public transport is about 600, the difference huge, then people start using the bikes more" (PS1).		
34	" you have [with bikesantiago] a private company that moves 300,000 people a month" (PS2).		

Table B1-6: Data supporting Interpretations of second-order themes. Experienced Tensions: Relationships - Institutional capabilities and reputation. Source: Own elaboration based on Smith, 2014:1602; Stadtler and Wassenhove, 2016:669; Stadtler, 2018:335.

	Representative quotes / First - order codes	Themes / Second - order codes	Aggregation
35	" it was a good agreement, but a weak one: (First), as the system was tendered out for a free system for the municipalities (they) did not feel directly involved as they are not paying, there is less incentive, (municipalities) are less "stakeholders' or "principals" of the project, and that is a weakness. Second, we have not created a co-ordinating structure for the entire project yet, which is a weakness of ours. Thirdly, I would say that the contract was not well put together either, having not established these clear levels of satisfaction, a system of audits so I think that there were problems in the original design that have made weak the governance of the project" (RG1).	Relationships - Institutional capabilities and reputation	
36	"What took place here is the provision of a space for a service transaction to be carried out between two private parties. Then, the area was generated; however, no service is associated with the municipality. Therefore, there is no way to control the quality of the service as we do not have non-compliance fines" (LG1).		
37	"In Santiago Metropolitan Region has already implemented a model that is not ideal a contract with each municipality. There is not a single region-wide governor or a corporation that brings together the municipalities to have a more co- ordinated workIn other words, there has to be a balance in what the sponsor provides, between the prices charged to the users and perhaps another here in Chile there is no other source of financing, what happens is that here in Chile the model is unique" (PS1).		7.4 Experienced Tensions
38	"We took on a social problem that nobody cared about we offered the bicycle sharing system to 4 municipalities to implement at no cost for them The commitment was that we would incorporate other <i>comunas</i> , with a symbolic number of stations, and the regional government would be in charge of increasing that coverage and that has not happened until now" (PS2).		
39	"(the bank) has a reputation with respect to their brand people talk about bicycles as ITAU bicycles, so they have a great commitment to making this system works' The role of the regional government should be more than just financial but should have a role in managing this" (LG1).		
40	"the Bank is in this [purpose], for the system to work, it is not to go in and out, it is to go in and stay It's hard, it's risky We care that the system works, that it can grow, we are willing to support it, it is ours, we are not going to leave it, but the contractual issues are a governance duty" (PS1).		

Table B1-7: Data supporting Interpretations of second-order themes. Experienced Tensions: Dilemmas faced in resource allocation. Source: Own elaboration based on Smith, 2014:1602; Stadtler and Wassenhove, 2016:669; Stadtler, 2018:335.

	Representative quotes / First - order codes	Themes / Second - order	Aggregation
41	"Bikesantiago is a brand that belongs to the bank they are B-Cycle LATAM [the service provider] we pay because our brand to be present on the bikes and everything related to Bikesantiago. (Ideally) a balance is required between what the sponsor provides, the fees charged to users, and perhaps another source here in Chile there is no other source of funding here this business model is unique. Santiago has a model that is not the ideal there are contracts with each municipality. There is not a single governor in the whole region or a corporation that brings together the municipalities, and you can have a co-ordinated work In addition, here in Chile that [the branding payment] is low, it is undervalued. At the bottom is what they asked us they charged us less than they should have, there was no business vision users are charged very low, 5 or 6 thousand pesos a month. Each bike trip costs about 300 chilean pesos (less than half dollar) in circumstances where public transport costs about 600 [Chilean pesos, less than a dollar]. Then, people started to use the bikes more [than it was expected]" (PS1).	codes	
42	" In general, the contribution made by the bank is equivalent to 60% of the company's annual income, leaving 40% in membership and other income, and this allows the company to have the necessary 'budget' e to operate [However] here in Chile, the (membership) contribution is close to 20%, and a public subsidy has not been achieved yet 'I don't think that a private company has to subsidise the state through advertising you lose the focus on what you are delivering as a (mobility) service you are providing a bicycle, which is being leased to a brand so that people move that brand around the city. That's not a public transport what you're selling is the rental infrastructure for advertising purposes" (PS3).	Resource	
43	'The system that was tendered free for the municipalities, and only at the expense of the sponsors and the memberships' (RG1)	allocation and	7.4 Experienced
44	"Today, they (the service provider) have asked for the regional subsidyit is not possible to (directly) subsidise private companies. This is a matter of transferring resources to the municipalities so that they can improve the system. (However), this has not happened yet since there are previously conditions to analyse we assume that a system like this should be subsidised; however, the regional government role needs to be different. Not only as a financier. This system should be a regional public system" (RG2).	advertising restrictions	Tensions
45	"A free concession of the land was agreed to promote the system as a public good, as the superior good considered (However), as the concession contracts are, in general, associated with service standards and as this was not a conventional service concession, what happened here is the provision of the space to allow a business partner to implement the system In the case of some busiest <i>comunas</i> , they have regulations governing the use of advertising" (LG1).		
46	" we talked to Las Condes <i>comuna</i> who has another system incompatible today (with BikeSantiago) they wanted to find formulas to avoid how isolated they are. So far, no formula has worked. The contract has territorial exclusivity(even) when we tried to integrate the model of Las Condes and the model of 'Bikesantiago', from the political point of view they were in agreement as well as from the point of view of the model too however, everything 'clashed' when the private ones did not agree so if you keep looking at the issue from that point of view, this is not a public service" (LG3).		
47	"we have now a system integrating fourteen <i>comunas</i> in Santiago Metropolitan Region, unfortunately one <i>comuna</i> - that is Las Condes - decided different, they did not want to join this collective effort" (RG1).		

# Table B1-8: Data supporting Interpretations of second-order themes. Dilemmas faced in resource allocation. Source: Own elaboration based on Smith, 2014:1602; Stadtler and Wassenhove, 2016:669; Stadtler, 2018:335.

	Representative quotes / First - order codes	Themes / Second - order codes	Aggregation
48	"The public procurement was not well developed, not having determined these very clear levels of satisfaction, a control system. so I think, there were indeed problems in the original design that have made the management, the governance of the project weak' 'since the system was tendered only at the expense of the sponsor and memberships the municipalities took distance and they did not feel directly involved they see, for example, the poor the quality of the service; however, they have not intervened, they cannot apply fines they are less "stakeholders" less "principals" of the project, and that is a weakness" (RG1).		
49	"no one is monitoring the service, even though the contracts says that the municipality may monitor, this is not possible in practice " (RG2).		
50	'No one was auditing of course certain levels were established Although there are mechanisms for auditing it must be realistic For any scheme, regulation is crucial' (PS3).		
51	"I honestly have to tell you the truth. For a long time this contract has been unsupervised we have not been able to supervise we do not have measures basically, the service supervision is minimal today, that is the reality we claimed that the management system was not what we had defined in the bases, and there we got into a dispute with the service provider" (LG3).	Dilemmas	
52	"We let the operator operate 100% autonomously. There is the brand and we take care of the brand presence that is well installed on the bikes we follow up, we observe I have an area that is sustainability that is monitoring the system" (PS1).	faced in the organisational structure provision: A de- regulated system and no legal rules	7.4 Experienced
53	"There are no indicators and who could measure them there is no model of deductions, we cannot control on which parameters to base the system performance. there is no monitoring, there are places where the priorities are very big and others where they are ignored the indicators can be developed but in relation to what?" (PS2).		l ensions
54	"There are no clear rules, a realistic regulatory framework. Any company that does not have a regulatory framework is falling into the middle of nowhere into chaos. And in that mess some people win and some people lose. So the winner is the 'unscrupulous' entrepreneur and the loser is the 'normal' citizen requiring alternatives. That is for me a crucial aspect, a realistic state action if you look at the concessions and in particular for the public bicycle system, there are tools that allow to control these services, but they are not operating in practice" (PS3).		
55	"As it is a public good, (the system) must be treated as a (public) transport system, (however) the bicycle is not recognised as a means of transport either, and this would allow you greater regulation. (Furthermore, the system) also does not have the supervision of the Ministry of Transport, which requires conditions in which it must circulate or where it must be located" (LG1).		
56	" there is a need for a legal regulation that allows this system to be considered as a means of transport and not as a private renting service by promoting, supporting and regulating these 'modern' transport systems (without it) you are facing a risk of not delivering the service, giving a low-quality service, increasing prices, and finally harming the quality of life of people" (PS3).		

Table B1-9: Data supporting Interpretations of second-order themes. Experienced Tensions: Dilemmas faced in the organisational structure provision: Informational Problems. Source: Own elaboration based on Smith, 2014:1602; Stadtler and Wassenhove, 2016:669; Stadtler, 2018:335.

	Representative quotes / First - order codes	Themes / Second - order codes	Aggregation
57	" (there were) doubts on what the company is really providing today, in theory contracts say that there should be two thousand bikes, but everyone believes that there are less, just from a simple perception" (RG2).		
58	" We do not know for sure the real number of users They give you a number, but we have nothing to verify it" (LG2).		
59	"there are no conditions to transfer this type of resources without knowing what is the current situation of the systemit is a very fragile system because there is a lack of management we have no data regarding the financial data of the service" (RG2).	Dilemmas faced in the organisational structure provision: Informational Problems	
60	"Some (municipalities) asked for reports and basically these were a word document that you could write anything, and there was no control over whether those data were real" (PS3).		
61	"We have we must have 600, but why do I say "we must have" because in line that it is not possible to proceed with a control system, we do not know how many bikes are here "We don't know anything" we can't follow up (users compliances) is another severe disassociation, because the bases also say that he must inform us (municipalities) of all the claims that are coming (however) we have nothing, we have no idea of the claims that are coming, not at all" (LG3).		7.4 Experienced Tensions
62	"The system, in our opinion, does not fully comply with the requirements on the system that establishes the bases of our tendering. It is a system that tries to solve the management problem of all the services of public bicycles that they have. (Likewise) they have far more system attributes that we require, it has far more information of the users and it does not contribute in a friendly and faster way with the required and that is established in the contracts there is a lack of system of management to which we can accede and has been a subject of permanent conflict with the operator " (LG3).		
63	"We lost all contact. This system was implemented and each one was isolated, there have been no joint evaluation processes, that one would expect after implementing something so innovative you would get together to evaluate and how it is working. There has been no evaluation process, or at least at a hierarchical institutional level this has not been done. Nor do I know if at the level of technical inspection" (LG4)		

Table B1-10: Data supporting Interpretations of second-order themes. Experienced Tensions: Dilemmas faced in the organisational structure provision: Control Demand. Source: Own elaboration based on Smith, 2014:1602; Stadtler and Wassenhove, 2016:669; Stadtler, 2018:335.

	Representative quotes / First - order codes	Themes / Second - order codes	Aggregation
64	"For us, it was critical to start from a low- flow <i>comunas</i> and <i>intra-comunal</i> trips (then) it was very complex to expand (the system) to the two most important <i>comunas</i> in Santiago city -Santiago Centro and Providencia- so we learned day by day it was complex to first understand the idiosyncrasy to observe the flow of bicycles, to redefine some stations regarding the residential and commercial sectors we had nothing pre-established and we processed as we went along (Then) We formulated the concept of the lung, which we call the bike collection for the times of greatest use. We leave a daily supply of approximately 400 (extra) bikes in the Costanera Centre station, or 100 (extra) bikes in Pedro de Valdivia station preparing the system, we leave the main stations almost at the limit operation in those points" "We have a (manual) operator at some busiest stations this person is taking the bicycles out of the storing and inserting them into the dock stations(however), to collect a bike is always by card " (PS4)		
65	"With regard to improving fleet balance times, travel routes need to be improved. We made a presentation requesting permission to use the exclusive routes for public transport. However, the minister of transport did not agree, arguing that it cannot set a precedent in authorising a private company to use the exclusive routes for public transport because otherwise any private company will do the same My argument was 'if you have a private company that moves 300,000 people a month, let's talk. But there isn't, what we have to assume is that this private company, this new means of transport is part of public transport " (PS2).	Dilemmas faced in the organisational structure provision:	7.4 Experienced Tensions
66	"they wanted the forced balance to be the basic, minimal and the spontaneous balance to be maximum, to be predominant there is a minimum number of logistic vehicles required in the bases we have very few tools to control" (LG3).	Control Demand	
67	"Where you have a service where you need 30 to survive and you're making 5, you have to start generating cutting corners in the operational budget what is cut are the levels of maintenance there is no longer preventive maintenance only corrective maintenance therefore it begins to generate a decline in the service quality, and also begins to generate debt (and then) you are no longer to buy the same wheels until the system can no longer work" (PS3).		
68	"I don't know if they expected such a demand I feel that there is a low capacity to react, to adjust the network. the smaller the <i>comuna</i> , the less capacity you have to react, you start to prioritise the emergencies, and this is not yet an emergency" (LG5)		

Table C1-11: Data supporting Interpretations of second-order themes. Experienced Tensions: Paradoxical institutional and organizational tensions: Stability and flexibility & certainty and uncertainty. Source: Own elaboration based on Smith, 2014:1602; Stadtler and Wassenhove, 2016:669; Stadtler, 2018:335.

	Representative quotes / First - order codes	Themes / Second - order codes	Aggregation
69	"This is a country without a perspective of the future, a small view of a small plot of land on a daily basis the system started as an initiative of a group of entrepreneurs nobody saw the impact that it could have, and suddenly it started to grow and grow and grow in Chile we are not strategic there are short governments, looking at their four years A long-term strategic vision, the businessmen, everyone applauds that, that's the vision, the type of political vision that is missed" (PS1).		
70	remember that the dock stations were proposed to us and when we asked for more stations, they reply they cannot provide more, (arguing) first we have to start with this, this, this and then we will see how many more stations we can give to the <i>comunas</i> that is part of another agreement that we will have to sign with the company" (LG6).		
71	"No, we do not have any relationship with them (users). SERNAC (National Consumer Service) has a relationship with the users People do not link the system to municipalities either, they relate to Bikesantiago directly. People do not click on the fact that it is a municipal or regional service" (RG2)	Paradoxical institutional and organizational tensions:	7.4 Experienced
72	"I don't think the solution is either that a private company assumes a subsidiary role mainly because you lose focus on what you are delivering as a service you are providing a bicycle, which is being leased to a brand so that people move that brand around the city. That's not a public transport what you're providing (as a BSS) is the rental structure for an advertising system" (PS3).		
73	"There was a lot of stress with certain municipalities e.g. Vitacura. And there were others that were not taken into account, for example Recoleta. And demanding what they wanted, (this last <i>comuna</i> ) it did not matter" (PS3)	Stability and flexibility &	Tensions
74	"As we asked for some information to SERNAC we have had meetings with the operator and the sponsor (however) No governance structure is created yet (for handling those issues) Users are on their side, claiming to the operator Paradoxically, people know that we (Regional Government) play a leading role in generating it, but people recognise an operator (it means that) people do not complain to the municipality, nor to the regional government, but they complain to the operator, which is good on the one hand, as it generates the required pressure where it has to be put, but it is bad on the other hand, as there are no political incentives for those of us who are the authorities to be in charge of the system regarding the issues we are obviously concerned about the issue, but it has been a difficulty" (RG1)	uncertainty and uncertainty	
	"(There is) a set of claims associated with the consumer wrongfully charged made by the supplier, also duplication of chargesWe (SERNAC) have realised, considering the important volume of complaints received, that the company was overwhelmed from a management perspective the usage of this type of systems has been very intensive in general terms. And, also the company itself has recognised certain problems that they have with the software that administers the accounts of the users" (E4)		
75	"There is a lack of expertise, of determination, a lack of management capacity, You do not know how much the demand will be, it is difficult to estimate it today, we are in a very important moment of opportunity" (PS1).		

## Appendix B2 Topics of the semi-structured users' interviews

Table B2-1: Data explaining negative experiences using the BSS. Source: Own elaboration

		Representative quotes	Aggregation
1	Man	"In the area where I often take a bicycle in the afternoon, after 5 o'clock there are no bicycles. I am always facing this issue" (U01)	
2	Man	"The charging system is the one that makes me a bit doubtful about how the system works because of the poor maintenance of the stations. When I return the bicycles (when I lock them) it doesn't 'close the trip', and it remains open. Then, if I don't notice, they charge me at the end of the month. The charge doesn't come out month by month, sometimes every other month, then every two months. So that's worrying and messes things up financially.	
		I have no information about how my month of travel went. Almost every month there are differences for example in one month it appears \$7990 Chilean pesos (US\$ 11) in the same month, they charge me more, I don't understand it " (U02)	
3	Man	"I have had problems this year with not being able to collect a bicycle the dock stations seem locked. Also, bicycles are in bad condition" (U03)	
4	Woman	"The bicycles are not always in good condition to ride, and it is becoming more and more frequent to fall out of the system even if you see that there are bicycles, you often cannot collect them" (U04)	
5	Man	"I noticed that there were some 'undue' charges for the monthly fee. Instead of charging me once (the monthly fee), I was charged three times in the same month without a notification.	Negative
		I feel uninformed even sending a report to the company but they gave me 15 working days for a response In my case, Independencia/Hospitales station was very convenient for me, but it is no longer working, and now I have to walk much further to the closer station, and it is about 200% longer than before, walking four times longer than before. However, it's still a convenient service" (U05)	system
6	Man	"When I try to collect a bicycle, the station is locked. It seems you can collect a bike as the green light appears so you can collect it but, the bicycle looks like it's locked. However, it appears [in the records] as if you collected it. Then, it appears as if you haven't returned the bike, so you are charged. When I called to report these issues, they told me that it appears as a charge over what it should be so I will receive a refund; however, I haven't received it yet. I don't know if this solution will work.	
		I have to keep checking the system as I find charges that do not correspond. Also on this credit card I only have this service, but if I had other payments I wouldn't notice it" (U06)	
7	Man	"My experience has not been very good. The application was updated; however, it is not showing my trips (made). I can't see now my trips records The biggest problem I have had is with regard to the charges. I've been cut off of the service because of errors in the billing, or there have been months when they stop charging me for several months and then charge me in one instalment. There are times when they charge you three times more that makes me doubt whether or not to continue using the system, plus you have to keep calling, asking why this is happening when they charge you three months in a row, I requested them to please stop charging me more so it caused me to cancel the service for a while" (U07)	

Table B2-2: Data explaining negative experiences using the BSS. Source: Own elaboration

		Representative quotes	(continuation)
8	Man	"My experience is not very good because of errors with my trip records. It's hard to close the trips. For example, when I am trying to collect one, sometimes it is locked; however, the trip remains open, then I have to call them to close the trip, and I can't use the system. Regarding the call centre, they don't answer the phone. I had to send a message on Twitter to have an answer. The service says it is from Monday to Sunday but on Sundays they don't work and this is the third time I have complained to them because they are charging me wrongly and there is no answer. In short, the after-sales service is disgusting. It is disgusting. The service is bad and I don't recommend it. " (U08)	
9	Woman	When they charge me 'undue' fees it's not because I've taken longer than necessary there's no justification (U09).	
10	Woman	"The negative part is not being able to communicate effectively with the company as they charge you more automatically [it seems] they can charge you whatever they want from your credit card per month, and as many times as they want. Well, it seems to me that they do it through an overtime That's why I try not to do overtime and that's why they can't charge me anything more than the monthly fee at the end of the month. However, if I go to my bank account, I see that they are charging me more I sent an email to the company but I haven't answered me for a month I feel very insecure about not getting a reply" (U010)	
11	Man	"I had serious issues with the payments and an apparent system overuse, yet I was unable to use the service for a period of time. However, they charged me even though my (credit) card was unused. Communication with them (the service provider) is hard. I found out their address so I arrived at their offices. They gave me a resolution that I had to pay an amount to resolve the issue regarding the overuse but I don't have the information in this regard although perhaps the bicycle was not well anchored I don't know what happened. To end, I decided to pay them that amount and then they gave me a benefit of two months free, but it was a very annoying situation. in reality, this system it is not working well I understand that these things that require technology can fail, but this is too much" (U011)	Negative
12	Woman	"I have a record of a payment or charge that was three times more than what I agreed to pay. When I asked for clarifications in this regard, they promised to give me a solution a week later I see the details of B-Cycle LATAM, or the company's business name and I see amounts that I did not contract they are different amounts. I called them yet they are not answering the phone the idea is good, but it is not consistent with what should be delivered, the call center does not work, and the machines are poorly maintained I am not satisfied with the service" (U013)	experiences: system performance
13	Man	"I have had every month additional charges. I called the call centre, [and] I have to do the work because they could not give me the answer. I have to see all the charges that the company B-Cycle LATAM has made to me. That's the name that appears on my account, which is why I never associated it with Bikesantiago Other complaint is regarding the poorly condition of the bikesMy opinion is that it was done, unilaterally, without informing me, without a contract annexe, and the right to use this service was not respected" (U014)	
14	Man	"I have found poorly bicycles maintenance. Many times I can't take them to the stations they have a lot of damage" (U015)	
15	Man	"Every day you find [bicycles with] bad brakes, broken wheels The conditions go from bad to worse, there is no technical service [to repair], there is no communication with the company directly, there is no progress in that" (U016)	
16	Man	" bicycles have been in poor condition" (U018)	
17	Man	"the (lack of) maintenance is a frequent issue that is happening the issue of the gears, brakes" (U019)	
18	Man	"In the last three months they have been charging me amounts that do not correspond I am getting two or three [extra] monthly charges those amounts do not make sense because I commute every day 10 min aprox And I never travel further than that. There is little clarityI have no information about the charges made by the company". (U020)	

Table B2-3: Data explaining negative experiences using the BSS. Source: Own elaboration

		Representative quotes	(continuation)
19	Woman	"I am being charged more since the rate change. Checking my credit card I noticed that they were charging me almost double the monthly membership every month. They are also charging me additional (costs) and I don't know why" (U021)	
20	Woman	"In October they say that I stole a bicycle. In October this (the application) did not exist. I didn't notice it when I paid (the credit card), they charged me with 192 thousand of [Chilean] pesos [US\$270] I called the call centre and they told me 'madame, it was about the bicycle number xxx' which they say it disappeared. I told them that it might be in the warehouse why don't they look for it? Why are they charging me for it? They argued I took it out and never returned it, I have never taken it out. I was going to talk to a lawyer but well, I already paid for it Given the characteristics of everything that has happened, it relates to abusive charges this company does not fulfil the contract The contract says that there is permanent availability of bicycles however, it i not always availability of bicycles, especially at peak times when everyone leaves they should know that all these are the users and there will never be the same amount of bicycles" (U022)	
21	Woman	"Actually (the system) is not working well because I check my application, I associate my card and the trips I made are not there, or they are mixed up. There are some (of the ones I did) but there are some extra ones that I didn't do. There are also extra minutes of overtime that I didn't do [also] the payments are not right and I and I have seen that many people claim the same thing, that you associate it to the automatic payment, you give them your credit card details and they charge you what they want!" (U023)	
22	Man	"It could be that there are charges that may eventually be 'undue' because having already handed over the card and seeing how the system works, you realise that the card [trips records] is telling me that I'm travelling when I'm not. Or also the card is blocked because I leave the bicycle in a station and I want to take another one out but I can't take it out [a bicycle]"(U024)	Negative experiences: system
23	Man	"You don't receive details of your charges. There are no receipts or receipts with a summary of the trip charges, nothing there is no information so there are charges for trips that you have not made or trips have not been closed they also do not give you the details of what time it was or when it was. That would be (in short) the problems with the charges because I pay for a membership, and now they have raised it without warning. That charge was doubled (also) there have been smaller [extra] charges. I have to be asking what happened and why they are charging me that [amounts] they don't send me the information about these (additional) charges, you never know.But the other side is about the charges and the lack of information you have. There are no physical offices, there is no bill or receipt (that makes me) distrust about the company SERNAC (Nacional office of consumers) said that I should file a civil lawsuit, with all the details to get my money back. That's the only thing they can recommend. They (this public office) act as intermediaries. If it doesn't work, either a class action suit or a civil suit in person in a local police court, I provided with all the information this is about, is not fair they are charging you arbitrarily. If it continues like this I will look at other transport options otherwise (soon) I will have to buy a bicycle and find a safe place to park it " (U025)	penomance
23	Man	"I have an accumulated overtime and it doesn't make sense to me. At the beginning I called them many times complaining because I had doubts about it. [I perceive] instability, lack of security it ends up being a bad alternative of transport". (U026)	
24	Woman	" I have an application to know how many bicycles there are [availables] in a station and spaces to leave the bicycle in a place. [However] I still don't have any information about my trips" (U028)	

Table B2-4: Data explaining negative experiences using the BSS. Source: Own elaboration

		Representative quotes	(continuation)			
25	Woman	"it is an automatic charge without any kind of notification There is no information that has to do with charging. (My perception of this is) that they are not very well organised neither honest before contracting the service I saw the complaints Now I get a 36 hour trip (on the app) and I have not been there. (My impression is that) the bicycle itself is wonderful. But the service sometimes makes me angry. When I have problems at the stations, or see these things [about errors regarding my trips], I wonder how it can be possible my route is always the same and I don't take more than 20 minObviously it scares me (having given my personal bank details). And as I have seen these complaints I'm also afraid that I'm not using it and I'll still be charged." (U029)				
26	Man	"I never know if I had really finished the trip or if I really started it, you just collect the bike and then return it [however] no trips are registered the website [with the records] has also failures (it appears as) page in maintenance I have a lot of doubts about whether or not the charges have been due to that and it is the only thing I have as automatic payment. This is the only system I've gone through and I have doubts" (U030).				
27	Man	"The system maintenance is poor they don't check well the state of the bikes" (U031).				
28	Man	"There are doubtful charges the company is very bad. I was also suspicious but I thought it would be isolated events N With regard to my data and payments. Lobyiously feel vulnerable because at any moment, they can charge me more" (1032)				
29	Man	"The bicycles are not in good condition neither are the stations. Sometimes I records of trips that I haven't done I don't understand it." (U034)				
30	Man	"I have received unjustified charges and the company is not replying [my complains] the system is not working correctly" (U035)				

Table B2-1: Data explaining positive user experiences using the BSS. Source: Own elaboration

		Representative quotes	Aggregation
			Aggregation
1	Man	"The main thing for me is that I can take the bike and leave it wherever I want. The ease for me is that I don't have to worry about the bike, and I don't have to do any maintenance" (U01)	
2	Man	"It is faster I save time" (U02)	
3	Man	I use the system because it makes it easier for me to save time, money and exercise. I have been using it for almost a year now, which has been very beneficial for me" (U03)	
4	Woman	In my opinion it is efficient. I have had no problems with the system" (U04)	
5	Man	"My experience is positive, I have saved a lot of time commuting. It is also easy to make stops along the way In general terms, the service has been very beneficial as ican save a lot of time compared to the traffic here in Santiago. Before I used to travel by metro A lot of traffic, a lot of people. Sometimes the metro doesn't work, or it takes a long time to arrive affecting my mood. Sometimes I was stressed out, and also the heat my routine used to be stressful. That's why I decided to use the system" (U05)	
6	Man	"One of the main reasons why I use the public bicycle was to get out of the metro. The other reason is to maintain physical activity, especially when working, it is much more difficult to maintain physical activity. So cycling helps me to keep active " (U06)	
7	Man	"My experience has been better riding rather than travelling by underground or bus at rush hour, also in the evening I like to enjoy the scenery and exercise" (U07)	Positives experince
8	Man	"Using a bicycle is priceless, much more comfortable, faster better quality of life" (U08)	benefits
9	Woman	My overall experience has been good in the sense of being able to use a mode of transport that you can return it elsewhere and not having to leave the bike (personal) parked because of theft, especially to come to work" (U09)	
10	Woman	The system is good for me, I save money, time, I do a bit of physical activity" (U010)	
11	Man	" I think the system is a very good initiative, very good, I take 25 minutes on my journey. I contribute to less congestion in this city, less pollution, less noise it's a contribution, and I get some exercise" (U011)	
12	Man	"I think it's a good system, I haven't had any problems" (U012)	
13	Man	In general I think the system is good, it solves the need for transport." (U013)	
14	Man	"This system has taken away my stress I am in good spirits, so the benefit is health and also speed the cycle lanes have improved " (U014)	
15	Man	" I save the traffic, (the negative experience travelling in) the metro, the buses, everything related to Transantiago [public transport system]. I have to get up earlier than before but it's worth it." (U015)	

Table B2-2: Data explaining positive user experiences using the BSS. Source: Own elaboration

		Representative quotes	Aggregation
16	Man	"there it's more comfortable to commute by bike [avoiding] the chaos in the metro." (U016)	
17	Man	"If I bought a personal bicycle, I wouldn't have anywhere to put it, it wouldn't fit in my flat, nor in the office. It would bother me to ride a bicycle at the moment. So as [this system has] stations everywhere, it's very easy to take a bicycle and leave it anywhere, when you can." (U017)	
18	Man	"My experience has been good, it contributes to my routine with respect to stress and saving time." (U018)	
19	Man	(My experience using the system is to feel) Relief before I used to use the metro. It was getting to the station, it's full, waiting for one car to pass and another one to come by." (U019)	
20	Man	"My routine before was to travel by metro-train or Transantiago, which is always full [of people], with the risk of being robbed today I take less time [to travel], I walk more comfortably and I exercise, which for me are the main things [reasons] the time I reduce [in travel], then there is the physical activity. Saving [money], and the autonomy I have by cycling. Before, I used to take 30 minutes on the metro always in a heavy, crowded, crowded transport, exposed to being robbed. Or in Transantiago (bus) you can be stopped for 30 minutes at a traffic light and with the bicycle that doesn't happen to methose are the main advantages of using a bicycle as a mode of transport " (1020).	
21	Woman	I feel more agile (the system) has helped me a lot with [reducing] stress." (U021)	
22	Woman	"It made it easier for me to get out of (the comuna of) Vitacura, The transport in Vitacura is terrible. Here there is (a bus) 03. It's dramatic. The bicycle gives me an autonomy that a car does not. Because I don't depend on others. I don't have to wait 30 minutes for the bus, I don't depend on a taxi that gets stuck in a traffic jam. (Therefore) my main motivation to use the bicycle was the autonomy and the shorter time to reach my destinations." (U022)	Positives experince and perceived
23	Woman	"It is convenient for me because I need to come home quickly because I need to see my baby, I need to meet work schedules." (U023)	benefits
24	Man	"The benefit is more in terms of health, the congestion, avoiding the stress of having to go to the metro and being cramped I want to save those 20 minutes walking and getting on the metro full of people at peak time Despite all the problems, I still use it. But honestly I'm evaluating whether to keep using it because of the problems it has." (U024)	
25	Man	"I am saving time, it gives you physical activity and improves your quality of life. Thanks to the service (Bikesantiago) I have stayed motivated coming to work. Every trip is like a different experience." (U024)	
26	Man	"I like cycling so much that I tried to become a client of the ITAU bank in order to have more time to use the system because I had accounts in other banks and because they asked me to give up a current account in another bank and I didn't think it was necessary. The benefit is the opportunity to ride the bike, I have had the opportunity to save time on some occasions, when everything works out well, when I leave the house I take the bike and I find a place [to park it], it's perfect, wonderful. Also [it is] a physical benefit now that I found this alternative to keep me active with physical capacity " (U026)	
27	Woman	"It is a good service in general, the benefit are good, both physically and for not arriving stressed at work Basically because it works for me, it solves a problem when you arrive in Santiago from the <i>comuna</i> of El Monte (metropolitan region) I had to think if I was going by taxi, bus or metro [while] one is more expensive, the other is more stressful. So among the alternatives I had, this is the best one" (U027)	

Table B2-3: Data explaining positive user experiences using the BSS. Source: Own elaboration

		Representative quotes	Aggregation
28	Woman	"[I am using the BSS] to improve routine [this is] a 'liberation' it is very important to me this physical activity " (U028)	
29	Woman	"[I am] saving time, [doing] physical activity [I have a] better mood I like cycling. Also, experiencing a trip in which there are difficulties because you are in traffic that also leaves me bitter those things affected my mood now (using the system), i am independent" (U029)	
30	Man	"The main motivation [to use the system] is the physical activity, and I have always liked cycling So the best excuse cycling again was to commute by bike the main motivation is to reduce the stress you get off the bike and with a lot of energy. The other benefit I love about the system is that it is 24/7 service. It has saved me from unexpected situations like running out of transport a long way from home [and] I'm saving money". (U030)	Positives experince
31	Man	"It's easy for me to use the system it works well for me". (U031)	and perceived benefits
32	Man	"For the moment [the system] works for me the convenience [using the system] is that, I don't have to park my own bike as it can be stolen. I am saving time, I have more energy; however, I'm still evaluating [if I am continuing using the system]." (U032)	
33	Man	"[the system] can be improved it's a good service and a good idea." (U033)	
34	Man	"The system doesn't work very well, but it still works for me, I am saving time, which helps me avoid the traffic in the afternoon." (U034)	
35	Man	It's convenient so I don't have to leave mine [my bike] parked [at the street]." (U035)	

# APPENDIX C. Cash flow (assessed in the regional business model)

ITEMS		PERIOD (YEARS)								
DBOMF Mixed - Manual System + subsidy + no NGP tax	) 1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
REVENUE										
BSS MEMBERSHIP	581,888	737,958	1,119,461	1,510,597	1,529,865	1,549,133	1,568,401	1,587,669	1,606,936	1,626,204
PARKING MEMBERSHIP	290,944	368,015	558,767	755,299	764,933	774,566	784,200	793,834	803,468	813,102
ADVERTISING	1,637,765	1,637,765	1,926,782	1,926,782	1,926,782	1,926,782	1,926,782	1,926,782	1,926,782	1,926,782
COSTS										
ADMINISTRATION	(211,946)	(233,141)	(306,358)	(354,528)	(358,382)	(360,308)	(362,235)	(364,162)	(368,015)	(369,942)
	(1,475,915)	(1,287,091)	(1,371,869)	(1,425,819)	(1,425,819)	(1,425,819)	(1,425,819)	(1,425,819)	(1,425,819)	(1,425,819)
SUPPLIES	(11,561)	(11,561)	(15,414)	(19,268)	(19,268)	(19,268)	(19,268)	(19,268)	(19,268)	(19,268)
TRANSPORT (LOGISTIC)	(119,461)	(119,461)	(119,461)	(119,461)	(119,461)	(119,461)	(119,461)	(119,461)	(119,461)	(119,461)
MAINTENANCE	(329,480)	(346,821)	(364,162)	(381,503)	(400,771)	(421,965)	(443,160)	(464,355)	(487,476)	(512,524)
RENT	(208,092)	(208,092)	(208,092)	(208,092)	(208,092)	(208,092)	(208,092)	(208,092)	(108)	(208,092)
BSS ADVERTISING AND COMMUNICATIONS	(77,071)	(84,778)	(109,827)	(129,094)	(129,094)	(131,021)	(131,021)	(132,948)	(132,948)	(134,875)
IT	(82,852)	(82,852)	(82,852)	(82,852)	(82,852)	(82,852)	(82,852)	(82,852)	(82,852)	(82,852)
INSURANCES	(11,561)	(11,561)	(15,414)	(17,341)	(17,341)	(17,341)	(17,341)	(17,341)	(17,341)	(17,341)
OTHER	(19,268)	(19,268)	(19,268)	(19,268)	(19,268)	(19,268)	(19,268)	(19,268)	(19,268)	(19,268)
SMART CARD COST	(69,364)	(88,632)	(134,875)	(181,118)	(183,044)	(184,971)	(188,825)	(190,751)	(192,678)	(194,605)
NGP FEE	(533,719)	(533,719)	(533,719)	(533,719)	(533,719)	(533,719)	(533,719)	(533,719)	(533,719)	(533,719)
DEPRECIATIONS	(223,507)	(233,141)	(244,701)	(254,335)	(279,383)	(304,432)	(350,674)	(375,723)	(208,092)	(244,701)
RESULTS BEFORE TAX	(861,272)	(516,378)	78,998	464,355	443,160	420,039	375,723	350,674	520,231	481,696
ТАХ	171483.6224	104046.2428	(15,414)	(92,486)	(88,632)	(84,778)	(75,145)	(69,364)	(104,046)	(96,339)

RESULTS AFTER TAX		(689,788)	(412,331)	63,584	371,869	354,528	335,260	300,578	281,310	416,185	385,356
DEPRECIATIONS		223,507	233,141	244,701	254,335	279,383	304,432	350,674	375,723	208,092	244,701
INVESTMENTS											
BICYCLES	(1,055,877)										
DOCK STATION	(3,932,563)										
VEHICLES	(460,501)										
CAPTURERS	(88,632)										
HOSTS	(5,780)										
OFFICES	(67,437)										
SOFTWARES	(67,437)										
START-UP COSTS	(19,268)										
GUARANTEE STATEMENT	(211,946)										211,946
RE-INVESTMENT		(105,973)	(136,802)	(716,763)	(275,530)	(277,457)	(797,688)	(283,237)	(290,944)	(805,395)	(296,724)
WORKING CAPITAL	(526,012)	(48,170)	(181,118)	(123,314)	(5,780)	(5,780)	(5,780)	(5,780)	(5,780)	(5,780)	913,295
SCRAP VALUE											917,148
CASH FLOW	(6,433,526)	(620,424)	(497,110)	(533,719)	342,967	350,674	(163,776)	360,308	360,308	(188,825)	2,375,723
Discount rate			15,4%		Mixed - Model	Investment				264%	
NPV			(3,444)								
IRR			- 9,7%								
DBOMF MIXED MANUAL SYS	TEM + SUBSID	Y + NO NGP FE	E								
NO NGP FEE		533718.6898	533718.6898	533718.6898	533718.6898	533718.6898	533718.6898	533718.6898	533718.6898	533718.6898	533718.6898
TAX EFFECT		(105,973)	(105,973)	(105,973)	(105,973)	(105,973)	(105,973)	(105,973)	(105,973)	(105,973)	(105,973)
SUBSIDY (INVESTMENT IN ASSETS)	5,678,227										
CASH FLOW	(757,225)	(192,678)	(69,364)	(105,973)	770712.9094	776493.2563	263969.1715	788053.9499	788053.9499	238921.0019	2,801,541
NPV			1,154,143								
IRR			30%								

London, July 2021